
P.T.O. 
 

 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010 

 

  

 

AGENDA 
for a 

MEETING OF THE CABINET 
Tuesday, 29 June 2021 at 2.00 pm  

 Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek, ST13 6HQ 
 

Contact Officer: Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
or Tel: 01538 395613 

 
 

Membership 

Councillors:-  
 S. Ralphs MBE 

M. Deaville 
M. Bowen 
T. Hall 
J. Porter 
S. Scalise 
E. Wain 
A. Hart 

Leader of the Council (Chair) 
Leisure and Sports (Deputy Leader) 
Communities 
Customer Services 
Climate Change and Biodiversity 
Environment 
Planning, Development and Property 
Cabinet Support Member –  
Climate Change and Biodiversity 

 
 

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise. 
 

1. Apologies  

2. Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 3 - 4) 

3. Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)  

4. Declarations of Interest, if any  

 1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
2. Other Interests 

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 
scanning the code below: 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

A G E N D A  (Continued) 
 
 

5. Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any  

6. Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with 
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any  

7. Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any  

8. Leader  

8 .1 Forward Plan (Pages 5 - 18) 

8 .2 Leek Mills Masterplan Appraisal (Pages 19 - 34) 

8 .3 Leek Market Hall Update (Pages 35 - 92) 

8 .4 Appointment to Outside Bodies (Pages 93 - 94) 

8 .5 Appointment of Member Development Champion (Pages 95 - 96) 

9. Climate Change and Biodiversity  

9 .1 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) (Pages 97 - 132) 

10. Communities  

10 .1 Community Safety Partnership Review and Refreshed Community Safety 
Strategy (Pages 133 - 162) 

11. Leisure and Sports  

11 .1 Cheadle to Cresswell Disused Railway – Potential Asset Transfer (Pages 
163 - 172) 

12. Planning, Development and Property  

12 .1 Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood Development Order 
(Pages 173 - 568) 

 



 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CABINET DECISIONS 
 

TUESDAY, 30 MARCH 2021 
 
PRESENT: Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair)  
 
 Councillors M Bowen, M A Deaville, T Hall, J Porter and S Scalise 
 
IN ATTEDNANCE: Councillors Aberley, Gledhill and Swindlehurst 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors E Wain 
 

100 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED) 
 
DECISION: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 9 February 2021 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

101 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY 
 
The following declarations were made: 
 

Agenda Item 
Member Declaring 

Interest 
Nature of Interest 

Any matters relating to 
Covid-19 Grants 

Cllr. M Deaville 
 

Recipient of Covid-19 
Business Grant 

 
102 FORWARD PLAN 

 
DECISION: 
 
That the Forward Plan be approved for publication. 
 

103 PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK 2021/2024 
 
The purpose of the report was to provide members with an opportunity to scrutinise 
the draft Performance Framework and associated targets for 2021/24.  The report 
was considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 24 March 2021.  
The Cabinet requested that their thanks to officers involved in producing the 
performance framework be recorded. 

 
Options considered: 
 

Members were asked to consider the proposed targets and to suggest amendments 
if they considered any to be necessary. 
 
DECISION:  
 
That the Performance Framework 2021/2024 be approved    
 Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet - 30 March 2021 
 

104 HOUSEHOLD DUTY OF CARE 
 
To help to prevent unlawful depositing of waste within the District by agreeing the 
level of fixed penalty notices that can be issued to those individuals that do not take 
reasonable measures to ensure proper disposal of their household waste.  The 
report was considered by the Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 22 
March 2021. 

 
Options considered: 
 

The Council could keep the fixed penalty amount at the statutory level (£200) with no 
reduction for prompt payment. 
 
DECISION:  
 
That the fixed penalty amount for failure to comply with the household duty of care 
be set at the maximum permitted level of £400. 
 

105 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential 
information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public 
in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 
100 I (1)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by 
virtue of the Paragraphs indicated. 
 

106 NEW MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 
 
The Cabinet approved a report that:  

 

 Considered proposals for a new management structure across the 
strategic alliance; 

 Outlined the process for establishing the new structure of Executive 
Directors and Heads of Service; and 

 Confirmed the recruitment / appointment process.  
 

107 BUILDING CONTROL OPERATION - TRANSFER TO DERBYSHIRE 
CONSORTIUM 
 
The Cabinet approved a report the purpose of which was to inform Members of the 
proposal for the Council’s Building Control service to be transferred to the 
Derbyshire Building Control Partnership. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 2.47 pm 
 
 
_________________________________Chairman  

Page 4



1 
 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN  

 

June - August 2021 
 
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take 
shortly. Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’  The Plan is 
updated and published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is 
available, together with all public reports referred to, from our website 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, 
Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Should you have any questions 
regarding these documents please contact the Council’s Member Services Team 
via our website or by telephoning 01538 395613. 
 
A key decision is one defined as: 
 

"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard 
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates." 

 
 OR 
 

"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more District Wards." 

 

Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be 

available five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the 

Council’s website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by telephoning 01538 395551. 

They are also available from our offices – Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, 

Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents relevant to decisions 

to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker. 
 
Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public.  However, occasionally, some 
meetings, or part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content 
of the reports to be discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal 
information).  This document indicates which reports and dates of meetings 
where this will apply and the reason for this.  
 
Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further 
notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private.  This will again state why this is 
necessary and give the details of any representations received about why the 
meeting should be open to the public.  This will also include a statement of the 
Council’s response to any such representations. 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 8.1

http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/
http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/


2 
 

I N D E X 
 

Matter to be decided 
Date of decision 

to be made 
Page 
No. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND BIODIVERSITY   

Climate Change Plan (Part 1) 29 June 2021 3 

COMMUNITIES   

Refreshed Community Safety Strategy 29 June 2021 4 

LEADER   

Leek Mills Masterplan Appraisal 29 June 2021 5 

Leek Market Hall 29 June 2021 6 

Appointment to Outside Bodies 29 June 2021 7 

Appointment of Member Development Champion 29 June 2021 8 

Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement & Performance Review 
2020/21 

3 August 2021 9 

LEISURE AND SPORTS   

Cheadle to Creswell Disused Railway 29 June 2021 10 

Rural Sports Villages 3 August 2021 11 

PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY   

Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood Development 
Order 

29 June 2021 12 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 6



3 
 

Climate Change and Biodiversity 
 

Matter for decision Climate Change Plan (Part 1) 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29 June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Porter 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Community 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Governance and 
Commissioning) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



4 
 

Communities 
 

Matter for decision Refreshed Community Safety Strategy 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29 June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Bowen 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Communities 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Governance and 
Commissioning) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



5 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision Leek Mills Masterplan Appraisal 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29 June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



6 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision Leek Market Hall 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29 June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



7 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision Leek Market Hall 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29 June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



8 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision Appointment to Outside Bodies 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29 June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Governance and 
Commissioning) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



9 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision 
Appointment of Member Development 
Champion 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29 June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Governance and 
Commissioning) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



10 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision 
Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement & 
Performance Review 2020/21 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 3 August 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Finance & Customer 
Services) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



11 
 

Leisure and Sports 
 

Matter for decision Cheadle to Creswell Disused Railway 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29th June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Deaville 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



12 
 

Leisure and Sports 
 

Matter for decision Rural Sports Villages 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 5 August 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Deaville 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



13 
 

Planning, Development and Property 
 

Matter for decision 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan and 
Neighbourhood Development Order 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council 

Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 29 June 2021 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Wain 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel 

Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Cabinet Report 

29 June 2021 

 
TITLE: 

 
Leek Mills Masterplan Appraisal 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Ralphs - Council Leader SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Sarah Porru– Head of Regeneration  

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Leek East (Cross Street Mill, London Mill, York 

Mill, London Mills); Leek West (Big Mill) 

 

 

Appendices attached 

Appendix 1 –Leek Mills (Vacant or underused) 2021 

Appendix 2 – Examples of mill re-use elsewhere 

 

1. Reason for the report 

The purpose of this report is to set out a revised approach to addressing the 
longstanding issue of vacant and under-used mills in Leek.  
 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

2.1  Approves the approach identified in the report to help support regeneration of 
empty or under-used buildings. 

 
2.2 Approves a financial contribution of £30,000 to appoint consultants to deliver a 

commercial demand analysis and options appraisal to understand potential 
future uses, viability of proposals and identify barriers to re-development.  

 
2.3 Notes the development of a Community Renewal funding bid as part of a 

Peak District wide project to assess opportunities for redundant and 
underused heritage buildings to be used for commercial uses to help provide 
workspaces and stimulate the economy. If successful, this grant would 
complement and increase funding available to support Leek Mill demand 
assessment. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary  

Page 19

Agenda Item 8.2



3.1 In 2001, a survey of remaining mill buildings in Leek was undertaken including 
associated warehouses to understand current and potential uses of the 
remaining 49 mill buildings within the town. This led to the development of a 
Leek Mill Strategy (2003) which recommended that the Council prioritise six 
mills which were considered to be either of more historic value, were most at 
risk, were located in key sites or part of a wider complex.  
These mills were: - 

• London Mill (Ashbourne Road) 
• Cross Street Mill/Well Street Mill 
• York Mill 
• Big Mill 
• Portland Mill 
• Churnet Works 

 
3.2 The remaining former mill buildings were not prioritised but were considered 

‘opportunity sites’ where the Council would respond to owner interest and 
support re-development proposals as appropriate. This has included the 
former British Trimmings Site, Prince Street Works (former Kerrygold site) and 
Compton Mill.t 

 
3.3 Full details of works to deliver strategy and support re-development is detailed 

in section 7. 
 
3.4 Despite several positive actions to support re-development, several mills still 

remain empty or underused and while not all are listed, they present an 
unattractive townscape, and their deterioration impacts on the built heritage of 
the town.  

 
3.5 In recent years, the commercial market has delivered a number of 

development schemes which are primarily of one to two-bedroom small 
apartments for rental or purchase with a focus on retirement housing. This 
apartment market is now perceived to be saturated for lower value smaller 
units by the private sector and this has resulted in stalled redevelopment. 
There is no identified demand for larger higher quality loft style apartments as 
developed in city locations due to lack of transport to urban centres or a self-
contained professional employment base. This means that at present 
investors are not progressing significant redevelopment other than for 
retirement housing.  

 
3.4 As part of the 2019-2023 Corporate plan, a Leek Mill Quarter masterplan was 

proposed as a means of taking forward actions to address the remaining 
empty mills, primarily focused on London Mill and York Mill. The masterplan 
proposal was also proposed to incorporate the police station, former probation 
offices and Health centre. Since the Corporate plan was developed, the Police 
Service has indicated that they no-longer wish to co-locate into Moorlands 
house and the former probation offices have been let. 

 
3.5 At this point in time, a full masterplan is therefore not recommended both due 

to change of circumstances, cost and capacity to manage a complex project 
brief with multiple sites and ownerships. It is therefore proposed that the 

Page 20



Council adopt a new approach which is focused on understanding current 
private sector investment aspirations and baseline financial assessment, 
potential end-use demand and barriers to redevelopment. This would enable 
the Council to engage with relevant owners and develop an appropriate 
strategy to support redevelopment where we can add value.  

 
3.6 It is proposed that the Council procure appropriately qualified consultants to 

undertake a stage 1 report on existing empty or underused Mills (appendix 1) 
to include -  

 

 Analysis of existing housing and business accommodation provision in 
Leek and suitability of mill floorspace to be converted for market use. 

 Commercial demand assessment including latent demand, and 
opportunities for inward investment in the covid -19 environment. 

 Outline opportunities and financial baseline issues for each Mill with 
identified options and owner feedback. 

 Recommendations for future actions including: 
• Clear understanding of what the market is likely to deliver 

without intervention;  
• What additional actions may be required to expediate proposals 

or address challenges to delivery and who is best placed to 
deliver these; 

• Any strategic policy level interventions required to support re-
development 

• learning from best practice that could support re-development  
• Potential second stage works by Council on one or more sites to 

support re-use.  

 An Outline Business case proposal (in line with Green book 
methodology) for any options being proposed for stage 2 engagement 
in the context of the adopted Local Plan and the extent to which 
development can assist the Council to meet its local growth strategy 
objectives, Stoke and Staffordshire strategic plans and also identify 
delivery and funding mechanisms which may be available to deliver re-
development.  
 

3.6 The stage 1 report would enable the Council to build upon the Leek 
Investment prospectus (2018) and help inform a viable strategy to understand 
what the market is likely to deliver and what additional actions may be 
required,  as well as taking forward best practice from other Councils 
(Appendix 2). It should be noted that city based projects are not always 
transferable to rural/market town environment.  
 

4. How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The report links to the Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023 aim 3, to help create a 
strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages in 
that it will address delivery of the priorities to: - 

a) Implement the Council’s Growth Strategy to bring about the regeneration 
of towns and rural communities. 

Page 21



b) Develop a masterplan for bringing redundant mills back into use. 
 

5. Options and Analysis or Alternative Options 

5.1 The options are: - 
 

i. Do nothing – the Mills are in private ownership and their maintenance is the 
responsibility of the owners and development could come forward with no 
Council input other than planning support. However, if left to commercially led 
investors, there is a risk that they might not recognise potential re-
development options in Leek and could also miss opportunities for gap 
funding which may help deliver objectives. A do-nothing approach would 
therefore maintain status quo and could result in missed opportunities to 
expedite re-development and/or dereliction of buildings which form a key part 
of Leek’s built heritage.  
NOT RECOMMENDED  
 

ii. Do Stage 1 Demand analysis and options appraisal. This would help 
inform Council members and investors on viable options and help re-
commence a dialogue with owners and other funding parties regarding the 
proposed next steps for these buildings. It would be a discreet relatively low-
cost piece of work which can be managed alongside works to support Covid 
economic recovery plan. 
RECOMMENDED 
 

 
6. Implications  

 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

No direct implications. 
 
6.2 Workforce 
 

No direct implications at this stage.  
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Diversity and 
Equality Policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

The report seeks approval for a financial contribution of £30,000 to engage 
consultants to deliver the demand analysis. This funding in not currently 
budgeted and would therefore need to be allocated from reserves as there is 
likely to be insufficient funding available in this year’s Regeneration revenue 
budget alongside other project development.  
 
A Community Renewal fund application has also being submitted in the name 
of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, High Peak Borough Council and 
Derbyshire Dales District Council for funding contribution towards a redundant 
buildings feasibility study for commercial use across wider Peak District area. 

Page 22



Should this be successful, it is proposed that a dual commission is delivered 
which will ensure continuity, ease of management and additional resource. 
 
Subject to the outcome of the stage 1 study, further funding requests of circa 
£15,000 per mill could be sought to develop outline business cases for gap 
funding or additional studies required to support re-development, subject to 
co-funding by owners or their appointed development partner.  Any further 
requests for funding will be submitted to be considered by Cabinet for 
approval once the stage 1 study has been completed. 
 

6.5 Legal 

This report requests authority to appoint consultants in respect of developing 

a strategy to improve the use of the Town’s mills. The consultant should be 

appointed in accordance with the Council’s Joint Procurement Procedure 

Rules 2017 having regard to the anticipated spend and the need to appoint a 

competent adviser.    

6.6 Climate Change  

 
The restoration of old buildings is in itself more sustainable than demolition 
and new build as there is no construction waste or carbon released from the 
demolition process. 
 
Historic England ‘Heritage Counts report states “Sympathetically upgrading 
and reusing existing buildings, rather than demolishing and building new 
would make substantial energy savings because the CO₂ emissions already 
embodied within existing buildings would not be lost through demolition….To 
meet the government’s target of being carbon neutral by 2050, we must 
recycle, reuse and responsibly adapt our existing historic buildings”. 
 
It should also be noted that future re-use of the buildings would incorporate 
the latest techniques for energy management and heating subject to funding 
and planning requirements.  
 

6.7 Consultation 

No public consultation is proposed at present. 

6.8 Risk Assessment 

The appointment of consultants per se carries very little risk as these will be 
managed through the procurement, appointment, and project management 
processes. 
 

**Neil Rodgers** 
Executive Director (Place) 

 

Page 23



Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

 Sarah Porru 
Head of Regeneration 
sarah.porru@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

7.       Detail 

7.1 In 2001, a survey of remaining mill buildings in Leek was undertaken including 
associated warehouses to understand current and potential uses of the 
remaining 49 mill buildings within the town. This led to the development of a 
Leek Mill Strategy (2003) which recommended that the Council prioritise six 
mills which were considered to be either of more historic value; were most at 
risk; or were located in key sites or part of a wider complex. These mills were: 

 

 Churnet Works 

 London Mill (Ashbourne Road) 

 Big Mill 

 Cross Street Mill/Well Street Mill 

 York Mill 

 Portland Mill 
 

7.2 The remaining former mill buildings were not prioritised but were considered 
‘opportunity sites’ where the Council would respond to owner interest and 
support re-development proposals as appropriate. This has included the 
former British Trimmings Site and Compton Mill.  

 
7.3 Churnet Works 

The initial key project which emerged from the Mill Strategy was the Churnet 
works regeneration area, which included the relocation of existing tenants into 
new units and remediation of the wider site, which is now home to Sainsburys 
supermarket and petrol station, additional modern employment space and a 
new public house. An element of this site was original proposed for affordable 
housing and then latterly hotel/retail use but at this moment in time there is no 
investor interest from either commercial or housing developers. On-going 
works to complete re-development of this ‘opportunity site’ continue subject to 
demand. 
 

7.4 London Mill (Ashbourne Road).  

A Grade II listed former silk mill constructed in 1853 located within the Leek 
Conservation Area. The Mill was identified by the Staffordshire Mills Strategy 
as one of the properties with the greatest potential for re-use for employment 
purposes.   
 
Initial feasibility studies (2012-2014) investigated viability for student 
accommodation, foyer accommodation, mixed use (commercial ground 
floor/upper housing and live-work units. However, none of the options was 
commercially viable and there was a lack of demand by end users for many of 
the concepts, other than small office use focused on creative and professional 

Page 24



sector. Full planning permission for creative industry led managed workspace 
was secured in 2016 and funding applications for the above were submitted 
for Local Growth Fund and European Regional Development Fund but the 
project could not be brought forward as job outcomes were insufficient to 
leverage full funding package. Additionally, there was no private sector 
interest in leading such a development even if subsidy secured and any 
project would therefore have relied upon long term Council ownership, which 
due to liability of owning a historic mill asset, was not a preferred route.   
 
The Mill is registered as being in the ownership of Citipoint Ltd whose 
associated company Trophy Homes in July 2018 submitted the latest planning 
application for proposed Conversion of vacant 4 storey former textile mill to 
provide 33 no. residential apartments. The application was deemed invalid, 
and no further contact has been made between the Council and owners, 
despite efforts to engage.  
 

7.5 Big Mill, Ashbourne Road 
 

The Big Mill, Leek is a Grade 2 listed building built as a silk mill by William 
Sugden in 1857. It is 55 metres long and 13 metres wide. It has 7 floors (six 
floors and a roof storey) and is 23 metres in height. The condition of the Big 
Mill has been a matter of serious on-going concern, with many clear signs of 
wet rot and damage to structural beams. The top two storeys were particularly 
badly affected with extensive water and rot damage across the whole floor 
structure and floor coverings. In 2017, the Council served two notices (Urgent 
Works Notices) under Section 54 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 following which the owner the owner did 
undertake urgent works to the roof. 
 
The mill is in private ownership. In September 2019 a planning application 
was submitted by the owner for listed building consent for conversion of mill to 
55 Apartments, including removal of internal structure and other matters. A 
change of use was submitted at the same time to change the use of attic to 4 
no. 1 bedroom apartments, change the use of ground floor to 7 no. 2 bedroom 
apartments and for the creation of car park. A decision on this is still pending 
as Planning are awaiting further information from the owner. 
 

7.6 Cross Street/Well Street Mill 

Cross Street Mill is a Grade 2 listed building originally constructed c1850 with 
a net internal area of 30,960 sqft / 2,876.28 sqm. The mill and adjacent Well 
Street Mill secured approval for mixed use (restaurant/studios and 
accommodation for seasonal workers respectively) and currently provide an 
income for its private owner though commercial use. Cross Street Mill is 
currently arranged in a series of workshop/office suites from 100 sq. ft to 
5,000 sqft and has up to 60 car parking spaces available. It is suitable for 
alternative use subject to the necessary planning consents. The adjacent Well 
Street Mill was approved for conversion for fully residential apartments in 
2017. 
 

Page 25



7.7 York Mill  

The York Mill is a substantial four storey building which is currently vacant. 
York Mill is located on Ashbourne Road and is linked to London Mill by an 
under-road tunnel. The building is in good structural condition, but is slowly 
deteriorating, and is surrounded by a mix of residential and other uses. The 
site has no parking or servicing area. The property is not registered at the 
land registry and no current planning applications can be found. 
 

7.8 Portland Mill 

Approval for apartments/town houses and subsequent re-development as 
retirement accommodation which has now been completed. 
 

7.9 In addition to the above, the commercial market has delivered all other 
completed development schemes which are primarily of one to two-bedroom 
small apartments for rental or purchase. 
 

8. Learning from best practice in other areas  

8.1 In other parts of the UK, Councils have faced similar issues concerning their 
former mill buildings and some examples of the solutions they eventually 
found are attached as Appendix 2.   

 
8.2 A report from Historic England by Cushman & Wakefield and Lathams called 

‘Engines of Prosperity’ new uses for old mills in the North West’ suggested 
some ingredients for successful mill reuse including: - 

 Planning requirements.  

 Recognition of viability challenges facing owners in securing occupiers. 

 Use of flexible approach to adaptation by all stakeholders. 

 Application of Conservation Principles to identify relative heritage 
values within sites. 

 Proactive strategy to identify historic mills at risk and to develop reuse 
schemes 

 Promotion of Heritage Investment Strategies and Mill Action Plans at 
local authority level. 

 Guidance and support to mill owners who have limited technical 
knowledge or experience in delivering regeneration projects. 
 

8.3 In the North West city locations, the proposed next steps were: 

 Establishment of mill investment programmes coordinated at 
Combined Authority level, drawing in resources from Local Enterprise 
Partnership Funding, Historic England, Homes and Communities 
Agency and other funding. 

 Local authority intervention, where viable with external funding, through 
acquisition of assets, prudential borrowing, joint venture partnerships 
and direct funding and delivery.  

 Maximisation of opportunities for Homes and Communities Agency 
Homes Building Fund to be secured for mill re-purposing projects.  

 Tax increment financing to address financial deficits on priority assets. 

Page 26



  >ĞĞŬ�DŝůůƐ�;ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ƵŶĚĞƌƵƐĞĚͿ�ϮϬϮϭ 

WƌŽũĞĐƚ�ǁŝƚŚŝŶ�^ƚŽŬĞ-ŽŶ-dƌĞŶƚ�Θ�^ƚĂīŽƌĚƐŚŝƌĞ�>�W�   

�ƌŽƐƐ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�Dŝůů 

^ƵŵŵĂƌǇ�^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ 
 
'ƌĂĚĞ�//�ůŝƐƚĞĚ�ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ�;ϭϮϲϴϲϮϮͿ�ŝŶĐŽŵĞ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐŝŶŐ�ĨŽƌŵĞƌ�ƐŝůŬ�
ŵŝůů�ǁŝƚŚ�Ă�ŶĞƚ�ŝŶƚĞƌŶĂů�ĂƌĞĂ�ŽĨ�ϯϬ͕ϵϲϬ�ƐƋŌ�ͬ�Ϯ͕ϴϳϲ͘Ϯϴ�ƐƋŵ͘� 
�ƌŽƐƐ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�DŝůůƐ�ǁĞƌĞ�ŽƌŝŐŝŶĂůůǇ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚĞĚ�ĐϭϴϱϬ�ĂŶĚ�ĂƌĞ�ŽĨ�
ƚƌĂĚŝƟŽŶĂů�ƐŽůŝĚ�ƌĞĚ�ďƌŝĐŬ�ĞůĞǀĂƟŽŶƐ�ǁŝƚŚ�ďůƵĞ�ďƌŝĐŬ�ĂŶĚ�ƐƚŽŶĞ�
ĚƌĞƐƐŝŶŐƐ͘  
�ƵƌƌĞŶƚůǇ�ĂƌƌĂŶŐĞĚ�ŝŶ�Ă�ƐĞƌŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ǁŽƌŬƐŚŽƉͬŽĸĐĞ�ƐƵŝƚĞƐ�ĨƌŽŵ�ϭϬϬ�
ƐƋŌ�ƚŽ�ϱ͕ϬϬϬ�ƐƋŌ͘�ǁŝƚŚ�ƵƉ�ƚŽ�ϲϬ�ƐƉĂĐĞƐ�ĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞ͘�^ƵŝƚĂďůĞ�ĨŽƌ�ĂůͲ
ƚĞƌŶĂƟǀĞ�ƵƐĞ�Žƌ�ƐĂůĞ�ĂƐ�ĂŶ�ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ�ƐƵďũĞĐƚ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ŶĞĐĞƐƐĂƌǇ�
ƉůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ĐŽŶƐĞŶƚƐ͘�dŚĞ�ŵŝůů�ŝƐ�ĂĚũĂĐĞŶƚ�ƚŽ�tĞůů�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�Dŝůů͘ 
 
dŚĞ�Dŝůů�ŝƐ�ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚůǇ�ŽŶ�ŵĂƌŬĞƚ�ďĞŝŶŐ�ĂĚǀĞƌƟƐĞĚ�ĂƐ�ĂŶ�ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ�
ƐŝƚĞ�ŽĨ�άϬ͘ϳϱŵ�ǁŝƚŚ�ŝŶĐŽŵĞ�ŐĞŶĞƌĂƟŽŶ�ŽĨ�άϰϵ͕ϴϰϬ�ƉĂ�ĞǆĐůƵƐŝǀĞ͘� 
 
WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ƐƚĂƚƵƐ�͗���ƐĞƌŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ĂƉƉůŝĐĂƟŽŶƐ͕�ƚŚĞ�ůĂƐƚ�ďĞŝŶŐ�ŝŶ��Ɖƌŝů�
ϮϬϭϰ�ĨŽƌ�>ŝƐƚĞĚ��ƵŝůĚŝŶŐ��ŽŶƐĞŶƚ�-��ůƚĞƌĂƟŽŶ� 
KǁŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ�ĞŶƋƵŝƌŝĞƐ��ŐĞŶƚ���Θ:��ŽŵŵĞƌĐŝĂů͕��ĞƌďǇ�ĐŽŵŵĞƌͲ

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�'ŽŽŐůĞ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�
sŝĞǁͿ� 

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�'ŽŽŐůĞ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�
sŝĞǁͿ� 

DŽƌĞ�/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͗� 

ůŝƐĂ͘ŚŽǇůĂŶĚΛƐƚĂīƐŵŽŽƌůĂŶĚƐ͘ŐŽǀ͘ƵŬ 

Ϭϳϱϴϯ�ϭϮϵϰϰϵ� 

P
age 27



  >ĞĞŬ�DŝůůƐ�;ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ƵŶĚĞƌƵƐĞĚͿ�ϮϬϮϭ 

WƌŽũĞĐƚ�ǁŝƚŚŝŶ�^ƚŽŬĞ-ŽŶ-dƌĞŶƚ�Θ�^ƚĂīŽƌĚƐŚŝƌĞ�>�W�   

tĞůů�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�Dŝůů 

^ƵŵŵĂƌǇ�^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ 
tĞůů�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�Dŝůů��ǁĂƐ�ďƵŝůƚ�ŝŶ�ϭϵϬϬ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƐŝůŬ�ŵĂŶƵĨĂĐƚƵƌĞƌƐ͕��ƌŽƵŐŚ�EŝͲ
ĐŚŽůƐŽŶ�Θ�,Ăůů͕�ĂƐ�ƉĂƌƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ��ƌŽƐƐ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�Dŝůů�ĐŽŵƉůĞǆ͘��/Ŷ�ϮϬϬϳ͕��ŵŽƐ�
�ĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚƐ�ĐŽŶǀĞƌƚĞĚ�tĞůů�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�Dŝůů�ŝŶƚŽ�ϯϵ�ďĞĚƌŽŽŵƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĂƐƐŽĐŝĂƚͲ
ĞĚ�ĐŽŵŵƵŶĂů�ĨĂĐŝůŝƟĞƐ�ĨŽƌ��ůƚŽŶ�dŽǁĞƌƐ�;ƐĞĂƐŽŶĂůͿ�ƐƚĂī͘�/ƚ�ǁĂƐ�ƵƐĞĚ�ĨŽƌ�
ƚŚŝƐ�ƉƵƌƉŽƐĞ�ƵŶƟů�ϮϬϭϱ�ĂŶĚ�ŚĂƐ�ƌĞŵĂŝŶĞĚ�ĞŵƉƚǇ�Žƌ�ŝŶ�ƚĞŵƉŽƌĂƌǇ�ůĞĂƐĞƐ�
ƐŝŶĐĞ�ƚŚŝƐ�ƟŵĞ͘� 
 
WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ƐƚĂƚƵƐ�͗��WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ĂƉƉƌŽǀĂů�ĨŽƌ�ĐŽŶǀĞƌƐŝŽŶ�ƚŽ�ϭϮ��ƌĞƐŝĚĞŶƟĂů�
ĂƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚƐ͕�ĚĞŵŽůŝƟŽŶ�ŽĨ�ĞŵƉƚǇ�Ϯ�ƐƚŽƌĞǇ�ĂŶŶĞǆĞ�ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ�ĂŶĚ�ĐŽŶǀĞƌͲ
ƐŝŽŶ�ƚŽ�ϱ�ŽĸĐĞͬƐƚƵĚŝŽ�ƌŽŽŵƐ�ĂŶĚ�Ϯ�ŇĂƚƐ�ǁĂƐ�ĂƉƉƌŽǀĞĚ�ŝŶ�ϮϬϭϴ͕�ďƵƚ�ĚŝƐͲ
ĐŚĂƌŐĞ�ŽĨ�ĐŽŶĚŝƟŽŶƐ�ŝƐ�ƐƟůů�ƉĞŶĚŝŶŐ�ĂŶĚ�ŝƐ�ĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌĞĚ�ƐƚĂůůĞĚ͘ 
 
KǁŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ�ĞŶƋƵŝƌŝĞƐ��ĂůĚĞŶĞ�WƌŽƉĞƌƟĞƐ�>ƚĚͿ 
� 

;/ŵͲ
ĂŐĞ͗�

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�
'ŽŽŐůĞ�

DŽƌĞ�/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͗� 

ůŝƐĂ͘ŚŽǇůĂŶĚΛƐƚĂīƐŵŽŽƌůĂŶĚƐ͘ŐŽǀ͘ƵŬ 

Ϭϳϱϴϯ�ϭϮϵϰϰϵ� 

P
age 28



  >ĞĞŬ�DŝůůƐ�;ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ƵŶĚĞƌƵƐĞĚͿ�ϮϬϮϭ 

WƌŽũĞĐƚ�ǁŝƚŚŝŶ�^ƚŽŬĞ-ŽŶ-dƌĞŶƚ�Θ�^ƚĂīŽƌĚƐŚŝƌĞ�>�W�   

>ŽŶĚŽŶ�Dŝůů�;�ƐŚďŽƵƌŶĞ�ZŽĂĚͿ 

;/ŵͲ
ĂŐĞ͗�

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�
'ŽŽŐůĞ�

DŽƌĞ�/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͗� 

ůŝƐĂ͘ŚŽǇůĂŶĚΛƐƚĂīƐŵŽŽƌůĂŶĚƐ͘ŐŽǀ͘ƵŬ 

Ϭϳϱϴϯ�ϭϮϵϰϰϵ� 

^ƵŵŵĂƌǇ�^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ 

��'ƌĂĚĞ�//�ůŝƐƚĞĚ�ĨŽƌŵĞƌ�ƐŝůŬ�ŵŝůů�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ϭϴϱϯ�;ϭϮϲϴϲϲϯͿ�ůŽĐĂƚͲ
ĞĚ�ǁŝƚŚŝŶ� ƚŚĞ >ĞĞŬ �ŽŶƐĞƌǀĂƟŽŶ��ƌĞĂ͘� ^ĞǀĞƌĂů� ƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐ�ŽƉƟŽŶ�ĂƉͲ
ƉƌĂŝƐĂůƐ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ�Ă�ĨƵůůǇ�ƌĞƐŝĚĞŶƟĂů�ƐĐŚĞŵĞ�;ǁŝƚŚ�ĐŽŶĚŝƟŽŶƐͿ�ŝŶ�ϭϵϵϳ͖�
ĨĞĂƐŝďŝůŝƚǇ� ƐƚƵĚǇ�ŽŶ�ƵƐĞ�ĂƐ� ĨŽǇĞƌ�ĂŶĚ� ůŝǀĞ-ǁŽƌŬ�ƵƐĞƐ� ;ϮϬϭϯͿ�ĂŶĚ� ĨƵůů�
ƉĞƌŵŝƐƐŝŽŶ� ĨŽƌ� ĐƌĞĂƟǀĞ� ŝŶĚƵƐƚƌǇ� ŵĂŶĂŐĞĚ� ǁŽƌŬƐƉĂĐĞ� ;ϮϬϭϲͿ͘� �ƵƌͲ
ƌĞŶƚůǇ�ƵŶŽĐĐƵƉŝĞĚ͘�dŚĞ�ƐŝƚĞ�ŚĂƐ�ǀĞƌǇ�ůŝŵŝƚĞĚ�ĞǆƚĞƌŝŽƌ�ĐƵƌƟůĂŐĞ͘ 

 

WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ƐƚĂƚƵƐ�͗� 

>ĂƚĞƐƚ� :ƵůǇ� ϮϬϭϴ� ;ǁŝƚŚĚƌĂǁŶͿ� >ŝƐƚĞĚ� �ƵŝůĚŝŶŐ� �ŽŶƐĞŶƚ� ĨŽƌ� ƉƌŽƉŽƐĞĚ�
�ŽŶǀĞƌƐŝŽŶ�ŽĨ� ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ϰ� ƐƚŽƌĞǇ� ĨŽƌŵĞƌ� ƚĞǆƟůĞ�ŵŝůů� ƚŽ�ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ�ϯϯ�ŶŽ͘�
ƌĞƐŝĚĞŶƟĂů�ĂƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚƐ͘ 

ϮϬϭϲ��ŚĂŶŐĞ�ŽĨ�ƵƐĞ�ƚŽ��ϭ�ƚŽ�ĚĞůŝǀĞƌ�Ă�ŚƵď�ŽĨ�Ϯϭ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞĚ�ǁŽƌŬƐƉĂĐĞ�
ƵŶŝƚƐ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ĐƌĞĂƟǀĞ�ŝŶĚƵƐƚƌŝĞƐ͘��ƉƉƌŽǀĞĚ�ďƵƚ�ĞǆƉŝƌĞĚ͘ 

KǁŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ͗��ŝƟƉŽŝŶƚ�>ƚĚ�;ƵŶĚĞƌ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŽƌǇ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ�dƌŽƉŚǇ�,ŽŵĞƐͿ� 

P
age 29



  >ĞĞŬ�DŝůůƐ�;ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ƵŶĚĞƌƵƐĞĚͿ�ϮϬϮϭ 

WƌŽũĞĐƚ�ǁŝƚŚŝŶ�^ƚŽŬĞ-ŽŶ-dƌĞŶƚ�Θ�^ƚĂīŽƌĚƐŚŝƌĞ�>�W�   

zŽƌŬ�Dŝůů 

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�'ŽŽŐůĞ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�
sŝĞǁͿ� 

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�'ŽŽŐůĞ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�
sŝĞǁͿ� 

DŽƌĞ�/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͗� 

ůŝƐĂ͘ŚŽǇůĂŶĚΛƐƚĂīƐŵŽŽƌůĂŶĚƐ͘ŐŽǀ͘ƵŬ 

Ϭϳϱϴϯ�ϭϮϵϰϰϵ� 

^ƵŵŵĂƌǇ�^ƚĂƚƵƐ 

�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ϭϴϵϴ�ĂŶĚ�ŶĂŵĞĚ�ƚŽ�ĐŽŵŵĞŵŽƌĂƚĞ�Ă�ǀŝƐŝƚ�ƚŽ�>ĞĞŬ�
ďǇ�ƚŚĞ��ƵŬĞ�ĂŶĚ��ƵĐŚĞƐƐ�ŽĨ�zŽƌŬ�ŝŶ�ϭϵϬϬ͘��zŽƌŬ�Dŝůů�ŝƐ�Ă�ƐƵďƐƚĂŶͲ
ƟĂů�ĨŽƵƌ�ƐƚŽƌĞǇ�ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŚĂƐ�ďĞĞŶ�ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ĨŽƌ�ŵĂŶǇ�ǇĞĂƌƐ͘�
/ƚ�ŝƐ�ůŽĐĂƚĞĚ�ŝŶ��ƐŚďŽƵƌŶĞ�ZŽĂĚ�ĂŶĚ�ŝƐ�ůŝŶŬĞĚ�ƚŽ�>ŽŶĚŽŶ�Dŝůů�ďǇ�Ă�
ƚƵŶŶĞů͘� 

dŚĞ�ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚ�ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ�ĐŽƵůĚ�ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ�ĂƉƉƌŽǆŝŵĂƚĞůǇ�Ϯ͕ϯϬϬ�ƐƋŵ�ŽĨ�
ŇŽŽƌƐƉĂĐĞ�ƐƵďũĞĐƚ�ƚŽ�ĐŽŶĚŝƟŽŶ͘�dŚĞ�ƐŝƚĞ�ŚĂƐ�ŶŽ�ƉĂƌŬŝŶŐ�Žƌ�ĂŶǇ�
ƐĞƌǀŝĐŝŶŐ�ĂƌĞĂ͘� 

WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ƐƚĂƚƵƐ�͗�EŽŶĞ�ĨŽƵŶĚ� 

KǁŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ͗�ŶŽƚ�ƌĞŐŝƐƚĞƌĞĚ� 

 

� 

; 

P
age 30



  >ĞĞŬ�DŝůůƐ�;ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ƵŶĚĞƌƵƐĞĚͿ�ϮϬϮϭ 

WƌŽũĞĐƚ�ǁŝƚŚŝŶ�^ƚŽŬĞ-ŽŶ-dƌĞŶƚ�Θ�^ƚĂīŽƌĚƐŚŝƌĞ�>�W�   

dŚĞ��ŝŐ�Dŝůů 

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�'ŽŽŐůĞ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�
sŝĞǁͿ� 

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�'ŽŽŐůĞ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�
sŝĞǁͿ� 

DŽƌĞ�/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͗� 

ůŝƐĂ͘ŚŽǇůĂŶĚΛƐƚĂīƐŵŽŽƌůĂŶĚƐ͘ŐŽǀ͘ƵŬ 

Ϭϳϱϴϯ�ϭϮϵϰϰϵ� 

^ƵŵŵĂƌǇ�^ƚĂƚƵƐ 

�ŝŐ�Dŝůů͕�>ĞĞŬ�ŝƐ�Ă�'ƌĂĚĞ�//�ůŝƐƚĞĚ�ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ�Dŝůů�ďƵŝůƚ�ĂƐ�Ă�ƐŝůŬ�ŵŝůů�ďǇ�
tŝůůŝĂŵ�^ƵŐĚĞŶ�ŝŶ�ϭϴϱϳ͘�/ƚ�ŝƐ�ϱϱ�ŵĞƚƌĞƐ�ůŽŶŐͬϭϯ�ŵĞƚƌĞƐ�ǁŝĚĞ�ĂŶĚ�ŚĂƐ�
ϳ�ŇŽŽƌƐ�ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ�ƌŽŽĨ�ƐƚŽƌĞǇͿ͘�dŚĞ�ĐŽŶĚŝƟŽŶ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ��ŝŐ�Dŝůů�ŚĂƐ�ďĞĞŶ�
Ă�ŵĂƩĞƌ�ŽĨ�ƐĞƌŝŽƵƐ�ŽŶ-ŐŽŝŶŐ�ĐŽŶĐĞƌŶ͕�ǁŝƚŚ�ŵĂŶǇ�ĐůĞĂƌ�ƐŝŐŶƐ�ŽĨ�ǁĞƚ�
ƌŽƚ�ĂŶĚ�ĚĂŵĂŐĞ�ƚŽ�ƐƚƌƵĐƚƵƌĂů�ďĞĂŵƐ͘�/Ŷ�ϮϬϭϳ͕�ƚŚĞ��ŽƵŶĐŝů�ƐĞƌǀĞĚ�Ă�
ƐĞĐŽŶĚ�hƌŐĞŶƚ�tŽƌŬƐ�EŽƟĐĞ͕�ƵŶĚĞƌ�^ĞĐƟŽŶ�ϱϰ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�
;>ŝƐƚĞĚ��ƵŝůĚŝŶŐƐ�ĂŶĚ��ŽŶƐĞƌǀĂƟŽŶ��ƌĞĂƐͿ��Đƚ�ϭϵϵϬ�ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�
ƚŚĞ�ŽǁŶĞƌ�ƚŚĞ�ŽǁŶĞƌ�ĚŝĚ�ƵŶĚĞƌƚĂŬĞ�ƵƌŐĞŶƚ�ǁŽƌŬƐ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ƌŽŽĨ͘  

WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ƐƚĂƚƵƐ� 

WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ĂƉƉůŝĐĂƟŽŶ�ƐƵďŵŝƩĞĚ�^ĞƉƚĞŵďĞƌ�ϮϬϭϵ�ĨŽƌ�ĐŽŶǀĞƌƐŝŽŶ�ƚŽ�ϱϱ�
�ƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚƐ͘���ĚĞĐŝƐŝŽŶ�ŽŶ�ƚŚŝƐ�ŝƐ�ƐƟůů�ƉĞŶĚŝŶŐ�ĂƐ�WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ĂƌĞ�
ĂǁĂŝƟŶŐ�ĨƵƌƚŚĞƌ�ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ�ĨƌŽŵ�ƚŚĞ�ŽǁŶĞƌ͘  

KǁŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ� 

ZĞŐŝƐƚĞƌĞĚ�ƟƚůĞƐ�ƚŽ��ŽƌĐŽƌĂŶ�/ŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƐ�>ƚĚ͕�'ƵĞƌŶƐĞǇ� 

P
age 31



  >ĞĞŬ�DŝůůƐ�;ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ƵŶĚĞƌƵƐĞĚͿ�ϮϬϮϭ 

WƌŽũĞĐƚ�ǁŝƚŚŝŶ�^ƚŽŬĞ-ŽŶ-dƌĞŶƚ�Θ�^ƚĂīŽƌĚƐŚŝƌĞ�>�W�   

>ŽŶĚŽŶ�DŝůůƐ�ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ�DĂƐŽŶ�Dŝůů�;>ŽŶĚŽŶ�^ƚƌĞĞƚͿ 

;/ŵͲ
ĂŐĞ͗�

;/ŵĂŐĞ͗�
'ŽŽŐůĞ�

DŽƌĞ�/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͗� 

ůŝƐĂ͘ŚŽǇůĂŶĚΛƐƚĂīƐŵŽŽƌůĂŶĚƐ͘ŐŽǀ͘ƵŬ 

Ϭϳϱϴϯ�ϭϮϵϰϰϵ� 

^ƵŵŵĂƌǇ�^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ 

>ŽŶĚŽŶ�DŝůůƐ�ǁĂƐ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚĞĚ�ĂƐ�ĨŽƵƌ�ƐĞƉĂƌĂƚĞ�ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐƐ͕�ƚŚĞ�ĨƌŽŶƚ�
ŽĨ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŝƐ�ĂůƐŽ�ŬŶŽǁŶ�ĂƐ�DĂƐŽŶ�DŝůůƐ͘�/ƚ�ŚĂƐ�Ă�ŶĂƌƌŽǁ�ĨƌŽŶƚĂŐĞ�ĨĂĐͲ
ŝŶŐ��ϱϯ��ƌŽŽŬ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ŶŽƌƚŚ�ĂŶĚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ŝƚƐ�ŵĂŝŶ�ĨƌŽŶƚĂŐĞ�ĨĂĐŝŶŐ�
>ŽŶĚŽŶ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ͘��dŚĞ�ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ�ŝƐ�Ă�ǀĂĐĂŶƚ�ŵŝůů�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŽƌŵ�ŽĨ�ůĂƌŐĞ�ŝŶͲ
ĚƵƐƚƌŝĂů�ƐƉĂĐĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�ŽĸĐĞ�ƐƉĂĐĞ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ƵƉƉĞƌ�ŇŽŽƌƐ�ǁŝƚŚ�Ă�ƚŽƚĂů�ŇŽŽƌ�
ĂƌĞĂ�ŽĨ��ϰϯ͕ϰϯϵ�ƐƋ͘Ō͘�;ϰ͕Ϭϯϱ͘ϱϳŵϮͿ͘�� 

WůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ƐƚĂƚƵƐ� 

�Ŷ�ŽƵƚůŝŶĞ�ƉůĂŶŶŝŶŐ�ĂƉƉůŝĐĂƟŽŶ�ǁĂƐ�ĂƉƉƌŽǀĞĚ�ŽŶ�ϮϬͬϬϱͬϮϬϭϲ�ĨŽƌ�
ĚĞŵŽůŝƟŽŶ�ŽĨ�ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ�ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐƐ�ĂŶĚ�ŶĞǁ�ďƵŝůĚ�ĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ�ƚŽ�ĐƌĞͲ
ĂƚĞ�ϯϯ�ƐŚĞůƚĞƌĞĚ�ŚŽƵƐŝŶŐ�ĂƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚƐ͕�ϰϬ�ƌĞƟƌĞŵĞŶƚ�ĂƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚƐ�;ϱϱ�
ǇĞĂƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�ŽǀĞƌͿ�ĂŶĚ�ϮϬ�ĂƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚƐ͘� 

KǁŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ 

'Z/E��K�ϰϮϲ�>/D/d���͘�ŐĞŶƚ�^ƚĞǀĞ�,ƵůŵĞ��ĂŶŝĞů�Θ�,ƵůŵĞ�Ϭϭϱϯϴ-
ϯϴϯϯϯϵ 
 

P
age 32



APPENDIX 2 Examples of Mill re-use projects elsewhere 

Brierfield Mills. Barnfield 2020 

The mill was purchased by Pendle Council in 2012 with funding from the Homes and 

Communities Agency. 

A joint venture company between Pendle Council and local developer Barnfield Investment 

Properties was formed to deliver a £32 million redevelopment programme, transforming the 

area into a mixed-use development. 

http://www.pearlpendle.co.uk/northlight/ 

Conditioning House conversion brings New York-style living to central Bradford 

The developer, Priestley Homes, worked closely with Bradford City Council, and the 

development was supported by a £1.5 million grant from the West Yorkshire Combined 

Authority (WYCA) Investment Committee. Overall the project will cost over £13.8 million. It 

will be the first Bradford building to receive funding through the Bradford £7.4m Heritage 

Buildings fund. The delivery mechanism proposed will see the council entering a joint 

venture partnership. 

The Authority funding (derived from WYCA) was to deal with “structural enabling works 

constraining the re-development of the building.” 

The developer, Priestley Homes has a joint venture partner for the development, Singapore-

based Mumiment, which provides financial investment. 

https://priestleyhomes.co.uk/development/award-winning-development-conditioning-house/ 

Community leads mill regeneration in Castleford 

in 2013 Castleford Heritage Trust (CHT) bought the Queen’s mill saving it from possible 

demolition 

The substantial task of converting Queen’s Mill has been carried out by a team of local 

volunteers; with most of the funding coming from a series of small grants for specific 

projects. 

The mill is now home to several statutory and voluntary organisations providing community 

services. 

https://www.experiencewakefield.co.uk/thedms.aspx?dms=3&venue=1991810 

Victoria Riverside, Hunslet Mill conversion, Leeds 

The second phase of a £50 million scheme to convert listed mills for residential use at 

Victoria Riverside, Atkinson Street, Leeds is completely sold out, and work is already 

underway on the next phase. 

The 350-unit scheme is being delivered by J M Construction and is due for completion in 

2023. 

This scheme is entirely privately funded and will see all five listed mill buildings in the 

complex being converted into apartments. 

https://www.jmconstructionleeds.co.uk/victoria-riverside/ 

 

Page 33

http://www.pearlpendle.co.uk/northlight/
https://priestleyhomes.co.uk/development/award-winning-development-conditioning-house/
https://www.experiencewakefield.co.uk/thedms.aspx?dms=3&venue=1991810
https://www.jmconstructionleeds.co.uk/victoria-riverside/


 

Page 34



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Cabinet 

 
29th June 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Leek Market Hall update  

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Ralphs - Council Leader SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Sarah Porru - Head of Regeneration 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Leek East; 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A Leek Market Hall Options Appraisal  
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out the findings of the  Leek Market Hall 

Options Appraisal progress, undertaken by Quarterbridge Market Consultants,   
and to seek authority to  commence the full business case for capital 
investments to improve the facilities and establish permanent retail, food and 
beverage units in Leek Market Hall.  
 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 To note the findings on the public consultation exercise and preferred options 
for future investment. 
 

2.2 To approve preparation of a full business case to inform the delivery of capital 
investment to Leek Market Hall for the purposes of improving facilities to 
support the establishment of permanent units for retail, food and beverage  
uses. 
 

2.3 To require a further report to Cabinet on the full business case and the 
proposals for capital investment. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 In May 2020, Cabinet agreed to undertake a feasibility study and initial 

strategic outline business case to explore options for investment at Leek 
Market Hall,  formally referred to as the Trestle Market, and provided details of 
the next steps to deliver improvements.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 8.3



  

3.2 In September 2020, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council issued a tender 
to appoint consultancy services for the preparation of a feasibility study and 
business case to explore possible enhancement and investment to Leek 
Market Hall. Market specialists, Quarterbridge were appointed in October 2020 
with the required project outputs: 
 
a) Consultation with existing market traders to understand current trading 

conditions, aspirations for future trading and ensure input into the emerging 
Market Hall improvement scheme.   

b) Public consultation session with members of the public and town centre 
retailers. 

c) Evidence of market demand for the new units and achievable rents for the 
units including examples of similar projects  

d) Market research to identify existing and potential market customers  based 
on demographics of local area and region 

e) Identification of the likely impact of the proposed development on Leek 
Town Centre and consideration of any mitigation measures required. 

f) A feasibility report with commentary on options and strategic outline 
business case.   

g) Full architectural plans of specified works and visuals of the proposed 
internal layout of the preferred option 

h) A fully costed schedule of works and business case for any proposed 
investment 

 
3.3 Quarterbridge have completed works A-F and also undertaken consultation 

with: 

 Councillor Sybil Ralphs, Leader of the Council 

 SMDC Portfolio holders, Cllr Mark Deaville, Cllr Mike Bowen and Cllr Joe 
Porter, Cllr Edwin Wain 

 SMDC Leek East Ward Councillors, Cllr Darren Price, Cllr Pam Wood, Cllr 
Brian Johnson 

 Leek Town Councillors 

 Archer Fairs operate a licensed market on Friday in the Trestle Market 

 Leek Blues & Americana Festival organisers contacted Quarterbridge 
requesting a consultation zoom call 

 Market Traders – 10 responses  

 Local retailers – 9 responses 

 SMDC Councillors – 7 responses 
 

 A summary of the consultation responses can be found at page 27-31  
 (Appendix A) 

 
3.4 The Feasibility study undertaken by Quarterbridge included identification of 

Critical Success Factors which should be considered in assessing options, 
market demand, learning from other areas (case studies), financial 
implications (income and additional staffing requirements) along with the 
consultation feedback.  
 

3.5 The critical success factors identified are: 

 Improve footfall to the Market Hall and Buttermarket. 

Page 36



  

 Develop a Market offer that appeals to a wide audience and 
attracts a range of customers and traders.  

 Attract a wider range of demographics and age groups, including a 
younger audience to ensure long-term sustainability. 

 Improve the appearance of the Market Hall and retail frontages of 
the stalls. 

  Create a scheme that is financially viable and sustainable going 
forward. 

 
 

3.6 This led to the creation of four options including a do nothing scenerio: 
 

 Do Nothing 

 Option A:Market and out of hours use 

 Option B: Enhanced market use 

 Option C: Permanent units for mixed use 
 
3.7 The above options were scored against the above critical successful factors 

with Option B and C scoring joint highest (see section 7.6)  
 

3.8 Under all options, the forecast revenue from the improved market even in a 
best case scenario, including increased opening days, will not generate 
sufficient additional income to cover the cost of works. However, as identified 
in the report, the rationale for the improvements are wider than just financial 
returns and the Council needs to consider other factors such as long term 
attractiveness of the wider market offer, improved Buttermarket footfall/ 
retention of leases and attractiveness of Leek Town centre as a shopping 
destination (especially to younger customers) if works are not taken forward.   
 

3.9 It is therefore proposed that the two highest scoring options are taken forward 
to a full business case so that these wider factors can be considered alongside 
a more detailed understanding of refurbishment costs and longer term 
management overheads. 

 
 
 

  
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 This report supports the principles of the Staffs Moorlands Corporate Plan: 

2019 - 2023   
 

Aim 3: To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of 
towns and villages and meets the following objectives and priorities: 

 
• Develop and implement plans to improve the public market operations 
• Sustainable towns and rural communities 
• Increased economic growth 
• Increased tourism  

  
 

Page 37



  

 
5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 Do Nothing 
 Under this scenario, the Council could acknowledge feasibility report’s findings 

and note that no identified options are unlikely to cover the cost of 
refurbishment and close project.  

 Not recommended 
 
5.2 Undertake Full Business case 
 Under this scenario, the Council would acknowledge feasibility report’s 

findings to date and undertaken appropriate additional works to build a full 
business case for works so that wider factors can be considered alongside a 
more detailed understanding of refurbishment costs and longer term 
management overheads. 

 Recommended 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
Community Safety will be considered in the full business case 
using established methodology of benefit cost ratio calculations.  
 

6.2 Workforce 
None at this stage, although should be noted that options to be 
considered would have implications to increase market operations 
with staffing implications. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
Equality and diversity will be considered as part of the study to 
ensure any proposed refurbishment is fully accessible and 
inclusive 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
The report seeks approval for an initial financial contribution of 
£10,000 to engage consultants to undertake a full business case 
for preferred option.  This funding in not currently budgeted and 
would therefore need to be allocated from reserves as there is 
likely to be insufficient funding available in this year’s Regeneration 
revenue budget alongside other project development.  
Once the business case has been completed, further financial 
analysis will be undertaken to determine the revenue 
consequences to the Councils budget of the various options. 
 

6.5 Legal 
None arising specifically from this report. The report provides an 
update on the development of a feasibility study and options for 
investment in the Market Hall, the full business case will need to 
consider the legal implications arising from any proposed 
approach. 

Page 38



  

 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
None – The report is to provide an update on the development of a 
feasibility study and options for investment  
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
This appendix report outlines the consultation carried out to date in 
the development of the feasibility study.  
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
The full business case will include the development of a detailed 
risk register including opportunity risks if works not taken forward. 
Any proposed changes to equipment, the layout of the market or 
market activities will be subject to full risk assessment and 
guidance from the Chair of the Safety Advisory Group 
(SAG)Completion of a full business case in itself  does not pose 
any risk to the Council.  
 
 

Neil Rodgers  
Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 
Leek Market Hall Update  - Cabinet delegated 
decisions May 2020 

Contact details 

http://stal-modgov/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=301 Sarah Porru 
Head of Regeneration 
sarah.porru@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
 
7. Detail 
 
7.1 The aim of the proposed Market Hall refurbishment project is to encourage 

footfall, attract a younger visitor and for the improvements to complement the 
Butter Market and Town Centre offer. 

 
7.2 In 2017 a delegated decision report was presented to the Cabinet Member for 

Planning, Development and Property outlining recommended works to the 
Butter Market and Market Hall and further works to improve the indoor markets 
in Leek. Numerous remedial works were required to maintain the condition of 
the building and ensure it is wind and water tight. The scope of works included 
repairs to the roof and windows and replacement of the obsolete heating 
system. The works outlined in the report were approved and completed in 
2017/18.  

7.3 On completion of the above work Councillors visited award winning markets in 
Nantwich and Shrewsbury to consider examples of best practise and how 
these might be adopted in Leek, and a further programme of refurbishment to 
the Market Hall was considered with the intention to restore and refit the 

Page 39



  

market offer supporting the increasing trend towards local food offers.  
Suggestions included the possible addition of four or five modern food outlets 
to attract new customers and complement Leek’s independent shops and 
outdoor market and attract more visitors to the town, boosting tourism and the 
local economy.  

 
7.4 In May 2020, Cabinet agreed to undertake a feasibility study and initial outline 

strategic business case to explore options for investment at Leek Market Hall 
with the aim of securing funding for refurbishing the Market Hall as soon as 
practicably possible. The report highlighted that consultation with 
stakeholders, traders and the public along with market research and 
demographic  opinion surveys will all form a key part in shaping the 
improvement of the Market Hall. 

 
7.5 Proposals to refurbish Leek Market Hall were further discussed at the Service 

Delivery and overview committee meeting on 29th January 2020 where 
members highlighted the importance of consultation with members and traders 
in the development of any proposals. Assurance was given that any decisions 
could be called-in and there were no plans to sell the market. Cabinet 
members wished to listen to additional ideas from members and traders.  

 
7.6 Summary of options 
 
 Option A: Market and out of hours use Score 55% 

 
Option A is a minimum intervention scenario which sees a focus on providing 
a fully flexible hall with no fixed units.  

  
 Key features would include: 
 

 Retain existing format with new, upgraded tables  

 Potential to open the market on additional days or in the evening for 
community-driven events (subject to organiser demand)  

 Additional daytime events and speciality markets  
 Identified risks/challenges 

 Additional entrance would be required to allow the Market Hall to open 
independently for evening or out of hours events.  

 Interest in events is not proven and the cost of overheads to facilitate out of 
hours events, reconfigure space, clean and maintain the building compared 
to income make option unviable and potentially increase dependency on 
Council Tax subsidy. 

 Will not address the existing net loss the market incurs and will not attract 
new traders or new customers to existing market stalls. 

 
 Option B: Enhanced market use Score 85% 
 

Option B provides a balance between Option A and higher intervention Option 
C to conserve flexibility while acting as a functioning market place. 

 
Install two/three small permanent kiosks in the Market which can act as a 
coffee shop and a licensed-kitchen to serve a variety of food options and 

Page 40



  

alcohol, with the option to expand to four/five permanent units if there was 
sufficient demand, although this would require longer opening hours and an 
events programme to drive footfall and make the units viable. 

 
 Key Features include: 

 Retain a critical mass of trading tables but creates upgraded environment 
with flexible trading tables, market stalls and seating 

 Install two/three small permanent food/ beverage kiosks operating on 
turnover rents, with the option to expand to three/four if there is sufficient 
market demand. 

 Potential to host market events in the Market hall to attract footfall and 
encourage turnover for the food kiosks 

 Potential to open operate as early evening markets subject to demand and 
sufficient income to cover operational costs.   
 

 Identified risks/challenges 

 Will require a significant amount of additional of marketing and pro-active 
management to run a turnover based street food offer and market events 
with increased opening hours which will increase staffing overheads and 
operational costs 

 Tenants may not be found to occupy permanent units on a mid to long-
term basis or could be displaced from other town centre units leaving 
vacant shop units. 

 Two-three permanent staff maybe insufficient to attract new customers 
 
 
 Option C: Permanent units for mixed use Score 85%  
 

Option C would re-purpose the Market Hall to create permanent units which 
can be used for food and beverage and retail trade. This would add additional 
retail space in the town centre, potentially increasing vacant floorspace post-
Covid. If it could be successfully let, this scheme has the greatest income 
potential, reducing reliance on Council tax subsidy and generating income 
which could be used on other council services. 
 
Key features include: 

 Install permanent units around the perimeter of the market hall to attract 
new customers and boost trade to Buttermarket 

 A central flexible space which could be used for additional stalls for 
market trading in addition to seating  

 Would allow businesses to trade additional hours or days without 
having to reconfigure the space with potential to open operate as early 
evening markets subject to demand and sufficient income to cover 
operational costs.   
 

 
 

 
 

7.7 Multi criteria analysis 
 

Page 41



  

 These options have been assessed by a multi-disciplined team of market 
experts against four weighted strategic objectives to determine a percentage 
score against the critical success factors.  
 
Where:  
1 = Strong Negative Impact  
2 = Negative Impact  
3 = No Impact  
4 = Positive Impact  
5 = Strong Positive Impact 

 
  

Strategic Objective Weighting  Do- Nothing Option A: 
Market and 
Out of 
Hours Use 

Option B: 
Enhanced 
Market Use 

Option C: 
Permanent 
Units for 
Mixed Use 

       
To attract a wider demographic of 
shoppers to the market to ensure 
its long term sustainability 

40%  3 3 4 5 

To improve the appearance of the 
stalls and aesthetic appeal of the 
market 

20%  3 4 5 5 

Deliver value for the taxpayer by 
developing a scheme which 
repays initial investment and 
operates at breakeven or in profit 

20%  3 2 5 4 

To attract more footfall (resident 
and tourist) into Leek to benefit the 
wider town centre 

20%  3 4 4 4 

       

 Score  2 2 3.4 3.4 

 % 
Score 

 50% 55% 85% 85% 

 
  

 
 

 

Page 42



QUARTERBRIDGE

 

Private and Confidential

LEEK MARKET HALL: OPTIONS APPRAISAL 
DRAFT WORKING DOCUMENTS - ASSESSMENT AND FEASIBILITY STUDY

P
age 43



QUARTERBRIDGE

 
This report is presented by: 

Hayden Ferriby 
Commercial Director 

hayden.ferriby@quarterbridge.co.uk 
  
Quarterbridge Project Management Ltd 
2 West Stockwell Street 
Colchester 
Essex 
CO1 1HQ 

01206 761000 

www.quarterbridge.co.uk 

Presented January 2021 

All work is underwritten with a £1 million 
professional indemnity insurance. 

The content of this proposal should be 
considered strictly private and confidential 
between authorised officers of both parties. 
  
Circulation to persons or organisations outside 
the proposal parties in the whole or in part 
cannot be undertaken without Quarterbridge 
written consent. 

Private and Confidential

P
age 44



QUARTERBRIDGE

TABLE OF CONTENTS: 

Executive Summary 5 

Introduction 7 

Key Project Aims 7 

Section 1: Market Trends and Case Studies 8 

The Value of Markets and Food Halls 10 

Street Food and Casual Dining 12 

Fresh Food Retail 14 

Retail Units 16 

Case Study- Tooting Market 17 

Case Study: Doncaster Wool Market 18 

Case Study: Queen’s Market 19 

Case Study: Markets as Arts Hubs 20 

Queensgate Market 20 

Darlington Market 20 

Section 2: Local Context and stakeholder engagement 21 

Leek Population Dynamics 22 

Local Policy Context 24 

SMDC Corporate Plan 2019 - 2023 24 

The Growth Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands 24 

Market Assessment 25 

Engagement Responses 27 

Market Traders 27 

Opinions on existing market: 27 

Opinions about the Future of the Market 27 

Local Retailers 29 

Further Stakeholders 30 

Councillor Sybil Ralphs Leader of the Council 30 

Private and Confidential Page  of 3 50

P
age 45



QUARTERBRIDGE

Leek Town Councillors 30 

District Councillors 30 

Officers 30 

Archer Fairs - Market Operator 31 

Blues and Americana Event Organisers 31 

Section 3: Strategic Case and Needs Assessment 32 

Rationale for intervention 33 

Opportunities and options Considered 33 

Critical Success Factors 34 

SMART Objectives 34 

Section 4: Initial Options Appraisal 35 

Short List Appraisal 36 

Commentary on options 37 

Staffing and management 38 

Opening Times 38 

Events and Animation 38 

Rents and Market Demand 38 

Financial Feasibility 39 

Summary 39 

Option A: Market and Out of Hours Use 40 

Option A: Layout Plan 41 

Option B: Enhanced Market Use 42 

Option B: Layout Plan with two/three units 44 

Option B: Layout Plan with four/five units 45 

Option C: Permanent Units for Mixed Use 46 

Option C: Layout Plan 47 

Multi-Criteria Analysis 48 

Option Summary Table 49

Private and Confidential Page  of 4 50

P
age 46



QUARTERBRIDGE

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Quarterbridge have been retained by 
Staffordshire Moorland District Council to 
undertake a feasibility assessment into options 
for improving Leek’s Market Hall, also known as 
the Trestle Market. This forms part of Leek’s 
Indoor Markets, with the Buttermarket which has 
twenty fully occupied units.  

The Market is currently not financially 
sustainable, and is subsidised by Council Tax 
Payers.  

Although the Market Hall and Buttermarket has 
retained a core trader base, it has limited 
viability to attract new product lines. 
Anecdotally, the market’s customer and trader 
base is ageing,  threatening its long-term future 
if it continues to fail to attract younger 
demographics.  

High operating costs mean the Market Hall 
cannot viably be opened into the evenings or on 
additional days without incurring significant 
rental charges.  

The key aim of this feasibility study is to identify 
options to:  

- Improve footfall to the Market Hall and 
Buttermarket. 

- Develop a Market offer that appeals to a 
wide audience and attracts a range of 
customers and traders.  Attract a wider range 
of demographics and age groups, including a 
younger audience to ensure long-term 
sustainability.  

- Improve the appearance of the Market Hall 
and retail frontages of the stalls.  

- Create a scheme that is financially viable and 
sustainable going forward. 

Consultation was undertaken with key 
stakeholders, including Market Traders, Officers, 
Town and District Councillors and community 
groups who organise music events.  

A frequently raised concern was about 
preserving the flexibility of the Market Hall to be 
used as a wet-weather events and community-
driven space, with fears that the addition of any 
permanent infrastructure would mean the loss of 
a valuable public space.  

The Market Hall is connected to the 
Buttermarket, and cannot open independently 
without security staff to protect the fixed-units 
and stock in the Buttermarket. Another 
entranceway must be opened up in order for the 

Market Hall to host more than 60 people (due to 
fire regulations) without the need for security. 

In practice, the Market Hall is not regularly used 
as an events space due to the costs associated 
with opening the building, including staffing, 
utilities, toilet attendants, requirement for 
security due to not being able to section off the 
Buttermarket, cleaning and reconfiguring the 
space, as well as back of house invoicing and 
administration functions.  

The stakeholder groups consulted had 
aspirations to use the space on an infrequent 
basis, when the market was not trading.  

Officers, Market Organisers and other 
Councillors emphasised the importance of 
placing market operations at the heart of future 
plans before extending opening hours and 
duties such as event planning which would 
increase operating spend.  

The addition of permanent units was seen as 
favourable, with modern street food options 
diversifying the offer, appealing to a younger 
audience and attracting footfall to support 
traders. 

In order to secure the mid to long term future of 
the Market, financial sustainability must be 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 5 50

P
age 47



QUARTERBRIDGE

addressed through additional income 
generation. Standalone and evening events, 
activities and additional opening hours are all 
community aspirations, but must cover costs and 
generate profit to address the existing deficit.  

Anecdotally, the trader parking permits account 
for circa. £22k of lost revenue per annum, and 
should be reconsidered. Temporary loading 
zones could be utilised, then traders relocate 
their vehicles elsewhere. This will also increase 
parking availability for customers which will 
benefit traders’ businesses.  

Based on the financial feasibility estimates alone, 
investment in the market cannot be 
recommended as an income-generating tool for 
the Council.  

However, interventions could be delivered which 
improve the markets offer, support future trading 
and intervene with what would otherwise be 
managed decline in a Do-Nothing scenario. 

Three options to achieve this have been 
explored and contrasted against a Do-Nothing 
scenario.  

Option A - Market and Out of Hours Use 
Retaining the Market Hall in the format it is now, 
but replacing the trestle tables with upgraded 
alternatives. Opening the Market on additional 
days and in the evening to be rented out for 
events. This rental would need to cover the cost 

of opening the building, reformatting the space, 
opening the public toilets and cleaning.  

Option B - Enhanced Market Use 
Install two/three small permanent kiosks which 
can act as a coffee shop and a licensed-kitchen 
to serve a variety of food options and alcohol, 
with upgraded tables for the traders. Market-
focused events could be held in the space to 
drive footfall such as speciality markets and 
family entertainment. Trading tables can be used 
as seating and clearing some as required. 
Income would need to cover the cost of opening 
the building, reformatting the space, opening 
the public toilets and cleaning.  

If successful, this could be extended to four/five 
permanent units, although this would require 
extended operating hours and entertainment to 
drive footfall to make the additional fixed units 
viable.  

Option C - Permanent Units for Mixed Use 
Re-purpose the Market Hall to create permanent 
units which can be used for street food, drinks 
and retail traders. Nine units could be fit around 
the perimeter of the Market Hall, with space for 
twelve small trestle tables in the centre which 
can be used for casual trade or seating.  

Each option was scored against the Critical 
Success Factors / Objectives of the project, with 
the outcome that Option B, or C were viable, 

with Option B being the recommended option 
at this stage based on the information available. 

Events and animation would be a desirable 
addition to support and enhance the core 
market commercial operations, but without a 
committed body to organise and fund weekly/
fortnightly/monthly events the risk is high that 
future plans based on events will not come to 
fruition.  

With stakeholder groups in wide disagreement 
about the best way forward, these initial options 
as well as a ‘Do-Nothing’ option will be 
presented to Cabinet and feedback sought to 
gauge general opinion and preference.    

Private and Confidential     Page  of 6 50

P
age 48



QUARTERBRIDGE

INTRODUCTION  

Quarterbridge have been retained by 
Staffordshire Moorland District Council to 
undertake a feasibility assessment into options 
for improving Leek’s Market Hall, also known as 
the Trestle Market. This forms part of Leek’s 
Indoor Markets, and is attached to the 
Buttermarket which has twenty fully occupied 
lock up units.  

The Market Hall has thirty-two trestle tables 
which are used for pop-up markets on 
Wednesdays, Fridays and Saturdays, and was 
trading at 75% occupancy prior to Covid-19.  

Markets are of vital importance to their local 
towns, stimulating footfall, increasing spend with 
other businesses around the town centre and 
offering low-cost startup opportunities for 
fledgeling businesses.  

Many markets around the country have suffered 
as a result of changing retail trends and 
consumer behaviours, which have seen a shift to 
out-of-town retail parks, online shopping and 
bargain good shops.  

Food shopping is dominated by Supermarkets, 
with which a recent rise in discount supermarkets 
has for many people replaced the rationale to 
visit traditional markets. However local markets 

can still offer good value and access to local 
food. 

Leek has been successful in retaining occupancy 
in its Indoor Market and Outdoor Markets, with a 
very popular monthly Totally Locally artisan and 
food market and regular outdoor markets, but it 
is recognised that the customer base, 
particularly on the Buttermarket, is ageing and 
over time this will impact on trade.  

The Market Hall represents a key opportunity to 
improve the Market offer in Leek, attracting a 
wider customer demographic (including younger 
customers) to the Market Hall and the 
Buttermarket and diversifying the offer to 
support economic recovery in the wake of 
Covid-19.  

This report will explore the existing market 
provision, undertake stakeholder engagement to 
gauge local opinion about the existing market 
and understand aspirations for the future. 

Options will be put forward to increase footfall 
to the Market Hall, attract a wider range of 
customers and deliver long-term financial 
sustainability. This will include exploring the 
possibility of installing fixed units in the Market 
Hall to create a Street Food and Casual Dining 

offer. It is not proposed to change the market 
stalls in the Buttermarket.  

Public consultation will be undertaken to 
understand who is using the Market, why some 
people do not currently use the market, and 
consult on the identified options to deliver the 
project objectives.  

KEY PROJECT AIMS 

• Improve footfall to the Market Hall and 
Buttermarket. 

• Develop a  Market offer that appeals to a wide 
audience and attracts a range of customers 
and traders.  

• Improve the appearance of the Market Hall 
and retail frontages of the stalls.  

• Create a scheme that is financially viable and 
sustainable going forward.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 7 50

P
age 49



QUARTERBRIDGE

 

SECTION 1: MARKET TRENDS AND CASE 
STUDIES 
Private and Confidential     Page  of 8 50

P
age 50



QUARTERBRIDGE

For millennia, markets have been at the heart of 
community life, offering far more than simply  
goods and services. 

Daily trips to the market to collect fresh food for 
the evening’s meal were commonplace, with 
homemakers cooking fresh meals. These visits 
were also social occasions;  the market being the 
place to see friends and family whilst fulfilling 
domestic duties.  

Household goods, clothing and other essentials 
were anchor attractions in markets, with thrifty 
shoppers able to find whatever they may need at 
competitive prices.  

Small, independent businesses have always 
been the backbone of markets, and before the 
rise of the identikit High Street, businesses were 
passed from generation to generation and local 
independents were the norm.  

After centuries of constant and gradual 
evolution, many traditional markets have 
become stuck in a rut, continuing trading 
practices which worked for the post-war to the 
nineties consumer but can no longer compete in 
a modern retail and leisure environment which 
has shifted to online platforms and engagement.  

The rise of the cloned High Street, followed by 
the arrival of out of town mega shopping centres 
and retail parks and internet shopping has had a 
serious impact on the business model of many 
markets, leading to younger consumers failing to 
be attracted by traditional markets. 

Forward looking markets and small businesses 
have seized the opportunities of the 21st 
century, utilising social media as a marketing tool 
and diversifying through online sales’ platforms. 

As the world will eventually settle into a ‘new 
normal’ following the height of the Coronavirus 
and national lockdown, a return to localism is an 
essential and logical  key trend. 

As people increasingly work from home, are 
nervous about public transport use and have a 
renewed focus on shopping within their 
communities, it is likely there will be a surge in 
demand for a more localised and personalised 
economy.  

While younger generations are digital natives 
and early adopters of  internet shopping, they 
can be particularly discerning about with whom 
they spend their money, preferring to support 
local independents than anonymous chains or 
businesses  deemed to have behaved 
unethically during the crisis period.  

It is time for markets and food halls to repurpose 
and reposition at the heart of the local economy, 
acting as community hubs offering social and 
cultural opportunities providing quality produce, 
goods and services.  

Supporting small and start-up businesses with 
low barriers to entry is key. Markets stimulate 
entrepreneurism and provide the first link in a 
chain of incubation to benefit the local economy.  

Successful markets and food halls benefit entire 
town centres, offering social, cultural, economic 

and equality benefits. Markets are considered 
one of the 25 priorities for ‘vital and viable’ High 
Streets by the High Streets Task Force. They act 
as a catalyst for regeneration in underperforming 
areas. 

Markets are often seen as the first link in an 
incubation chain. New businesses are able to 
take their first steps with low barriers to entry 
and easy-in-easy-out terms,  meaning they do 
not have to take on significant debt to trial their 
business ideas. Many market businesses later 
grow into shops, filling vacant space in the town-
centre, acting as the first step in a chain of 
incubation. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 9 50

P
age 51



QUARTERBRIDGE

THE VALUE OF MARKETS AND FOOD HALLS 

A rapidly changing retail landscape has 
left many high streets unrecognisable from 
even 20 years ago. 

Markets need to return to their roots as social 
hubs, providing not just locations for mercantile 
interactions, but locations to socialise, work, 
relax and learn. 

Markets and Food Halls represent a key element 
in the wider proposals for area planning and an 
improved public realm, acting as a catalyst for 
wider town centre regeneration. They are highly-
visible and can attract strong levels of footfall, 
with many customers then going on to shop at 
other local businesses.  

Markets can stimulate social integration and 
community engagement, with revenue derived 
from them being recycled into the local 
economy, helping to regenerate an area and 
promote social inclusion, whilst supporting high 
levels of local employment. 

This importance for local employment was 
identified in a 2017 report for the Mayor of 

London  which identified that retail markets, 1

rather than wholesale markets, in London 
support 13,250 jobs from 280 retail markets.  

A report produced in 2010 provided an estimate 
of 7,319 jobs, when the total number of markets 
was estimated to be 162 .  2

The 2017 report goes on to state: 

This means around 2.8 percent of jobs in 
London’s retail industry are in street markets. 
Street markets also contribute £247.6 million 
to London’s economy in terms of gross value 
added. That is around 1.3 percent of London’s 
retail industry. Over the last year London’s 
280 markets saw 2,500 new employees 
coming into the markets sector.  

It is not just in key areas such as London that 
markets provide an essential element of 
employment. 

A 2017/18 survey by Mission for Markets, a 
group based in the United Kingdom whose aim 
is to raise the profile and prove the importance 

of traditional retail market, demonstrates that 
there were 1,173 traditional retail market (street 
markets, indoor markets or irregular market 
gatherings) in the UK, employing an estimated 
57,000 people with a collective turnover of over 
£3.1 billion in the financial year 2017/18.  3

Markets often represent the primary means of 
delivering a low-cost food offer to less-affluent 
members of the local community, particularly 
important to lower income, marginalised and 
vulnerable people, ensuring access to good 
quality, healthy and affordable fresh food. In 
addition these locations provide opportunities 
for social and cultural interaction and relatively 
low-cost and accessible trading. 

Markets have an important role to play in social 
provision and food equality. 

Each local market, either indoor or outdoor, has 
the ability to have a direct impact of the local 
area as a visitor attraction, job creator, social 
improver and enterprise seedbed. 

 Understanding London’s Markets, The Local Enterprise Partnership for London, 20171

 London’s Retail Street Markets, London Development Agency, Regeneris Consulting, 20102

 NMTF and NABMA, Mission for Markets: Survey Result, 20183

Private and Confidential     Page  of 10 50

P
age 52



QUARTERBRIDGE

For years, public markets have provided a home 
for fresh food and high-quality eateries, whether 
it is the rise of the street food scene or the arrival 
of a champagne bar, specialist cuts of meat for 
low and slow BBQ or supplying the craze for 
jackfruits, public markets can provide an eclectic 
mix of fresh or ready to eat food sat alongside 
your more common food and retail. 

There has been a huge increase in large scale 
commercial food halls, operating from either 
standalone buildings or as part of a shopping 
centre complex. 

For the market industry, these large-scale 
commercial food halls, combined with the 
amazing array of specialist street food markets 
and events happening regularly around the 
country, should provide confidence that there is 
a demand for a wide range of catering offers 
with potential to appeal to and increase the 
morning, lunch and evening, market visitors. 

To survive in a modern retail climate, markets 
must be multi-purpose and offer the use of 
space that appeals to a wider audience than 
those just wanting to shop.  

By offering the market for these wider purposes 
you create footfall and awareness that will create 
income for the retail, service and catering 
businesses within the markets. 

Transforming ‘shopping’ into a ‘shopping and 
dining experience’ must be built into the fabric 
of any future strategy, with strong consideration 
given to local population dynamics and 
formulating an offer which appeals to the broad 
spectrum of future market users. 

Combining restaurants and bars alongside high-
quality music and entertainment along with food 
stalls operating as butchers, fishmongers and 
deli, as well as boutique independent retail stalls 
creates multi-purpose market experiences which 
are experiencing large amounts of success.  

Creating space that provide community use, 
creates footfall, creates employment and 
provides a platform for small independent 
businesses is and always should have been the 
goal for any market. 

The three key elements of successful modern 
markets are a combination of street food, fresh-
food retail and retail units, with the percentage 
of each being heavily dependent on the needs 
of the local population.  

Metropolitan and Regional markets often have a 
higher representation of street food, to appeal 
to a younger demographic including non-
residents, whilst traditional retail markets often 
have a higher representation of retail goods.  
The benefits of each type of offer are explored in 
this section, whilst engagement exercises and 

literature reviews in this report will seek to 
identify the ideal mix for Leek.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 11 50

P
age 53



QUARTERBRIDGE

STREET FOOD AND CASUAL DINING 

Eating forms the backbone of human society; 
cities have sprung up around fertile grounds and 
throughout history social interactions have been 
centred around the consumption of food and 
drink. 

As a result of a number of notable brand 
closures such as Jamie Oliver’s, Carluccio’s, 
Frankie and Benny’s and Chiquito and the 
worrying headline that 18 restaurants a week are 
closing in the UK, it would be understandable to 
think the UK dining sector was in trouble.  

However the casual dining sector is booming, as 
customer habits change, many millennials and 
Gen Z'ers are eschewing chain stores in favour of 
independents. Cheap, fast food from multi-
national companies is still doing well, as the 
price point provides a USP, but for social dining 
and experience based activities, independents 
are heavily favoured.  

The combination of a communal eating 
experience, variety of cuisines on offer, 
atmosphere, quality ingredients and small 
businesses makes street food extremely popular. 
In 2019, a quarter of British consumers were 
enjoying street food on a monthly basis, and 
willing to pay higher prices for it. 

Street food is perceived to offer a more 
‘authentic’ dining experience, widening people’s 
access to multi-cultural cuisines and being 
perceived to offer a more gourmet dining 
experience than traditional restaurants. 32% of 
under 35’s said they would take a date out for 
street food, as a more casual yet intimate 
experience than traditional restaurants. 

It is hard to miss the huge increase in large scale 
commercial food halls, operating from either 
standalone buildings or as part of a shopping 
centre complex. These commercial food halls 
operate through a variety of styles, some own 
and operate all the businesses within them, 
others have chains of food operators based 
within them and others have a mix which 
includes opportunities for independent 
businesses.  

Street food units offer aspiring local 
entrepreneurs the opportunity to test their 
business, with low barriers to entry and low 
startup costs in comparison to opening a 
restaurant. These units can act as a retail 
frontage and also offer delivery, through third 
party businesses such as Just Eat, Deliveroo and 
Uber Eats.  

Food Halls offer integration and communality, 
with people coming together to enjoy a variety 

of dining options at price points suitable for the 
local economy. The experience of shared dining 
creates community cohesion and enhances 
social value, whilst creating new social memories 
and acting as a gathering point for the 
community.  

For the market industry, these large-scale 
commercial food halls, combined with the 
amazing array of specialist street food markets 
and events happening regularly around the 
country, should provide confidence that there is 
a demand for a wide range of catering offers 
with potential to appeal to and increase the 
morning, lunch and evening, market visitors.  

Food hall style developments are not suitable for 
all locations but understanding how elements of 
their use can provide additional footfall to more 
traditional market businesses can help sustain 
markets into the future. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 12 50

P
age 54



QUARTERBRIDGE

 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 13 50

P
age 55



QUARTERBRIDGE

FRESH FOOD RETAIL 

Preparing and eating food is a fundamental part 
of the human experience. Planning meals, 
selecting ingredients and cooking are at the 
centre of most people’s days.  

Busy modern lifestyles have resulted in people 
having less time to shop for and prepare food, 
with many turning to convenience food such as 
ready meals and take-out due to lack of time.  

Recent culture has moved away from 
homemakers making daily trips to local butchers, 
fishmongers and greengrocers to pick up 
ingredients for the evening meal, replaced with 
weekly or fortnightly supermarket shops, often 
delivered to your door. 

Fresh food delivery services such as Hello Fresh 
and Gousto offer time strapped consumers meal 
bundles, with all the ingredients and recipe 
cards required to prepare pre-selected meals.  

Local butchers, bakers, fishmongers and 
greengrocers have a distinct appeal, particularly 
when amalgamated together under one roof in 
markets and dedicated food halls to increase 
convenience for the customer and attract more 
footfall.  

Customers want authenticity in their purchases, 
speaking to the independent business owner 
about what you’re planning on cooking, how 
many it’s for and being guided by their expert 
tips as they prepare your ingredients in front of 
you- it’s an experience that is more fulfilling than 
an anonymous trip to the supermarket.  

Local food producers often represent local 
suppliers, with much shorter food supply chains 
than in national brands. This is a much more 
sustainable way of eating, with fewer food miles, 
reduced or no plastic packaging, and less food 
waste as customers only buy the amounts they 
need. Profits are directed to the farmers and 
producers, rather than being split amongst 
shareholders and middle-men. This sustainability 
and social consciousness is a key factor in 
millennial and Gen-Z shopping habits. 
        
Several major trends in fresh food have 
appeared, particularly a growing proportion of 
the population taking up a meat-free or vegan 
diet (13% ). Zero-waste refill stations have begun 4

to open around the country, offering 
unpackaged goods such as rices and cereals, 
which customers can bring their own containers 
for filling and buy at the volumes they need, 
minimising plastic waste. Organic food is 

growing in popularity, with consumers more 
conscious than ever about where their food is 
coming from.  

For many, shopping at the supermarket rather 
than seeking out local producers is a matter of 
convenience. Small, independent food retailers 
need to work hard to develop the infrastructure 
and marketing to bridge this convenience gap in 
order to reclaim a local customer base. Offering 
delivery services, collaborating with other 
producers to offer a mutual delivery service 
offering anything a customer could want in a 
weekly shop, reaching out to people on social 
media and driving the message and the people 
behind the brand are all effective methods of 
developing successful food produce businesses.  

 A critical mass of fresh food retailers (ideally 
including a grocer, butcher, baker, fishmonger 
and (zero-waste) deli, are major benefits to 
towns. They support local supply chains, offer 
relatively low-cost access to fresh, healthy food 
and support the local economy, whilst also 
acting as key footfall drivers. These are key food 
equality services.  

 https://www.finder.com/uk/uk-diet-trends4

Private and Confidential     Page  of 14 50

P
age 56

https://www.finder.com/uk/uk-diet-trends


QUARTERBRIDGE

 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 15 50

P
age 57



QUARTERBRIDGE

RETAIL UNITS 

Most people associate traditional markets with 
retail, ranging from household goods to clothes, 
accessories, gifts and handmade products.  

The expectation for retail units differs across 
generations, with older customers looking more 
for practical bargain goods (such as household 
cleaning products), whilst the under 55’s tend to 
get these products in supermarkets or pound 
stores. This group have also moved away from 
buying clothing at markets, with the notable 
exception of vintage markets, as it has fallen out 
of fashion.  

In an ever-changing retail climate in which 
industry giants have gone into administration, 
retail faces an uphill battle. Only retailers who 
are agile, incorporating online and offline 
worlds, offering strong customer service, 
undertaking active marketing and offering a 
carefully selected product mix that fulfils either 
needs or desires will be able to navigate the 
coming years and decades.  

Online retailers, pound stores and supermarkets 
have pushed out many traditional market traders 
from their niche, however a new generation of 
market trader is coming through, offering quirky, 
independent goods which are often handmade. 
It is this speciality products that will be popular 
in the future, as demand for traditional market 

stalls dwindles. These retailers are often drawn 
to metropolitan centres, but local markets give 
them opportunities to start their businesses in 
their local area, particularly if they are living 
with / raising families nearby.  

Many of these traders are transient, as the nature 
of their products means they need to showcase 
to a variety of people in a variety of places to 
optimise sales. Towns and cities with large levels 
of tourism buck this trend however, as the 
continual turnover of customers offers traders 
the same opportunities. 

Big-box retail space is no longer desirable, often 
leaving large voids in town centres as national 
retailers divest their retail property portfolio. 
Retailers need small, manageable units which fall 
below business rates relief thresholds.  

Markets are very well equipped to offer this, by 
offering a mix of small pop-up units, flexible 
stalls which can be moved and re-arranged, 
small shuttered lock- up units and mid-sized 
lockable units to appeal to a reduced number of 
retail businesses.  

Flexibility is key, with the priority being units 
which can be easily moved, reconfigured or 
redesigned based on changing needs.   

Private and Confidential     Page  of 16 50

P
age 58



QUARTERBRIDGE

CASE STUDY- TOOTING MARKET 

Tooting Market is based in the London Borough 
of Wandsworth, historically an extremely 
deprived area of London. However much has 
been done to provide affordable housing, 
improving schooling and regeneration projects 
aimed at increasing local employment, and in 
2017 the Social Mobility Commission placed 
Wandsworth as the fourth best place in the 
country when it comes to helping people 
overcome deprived backgrounds.  

Tooting Market was in decline and primarily used 
as a cut through from neighbouring streets to 
the tube station. The introduction of a small 
number of street food units generated interest 
and attracted new people to the market, 
increasing dwell time and creating a vibrant, 
bustling atmosphere full of smells, sounds, and 
colours.  

More street food units became a part of the 
market, and proved so popular that a 
neighbouring market began taking street food 
traders from a waiting list, and sharing in the 
success. For Tooting the balance was always of 
the utmost importance, and not losing sight of 
its heritage has proven to be a key factor in its 
success.  

This has been an organic transition, and the 
gritty, colourful surroundings have given Tooting 

Market a vibrant atmosphere. The market does 
not have high-end fit-outs, instead utilising 
foldable wooden furniture, crates and pallet fit-
outs, and exposed M&E and infrastructure. 

This has allowed the market to keep its authentic 
character, with retail and service businesses 
thriving in amongst the street food units which 
open later into the evening. Butchers and 
grocers sit nestled in amongst the seating and 
street food units, alongside wine merchants, 
bric-a-brac, barbers and eco-shops. 

In 2017, Tooting Market was named ‘Best Small 
Indoor Market’ in the Great British Market 
Awards 2017, was a finalist for the Best Food 
Market in the 2018 Foodism100 Awards, and has 
been included on lists such as ‘Top 10 Coolest 
Places to Visit in the World’ by Lonely Planet.  

The future of Tooting Market was under threat 
from the proposed Crossrail 2 route, however 
delays with Crossrail 1 mean this is unlikely to 
have an impact for some time. 

Lessons for Leek: The integration of food units 
can attract a wider audience and acts as a key 
footfall driver to benefit other retailers. There is 
demand for these services across all levels of 
affluence, with street food at the right price 
point being a benefit for lower-income residents. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 17 50

P
age 59



QUARTERBRIDGE

CASE STUDY: DONCASTER WOOL MARKET 

Doncaster Wool Market forms part of a wider 
markets estate, and was formerly home to a 
number of retail traders and a cafe. The building 
and units within it had become extremely run 
down, and vacancy had reached over 60% as 
traders had continued to leave the market.  

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 
(DMBC) secured funding from the Sheffield City 
Region Investment Fund (SCRIF) to undertake a 
significant redevelopment which saw the 
building enclosed in glass and all of the units 
demolished and replaced with modern, fit-for 
purpose retail and street food units. The traders 
who remained in the Wool Market were 
relocated to other vacant spaces in the Market 
Estate. 

In March 2019, the Wool Market re-opened with 
twelve independent street food units around a 
communal seating and dining area with a stage 
and sound system for live entertainment.  

Twenty-seven retail units of varying sizes were 
occupied by quirky, independent retail including  
clothing and accessories, eco-products, baby-
wear, printing and design services,  cosmetics, 
giftware and beauty and hairdressing services.  

New opening times were devised to keep the 
street food element of the Wool Market open 

until 9pm on Thursday, Friday and Saturday 
nights, with a programme of live music and 
entertainment including weekly quizzes, 
children’s films, art exhibitions and community 
showcases.  

The opening weekend saw 75,000 people visit 
the Market, and visitor numbers have been 
consistent, particularly on the evenings and 
weekends, when the street food element acts as 
the key draw.  

Neighbouring businesses (including market 
traders across the estate) have since seen an 
uplift of 30% in their takings, and the evening 
economy which was previously struggling in that 
area of town has been enlivened with a new 
audience, who did not previously spend time in 
Doncaster town centre.  

An open pop-up events area has been used to 
host record fairs, Christmas markets, craft 
workshops and dance schools, and the space is 
reconfigured frequently to serve the public. 

Lessons for Leek: The early evening economy 
can be stimulated by having a family-friendly 
food hall environment, as patrons go on to 
spend in other establishments. Street food and 
entertainment act as key footfall drivers.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 18 50

P
age 60



QUARTERBRIDGE

CASE STUDY: QUEEN’S MARKET 

Queen’s Market in the London Borough of 
Newham was the subject of a 2006 report by the 
New Economics Foundation documenting the 
economic and social value of the community 
market . 5

Plans were announced to demolish the existing 
Market and replace it with a new market as part 
of a mixed retail / residential development.  

It should be noted that Quarterbridge were 
retained by the developers to provide advice on 
the redevelopment.  

This report found that the market offers essential 
community services, including affordable access 
to fresh food, high employment density, a 
customer base from ethnically diverse 
backgrounds and a strong proportion of female 
and BME traders. 

As a result of this evidence base, Queen’s 
Market was registered as an Asset of Community 
Value due to its social and community value.  

Key Benefits Of the Market: 

• Food produce sold at the market was on 
average 53% cheaper than a local 

supermarket, in a ward designated a 'food 
desert’ 

• 80% of customers at the market said the 
market sold good that were not available 
elsewhere. 

• Delivers substantial economic benefit for the 
local economy, with over £13 million 
generated, 69% on food. 

• Creates higher job density than supermarkets, 
with twice as many jobs p.s.m.  

• Supports local entrepreneurs, with 26% of 
traders having started trading within the 
previous five years, and over half trading for 
more than 10 years.  

• 70% of traders were from BAME backgrounds 

• Variety of businesses from sole traders to 
businesses employing 25 staff.   

Lessons for Leek: These key community and 
social functions are performed by the 
Buttermarket rather than the Trestle Market. The 
focus for the Trestle Market should be 
complementing this offer to attract customers. 

 https://neweconomics.org/uploads/files/31f21886832eb6ba1a_15m6ba8x3.pdf5

Private and Confidential     Page  of 19 50

P
age 61



QUARTERBRIDGE

CASE STUDY: MARKETS AS ARTS HUBS 

As traditional markets have developed increased 
vacancies over the last decade, market 
managers across the country have looked to 
converting vacant units and meanwhile space 
into homes for the arts. For many markets this 
has acted as a stimulus for local creatives and 
has brought in new and varied footfall. 

By working with other stakeholders in the 
community, in particular local schools, colleges 
and universities, arts groups, charities, and 
public and private sector stakeholders, projects 
become community driven.  

Relatively simple interventions such as the 
purchase of exhibition boards, or whitewashing 
vacant space to be used as exhibition space, are 
extremely cost effective, often achievable at low 
cost. There are also grant funding schemes, 
particularly through the Arts Council.  

QUEENSGATE MARKET 

Market management, the local Creative 
Economy Team and students from the University 
of Huddersfield created a joint initiative to 
convert vacant stalls into pop-up exhibition 
space to showcase the work of local students.  
This project was called Temporary 
Contemporary and won the NABMA award for 

‘Innovation of the Year’ at the Great British 
Market Awards after its success at invigorating 
the cultural value of the market and bringing 
together a number of institutions and 
stakeholders.  

This project did not impact traders, but was 
designed to bring in a new audience to an 
underperforming space.  

DARLINGTON MARKET  

Darlington Market cleared a number of vacant 
units to create an open mixed-use space for 
seating and community use. Following a 
successful application for Arts Council Funding, 
the Market purchased a number of exhibition 
boards which frame the space.  
 
A programme of exhibits have been 
programmed including from the local group of 
mental health charity Mind showcasing art 
therapy creations, historical photos from library 
archives, children’s artwork and local 
photography exhibitions.  

Market Managers also encouraged the active 
use of this space, programming live pop-up 
theatre, music performances and a life drawing 
class. 

Lessons for Leek: Arts and cultural exhibitions 
can attract new and varied footfall to markets, 
complementing existing traders and performing 
a valuable function to fill vacant space. Creating 
exhibition spaces as part of pop-up craft events 
can attract new and varied traders as a 
diversified event.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 20 50

P
age 62



QUARTERBRIDGE

 

SECTION 2: LOCAL CONTEXT AND 
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT  
Private and Confidential     Page  of 21 50

P
age 63



QUARTERBRIDGE

LEEK POPULATION DYNAMICS 

Understanding the age profile and cultural 
identities of the local population is crucial when 
formulating an offer in order to make sure it is 
embraced by the community it serves. The 
following assessment takes a broad brush 
approach to understand the wider population 
and their potential shopping habits.  

Different generations have distinct spending 
habits, with Baby Boomers increasingly 
travelling, learning new skills and enjoying luxury 
goods (a phenomenon known as SKIing- 
Spending the Kids’ Inheritance).  

Gen X (aged around 40-55) have a tendency to 
shop more conservatively than previous 
generations, with a heavy emphasis on online 
reviews and social media networks before 
committing to a purchase. An estimated 77% of 
Gen X’ers are on social media and are 
particularly active on Facebook.  

Millennials (aged 23 - 37) and Gen Z’ers (aged 
4-22) will soon represent the largest spending 
power in the economy. These groups have very 
similar shopping habits, characterised by the 
strong influence of peer reviews, loyalty to 
brands which are socially conscious and reflect 
their own perspectives and a heavy influence on 
customer service.  

Gen Z, in particular, are ‘digital natives’, not able 
to remember a time before the internet, and the 
seamless integration of online and offline worlds 
is vital.  

Seeing shopping as a social event differentiates 
the millennial and Gen Z market from the Baby 
Boomers, with research showing over half of 
millennials shop with friends and 60% strongly 
consider advice from their friends on deciding 
what to buy. 75% of this group prefer to spend 
money on experiences rather than material 
things- and are willing to pay extra for it.  

There are also inter-generational differences in 
people’s relationship with eating, drinking and 
socialising, with Baby Boomers and older Gen 
X’ers having a strong preference for fresh 
ingredients and home cooking, and younger 
generations increasingly eating out, ordering in 
or using pre-prepared home meal kits such as 
Hello Fresh.  

Understanding local population dynamics is the 
first step towards developing socially cohesive 
towns that fulfil multi-generational needs. 

Leek has a population of 21,250 people, with a 
catchment of over 98,500 people living within 
Staffordshire Moorlands.  

The following data is sourced from the Office for 
National Statistics & Department for Work and 
Pensions, and shows the trend across 
Staffordshire Moorlands.  
The largest population group is the Baby 
Boomers and 75+, who make up 36% of the 
population. This is an older population 
compared to the national average of 
approximately 30% aged 55 and above.  

Gen X make up 24% of the population, 17% are 
Millennials (aged 23 - 37) and 18% are Gen Z’ers 
(aged 4-22) who will soon represent the largest 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 22 50

75 and Over
9%

Baby Boomers
27%

Gen X
24%

Millennials
17%

Gen Z
18%

0-4
5%

Age Distribution of Staffordshire Moorlands Population

P
age 64



QUARTERBRIDGE

spending power in the economy. They are also 
valuable in maintaining the workforce and 
contributing to the local economy.  

For a generation which is stereotyped as being 
‘glued to their phones’, 80% of millennials say 
that attending live events make them feel more 
connected to people and the community with 
75% preferring to spend money on experiences 
rather than material things- and are willing to 
pay extra for it.  

Integrating ‘experiences’ into shopping can be 
make or break in winning the loyalty (and 
therefore spend) of these demographics.  
Leek has an above average level of home-
ownership, with 79% of people either owning 
their own homes outright or having mortgaged 
homes, compared to a national average of 
63.4%. This is in line with the older age profile of 
Staffordshire Moorlands residents.  

Although the median salary in Staffordshire 
Moorlands (£25.3k) sits below the national 
average (£31.5k), the median salary including 
residents who commute outside of the area is 
£27.2k, indicating people are travelling further 
afield for economic opportunities. This is 
reinforced by a net outflow of almost 13,000 
workers in 2018. This can also be attributed to 
people who work further afield choosing to live 
in Leek for the benefits of rural living and other 
social factors.  

Ethnically, Leek is predominantly White British, 
with 96.6% of the population from the United 
Kingdom, 2% of Republic of Ireland and EU 
immigrants and 1.4% of Non-EU immigrants 
making up the local population.  

Tourism is of significant economic importance to 
the Peak District, with a £32.6m economic 
impact from visitors to Leek – an increase of 
£4.25m since 2014 (9% growth) prior to Covid.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 23 50

P
age 65



QUARTERBRIDGE

LOCAL POLICY CONTEXT 

SMDC CORPORATE PLAN 2019 - 2023 

The Corporate Plan outlines four key aims to 
deliver high quality services that meet the needs 
and aspirations of local communities.  

1. To help create a safer and healthier 
environment for our communities to live and 
work 

2. To use resources effectively and provide 
value for money -providing value for money 
council services 

3. To help create a strong economy by 
supporting further regeneration of towns and 
villages - supporting increased economic 
growth and increased tourism. 

4. To protect and improve the environment and 
respond to the climate emergency  

In order to comply with corporate plan 
objectives, the Market should be delivered for 
value for money, and act as income generating 
asset to support other Council priorities.  

Key objectives listed in Aim 3 are to ‘encourage 
business start-ups and enterprises’, ‘encourage 
and develop tourism’ and ‘flourishing town 
centres that support the local economy;.  

Using the Market as incubator space for aspiring 
and local entrepreneurs would be a key tool in 

meeting these objectives, by providing the 
appropriate facilities and environment to allow 
sole traders and micro businesses to flourish.   

By using the market to host speciality markets, 
developing the markets’ regional reputation and 
hosting events and activities, the Market could 
contribute to the offer as part of a wider tourism 
strategy to encourage visitors into town centres.  

THE GROWTH STRATEGY FOR 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS 

Outlines the vision of Staffordshire Moorlands as 
an ‘area with a vibrant and distinctive natural and 
built environment which welcomes planned 
growth to create an independent and 
sustainable economy and offer a high quality of 
life to the residents, visitors and the business 
community in North Staffordshire’.  

This Growth Strategy defines Leek as a ‘self-
contained market town', with a ‘high percentage 
of independent shops’ and acting as a ‘hub for 
arts and creative industries’.  

The Market can contribute to this as a vibrant 
market offering employment opportunities and 
creative and artistic space.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 24 50

Generation Age Group  Population

Gen Z 4-22 18%

Millennials 23-37 17%

Gen X 38-55 24%

Baby 
Boomers

56-74 27%

P
age 66



QUARTERBRIDGE

MARKET ASSESSMENT 

The Market Hall holds 32 trestle tables 
measuring 8ft x 4ft (although this number has 
been reduced as a result of Covid to allow for 
social distancing).  

A general retail market is held on Wednesdays 
and Saturdays, with a mix of regular and casual 
traders. The average trader numbers pre-Covid 
is reported as 26 per market day, although not 
all of these stalls were paid for.  

Third-party provider Archers Fairs operate an 
antiques and collectors market on Fridays, with a 
pre-Covid occupancy rate of 12 stalls, which has 
declined since Covid-19. 

There are a wide variety of product lines, 
predominantly traditional retail items, with a 
small selection of food retail stalls.  

The Trestle tables themselves are cumbersome 
and difficult to move, making reconfiguring the 
space time-consuming and therefore costly.  

Goods are displayed by laying them on the 
tables, although some do have more attractive 
tiered displays. This does not create a strong 
aesthetic, and has been commented on as 
creating an ‘old-fashioned’ or ‘car-boot sale’ 
appearance, although others believe it to be 
‘traditional;. 

The Market delivers an annual surplus when 
looking at Direct Expenses alone. The addition 
of management recharges pushes the Market 
into a net loss borne by Council Tax payers. 

The Buttermarket and Trestle Market only trade 
three days a week. This provides an opportunity 
to use the space for different markets on other 
days of the week if it is viable to do so. In order 
to open the market, popular consensus is 
required amongst Buttermarket traders, with fire 
regulations meaning the Market Hall cannot 
open in isolation without incurring significant 
costs through security personnel. 

There are costs associated with the additional 
opening of the Market, particularly staffing, 
security, cleaning, utilities and back office 
support and planning, which means that the 
Market Hall cannot be offered out for out of 
hours uses without charging significant fees.  

The current trader base operating in the Market 
Hall are of an older generation, and over the 
next five to ten years, it is likely some will retire.  

Anecdotally, the customer base is relatively 
limited to older generations. By comparison the 
monthly ‘Totally Locally’ Market attracts a variety 
of audiences including younger people, through 

a mix of artisan and food stalls, and secures 80 
traders (pre-Covid).  

The success of the Totally Locally Market 
demonstrates a strong demand for this kind of 
offer, and acts as a footfall driver to bring people 
into the town centre, benefitting surrounding 
businesses.  

The Market Hall needs to attract the next 
generation of traders and a younger customer 
demographics in order to secure its’ long term 
sustainability. 

Ideally this would be achieved without 
disenfranchising the existing trader and shopper 
base, which would have negative socio-
economic impacts.  

The market is not meeting commercial or 
community aspirations, as the costs associated 
maintaining and operating the building are not 
currently being met. These costs are also 
prohibitive to using the space for more diverse 
uses. Without intervention, the Market will 
undergo managed decline, ultimately operating 
at significant cost to the taxpayer.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 25 50

P
age 67



QUARTERBRIDGE

Private and Confidential     Page  of 26 50

P
age 68



QUARTERBRIDGE

ENGAGEMENT RESPONSES 

MARKET TRADERS 

A site visit was not possible as a result of 
national lockdowns due to Covid 19. Ten 
responses to surveys were completed, with 7 
from Trestle Market traders and 3 from the 
Buttermarket. This included 6 retailers, 1 hot 
food vendor, 1 plants and flowers, 1 packaged 
goods stall, A Sweet Stall 9 were sole traders, 
with one having 2 employees.  

60% of traders identified their customers as 
being between 41 - 65, whilst the other 40% 
said their customers were from all age groups, 
with an average spend per transaction of £10.  

80% of traders used Facebook to promote their 
business, with 30% using secondary social media 
platforms, and 60% took orders online.  

 OPINIONS ON EXISTING MARKET: 

All respondents thought the appearance of the 
market was Good or Very Good, with comments 
focusing on the traditional market appearance.  

All respondents thought the footfall in the 
market before Covid was Good or Very Good, 
although comments were raised that Wednesday 
and Saturday trade is better than Fridays which 

is ‘very poor’, and that that the relocation of the 
outside market had had a knock on effect.  
When asked what they liked about Leek 
Buttermarket and Trestle Market, key themes 
were it being a traditional market, community 
value, and the relationship with customers.  

OPINIONS ABOUT THE FUTURE OF THE 
MARKET 

When asked whether a small number of 
permanent kiosks in the Trestle Market selling 
hot food and drinks would benefit the market, 
70% of respondents said No, 20% said Yes and 
10% were Not Sure, with concerns raised about 
the cafe in the Buttermarket and competition to 
other venues in Leek, as well as smells and 
spillages affecting retail sales.  

What are your ideas for the future of the 
Trestle Market? Please include any specific 
comments on layout/design, events or 
activities you would like to see: (full responses) 
    

 “More pop up and put them on wheels so they 
can be moved please look at retro catering trailers 
in each corner of the Trestle market Keep both 
sides happy Needs more food due to the state of 
the cafe We need trailers that have running water 
and so on with nice small table and chairs that can 
be moved” 

“Better advertising to encourage all age groups to 
utilise the market space .... keep it as traditional as 
possible…." 

“There is nothing wrong with the existing layout. 
Traders display and and lay out their goods in a 
way that shows them off to their best advantage. 
Most long serving traders know what is the best 
way to do this. Permanent stalls would detract from 
the open nature of the market” 

“The space when not in use for the market is a 
great space for local events eg. Scooterfest which 
brings in a enormous amount of visitors to the 
town who spend their money with the local cafes 
and public houses because it is in a prime central 
location ( Trestle Market ) also the Christmas 
markets use this space. It has the added benefit of 
a car park which is also used.” 

“More advertising would definitely help, as there 
are still people unaware that we are there. People 
are more than happy with it the way it is already it 
just needs better advertising and signage so 
people know it is there !!” 

"To utilize the space we have and make the 
existing structure more pleasing to the eye,…. The 
fortitude of the trestle mkt is to be dynamic so the 
customer does not get bored and the premise 
becoming stagnent.plenty of events with variety 
would be pleasing.” 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 27 50

P
age 69



QUARTERBRIDGE

Please indicate how strongly you agree / disagree with the following statements:  

Overall traders were reluctant to see changes that would detract from what they saw as a ‘traditional’ market offer, although there was general consensus that more 
needed to be done to attract customers. There was a distinction between responses from Buttermarket traders, who saw the opportunity for a small number of 
quality independent street food outlets as a positive opportunity, compared to Trestle Market respondents who were opposed to physical alterations.  

STRONGLY 
AGREE 

AGREE NEITHER 
AGREE NOR 
DISAGREE

DISAGREE STRONGLY 
DISAGREE

TOTAL

I would like to see improved trading pitches for non-food 
traders in the Trestle Market

20.00%

2

20.00%

2

20.00%

2

30.00%

3

10.00%

1

10

I would like to see fixed unit structures in the Trestle 
Market

0.00%

0

20.00%

2

0.00%

0

10.00%

1

70.00%

7

10

I would like to see more pop-up and speciality markets in 
the Trestle Market

20.00%

2

10.00%

1

20.00%

2

10.00%

1

40.00%

4

10

The addition of more seating would help my business 0.00%

0

10.00%

1

10.00%

1

10.00%

1

70.00%

7

10

I think the addition of street food units in the Trestle 
Market would help my business

10.00%

1

10.00%

1

10.00%

1

0.00%

0

70.00%

7

10

I would like to see more community events in the Trestle 
Market

10.00%

1

50.00%

5

10.00%

1

20.00%

2

10.00%

1

10

I would like to see the Trestle Market open for additional 
days

20.00%

2

10.00%

1

10.00%

1

10.00%

1

50.00%

5

10

I would like to see the Buttermarket open for additional 
days

20.00%

2

10.00%

1

30.00%

3

10.00%

1

30.00%

3

10

Private and Confidential     Page  of 28 50

P
age 70



QUARTERBRIDGE

LOCAL RETAILERS 

Nine local businesses responded to a survey. 
Five said that the Buttermarket and Trestle 
Market was of no benefit to their business, with 
two saying it did benefit them (one through 
direct sales to market traders). Only one 
business believed the Wednesday and Saturday 
Market benefited their business.  

All the respondents were in favour or strongly in 
favour of hosting a wider range of speciality and 
event markets, 88% were in favour of hosting 
more community events, and all supported 
opening the Buttermarket and Trestle Market on 
additional days.  

Opinions were divided on installing a small 
number of permanent food kiosks to serve hot 
food and drink, with 33% in favour, 11% not sure 
and 55% against.  

What is your opinion on the future of the 
Trestle Market? Please include any comments, 
ideas or suggestions: (full responses) 

“Combined aspect of food, drink, crafts, 
markets, speciality markets, events, venue space 
for performances, community hub.” 

“I feel the Trestle Market is an asset to the town 
in its current form as it can potentially be used 
for a variety of events. The Christmas markets, a 

mixture of craft stalls and live music, are 
especially popular.” 

 “Something exciting needs to be done for the 
future of the market, inside and out.” 

 "The people of leek are very concerned that 
they are at risk of losing a community asset. The 
hall has a history of community events . The 
current council leadership states the hall is 
underused as it is I would argue that this may 
well be correct.. The hall however is not 
advertised as available for community events so 
who is therefore responsible for the under use ? . 
It seems to me and many others this is a 
deliberate act by a certain few officers to push 
their personal agenda.” 

 “I have concerns that the required footfall, even 
if this were increased, would be insufficient to 
support more permanent/fixed traders and that 
should these be included other town centre 
businesses (especially cafes and food stores) 
would be negatively affected.” 

 “It needs to be like borough market in London 
and offer exciting food options for local workers 
to grab at lunchtimes” 

 “The space lends itself to many other uses , 
both commercial and community and it would 
be nice to see the space used more.” 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 29 50

P
age 71



QUARTERBRIDGE

FURTHER STAKEHOLDERS 

COUNCILLOR SYBIL RALPHS 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

Councillor Ralphs believes that the towns and 
high streets which will recover most quickly from 
the Coronavirus crisis and its immediate effects 
will be those with strong markets. She is 
passionate about the future of Leek market and 
believes the market team have made enormous 
efforts over the past year. 

 - Markets must be vibrant, colourful and 
interesting. 

 - People need to have a desire to come to the 
market and young people are not drawn to the 
current market. 

She wishes to deliver a 21st-century destination 
that attracts a wide range of customers and 
serves the Leek community, and believes the 
Market Hall affords a unique opportunity to 
develop the market offer, acting as a footfall 
driver to support the wider town centre and 
region. 

Councillor Ralphs sees that the experience of 
Street Food is exciting and part of the future, 
and wants to bring a bit of that to Leek. The 
‘Eating Experience’ and socialising that come 
from it is key to a vibrant town centre. 

She expressed concerns that the Market Hall is 
not suited to being constantly cleared for events, 
with the trestles not being fit for purpose, and 
the building should primarily be used as a 
Market rather than a village hall style venue.  

LEEK TOWN COUNCILLORS 

A Zoom meeting was held between 
Quarterbridge and the Leek Town Council. They 
believe it is important to note that the 
Buttermarket and Trestle Market have a 
symbiotic relationship and one cannot be 
considered in isolation of the other.  

There are strong concerns within the Town 
Council that the addition of any fixed units in the 
Market Hall will mean the space cannot be used 
for other functions. They also believe that street 
food or food units would add competition to 
other F&B businesses in the town centre, which 
would be unsustainable.  

The key priority for the Town Council is 
maintaining flexibility and offering an expanded 
programme of community events, including live 
music, using the Trestle Market as a wet weather 
venue for town centre events, and a wider range 
of non-market purposes.  

They would like to see the fee for the hire of the 
hall waived as events provide community and 
local economy functions, identifying it as the 
only large community ‘town hall’ style space in 
Leek.  

A notable event they pointed to was a Christmas 
Event involving a demountable stage, pop-up 
bar, some seating areas and open space which 
was seen as a success.  

DISTRICT COUNCILLORS  

Seven surveys were completed by District 
Councillors, who were broadly positive of the 
existing market as a traditional space which is 
busy, offers a diverse mix of products and is 
popular with the local community.  

Key concerns were maintaining the flexibility to 
offer events and support traders who work 
across multiple locations and not competing 
with other hospitality venues around Leek. All 
respondents wanted to see community events 
held in the Trestle Market. 

OFFICERS 

Officers want to support delivery of corporate 
objective 'thriving high street' -both in short 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 30 50

P
age 72



QUARTERBRIDGE

term post-covid recovery terms, but also for 
longer term.  

Officers recognise that many existing market 
traders are serving a shrinking ageing 
demographic - and traders themselves are often 
of retirement age or older - this poses a risk to 
the long term future of the market and its 
customer base - and while there is no desire to 
disenfranchise long term traders, it also does 
need to be recognised that 'no-change' is 
effectively managing decline.  

There is clearly potential that a 'new market' 
approach (which aims to capture leisure 
shoppers and younger customers) can support 
the smooth transition over time and maybe more 
popular than a radical change - but officers want 
to ensure that there is an evidence based 
approach to any proposed changes - and this 
wont simply displace spend in the wider town - 
and that any spend is justiciable in terms of 
achieving objectives and being economically 
sustainable for the longer term. 

ARCHER FAIRS - MARKET OPERATOR 

"I have had an independent license for the last 
15 years to hold a weekly vintage & craft market 
each Friday in Leeks “Trestle Market: on behalf 
of SMDC. 

I feel  four ‘food’ stalls situated on the far back 
wall of the trestle market might indeed enhance 
trade & footfall. 

It must be remembered that the trestle market is 
open every wed/fri/sat & that importantly each 
of these days has totally different traders who 
have different layouts so purpose made stalls 
need discussion. 

A new heating system has indeed been installed 
but unfortunately is totally inadequate. So cold it 
is uncomfortable for both stallholders & 
customers alike. 

The current stallholders have been a loyal & hard 
working folk & feel they need to be kept abreast 
of developments.” 

BLUES AND AMERICANA EVENT 
ORGANISERS 

The Blues and American Festival is one of the 
largest town centre events in Leek, bringing 
together a variety of venues to create a music 
trail around the town centre.  

This takes place on a Sunday in October to 
coincide with the Totally Locally Market, is 
funded by corporate sponsorship and organised 
and staffed by volunteers.  

Estimated from the organisers but attendance at 
the 2018 event at 2,800 people, with local hotels 

fully booked and some pubs seeing record 
takings.  

Since The Swan function room was taken over by 
Wetherspoons, the organisers feel that the 
Market Hall, working closely with the Arts centre, 
could become the focal point for regular music 
events in Leek.  

Their aspiration is to use music events to benefit 
the whole town centre, circulating footfall across 
venues and supporting a community of local 
musicians.  

Their aspiration would be to use the building 
primarily on a Sunday, setting up the layout on a 
Saturday night and then removing it ready for 
the following week’s trade. 

Although there is a desire to operate these 
events as a community function from a local 
network of musicians, there is potential to seek 
corporate sponsorship to hold events, although 
this is not guaranteed.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 31 50

P
age 73



QUARTERBRIDGE

SECTION 3: STRATEGIC CASE AND NEEDS 
ASSESSMENT 
Private and Confidential     Page  of 32 50

P
age 74



QUARTERBRIDGE

RATIONALE FOR INTERVENTION 

The Market Hall in its current form is not sustainable in the mid to long-term, without new traders, customers and product lines joining the market, rental 
income does not meet the cost of operating the Market, which is now being subsidised by Council Tax payers. The cost of operating the Market Hall is too 
high to use the space for free or subsidised community events, meaning it is currently under-utilised as both a commercial and community asset. Market 
forces have failed to rectify these issues, therefore intervention is required to fulfil the aspirations for the Market Hall, and prevent the net loss worsening. 

Discussion around the Market Hall has become very polarised, with one group wanting to see a larger amount of fixed units and market uses, and another wanting 
to see community events without the addition of fixed units. Wider public engagement is required to develop an in-depth understanding of community aspirations 
for the space.  

It is not clear at this point whether the aspirations for events are deliverable, as no responsible body has committed to delivering a critical mass of events aimed at 
supporting trade in the market, rather using the space as a standalone events space on an ad hoc basis. If event delivery were to be undertaken by the Council it 
would require additional staffing capacity and increased budget, and would require rental uplift to ensure value for money.  

OPPORTUNITIES AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
• To create a second entrance to enable the Market Hall to operate 

separately from the Buttermarket without utilising security services. 

• To improve the appearance of the stalls by utilising better stall design to 
allow for multi-level displays rather than laying goods on tables. 

• Install new display tables which are more flexible and easier to move than 
the existing trestles. 

• To provide infrastructure for street food kitchens / coffee shop / bar to 
provide a diversified offer in the Market Hall to attract more footfall. 

• To provide increased flexibility to allow for a programme of events and 
entertainment to take place in the Market Hall. 

• To deliver value for Council Tax payers by developing a scheme which 
repays initial investment and operates in profit.  

• To utilise the Market Hall on non-trading days to diversify its use.  

• To collaborate with the Arts Centre to enhance the town’s cultural 
programme. 

• To act as a stimulus for Sunday trading in the town, targeting tourists to the 
Peak District.  

• To increase opening hours to diversify the use of the building.  

• To attract regional markets, specialist  and event markets, and provide 
trading opportunities for aspiring local entrepreneurs 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 33 50

P
age 75



QUARTERBRIDGE

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS 

• Improve footfall to the Market Hall and Buttermarket. 

• Develop a Market offer that appeals to a wide audience and attracts a range of customers and traders.  Attract a wider range of demographics and age groups, 
including a younger audience to ensure long-term sustainability.  

• Improve the appearance of the Market Hall and retail frontages of the stalls.  

• Create a scheme that is financially viable and sustainable going forward. 

SMART OBJECTIVES 
• To increase footfall by 50% after three years 

• To attract X% of customers under 45 (proportion to be determined once existing user demographics are understood following public survey) 

• To provide new trading infrastructure that enables stallholders to display goods at various levels 

• To deliver a scheme that is operationally breakeven or profitable (excluding management recharges), and repays initial investment within [five / ten] years.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 34 50

P
age 76



QUARTERBRIDGE

 

SECTION 4: INITIAL OPTIONS APPRAISAL 
Private and Confidential     Page  of 35 50

P
age 77



QUARTERBRIDGE

SHORT LIST APPRAISAL 

This sketch establishes a number of design 
possibilities:  

• Possibility of a number of fixed, serviced and 
secure units  

• Occasional seating  
• New flexible trestle tables suitable for market 

trading, dining and events  
• New evening lobby access from Derby Street 

to allow the Market Hall to trade 
independently of the Buttermarket 

• Possible draft lobby to car park  
• Improved glazing  
• Possible new floor finish to create warmer 

environment  
• New lighting  
• Further to the initial sketch, three strategic 

options have been illustrated to explore these 
design principles.  

We have distilled three short list options to 
explore the potential for each one in order to 
meet the objectives of this project which will be 
appraised against a Do-Nothing Scenario and 
the Strategic Objectives.  

Each option includes creating a new doorway 
into the lobby which will enable use separately 
to the Buttermarket and increase the number of 
people able to be inside the building. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 36 50

P
age 78



QUARTERBRIDGE

COMMENTARY ON OPTIONS 

 
The following three options have been distilled 
from the design principles: 

Option A: Market and Out of Hours Use 
Option B: Enhanced Market Use 
Option C: Permanent Units for Mixed Use 

These represent incremental increases in 
intervention levels from a Do-Nothing Scenario, 
from a more operational / management shift 
model in Option A to a repurposing of the space 
with the addition of fixed units in Option C.  

Recommended opening times, staffing levels 
and an indicative Space Schedule for each of the 
options have been produced in Appendix 1 
alongside a High Level Financial Feasibility 
study.  

The options are explored in more depth in this 
report, including SWOT analysis and assessment 
against the Critical Success Factors to assess the 
non-financial benefits and risks of each.  

Private and Confidential     Page  of 37 50

P
age 79



QUARTERBRIDGE

STAFFING AND MANAGEMENT  

The existing staffing arrangement does not seem  
sufficient to run the Buttermarket and Trestle 
Market.  

In Options B-C, we would recommend a full time 
member of staff to undertake pro-active 
management, social media promotions, organise 
events and animation and oversee longer 
opening hours. In Option A, we would 
recommend a part-time manager and cleaning 
support. 

We have also allocated additional budget for 
cleaning in options which will need additional 
opening hours, out of hours events, or involve 
the consumption of food on the premises.  

This on-site management should also reduce the 
central management recharge required due to a 
lessened burden on the Council.  

OPENING TIMES 

Following consultation with Officers, strong 
concerns were raised regarding anti-social 
behaviour, toilet availability and the additional 
levels of management required with evening 
opening.  

We have factored in opening until 19:00 or 
20:00 as a compromise position to allow traders 

to meet their turnover requirements to make 
their businesses viable.  

It would be preferable to have later opening 
until 21:00 or 22:00 on weekends to maximise 
turnover potential and viability.  

We recommend that if street food is to be 
added to the market, vendors will need to be 
able to operate a takeaway service late into the 
night, using platforms such as Just Eat and 
Deliveroo alongside their own delivery services. 
This can be facilitated by having traders acting 
as key holders with CCTV systems to ensure 
safety.  

EVENTS AND ANIMATION 

For clarity, across all of the options ‘events’ are 
activities which attract footfall and benefit 
traders, including those who trade on trestles, 
Buttermarket traders and businesses operating 
from new fixed units.  

Examples of such events include speciality 
markets (e.g. vinyl, vintage, farmers markets, 
craft markets and Christmas bazaars), live music 
whilst street food units are in operation, and 
family activities such as face-painting, treasure 
trails and fetes supporting craft and street food 
traders.  

In Option A, the focus of events would need to 
be speciality markets, as out-of-hours events 

without traders would be costly and would not 
support market operations.  

In options with Street Food operations, live 
music and entertainment that encourages dwell 
time would have a direct benefit on the street 
food units by increasing their turnover and rent 
levels, and would therefore support market 
viability.  

RENTS AND MARKET DEMAND  

Commercial lettings are increasingly utilising 
turnover rents, in which the landlord takes a 
percentage of the business’ takings rather than 
implementing fixed-rents.  

This is mutually beneficial because it means the 
landlord is constantly incentivised to attract new 
footfall, and traders are not left with high rental 
liabilities in quieter periods.  

Covid has drawn focus on these more 
commercial arrangements in which landlords and 
tenants share risk and reward, and they are more 
appealing to high-quality, modern street food 
tenants. Turnover rents have not yet permeated 
the retail market, but could be considered.  

We recommend that fixed street-food units 
should operate on turnover rent systems to 
make the units more attractive in an increasingly 
competitive market with vacant retail space 
readily available in town centres. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 38 50

P
age 80



QUARTERBRIDGE

FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY 

High-level Management and Internal Service 
Recharge figures have been supplied, but 
without detailed breakdowns an effective 
comparison of Options A-C cannot be 
undertaken against a do-nothing scenario. 
Estimates have been used to determine 
efficiency savings, pending a detailed 
breakdown.  

By improving market operations, all options see 
an uplift in income potential through higher 
occupancy of trading pitches, with the addition 
of fixed and turnover rental income in Options 
B-C.  

High-Level I&E projections show that the 
additional expenditure associated with opening 
the market additional hours or running an 
expanded service result in minimal or no uplift 
against a Do-nothing Scenario. This expenditure 
includes cleaning, increased refuse disposal, 
staffing, events, entertainment and marketing.  

The cost of opening the toilets has not been 
accounted for in these projections as we are 
awaiting estimates on hourly rates to apply to 
the proposed opening hours. This will impact 
these high-level figures.  

Anecdotally, the trader parking permits account 
for circa. £22k of lost revenue per annum, and 
should be reconsidered. Temporary loading 

zones could be utilised, then traders relocate 
their vehicles elsewhere. This will also increase 
parking availability for customers which will 
benefit traders’ businesses.  

Full financial feasibility can be found in 
Appendix 1: Short List Options Appraisal, with 
the following high-level outcomes. These are 
based on financial reporting provided by SMDC, 
but it is understood they exclude other 
departmental costs such as trader car parking 
subsidy and public toilet operation which will 
impact findings. 

SUMMARY 

Based on the financial feasibility estimates alone, 
investment in the market cannot be 
recommended as an income-generating tool for 
the Council.  

However, interventions could be delivered which 
improve the markets offer, support future trading 
and intervene with what would otherwise be 
managed decline in a Do-Nothing scenario. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 39 50

P
age 81



QUARTERBRIDGE

OPTION A: MARKET AND OUT OF HOURS USE 

Option A is a minimum intervention scenario 
which sees a focus on providing a fully flexible 
hall with no fixed units.  

- Retain existing format with new, upgraded 
tables 

- Potential to open the market on additional 
days or in the evening for community-driven 
events (subject to organiser demand) 

- Additional staff requirement to facilitate 
events, reconfigure space, clean and maintain 
the building  

- Additional daytime events and speciality 
markets could be held to focus on increasing 
the viability of market trading 

- Additional entrance would be required to 
allow the Market Hall to open independently. 

Delivery of this option would require an in-depth 
understanding of who is the responsible body 
for organising these events. This could be the 
District Council, Town Council, Community 
Group etc. and would require a commitment to 
maintain the staffing required to implement and 
deliver events on a regular basis.  

This would incur significant staffing costs for 
planning and delivery, and it is unclear whether 
any group has the resources or commitment to 
undertake this.  

Strengths: 

- Events could attract a wider range of people 
into the market 

- Flexible space could be used for a variety of 
functions 

- May meet community aspirations around a 
town event space 

- Greater space will allow for better people 
circulation and spacing 

Weaknesses: 

- Events need to be income-generating to 
cover overheads 

- Could create expectation that council will 
deliver and organise events themselves, which 
would require officer time and additional 
council tax subsidy 

- Evening / speciality events would not create 
new audiences for existing traders at the 
Trestle Market or Buttermarket 

- There is no clear route to income uplift to 
cover the initial funding required, or address 
the net financial loss  

- Without any significant change, likely to result 
is slow decline as new generations are not 
enticed to shop in the market 

Opportunities: 

- Enhanced community value as a social space 
with a programme of events 

Threats: 

- Could create competition with other venues  
- A charge for using the market would be 

required to cover overheads, which may make 
it unattractive to organisers 

- No commitment from an organiser to use the 
space regularly  

- Will not address the existing net loss the 
market incurs, leaving it vulnerable to closure 
if Council Tax subsidy is used elsewhere 

Risks: 

- Interest in events is not proven and the cost of 
overheads compared to pub rooms could 
make the venue unattractive to market 

- If events are not delivered on a very regular 
basis, there is no benefit from a Do-Nothing 
scenario 

- Will lead to managed decline of market 
trading in the Trestle Market 

- Potentially increased costs to Council Tax 
payer through additional staffing resource and 
level of management required 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 40 50

P
age 82



QUARTERBRIDGE

OPTION A: LAYOUT PLAN 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 41 50

P
age 83



QUARTERBRIDGE

OPTION B: ENHANCED MARKET USE 

Option B provides a balance between Option A 
and higher intervention Option C to conserve 
flexibility while acting as a functioning market 
place.  

Install two/three small permanent kiosks in the 
Market which can act as a coffee shop and a 
licensed-kitchen to serve a variety of food 
options and alcohol, with the option to expand 
to four/five permanent units if there was 
sufficient demand, although this would require 
longer opening hours and an events programme 
to drive footfall and make the units viable.  

- Retain a critical mass of upgraded, more 
flexible trading tables that can be used for 
market stalls and seating 

- Install two/three small permanent food/
beverage kiosks operating on turnover rents, 
with the option to expand to three/four if 
there is sufficient market demand.  

- Potential to host market events in the Trestle 
Market to attract footfall and encourage 
turnover for the food kiosks 

- Potential to open into the early evening to 
facilitate evening economy and increase 
turnover 

Strengths: 

- Diversified model would attract a younger 
audience with the street food and 
entertainment. 

- Income from fixed stalls and market trading 
would address the net losses of the market, 
making it more viable. 

- A catering element will increase footfall if 
operated correctly which will benefit the 
market traders. 

- Existing trestle market traders could be 
accommodated alongside new traders. 

- The catering options will increase the range of 
uses within the building, allowing the market 
to be used by a wider range of Leek residents 
and visitors. 

- Small number of stalls unlikely to have 
significant displacement on other catering 
operations in town centre. 

- Provides specialist market events space when 
markets not in use with ‘in-house’ catering. 

- Space available to host a range of other 
specialist markets. 

- The large volume of space will allow for 
greater movement and spacing of people. 

- Income from turnover rents on the food kiosks 
would support market events and the events 
would drive income to these stalls. 

Weaknesses: 

- Will require a significant amount of marketing 
and pro-active management to run a turnover-
based street food offer and market events 
with increased opening hours 

- Could create expectation that council will 
deliver and organise events themselves - 
which would require officer time and 
additional council tax subsidy. 

- The limited number of covers during the day 
would restrict trade for each of these units, 
limiting turnover rent potential. 

- Evening / speciality events would not create 
new audiences for existing traders at the 
Trestle Market or Buttermarket unless traders 
decided to open late. 

- Unlikely to push the market into trading 
surplus which could then be spent on other 
community services. 

- The sharing of trestle tables between catering 
customers and market traders could impact 
the success of both. 

- Events that would not generate income via 
the catering units may be required to pay a 
fee to use the market hall. 

Opportunities: 

- Expansion of the visitor base for the markets. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 42 50

P
age 84



QUARTERBRIDGE

- Providing a footfall driver for the market 
businesses. 

- As trends change and the user base grows the 
number of catering units could be expanded 
to provide more of a food hall element. 

- Increase town centre offering of modern, 
international street food. 

Threats: 

- If tenants cannot be found to occupy 
permanent units on a mid to long-term basis, 
this would reduce floorspace for markets and 
flexible use.  

- Could result in displacement from other town 
centre venues and food offers. 

Risk:  

- Not enough variety to attract a large enough 
user base. 

- Small population catchment for the venue to 
impact. 

- If the venue is not popular, risk that 
investment would not be returned through 
trading uplift. 

- If market event organisers could not be found, 
could result in an increase in operating cost. 

- Could be limited returns from events if the 
turnover is not impacted for the F&B units. 

- Risk of minimal or no return on investment 
due to risks associated with turnover rents. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 43 50

P
age 85



QUARTERBRIDGE

OPTION B: LAYOUT PLAN WITH TWO/THREE UNITS 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 44 50

P
age 86



QUARTERBRIDGE

OPTION B: LAYOUT PLAN WITH FOUR/FIVE UNITS 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 45 50

P
age 87



QUARTERBRIDGE

OPTION C: PERMANENT UNITS FOR MIXED USE 

Re-purpose the Market Hall to create permanent 
units which can be used for F&B and retail trade.  

- Install nine units around the perimeter of the 
market hall 

- Central space for twelve small upgraded 
trestle tables which could be used for market 
trading or seating 

- Would allow businesses to trade additional 
hours or days without having to reconfigure 
the space 

- Limited flexible space would reduce the 
potential for events in the Market Hall, 
although small scale entertainment such as a 
busker would be possible 

This would add additional retail space in the 
town centre, potentially increasing vacant 
floorspace post-Covid.  

If it could be successfully let, this scheme has the 
greatest income potential, reducing reliance on 
Council tax subsidy and generating income 
which could be used on other council services.  

Strengths: 

- Provide a permanent location for market 
traders to be based rather than the day 
trading currently operated. 

- Potential critical mass of retailers to attract 
shoppers. 

- Offers storage solutions for traders who can 
keep stock in their lockable units  

- Mix of fixed and flexible retail offering to allow 
for additional market offering. 

- Potential to create jobs and start-up 
opportunities  

- If successfully let, this would create an income 
stream for the Council, removing council tax 
subsidy and providing longer term 
sustainability  

Weaknesses: 

- Additional retail within a town centre that 
already has too high a level of retail premises. 

- Increased overheads for traders if they were to 
convert from trestles to fixed units 

- Likely displacement of existing trader base 
who travel to regional markets on other days 
and would not necessarily take on these units 

- Unlikely to be demand for this level of 
additional retail space 

- Limit opportunities for speciality markets and 
events 

- Would require increased expenditure on 
staffing and maintenance to keep the building 
open longer hours to make units viable 

- Reduces the variety of goods with fixed 
traders potentially restricting customer appeal 

Opportunities:  

- Offset the Council’s NNDR liability for the 
building partly onto traders 

- Permanent units available to traders which will 
provide an increased revenue stream 

- Increased opening may provide an attraction 
on the weekend, supporting tourism  

Threats:  

- Adding additional retail to an already retail 
critical town centre may impact the wider 
town centre. 

- Increase in the likelihood of vacancies within 
the Buttermarket as there will be additional 
retail within the building 

- Move to a higher number of days open to 
achieve rent levels 

Risk: 

- Risk of a high vacancy rate 
- High risk of no return on the investment 
- Going against the trend for consolidating 

retail space within town centres across the UK 
- Risk of minimal or no return on investment 

due to risks associated with turnover rents. 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 46 50

P
age 88



QUARTERBRIDGE

OPTION C: LAYOUT PLAN 

 

Private and Confidential     Page  of 47 50

OPTION A - FOOD & BEVERAGE

UNIT 1 UNIT 2 UNIT 3 UNIT 4
UNIT 5

UNIT 6

UNIT 7

UNIT 9 UNIT 8

T10

T11

T12

T13

T14

T15

T16

T17

T18

T19

T20

T21

21
39

27
00

13
50

21
39

27
00

3500

30
00

3600

AREAS
Building areas are liable to adjustment over the course of the design process
due to the ongoing construction detailing developments.

Notes:
Contractors must verify all dimensions on site before commencing any work
or shop drawings. This drawing is not to be scaled. Use figured dimensions
only.

Subject to statutory approvals and survey.

XX XX.XX.XX XXXxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

0 1m 2.5m

1:50

N

Rev

Project Status

Client
Drawing No.

Scale
Drawn

Project

INI

SCALE@A3

DWG-NO

DON'T FORGET

DWG_TITLE

P
age 89



QUARTERBRIDGE

MULTI-CRITERIA ANALYSIS 

These options have been assessed by a multi-disciplined team of market experts against four weighted strategic objectives to determine a percentage score 
against the critical success factors.  

 Where: 
1 = Strong Negative Impact 
2 = Negative Impact 
3 = No Impact 
4 = Positive Impact 
5 = Strong Positive Impact 

Strategic Objective Weighting Do-
Nothing

Option A: 
Market and Out 
of Hours Use

Option B: 
Enhanced 
Market Use

Option C-
Permanent Units 
for Mixed Use

To attract a wider demographic of shoppers to the market to ensure its long-
term sustainability 40% 3 3 4 5

To improve the appearance of the stalls and aesthetic appeal of the market 20% 3 4 5 5

Deliver value for the taxpayer by developing a scheme which repays initial 
investment and operates at breakeven or in profit 20% 3 2 5 4

To attract more footfall (resident and tourist) into Leek to benefit the wider town 
centre 20% 3 4 4 4

Score (4): 2 2 3.4 3.4

% Score: 50% 55% 85% 85%

Private and Confidential     Page  of 48 50

P
age 90



QUARTERBRIDGE

OPTION SUMMARY TABLE 

Do Nothing Option A Option B Option C

Qualitative Benefits 
Assessment Score (from multi-
criteria analysis)

50% 55% 85% 85%

Risk Score (Very Low / Low / 
Medium / High / very High) 

High Medium Medium Very High

Capital Costs (estimates) Low Low Medium High

Private and Confidential     Page  of 49 50

P
age 91



P
age 92



          
 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet 
 

29 June 2021 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendices Attached – None 

 
 
1.        Reason for the Report:  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to re-appoint a representative of the Council to 

the Cheadle Arts Forum and the Cheadle and District Sports Council. 
 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Cabinet approves the appointment of Councillor Ellis to the Cheadle 
Arts Forum and the Cheadle and District Sports Council. 
 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 Councillor Fallows was appointed to the Cheadle Arts Forum and the Cheadle 

and District Sports Council at Annual Council on 29 April 2021.  It is proposed 
that these positions be re-allocated to Councillor Ellis as the Council’s 
representative to these outside bodies. 

 
3.2 In accordance with the Council’s procedure rules ad-hoc in-year appointments 

to outside bodies are determined by Cabinet. 
 
 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 Effective relationship with strategic partners. 
 

TITLE: Appointment to Cheadle Arts Forum & 
Cheadle and District Sports Council 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Leader  
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Linden Vernon - Senior Officer Governance 

and Member Support 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 93

Agenda Item 8.4



 
5.       Alternative Options 

 
5.1 The Cabinet may consider other councillors to be the Council’s representative 

for this appointment.     
 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director – Governance and Commissioning 
 
Web Links and Background Papers  Contact details 

None  Linden Vernon 
Senior Officer Governance and Member Support 
Tel: 01538 395613 
Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report to Cabinet 

 
29 June 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Appointment of Member Development 
Champion 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Linden Vernon - Senior Officer (Governance 
and Member Support) 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval for the appointment of 

an elected member to the role of Member Development Champion to lead the 
Council’s Member Development Working Group. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Cabinet appoints an elected member to the role of Member Development 
Champion. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Member Development Working Group is a cross party group which aims 

to ensure that councillors are supported to deliver the Council’s statutory and 
corporate obligations, objectives and priorities and to provide Members with 
the information they need to fulfil their roles.  

 
3.2 The Group develops a programme of training and development opportunities 

for all councillors that is updated on a rolling basis with activities identified 
through a variety of channels. Learning and development opportunities should 
benefit councillors as individuals in their various roles and ultimately have a 
positive effect for the Council and the community.   

 
3.3 An integral aspect of this approach is that the Group is led by a Member 

Development Champion (currently held by Councillor Shaw) who: 
 

 Acts as an advocate for councillor training and development 

Page 95

Agenda Item 8.5



  

 Works with both members and officers to deliver a councillor training 
and development programme which is member led and member 
owned.  

 Encourages councillors to feedback to the Group any ideas or 
suggestions. 

 Leads on and actively promotes the relevance and importance of the 
programme within the Council. 

 Raises the profile of member development within the Council and  
actively encourages councillors to attend training and development 
events organised for them. 

 
 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 An effective training and development programme for councillors helps to 

ensure that corporate priorities are met. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The Cabinet is recommended to select an elected member to the position of 

Member Development Champion. 
 
 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director - Governance and Commissioning 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

Annual Review of Councillor Development Reports 
(considered by the Council’s Standards Committee) 

Linden Vernon 
Senior Officer (Governance and Member 
Support) 
linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
 
  
 

 

Page 96



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Cabinet 

 
29 June 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Climate Change Plan (Part 1) 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Joe Porter - Portfolio Holder for 
Climate Change and Biodiversity 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Mark Forrester - Head of Democratic & 
Community Services 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
(All Wards); 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix 1: Climate Change Plan (Part 1) 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 To present the Council’s 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) ‘Towards 

Carbon Neutrality 2030’. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 To approve the 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) subject to the 
suggestions made on the draft plan at the Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 21st June 2021 and feedback received from external expert 
agencies which the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Biodiversity will 
consider for inclusion. 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 On 10th July 2019, recognising the serious threat posed by climate change, 

the responsibility for our institutions, businesses and communities to eliminate 
net CO2 emissions and also the need to take immediate measures to prepare 
for climate change impacts Staffordshire Moorlands District Council declared a 
Climate Emergency. 

 
3.2 The Council has initiated a series of actions to procure data, analyse options 

and introduce measures to reduce its own Carbon emissions. 
 

3.3 The Plan has been developed in two parts: Part 1 considers the Council’s own 
greenhouse gas emissions and is presented to Cabinet for approval 
(Attached: Appendix 1). Part 2 considers the wider greenhouse  gas 
emissions from the District and remains in development with a target date for 

Page 97

Agenda Item 9.1



  

publication of November 2021. 
 

3.4 By its nature the Climate Change Plan is a dynamic document with additional 
actions and milestones to be added in year in response to new opportunities 
for earlier action, new information and the results of option studies. 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan: To protect and improve the environment and 

respond to the climate emergency 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 To approve the Climate Change Plan (Part 1). 
 
5.2 To amend or delay approval of the draft Climate Change Plan (Part1) pending 

further development (Not recommended – by its nature the Plan needs to be 
dynamic with further actions to be developed and included as more analysis is 
completed and in response to opportunities such as may arise from new 
Government policy initiatives). 

 
 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
No implications 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
Heads of Service working with their teams are responsible for the 
delivery of various elements of the Plan. As an additional resource 
the Council will be creating a specialist Climate Change Officer 
post. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
No implications 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
The measures proposed are within current budgets including the 
Climate Change reserve fund.. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
No implications 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 

Page 98



  

The report recommends the approval of a plan to enable the 
Council to work towards its goal of carbon neutrality by 2030 in 
relation to its own greenhouse gas emissions. 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
All Heads of Service have been involved in the process of 
developing the Climate Change Plan (Part 1). The Climate Change 
Subcommittee received and  commented on the action plan table  
(pages 16 to 28) of the plan (Appendix 1). 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
There is a risk that public expectation of the Council’s ability to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions at the district level is not 
matched by the Council’s current powers and resources.  
 

 
MARK TRILLO 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 
 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

**INSERT NAME OF ANY PAPERS AND  WEB LINKS” Mark Forrester 
Head of Democratic & Community Services 
mark.forrester@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
 
7. Detail 
 
7.1 In 2015, the UK adopted the Paris Agreement, committing to: 
 

 Strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change by 
keeping global temperature rise this century well below 2°C above pre 
industrial levels.  

 Encouraging efforts to limit the temperature increase even further to 1.5°C. 

 Tackling the climate crisis is a long-standing issue in the UK, reflected in 
the legally binding target in the 2008 Climate Change Act. This was 
updated in 2019 to reflect an updated target of net zero carbon by 2050. 

 
7.2 On 10th July 2019, recognising the serious threat posed by climate change, 

the responsibility for our institutions, businesses and communities to eliminate 
net CO2 emissions and also the need to take immediate measures to prepare 
for climate change impacts Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
unanimously passed the following resolution: 

 
That this Council declare a Climate Emergency as many councils have already 
done all over the UK and will undertake to: 

 
1. Start working with partners across the district and region towards making The 

Staffordshire Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030, taking into account emissions 
from both production and consumption. 

Page 99



  

2. Call on The Government to provide guidance, powers and resources to make 
carbon neutrality possible by writing to local MPs and all relevant government 
departments. 

3. Requests that the Chair of the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
establishes a subcommittee to undertake detailed research into the effects of 
climate change in the District, to include consideration of all relevant data and 
monitoring information available, and to involve evidence from relevant 
stakeholders, with a view to recommending to the Council an effective, 
achievable and costed plan of actions to address climate change within the 
Staffordshire Moorlands. 

4. Ensure that all Council Bodies and Scrutiny Panels consider the impact of 
climate change and the environment when making decisions and reviewing 
Council policies and strategies. 

5. Review progress made on an annual basis via Scrutiny and Full Council. 
 
7.3 Actions to date 
 
7.3.1 Housing: The Council is a partner in the Staffordshire Warmer Homes project 

which successfully secured Green Homes Grant Local GHG LAD (round 1 
funding) and will deliver the Council’s allocation of GHG LAD round 2 funding 
in Staffordshire Moorlands. The partnership has also continued to deliver 
energy saving measures through other schemes and the Council continued to 
fund Beat the Cold as our key local partner in affordable warmth/fuel poverty.  
 

7.3.2 Leisure Centres: Parkwood Leisure has initiated a programme replacing lights 
with LED lights in all the leisure centres to save energy and reduce carbon 
emissions. The Council has commissioned work which includes an 
assessment of options and measures to reduce carbon emissions from the 
Council’s leisure centres. This is due to be completed in July 2021. 
 

7.3.3 Council fleet vehicles: AES, the Council’s direct services company, is currently 
trialling an electric light goods vehicle and an electric refuse vehicle. The 
Council has engaged with the Energy Saving Trust to undertake an analysis of 
the Council’s vehicle fleet and options for decarbonisation to inform the 
Councils fleet replacement programme. This is due to be competed in 
December 2021. 
 

7.3.4 New ways of working: The response to Covid-19 has accelerated the Council’s 
move to new ways of working – staff home working and increased use of 
virtual meetings have reduced staff busines miles by over 60%, an increase in 
customer self-service, reduced use of paper and printing. Work began in 2020 
to sustain these ways of working post pandemic. 
 

7.3.5 The Council has re-joined the Association of Public Service Excellence 
(APSE) and APSE Energy the specific climate change network. The Council 
has joined the UK100 ‘Countryside Climate Network’ group of local authorities 
with ambitious climate change targets. The Cabinet Member for Climate 
Change & Biodiversity also sits as a member of DEFRA’s Local Adaptation 
Advisory Panel. These networks provide an important resource of information 
and expertise. 
 

Page 100



  

7.3.6 Waste recycling: the Council continues to be a high performer achieving a 
56.4% recycling rate, which is the highest in Staffordshire and in the top 30 in 
the country. 
 

7.3.7 The Council is engaging with a number of key agencies to assist with the 
development of the Council’s plans going forward – The Midlands Energy Hub, 
the Energy Saving Trust, Keele University and the Centre for Alternative 
Technology. Keele University has been commissioned to deliver the ‘train the 
trainer’ Carbon Literacy programme to Council staff. 
 

7.3.8 The Council partnered and funded Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to assist in the 
development of the Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan. The Council’s Service 
Commissioning Team and AES grounds maintenance team  have been 
involved in the planting of 7 orchards as the start of a much wider community 
orchards initiative to plant many more orchards over the next few years. 
 

7.3.9 The Council has engaged with the Staffordshire Wildlife Trust, the Woodland 
Trust and the Tree Council to assist in producing a Tree Strategy as a core 
part of the Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan. This piece of work will include a 
tree planting target and ways in which this will address climate change. 
 

7.3.10 The Council’s Climate Change Sub Committee has been meeting, including 
topic based working groups, and has mainly focused on the District wide 
greenhouse gas emissions, the actions of key agencies and development of 
potential actions to be taken by the Council. This work will inform part 2 of the 
Council’s Climate Change Action Plan  

 
7.4 Data 
 
7.4.1 Council CO2 emissions: During 2021 further work will be undertaken to 

establish an as complete as possible estimate of the Council’s CO2 emissions, 
including direct and indirect emissions such as the CO2 embedded in the 
products and services the Council procures, technically referred to as Scope 
1,2 & 3 emissions. The current known figures for emissions related to Council 
buildings, fleet and travel for 2019/20 are included as an initial baseline in the 
plan for 2021/22. 

 
7.4.2  District wide CO2 emissions: The UK Government Department for Business, 

Energy and Industrial Strategy publishes annual data for the estimated CO2 
emissions by local authority area. This is currently available from 2005 to 
2018. The CO2 emission sources are split into four main categories – Industry 
and commerce, domestic, transport, land use and land use change and 
forestry. There are numerous sub categories which allow for a closer analysis. 

  
 The Council has commissioned Anthesis to produce an analysis of the District 
greenhouse gas emissions including the current baseline data and a series of 
projections based on scenarios – ‘do nothing’ through to ‘ambitious’ actions to 
address climate change locally. This analysis will be available in July 2021. 

 
7.5 The Climate Change Plan. 
 

Page 101



  

 The plan will be in two parts. 
 
7.5.1 Part 1 (Attached: Appendix 1) concerns the Council’s own CO2 emissions – 

i.e. where SMDC has direct control and responsibility. Part 1 is in the form of 
an action plan to cover the period 2021/22 but leading to the Council’s 2030 
carbon neutral target.  

 
7.5.2 Part 2 remains in development and will focus on the broader greenhouse gas 

emissions in the District. SMDC has levers of influence over some causes of 
the emissions but the role of others, including the community and voluntary 
sector, business sector and other statutory agencies such as the County 
Council and the Government, is critical. The Part 1 Plan includes a number of  
actions the Council is taking or planning to take and is presented to give a 
more complete picture of the Council’s climate change activity in 2021.  
 

7.5.3 Both parts of the plan will be published as one document in a more publicly 
accessible format in time for COP 26 in November 2021. 

 
7.5.4 It should be noted that both parts of the plan are living/dynamic documents 

with the potential for targets and actions to be added as work progresses and 
in response to opportunities – such as changes in Government policy or new 
funds. 

 
 
 

 

Page 102



© Crown copyright and database rights 2020. Licence No. 100018384

TOWARDS CARBON 
NEUTRALITY 2030

CLIMATE CHANGE PLAN 
2021/22
(PART 1)

P
age 103



2
CONTENTS

CONTENTS
Introduction ................................................................ 3

Background ............................................................... 4

The Paris Agreement ............................................. 5

UK Commitment....................................................... 6

Staffordshire Moorlands - Declaring a 
climate emergency ................................................ 8

Staffordshire Moorlands -  
Current emissions profile ...................................... 9

Carbon budget ........................................................11

Mapping the emissions of Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council ................................. 12

Initial activity .............................................................13

SMDC plan - 2021/22 ...........................................15

SMDC Emissions - council offices ................... 17

SMDC Emissions - other buildings .................19

SMDC Emissions - vehicles/travel .................20

SMDC Emissions - procurement ....................23

SMDC Emissions - operations .........................24

SMDC Emissions - enabling .............................25

Budgets ..................................................................... 27

Tackling greenhouse gas emissions  
across the district - towards the climate 
change action plan part 2 ................................28

P
age 104



3
INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION
Following the declaration of a climate 
emergency in 2019 the Council began work 
on the development of a plan of action to 
achieve its stated goal of achieving Net Zero 
greenhouse gas emissions by 2030. 

It was intended that the plan should also 
address how to enable the whole District to 
achieve that same goal, with the ambition of 
developing a full detailed plan of action in 
2020. 

The first part of that Climate Change 
Plan is set out in this document - Part 1 is 
concerned with how the Council achieves a 
net zero target for carbon dioxide equivalent 
emissions by 2030. 

Part 2 will be concerned with how the 
Council, working with others, intends to 
help the whole District to achieve net zero 
emissions and is due for publication by 
November 2021.

Inevitably, the Climate Change Plan (both 
Part 1 & Part 2) will be ‘dynamic’: that is, 
they will be added to and amended as 
more data is acquired; as we build on the 
initial options assessment work; and as new 
opportunities arise from the Government’s 
own policy response and from new 
technologies.

Throughout, this report refers to carbon 
dioxide equivalent emissions, or greenhouse 
gas emissions, recognising that there are 
several greenhouse gases, of which carbon 
dioxide is easily the most common, but not 
the most impactful. Tonnage of carbon 
dioxide equivalent emissions (CO2e) is the 
standard and international currency for 
representing these emissions, which the 
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) supports by regularly 
updating relevant conversion data

2030

P
age 105



4

BACKGROUND

CLIMATE CHANGE NOW

There is clear scientific evidence to show 
that climate change is happening and that 
cumulative emissions of CO2e from human 
activity are the principle driver of long-term 
global warming. Measurements show that 
the average temperature at the Earth’s 
surface has risen by about 1°C since the pre-
industrial period. Seventeen of the eighteen 
warmest years on record have occurred in 
the 21st century and each of the last three 
decades have been hotter than the previous 
one. This change in temperature has not 
been the same everywhere: the increase has 
been greater over land than over the oceans 
and has been particularly fast in the Arctic.

The UK is already affected by rising 
temperatures. The most recent decade 
(2008-2017) has been on average 0.8 °C 
warmer than the 1961-1990 average. All 
ten of the warmest years in the UK have 
occurred since 1990, with the nine warmest 

occurring since 2002.

Along with warming at the Earth’s surface, 
many other changes in the climate are 
occurring:

• warming oceans

• melting polar ice and glaciers

• rising sea levels

• more extreme weather events

Across the world we are already seeing 
devastating consequences from more 
frequent and intense droughts, storms, heat 
waves, rising sea levels, and melting glaciers 
upon people’s lives and livelihoods as well 
as whole communities and ecosystems. 
As climate change worsens, dangerous 
weather events are becoming more frequent 
or severe and the environmental, economic 
and social costs increasing.

BACKGROUND

P
age 106



5
THE PARIS AGREEMENT

THE PARIS AGREEMENT

The Paris Agreement is an agreement within 
the United Nations Framework Convention 
on Climate Change (UNFCCC) on climate 
change mitigation, adaptation, and 
finance, signed in 2016. The agreement was 
negotiated by representatives of 196 state 
parties at the 21st Conference of the Parties 
of the UNFCCC held near Paris, France, and 
adopted by consensus on 12th December 
2015. As of February 2021, 191 members of the 
UNFCCC are parties to the agreement. The 
United States withdrew from the agreement 
in 2020, but officially re-joined on 19th 
February 2021. 

The Paris Agreement’s long-term 
temperature goal is to hold the increase in 
global average temperature to well below 
2 °C above pre-industrial levels, and to 
pursue efforts to limit the increase to 1.5 °C, 
recognizing that this would substantially 
reduce the risks and impacts of climate 
change. This should be done by reducing 
emissions as soon as possible.  It also 
aims to increase the ability of parties to 

adapt to the adverse impacts of climate 
change, and make “finance flows consistent 
with a pathway towards low greenhouse 
gas emissions and climate-resilient 
development.”

Under the Paris Agreement, each country 
must determine, plan, and regularly report 
on the contribution that it undertakes to 
mitigate global warming. No mechanism 
forces a country to set a specific emissions 
target by a specific date, but each target 
should go beyond previously set targets.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC) special report on the impacts 
of global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-
industrial levels was issued in October 2018. 
This report stated that, in order to remain 
within a 1.5 °C  increase, governments must 
cut emissions of greenhouse gases (globally) 
by 45% by 2030.

The UN Environment Programme, in their 
2019 Emissions Gap Report, found that the 
Nationally Determined Contributions were 
insufficient to ensure that global temperature 
rises stay below 1.5 °C, and that nations must 
triple their efforts in order to meet even a 2 
°C target. It also found that global emissions 
had increased in 2018 after a period of 
stability between 2014 and 2016. Since that 
Report, evidence is that greenhouse gas 
emissions embedded in the atmosphere 
continue to rise, despite the dislocating effect 
of the coronavirus.

A key finding of the report is that: ‘…non-
state and subnational action plays an 
important role in delivering national pledges. 
Emission reduction potential from non-state 
and subnational action could ultimately 
be significant, allowing countries to raise 
ambition.

P
age 107



6
UK COMMITMENT

UK COMMITMENT
The Climate Change Act 2008 introduced the 
UK’s first legally binding target for 2050 to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by at least 
80% compared to 1990 levels. 

On 27th June 2019 the UK government 
amended the Climate Change Act and set 
a legally binding target to achieve net zero 
greenhouse gas emissions from across the 
UK economy by 2050 with five yearly carbon 
budgets to set actions and review progress.

The achievement of this target will bring 
to an end the UK’s contribution to climate 
change.

In April 2021, responding to growing evidence 
of the impact of climate change, the UK 
government upped its ambitions further by 
committing to set into law a more ambitious 
UK climate change target. Its policy now 
is to reduce UK emissions by 78% by 2035, 
compared to 1990 levels.

The Climate Change Committee, originally 
named the Committee on Climate Change, 
is an independent non-departmental public 
body, formed under the Climate Change Act 
to advise the United Kingdom and devolved 
Governments and Parliaments on tackling 
and preparing for climate change.

In December 2020 the CCC produced a 
report Local Authorities and the Sixth Carbon 
Budget which considered the role of local 
authorities in the achievement of the UK’s Net 
Zero target.

P
age 108



7
KEY MESSAGES

KEY MESSAGES
• The UK Government and local authorities 

share a common goal to deliver Net Zero.

• The Sixth Carbon Budget can only 
be achieved if Government, regional 
agencies and local authorities work 
seamlessly together.

• More than half of the emissions cuts 
needed rely on people and businesses 
taking up low-carbon solutions - decisions 
that are made at a local and individual 
level. Many of these decisions depend 
on having supporting infrastructure and 
systems in place. Local authorities have 
powers or influence over roughly a third of 
emissions in their local areas.

• Top-down policies go some way to 
delivering change, but can achieve a far 
greater impact if they are focused through 
local knowledge and networks.

• Four key things are needed to achieve 
this vision of collaborative delivery:

• Framework: An agreed framework for 
delivery for Net Zero incorporating local 
and national climate action

• Financing: Appropriate long-term 
financing to support local authorities in 
delivering Net Zero

• Flexibility: Local operational flexibility 
around how local areas address 
climate change

• Facilitation: coherent policy and powers 
for the facilitation of delivery

The report notes that over 300 local 
authorities have declared Climate 
Emergencies and a third have developed 
strategies and action plans to deliver 
ambitious targets by 2030 and 2050. More 
than half of these have a Net Zero target 
date of 2030.

P
age 109



8

Review progress made on an annual basis via Scrutiny and Full Council.

Start working with partners across the district and region towards making the 
Staffordshire Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030, taking into account emissions 

from both production and consumption.

Call on the Government to provide guidance, powers and resources to make carbon 
neutrality possible by writing to local MPs and all relevant government departments.

Requests that the Chair of the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel establishes a subcommittee 
to undertake detailed research into the effects of climate change in the District, to include 

consideration of all relevant data and monitoring information available, and to involve evidence 
from relevant stakeholders, with a view to recommending to the Council an effective, achievable 

and costed plan of actions to address climate change within the Staffordshire Moorlands.

Ensure that all Council Bodies and Scrutiny Panels consider the impact of climate change and the 
environment when making decisions and reviewing Council policies and strategies.

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS - DECLARING A CLIMATE EMERGENCY

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS – DECLARING A CLIMATE EMERGENCY 
On 10th July 2019 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council passed a resolution declaring a climate emergency as follows:

That this Council declare a Climate Emergency as many councils have already done all over the UK and will undertake to:

1
2

3

4

5

P
age 110



9
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS - CURRENT EMISSIONS PROFILE

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS -  
CURRENT EMISSIONS PROFILE
The Governments Department for Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) publishes an annual 
data set of data for Local Authority territorial CO2e emissions estimates. The latest data set is for 
2018.

2018 Emissions Industry and 
Commercial

Domestic Transport Land Use Net 
Emissions

Total

Kt CO2e 836.4 172.9 172.7 -18.7 1,163.3

Since 2005 CO2e emissions in the district have fallen. The decarbonisation of electricity supplies 
has played a significant part in this.

-200.0
-

200.0
400.0
600.0
800.0
1,000.0
1,200.0
1,400.0
1,600.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Industry and Commercial Total

Industry and

Commercial
Total

Domestic Total
Domestic Total

Transport TotalTransport Total
Land Use Net Emissions

Land Use Net Emissions

Grand Total

Grand Total

Overall emissions in Staffordshire Moorlands 
are very high compared to other districts 
and to the national average – as measured 
by emissions per head of population 
(per capita). The most significant factor 
is the presence in the district of cement 
manufacture – the chemical process 
involved produces large quantities of CO2e.

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS EMISSIONS (KT-CO2E) 2005 - 2018

P
age 111



10
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS - CURRENT EMISSIONS PROFILE

The following table provides a comparison with other Staffordshire districts and the data on emissions from large industrial installations which 
includes the cement works shows how this contributes to the District’s high CO2e emissions.

Staffordshire CO2e emissions estimates - 2018 (kt CO2e) 
Name Large Industrial 

Installations
Industry and 
Commercial Total

Domestic Total Transport Total Grand Total Per Capita 
Emissions (t)

Cannock Chase - 122.9 155.5 113.4 388.7 3.9

East Staffordshire 5.2 298.4 179.7 250.6 718.0 6.1

Lichfield 0.0 144.1 171.7 368.1 678.4 6.5

Newcastle-under-Lyme 4.9 186.2 200.0 365.1 748.8 5.8

South Staffordshire 4.9 207.6 173.3 525.9 892.7 8.0

Stafford 0.9 205.3 214.6 570.5 974.3 7.2

Tamworth 0.6 82.0 107.4 75.4 263.6 3.4

Staffordshire Moorlands 612.0 836.4 172.9 172.7 1,163.3 11.8

Staffordshire Total 628.4 2,082.9 1,375.2 2,441.7 5,827.9 6.7

P
age 112



11
CARBON BUDGET

CARBON BUDGET

Based on analysis by the Tyndall Centre for 
Climate Change Research, Staffordshire 
Moorland’s ‘fair’ contribution towards the 
Paris Climate Change Agreement would be 
to:

• Stay within a maximum cumulative 
carbon dioxide emissions budget of 5.0 
million tonnes (MtCO2e) for the period of 
2020 to 2100. At 2017 CO2e emission levels, 
Staffordshire Moorlands would use this 
entire budget within 7 years from 2020.

• Initiate an immediate programme of 
CO2e mitigation to deliver cuts in emissions 
averaging a minimum of -12.4% per year 
to deliver a Paris aligned carbon budget. 
These annual reductions in emissions 
require national and local action, and 
could be part of a wider collaboration 
with other local authorities.

• Reach zero or near zero carbon no later 
than 2043.

When setting targets for the District’s ‘fair’ 
contribution to UK targets the CO2e emissions 
from the chemical process involved in 
cement production are not included. 

Cement production is regarded as a national 
challenge; in part this recognises that the 
cement produced in Staffordshire Moorlands 
is in fact used elsewhere. 

  

30%
Transport

30%
Domestic

40%
Industry & Commercial

COMPARING EMISSIONS FOR STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS 2018 -  
EXCLUDING LARGE INDUSTRIAL INSTALLATIONS

P
age 113



12
MAPPING THE EMISSIONS OF STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

MAPPING THE EMISSIONS OF STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
The Council has calculated its CO2e emissions 
related to our main office buildings, leisure 
centres, fleet vehicles, staff travel during 
work and Councillors’ travel. A total of over 
2,284 tonnes of CO2e in 2019/20.  These 

represent part of the council’s overall CO2e 
emissions. During 2021/22 further work will be 
undertaken to ensure all data is included to 
form a baseline against which progress on 
CO2e reduction can be measured.

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200

Council o�ces energy use

Leisure centres energy use

Council vehicles

Sta� travel

Councillor's travel

Technically for the purpose of reporting these figures cover two types of Greenhouse gas emissions – referred to as 
scope 1 and 2. Scope 1 covers direct emissions from owned or controlled sources – such as the fuel used by council 
vehicles. Scope 2 covers indirect emissions from things like the generation of electricity the Council purchases. There 
is a third type of emission, Scope 3, which includes all other indirect emissions that occur in a Council’s ‘value chain’ 
including both upstream and downstream emissions. Currently the Council does not have data on its Scope 3 
related greenhouse gas emissions.

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL CO2E EMISSIONS 2019/20 
(METRIC TONNES CO2E)

P
age 114



13
INITIAL ACTIVITY

INITIAL ACTIVITY
Since the declaration of a climate 
emergency a number of ‘enabling’ actions 
have already taken place:

TRAINING: 

(1) Four climate science lectures delivered by 
Keele University to Members, Parish Councils 
and Council staff. (2) The Council has an 
agreement with Keele University to provide 
training for staff.

DATA: 

(1) The Council has access to the Department 
for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
estimates of carbon emissions by sector 
(2005 – 2018).  (2) The Council has data for 
fleet vehicles, staff travel and energy supplies 
but further work is required to ensure all 
emissions are included.

TOOLS: 

The Council has access to:  
(1) Carbon budget tool - produced by 
the Tyndall Centre and funded by the 
government this tool identifies the District 
wide Carbon budget and CO2e reduction 
trajectory to align with the UK commitment

(2) SCATTER – a tool developed to model 
locally the impact of policy measures by key 
sectors (business, transport, housing etc.) and 
trajectories to carbon net zero 

(3) A form has been created for the 
Modern Gov. report management 
system for managers to use to set out the 
climate change implications of all report 
recommendations.

POWERS, BLOCKS AND 
ENABLERS: 

All Council Heads of Service have contributed 
to an initial assessment of the powers the 
Council has, the opportunities, the blocks, 
the potential enablers and the potential for 
the Council to take action now to reduce 
greenhouse gases and respond to climate 
change. 

P
age 115



14
INITIAL ACTIVITY

PARTNERSHIP AND ENGAGEMENT:

Meetings have been held and attended to 
lay the foundations for future partnership 
and joint work on climate change: 

(1) Attended a meeting of the Moorlands 
Climate Action Group 

(2) Spoken to a meeting of the Parish 
Assembly 

(3) Met Staffordshire County Council 
Cabinet  Member and Cabinet Members in 
Newcastle and Stoke –on-Trent 

(4) Met with Midlands Energy Hub regional 
Senior Energy Projects Officer to explore 
technical and business support for local 
projects such as solar farms and EV charge 
points 

(5) Meetings with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust 
to develop a formal partnership to deliver 
the Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan and 
Nature Recovery Network 

(6) Met with Professor Zoe Robinson of Keele 
University to obtain support from University 

(7)  Meeting with Lafarge and JCB to 
understand their challenges and to secure 
their engagement 

(8) Joined UK100 and APSE Energy 

(9) Meetings with the Tree Council and 
Woodland Trust.

The Council’s Climate Change Sub-
committee was established to help develop 
the Council’s Climate Change Plan.

Cllr Porter meets Staffordshire Wildlife 
Trust at the Roaches

P
age 116



15
SMDC PLAN - 2021/22

SMDC PLAN – 2021/22
The Council’s Plan of Action focuses on the 
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from the use of Council buildings (heat and 
power); travel and transport (Council vehicles 
and business travel by staff and Councillors); 
and procurement (the greenhouse gas 
emissions associated with the products and 
services we buy). 

In addition, the Plan includes supporting 
activity such as the development of relevant 
staff skills; revising the Council’s policies and 
strategies across the range of its activities 
and decision making processes to ensure 
climate change is always considered; and 
performance management to ensure 
progress is measured and reported. 

Offsetting is not considered in the Plan at this 
time. The priority is to focus on the reduction 
of the Council’s greenhouse gas emissions 
(Scope 1,2,&3) to as close to zero as possible. 
Once this element of the Plan is developed 
more fully the possibility of actions to offset 
the Council’s greenhouse gas emissions will 
be considered.

2021/22 activity in relation to Council owned 
buildings involves a full assessment of 
building conditions, future requirements, and 
options for reducing CO2e emissions. A report 
with recommendations for action will inform 
specific plans and future CO2e reduction 
targets which will feature in the 2022/23 
updated Plan. There is an expectation that 
quick wins can be identified and that where 
these produce cost savings they may be 
implemented within the current financial 
year.

P
age 117



16
SMDC PLAN - 2021/22

2021/22 activity in relation to the Council’s 
vehicles involves working with the Energy 
Saving Trust and AES (the Council owned 
company responsible for waste collection, 
street scene and parks maintenance) 
to assess the Council’s needs, options 
in relation to developing technology 
(electric/ hydrogen/other), the investment 
in infrastructure required to support new 
vehicles and the production of a fleet 
replacement strategy up to 2030. 

This assessment is expected to be 
available in late 2021 or early 2022 and 
in the meantime, where vehicles must be 
replaced, the Council is choosing the lowest 
CO2e emitting vehicles. The Council has 
undertaken an initial trial of an electric light 
goods vehicle and an electric waste vehicle.

The Council has set a specific 2021/22 target 
for the reduction in CO2e from business miles 
undertaken by staff based on implementing 
new ways of working that have been 
developed in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic and which saw the Council’s CO2e 
emissions from staff travel reduce by over 
60%

2021/22 activity in relation to Council 
procurement is focused on developing 
a new procurement strategy to include 
measures to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions. Currently the Council does not 
have baseline data or estimates for CO2e 
emissions related to procurement.

P
age 118



17
SMDC EMISSIONS - COUNCIL OFFICES

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

BUILDINGS

Council offices SMDC 
Gas and 
electriAcity = 421 
metric tonnes

The current 
electricity 
supply source 
mix includes 
47% renewable 
and 9% nuclear

Reduce 
energy use/ 
improve 
energy 
efficiency

Improve 
insulation 
-reduce waste.

Use of 
technology 
- LEDs and 
improved control 
systems.

Asset 
Management 
Strategy

Capital 
Programme

Commission expert 
advice to review 
the estate and 
determine the 
action plan. By 
April 2022

Identify early cost 
saving initiatives. – 
Aug 2021

Develop a costed 
plan for remaining 
measures. April 
2022

Head of Assets

Head of Finance

Early cost saving 
measures can be 
identified.

An external 
consultant can be 
employed to meet 
the deadline.

The potential for 
energy reduction 
will be set by April 
2022

The target 
for 2030 is as 
close to zero as 
possible (this to 
be determined 
during the 2021 
assets review and 
detail including 
milestones to be 
included in the 
2022 plan update)

Staff practice 
– Ensure all 
staff are taking 
practical 
measures to 
reduce energy 
use.

Organisational 
Development 
Strategy

Nominate service 
champions. 

Provide Carbon 
Literacy training  
to all  Heads 
of Service 
and Service 
Champions.

Regular 
awareness raising 
communication.

Head of 
Transformation

Head of 
Community and 
Climate Change

P
age 119



18
SMDC EMISSIONS - COUNCIL OFFICES

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Council offices 
continued

Switch to 
Green energy

Purchase green 
energy

Procurement 
Strategy

ESPO Framework 
– use the annual 
negotiation to seek 
an improved green 
energy supply.  

Head of Finance The energy mix 
from current 
provider (ESPO 
contract) will 
improve year on 
year – to end of 
contract in 2024 
when 100% green 
energy will be 
purchased.

2024 –  
100% green

Generate green 
energy for 
Council property

Asset 
Management 
Strategy

Capital 
programme

Investigate 
potential as part 
of the review  - for 
solar panels on 
Council property.

Head of Assets The potential 
contribution of 
generated energy 
will be identified 
and measures 
installed over a 
period of time up to 
2024.

Project complete 
by 2024

Alternative 
heating

Investigate 
alternative heating 
systems - ground 
source heat pumps 
etc by April 2022

Determined 
during the 2021 
assets review and 
detail including 
milestones to be 
included in the 
2022 plan update

P
age 120



19
SMDC EMISSIONS - OTHER BUILDINGS

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Leisure Centres 
Council owned 
buildings 
not directly 
controlled.

SMDC 
(2019/20):

Electricity – 
564.2 metric 
tonnes

Gas – 628.2 
metric tonnes

Reduce 
energy use/ 
improve 
energy 
efficiency

Switch to 
Green energy

All above 
measures

Asset 
Management 
Strategy

Leisure contract

Leisure 
Improvement 
Plan

Capital 
Programme

Work with LC 
partners to 
develop a plan for 
each centre and 
agree investment 
and targets.

Engage consultants 
to advise on 
appropriate 
energy saving/ 
green energy 
measures as part 
of the Leisure 
Transformation 
Plan

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Head of Assets

Head of Finance

In the current 
contract  
responsibility for 
utilities is with 
the contractor – 
changes will need 
to be negotiated.

The current contract 
has created an 
incentive towards 
energy efficiency 
– e.g. LED lights 
have been installed 
– and this trend will 
continue.

Determined 
during the 2021 
leisure centre 
review and 
detail including 
milestones to be 
included in the 
2022 plan update.

Other buildings TBD TBD TBD Asset 
Management 
Strategy

Baseline data for 
other buildings to 
be assessed by 
December 2021.

Review of assets 
completed and 
plan developed by 
April 2022

Head of Assets TBD Determined 
during the 2021 
assets review and 
detail including 
milestones to be 
included in the 
2022 plan update

P
age 121



20
SMDC EMISSIONS - VEHICLES/TRAVEL

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

VEHICLES/ TRAVEL

Fleet vehicles

SMDC

637 metric 
tonnes

Reduce CO2e 
from Fleet 
vehicles

Reduce miles 
travelled. 

Efficient planning 
of vehicle 
movements & 
use

Invest in the 
infrastructure 
to support EV’s 
or hydrogen 
vehicles.

Purchase green 
vehicles

Fleet 
Procurement 
Programme

AES contract

Capital 
Programme

Complete analysis 
of options. Dec 
2021

Vehicles purchased 
in 2021 to be lowest 
carbon emitting 
within available 
budget.

Identify the 
Investment in 
infrastructure 
required to support 
switch to green 
vehicles and 
develop the capital 
programme.

Trial fuel additives 
to improve 
performance and 
EV alternatives 
when available.

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Head of Finance

Dependent upon 
the Energy Saving 
Trust being able 
to complete its 
analysis work within 
the timescale.

Technological 
developments 
providing an 
alternative to petrol/
diesel vehicles will 
accelerate but it 
is uncertain this 
will fully provide 
alternatives by 
2030.

The infrastructure 
to support such 
vehicles will form 
part of the Council’s 
capital programme.

Fleet vehicles are 
replaced on an 
ongoing basis as 
they reach the end 
of their productive 
life.

To be determined 
during the 2021 
fleet review and 
detail including 
milestones to be 
included in the 
2022 plan update

2030 – All fleet 
vehicles to run on 
green fuels. But 
dependent on 
technology.

P
age 122



21
SMDC EMISSIONS - VEHICLES/TRAVEL

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Vehicles/travel 
continued

Business miles: 
SMDC & HPBC 
staff combined

CO2e – 64.59 
metric tonnes.

Mileage – 
290,870 miles.

Reduce 
Business 
miles and 
switch travel 
mode and 
use EVs.

Creative 
incentives in the 
expenses system, 
car loan scheme, 
essential car user 
designation and 
lease cars to 
switch to EV’s

Use of the pool 
car.

Encourage 
remote working 
and virtual 
meetings (as a 
default).

Install EV 
charging points 
at Council offices.

HR Policies

Covid recovery 
Plan 
Car Park Strategy

Develop the 
Council’s travel 
policy and plan. 
December 2021

Develop the 
Council’s policy 
to support 
remote working 
and investment 
required in IT to 
support, including 
virtual/hybrid 
meetings. Draft - 
April 2021

Moorlands House 
EV charge points 
(considered as 
part of the car 
park strategy 
development work)

Head of OD & 
Transformation

Head of Assets

There has been 
a 67% reduction 
during the Covid 
period to date 
compared to 2019.

The assumption 
is that in 2021 a 
proportion of this 
reduction will be 
maintained by 
changed working 
practices.

Beyond 2021 the 
assumption is 
that measures to 
switch to green 
vehicles/travel will 
increasingly reduce 
CO2e

2021 - Maintain 
reduction at 40% 
from 2019 level.

2025 –

75% reduction from 
2019 level.

2030 - 100% 
reduction (with 
any residual CO2e 
emissions subject 
to offsetting)

P
age 123



22
SMDC EMISSIONS - VEHICLES/TRAVEL

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Vehicles/travel 
continued

Travel to work

CO2e is not 
currently known.

Reduce CO2 
from staff 
travel to work

Encourage 
walking and 
cycling, use of 
public transport, 
and car sharing.

Support home/ 
remote working

HR Policies Undertake a 
Staff survey 
and establish a 
monitoring system.

Consider options 
to support or 
incentivise green 
alternatives.

Run awareness 
campaigns

Head of OD & 
Transformation

2020/21 is an 
atypical year in 
which to establish a 
baseline and makes 
setting a specific 
CO2e target difficult 
– propose to use 
2019. The target 
could include the 
proportion of staff 
switching transport 
modes or reporting 
reduced travel with 
more specific CO2e 
targets to follow.

CO2e target TBD

2021

30% of staff report 
a reduction in 
travel to work 
by petrol/diesel 
engine car. (from 
estimated 2019 
level)

2025

60% of staff report 
a reduction in 
travel to work 
by petrol/diesel 
engine car. (from 
estimated 2019 
level)

SMDC 
Councillors

1.69 metric 
tonnes

Reduce 
Business 
Miles and 
switch travel 
mode

Encourage 
walking and 
cycling, use of 
public transport, 
and car sharing.

Continued use of 
virtual meetings 
where permitted.

Consultation with 
Councillors – by 
September 2021

Head of 
Democratic  
Services

Current Covid 
related regulations 
which allow for 
virtual meetings 
ended in May 2021.

Other meetings are 
within the Council’s 
control..

2021

TBD

2030 
TBD

P
age 124



23
SMDC EMISSIONS - PROCUREMENT

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

PROCUREMENT TBD Minimise 
the amount 
of products 
purchased.

Choose low 
carbon/ 
carbon 
neutral 
products 
where 
possible. Use 
the principles 
of - reduce, 
reuse, recycle, 
buy local.

(Include 
measures from 
the strategy 
when agreed)

Develop 
measures 
to assess at 
planning stage 
the CO2e in 
goods, products 
and services to 
be procured.

Encourage staff 
to reduce waste.

Procurement 
Strategy

Consultation on 
revised strategy. 
June/July 2021.

Commission an 
assessment of 
CO2e embedded in 
procured products 
and  services – 
to identify the 
baseline.

Training for all 
managers.

Staff training 
and awareness 
campaign.

Head of Finance Baseline measures 
will be developed.

In response to 
customer demand 
and/or legislation 
information about 
CO2e embedded 
in products will 
be increasingly 
become available.

To be determined 
as part of the 
development of 
the new strategy 
in 2021 and 
detail including 
milestones to be 
included in the 
2022 plan update.

Use 
contractors 
/suppliers 
who working 
or achieving 
carbon 
neutrality.

Develop 
measures 
to assess 
contractors 
bidding for work.

Provide support 
to develop local 
companies ability 
to win contracts 
with the council.

Engage with 
current contractors/ 
suppliers to assess 
their practice 
in relation to 
achieving carbon 
neutrality.

Local contractors 
have the 
advantage of lower 
CO2e emissions 
from travel.

P
age 125



24
SMDC EMISSIONS - OPERATIONS

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

OPERATIONS The CO2e 
emissions 
related to 
this section 
are identified 
elsewhere 
(energy/ 
buildings, 
vehicles/travel, 
procurement).  

Improve the 
management 
of the 
Council’s 
green 
spaces/parks 
etc.

Reduce grass 
cutting.

Increase tree 
cover.

Improve wildlife 
habitats and 
biodiversity.

Parks and 
open spaces 
management 
policies.

Tree planting 
policy.

SMDC - Pilot 
changes to current 
practice working 
with Staffordshire 
Wildlife Trust. 

Integrate changes 
into the AES 
contract.

Develop a Tree 
Strategy. (Note this 
strategy is also 
part of the Part2 
Climate Change 
actions)

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Head of 
Development 
Control

External support 
will be obtained to 
develop the policy 
and strategy.

Measures such 
as reduced grass 
cutting, tree planting 
and biodiversity 
improvements 
contribute to 
reduced CO2e 
emissions, carbon 
sequestration and 
adaptation to the 
impact of climate 
change.

To be determined 
following pilot 
work in 2021/22.

OFFSETTING Currently offsetting is not part of the plan. The priority at this stage is to identify measures to reduce the Council’s CO2e emissions. Part of the Council’s plan 
and activities in relation to the management of parks and open spaces could result in the sequestration of CO2e but targets for offsetting will be addressed 
at a later stage.

P
age 126



25
SMDC EMISSIONS - ENABLING

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

ENABLING Decisions Ensure 
Climate 
change 
impact is 
considered 
as part of 
all Council 
decisions.

All Council 
decision reports 
to include a 
section on the 
climate change 
related impact of 
the decision.

All managers 
to be trained 
to assess the 
climate change 
implications in 
their work.

Declaration 
of a climate 
emergency.

Introduce the 
climate change 
assessment 
reporting tool 
into the Modern 
Gov report 
management 
system.

Provide specific 
training to 
managers in the 
use of the tool 
and specifically 
in relation to their 
service.

Head of 
Democratic 
Service.

Head of 
Community and 
Climate Change.

Head of 
Transformation

Policies Ensure key 
Council 
strategies 
and policies 
support the 
Council’s 
Commitment 
to Carbon 
zero by 2030

Integrate 
climate change 
commitments 
into key strategies 
and policies.

Declaration 
of a climate 
emergency.

Asset Management 
Strategy

Procurement 
Strategy

Fleet Replacement 
Programme

Head of Assets

Head of Finance

Head of Service 
Commissioning

There will be 
opportunities during 
the year to review 
other policies.

P
age 127



26
SMDC EMISSIONS - ENABLING

SMDC EMISSIONS
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council Strategy/
Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

ENABLING 
continued

Skills Ensure staff 
have the skills 
required to 
contribute to 
the Council’s 
carbon zero 
target.

Staff / Member 
induction, training 
& awareness

HR Strategies 
and Plans

Communication 
strategy

Make carbon 
literacy training 
available to 
all staff and 
Members.

Provide service 
specific training to 
staff.

Provide regular 
updates and 
awareness 
raising through 
Council internal 
communications 
including team 
meetings

Head of 
Transformation

Head of 
Community and 
Climate Change

Ensure the Council 
has sufficiently 
detailed data on its 
own CO2e emissions 
and that of the 
wider district..

Performance 
Management

Ensure the 
Council’s 
performance 
on climate 
change is 
regularly 
reported to 
Councillors.

Develop the 
Councils climate 
change data set.

Integrate climate 
change targets 
into the Council’s 
performance 
reporting system.

Identify areas of 
weakness and 
commission work 
where necessary to 
fill data gaps.

Integrate climate 
change targets 
into the Council’s 
performance 
reporting system

Head of 
Transformation

P
age 128



27
BUDGETS

BUDGETS
The Council has established an earmarked 
reserve to fund the initial development 
and delivery of its Climate Change Plan. 
The reserve will be added to each year 
depending on the Council’s financial 
situation. 

Most of the actions identified for 2021/22 
will be funded from within the established 
Council Service budgets rather than from a 
specific climate change budget. The work 
being undertaken this year to assess Council 
buildings and the Council’s fleet of vehicles 
will identify measures that will be included in 
the Council’s Capital Investment Programme.

The specific budgets related to development 
of the Plan for the financial year 2021/22 are 
as follows:

 £25,000 Climate Change Reserve Fund

 £20,000 Community grants  
  (Orchard Fund and ECO 
  Schools)

 £12,000 Fuel poverty (Beat the Cold)

 £1,500 Local Authority Energy 
  Partnership

 £2,300 APSE (Energy subscription)

P
age 129



28
TACKLING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ACROSS THE DISTRICT -  

TOWARDS THE CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN PART 2

TACKLING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ACROSS THE DISTRICT -  
TOWARDS THE CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN PART 2
Nationally the Climate Change Committee 
in its December 2020 report stated that 
local authorities are directly responsible for 
between 2- 5% of their local area’s emissions.

However, local authorities have many levers 
that can be used to deliver wider local action 
to reduce emissions and prepare local areas 
for a changing climate (in our case “local 
authorities” means the District and County 
Council together). Key powers and duties are

• An overarching role to support the 
economic, health and social wellbeing of 
communities

• Planning powers over buildings and 
transport

• Enforcement of building regulations

• Powers to ensure buildings meet basic 
energy efficiency standards

• Duties to prevent homelessness and 
prevent hazards in housing

• Duties to manage risk including climate 
risks such as flooding

• Duties and powers to protect the 
environment, wildlife and heritage

• Duties to collect and dispose of waste

• Borrowing and investment powers

The Council’s Climate Change Sub 
Committee has been working through the 
wider issue of greenhouse gas emissions 
from the District, considering greenhouse 
gas emissions from travel and transport, 
housing, industry, agriculture, land use and 
biodiversity, waste, and energy production. 

They have received evidence from 
many outside agencies and experts and 
considered suggested actions which could 
reduce emissions.

P
age 130



29
TACKLING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ACROSS THE DISTRICT -  

TOWARDS THE CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN PART 2

The important role played by community 
and voluntary organisations has been 
highlighted and the Sub Committee has 
been looking at what the Council may be 
able to do to assist, control or influence 
greenhouse gas emissions locally, as well as 
what is needed from Government and other 
agencies.

It is only through the joint efforts of many 
agencies, businesses and local voluntary 
organisations working together that 
greenhouse gas emissions from the District 
can be reduced to Net Zero. 

The Council has a part to play but it does 
not, on its own, have the power to make 
these things happen. The Council will be 
drawing together the results of the Sub 
Committee’s work, together with the results of 
public consultation into Part 2 of the Climate 
Change Plan to be published in the autumn 
of 2021. 

The Council has already identified a number 
of actions that it expects to take that will 
feature in part 2 of the Plan, actions which 

will assist the other agencies, businesses 
and individual households to reduce their 
greenhouse gas emissions. This includes

• Funding work by the Staffordshire Wildlife 
Trust to assist the Council to develop its 
Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan

• Establishing two community budgets – 
the Community Orchards Fund and the 
Community Climate Change Grants Fund.

• Work on a new Car Parking Strategy – 
which will include options in relation to 
the installation of Electric Vehicle charging 
points on Council owned car parks.

• The Council has commissioned work by 
Anthesis to produce data on the District’s 
greenhouse gas emissions and to model 
the pathways to reduce these emissions 
locally in line with the UK’s current 
commitments to net zero.

P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 
 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet 
 

29 June 2021 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
Community Safety Partnership Review and 
Refreshed Community Safety Strategy 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Bowen -Cabinet Member for 
Communities 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
David Smith - Principal Officer Communities 
& Partnerships 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: Community Safety Partnership Plan; 
Appendix B: Community Safety Partnership Strategy;  Appendix C: 
Summary of Council’s Contribution to the Community Safety Partnership 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The District Council is required by statute to work in partnership with other 
listed organisations to tackle community safety problems in Staffordshire Moorlands. 
The Council’s corporate plan committed the Council to ‘Review the Council’s 
community safety arrangements in order to maintain strong partnerships with 
community groups’. This report supports the delivery of that commitment. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Cabinet notes: 

 the Community Safety Partnership’s strategy and plan; and  

 the contributions that the Council makes towards community safety. 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The District Council has three main duties in relation to community safety and 

must: 
 

 work with partners to formulate and implement a community safety 

strategy (Section 8); 

 ensure that it has a committee to scrutinise crime and disorder matters at 

least once a year  (Section 9); and 

Page 133

Agenda Item 10.1



  

 consider the crime and disorder implications when exercising its 

functions (Section 10). 

3.2 The District Council discharges its duty to work with partners to formulate and 
implement a community safety strategy through its involvement in the 
Moorlands Together Safer and Stronger Communities Partnership. Appendix 
C provides a summary of the Council’s contributions to the Partnership. 

 
3.3 The Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel scrutinises crime and disorder 

matters at least once a year. The Committee receives an annual report on the 
activity of the Community Safety Partnership as well as an annual update from 
Staffordshire Police. 
 

3.4 Every Committee report includes a section on community safety implications, 
which ensure that such considerations form part of the Council’s decision 
making process. This includes evaluating the impact of regeneration, asset 
management or planning policies.  

 
3.5 The Council provides a range of services that contribute to improving the 

safety of Staffordshire Moorlands. This includes CCTV in town centres across 
the District, the work of the Democratic and Communities Service, licensing 
taxis and places that sell alcohol, responding to statutory nuisances, 
supporting the homeless, and providing support to vulnerable people and 
those at risk of becoming involved in crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 This report helps to deliver Aim 1: ‘To help create a safer and healthier 

environment for our communities to live and work’ and specifically the 
commitment to: “Review the Council’s community safety arrangements in 
order to maintain strong partnerships with community groups”.  
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 None identified 
 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
The report describes how the Council meets its obligations under 
the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
None  

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
None 
 

Page 134



  

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
None – all commitments are made from within current budgets. 
The Partnership also receives specific funding from Staffordshire’s 
Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The District Council is required to work in partnership to tackle 
community safety issues by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and 
associated regulations. 
 
The District Council has a duty under s17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 to exercise its functions with regard to the likely 
effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all 
that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder, substance 
misuse and re-offending. 
 
The Council must also ensure that it has a committee to scrutinise 
crime and disorder matters at least once a year under the Police 
and Justice Act 2006. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
The Partnership duties include a requirement to tackle behaviour 
that spoils the local environment like dumping rubbish. The Council 
intends to continue to influence the Partnership’s priorities to 
include a greater emphasis on both the local environment and 
climate change. 
 
The Partnership will take into account climate change issues when 
designing and delivering projects of services. This could include 
looking at opportunities for promoting climate change awareness 
and action when commissioning diversionary activities, and 
checking that any contractors are taking steps to contribute to the 
agenda. 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
The Partnership Plan and Strategy have been shared with and 
agreed by community safety partners. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
The change of Police and Crime Commissioner is likely to have 
some impact on the work of the Partnership and possibly to 
partnership funding. The Partnership will reflect any changes in 
approach when developing its future plans. 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

Page 135



  

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/cms/wp-
content/uploads/Police-and-Crime-Plan-Final-9-6-17-
6.pdf 
https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/get-
involved/community-funding/ 

David Smith 
Principal Officer Communities & Partnerships 
david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
7. Community Safety 
 
7.1 The District Council has three main duties in relation to community safety and 

must: 
 

 work with partners to formulate and implement a community safety 

strategy (Section 8); 

 ensure that it has a committee to scrutinise crime and disorder matters at 

least once a year  (Section 9); and 

 consider the crime and disorder implications when exercising its 

functions (Section 10). 

7.2 The Council also has a general duty to promote and improve the economic, 
social or environmental wellbeing of the Staffordshire Moorlands and specific 
obligations in relation to various functions that contribute towards making 
communities safer, such as licensing. This report primarily focuses on the 
specific obligations highlighted above.  

 
8 Working in Partnership 
 
8.1 The District Council discharges its duty to work with partners to formulate and 

implement a community safety strategy through its involvement in the 
Moorlands Together Safer and Stronger Communities Partnership. 

 
8.2 The term Community Safety Partnership1 (CSP) is not used in legislation and 

a CSP is not a legal entity. Rather, it is the collective term used to describe 
multi-agency arrangements that allow specified organisations (“the responsible 
authorities”) to fulfil their statutory obligations under the CDA and associated 
regulations.  

 
8.3 The responsible authorities for the purposes of the Act are the: 

 District Council 

 County Council 

 Chief officer of police 

 Providers of probation services under section 3 of the Offender 

Management Act 2007 

 Fire and Rescue Authority; and 

 Every Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) that covers the whole or any 

part of the area. 

                                            
1
 CSPs are sometimes referred to as Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) or Safer 

and Stronger Communities Partnerships. 

Page 136

https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/cms/wp-content/uploads/Police-and-Crime-Plan-Final-9-6-17-6.pdf
https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/cms/wp-content/uploads/Police-and-Crime-Plan-Final-9-6-17-6.pdf
https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/cms/wp-content/uploads/Police-and-Crime-Plan-Final-9-6-17-6.pdf
https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/get-involved/community-funding/
https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/get-involved/community-funding/


  

8.4 These responsible authorities must also act in co-operation with the relevant 
local probation board, specified providers of probation services, and anyone 
prescribed by order by the Secretary of State. 

 
8.5 The CSP members are required to work together to formulate and implement 

a strategy at District level for: 

 Reducing crime and disorder in the area (including anti-social and other 

behaviour adversely affecting the local environment);  

 Combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in the 

area; and 

 Reducing re-offending in the area. 

8.6 This work is carried out on behalf of the responsible authorities by a strategy 
group2 that is appointed to prepare an annual strategic assessment, prepare 
and implement a partnership plan, review the expenditure of partnership 
monies, and assess the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of partnership 
expenditure. 

 
8.9 The current membership of the Strategy Group is as follows: 
 

 Councillor Mike Bowen (Chair), Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

 County Councillor Ross Ward, Staffordshire County Council 

 Mark Trillo, Executive Director, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

 Jill Norman, North Staffordshire Operations Manager, Support 

Staffordshire 

 Sarah Wilks, Head of Engagement, Peak District National Park Authority 

 Helen Chadwick and , Station Manager, Staffordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service 

 Chief Inspector Mark Thorley, Staffordshire Police. 

8.10 Officer support for the group is provided by Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council and Staffordshire County Council. 

 
8.11 The Partnership has adopted the following vision: 
 

Our Vision is for Staffordshire Moorlands to be a place where people feel safe 

and supported, the diversity of our community is valued, and our environment 

is protected. 

8.12 The Partnership follows a three-tier approach to enable it to achieve its vision, 
and looks to: 

 

 PREVENT problems from occurring in the first place (Primary prevention).  

 REDUCE the impact of community safety problems (Secondary 

prevention) 

                                            
2
 Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) Regulations 2007 

Page 137



  

 SUPPORT those affected by problems and provide support to help stop 

people from reoffending (Tertiary prevention).  

8.13 Each year, the CSP updates its priorities and partnership plan. The delivery of 
the 2020/21 plan was hampered by the Coronavirus pandemic and associated 
lockdown and several actions have been rolled-over to the 2021/22 plan. This 
year, the partnership has also refreshed its strategy (Appendix A).The plan, 
which can be found at Appendix B, describes how the Partnership intends to 
address the following priorities: 

 

 Anti-Social Behaviour 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Rural Crime (including burglary and vehicle theft) 

 Fraud 

 Vulnerable People 

 
Partnership Support 
 
8.14 The District Council provides administrative support to the partnership. This 

includes: 

 Preparing the Partnership Plan and Strategy; 

 Holding Partnership funds, overseeing expenditure, and accounting to 
the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner; 

 Completing annual evaluation of expenditure; 

 Reporting on partnership activity to the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee; 

 Representing the partnership at County and other meetings; 

 Arranging partnership meetings; and 

 Minute-taking. 
 
8.15 Appendix C provides a summary of the Council’s contributions to the 

Community Safety Partnership. 
 
9 Scrutiny of Crime and Disorder Matters 
 
9.1 The Council must ensure that it has a committee to scrutinise crime and 

disorder matters at least once a year. The Committee must have the power to: 
 

 review or scrutinise how the responsible authorities discharge their crime 
and disorder functions and make reports or recommendations to the local 
authority about the discharge of those functions; 

 make a report or recommendations to the local authority concerning 
crime and disorder (including in particular forms of crime and disorder 
that involve antisocial behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), or the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other 
substances that affects all or part of their ward. Any member of the 
authority who is not a member of the crime and disorder committee can 
also refer any such matter to the committee; and 

Page 138



  

 require the attendance of an officer or employee of a responsible 
authority or of a co-operating person or body in order to answer 
questions provided that reasonable notice is given. 

 
9.2 In all cases where the Committee makes a report or recommendations then it 

must provide a report to each responsible authority and co-operating body. 
 
9.3 The Communities Overview & Scrutiny fulfils the Council’s obligations under 

the Police and Justice Act 20063. The Committee receives an annual report on 
the activity of the Community Safety Partnership as well as an annual update 
from Staffordshire Police. 

 
10 The Effect of the Council’s Functions on Community Safety 
 
10.1 The District Council has a duty to exercise its functions with regard to the likely 

effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it 
reasonably can to prevent: 
(a) crime and disorder (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely 

affecting the local environment);  
(b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances; and 
(c) re-offending, in its area. 

 
10.2 Every Committee report includes a section on community safety implications, 

which ensure that such considerations form part of the Council’s decision 
making process. This includes evaluating the impact of regeneration, asset 
management or planning policies. 

 
10.3 The Council’s actions under each of the above heads is considered below. 
 
A Crime and Disorder 
 
10.4 The police have primary responsibility for responding to crime and disorder. 

The College of Policing describes the police’s core operational duties as 
being: 

 protecting life and property 
 preserving order 
 preventing the commission of offences; and 
 bringing offenders to justice. 

10.5 The District Council is responsible for wide a range of services. Many of these 
services can support work to tackle crime and disorder through the discharge 
of regulatory functions and by providing support for the work of Moorlands 
Together Safer and Stronger Communities Partnership. 

 
10.6 The Council also provides a case management function in response to reports 

that it receives about anti-social behaviour. The Council will liaise both 
internally and externally, with agencies such as Staffordshire Police, to seek to 
resolve issues. The Council received 123 reports of anti-social behaviour on 

                                            
3
 Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 

Page 139



  

the year to 15 June 2021 from members of the public via the reporting portal 
on the Council’s website. 

 
10.7 The Council has powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 

Act 2014 to issue Community Protection Notices, and apply for injunctions or 
Closure Orders in response to problems. Other agencies, notably Staffordshire 
Police, also have access to the same powers. The District Council is the only 
authority with the power to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order to 
introduce prohibitions and requirements in response to unreasonable conduct 
that has a detrimental impact in public places within the District. The District 
Council has, for example, used this power to address dog fouling and to 
prevent wildfires. 

 
CCTV 
 
10.8 The District Council makes a substantial contribution to preventing crime and 

disorder by providing a District-wide CCTV system. The system has 40 
cameras that record images across the District with 24/7 monitoring from the 
control centre. The control room and cameras are in the process of being 
upgraded from analogue to digital at a cost of around £275,000.4  

 
10.9 The following table shows the number of incidents recorded by the CCTV 

system across the Staffordshire Moorlands. 
 

 

2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 

Leek 134 126 82 57 

Biddulph 32 35 38 11 

Cheadle 32 30 31 17 

Werrington 3 4 0 0 

Cheddleton 0 0 0 0 

Blythe Bridge 4 8 5 1 

Forsbrook 1 0 0 0 

Brown Edge 2 3 0 0 

Total 208 206 156 86 

 
 
10.10 The following table depicts the number of downloads by the Staffordshire 

Police:   
 

 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 

Downloads 462 227 129 62 

 
Environmental Crime 
 
10.11 The definition of crime and disorder includes behaviour adversely affecting the 

local environment. The District Council takes the lead role in responding to 
such matters, which are often at the top of the community’s priorities for action 

                                            
4
 The cost of upgrading the control room is shared equally with High Peak Borough Council. The on-

going yearly operational costs will reduce from £177,000 to around £30,000 once the upgrade has 
been completed. 

Page 140



  

and include dog fouling, litter, waste disposal, contaminated land and statutory 
nuisances (including noise). The following table provides details of some of the 
Council’s work to tackle environmental crime5. 

 

Type of Action 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Fly tipping 
investigations 

290 359 557 

Dog Fouling FPN 3 6 3 

Litter Only FPN 55 60 15 

Duty Of Care FPN 2 3 0 

Abandoned Vehicles 
 Investigated 
 Disposed  

151 
N/A 

166 
1 

218 
1 

 
10.12 The local authority also has a duty to inspect its area for statutory nuisance 

which includes investigating noise. The Council responded to around 600 
complaints about statutory nuisance/pollution in 2020. 

 
Dangerous Building and Untidy sites 
 
10.13 The District Council can take action in respect of dangerous buildings that 

could be a target for criminal and anti-social behaviour using its building 
control powers under the Building Act 1984. Actions can also be taken as a 
planning authority to rectify untidy sites, which can be locations for criminal 
activity.  

 
Licensing 
 
10.14 The overriding aim of the Council’s licensing function is the protection of the 

public. 
 
10.15 The Licensing Act 2003 regulates the sale of alcohol, the supply of alcohol by 

or on behalf of a club, the provision of regulated entertainment and the 
provision of late night refreshment. The District Council is the designated 
licensing authority under the Act and this function is considered further below.  

 
10.16 The District Council is also responsible for promoting public safety through the 

licensing of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. The Authority will not 
grant a licence to drive a vehicle unless satisfied that the applicant is ‘safe and 
suitable’. This includes requiring an Enhanced DBS check for all drivers and 
compliance with the Council’s code of conduct. 

                                            
5
 The reduction in activity in 2020/21 is primarily related to Covid restrictions. The Enforcement 

Officers were not able to carry out patrols at certain times of the year, and at the same time the footfall 
in many hot spot areas, such as littering in town centres, was much reduced. When patrolling was 
possible, officers were instructed to maintain social distancing and to issue fixed penalty notices by 
post rather than face-to-face. This made enforcement more difficult. 

Page 141



  

 
10.17 All drivers in the District are required to attend an approved safeguarding 

course and to complete and pass either the BTEC Level 2 certificate in the 
introduction to the role of the Professional Taxi or Private Hire Driver or the 
NVQ level 2 certificates in Road Passenger Vehicle Driving (Taxi and Private 
Hire Driver) or an equivalent qualification. This ensures that drivers have an 
awareness of safeguarding and how to provide safety and security for 
passengers  

 
10.18 An applicant who fails to meet all required tests, conditions, code of conduct 

and standards will not be deemed a safe and suitable person and the 
application for a licence or renewal will be refused. 

 
10.19 The District Council is also responsible for regulating scrap metal dealers 

under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013. Every scrap metal dealer is required 
to have a licence and operating without one will be a criminal offence. The 
District Council can refuse to grant a licence where the applicant is judged not 
to be a suitable person to operate as a scrap metal dealer. The licensing of 
dealers contributes to community safety by helping to make it more difficult to 
commit crimes such as metal theft, fraud and money laundering. 

 
Physical Activity and Support 
 
10.20 The Council’s leisure provision can help with diverting people from crime and 

rehabilitating victims of crime. Involvement in physical activities can provide 
positive role models, teach life skills, offer diversion and safety, build 
confidence and encourage self-discipline. The Council’s physical activity and 
sport strategy (‘Towards an Active Staffordshire Moorlands’) recognises that 
physical activity and sport can also play a big part in enhancing relationships 
and social networks, which can create safer and stronger communities.  

 
10.21 Some key outputs of the Council’s strategy include: 
 

 Increased outreach work undertaken by leisure centre staff in the priority 

places in partnership with the Council and local community partners, 

 Lex Leisure installed a new 3G football facility at Brough Park Leisure 

Centre which saw bookings grow by over 50%, 

 Over £1.1 million worth of capital improvements to parks and recreation 

facilities at a range of locations across the district, 

 Provision of the annual Staffordshire Moorlands Sports Awards to 

celebrate the contribution and achievements of clubs, coaches, team and 

athletes from across the Moorlands. 

 
B Misuse of Drugs, Alcohol and other Substances 
 
10.22 The District Council is the designated licensing authority for the Staffordshire 

Moorlands and, as such, is responsible for developing a local policy, 
processing applications and convening hearings to consider any 
representations concerning applications or existing licences. The licensing 
authority must promote the licensing objectives when carrying out its duties: 

Page 142



  

 

 the prevention of crime and disorder; 

 public safety; 

 the prevention of public nuisance; 

 the protection of children from harm. 

 
C Re-offending 
 
10.23 Research on the reasons for re-offending has led to the identification of seven 

pathways for reducing re-offending: 
 

Pathway 1: Accommodation (stable accommodation can reduce the 
likelihood of re-offending by more than 20% as it provides the 
vital building blocks for accessing a range of other services 
and for gaining employment). 

Pathway 2: Education, training and employment  
Pathway 3: Health (Offenders are disproportionately more likely to suffer 

from mental and physical problems) 
Pathway 4: Drugs and alcohol 
Pathway 5: Finance, benefit and debt (Ensuring that ex-offenders have 

sufficient lawful funds to live on is recognised as vital to their 
rehabilitation.) 

Pathway 6: Children and families (maintaining family relationships can 
help to prevent prisoners re-offending and can assist them to 
successfully settle into the community). 

Pathway 7: Attitudes, thinking and behaviour (Offending behaviour 
programmes within prison and probation aim to change the 
way that offenders think about their actions and their effects 
on others, and to improve their self-control). 

 
10.24 The District Council plays an important role in supporting Pathways 1 and 5. 

The Council can also assist in tackling alcohol misuse through its licensing 
function and the work of the Regeneration Service can support Pathway 2 
through the creation of employment opportunities. This work not only assists in 
reducing recidivisms but may also help to prevent individuals from entering 
into the criminal justice system in the first place. 

 
Accommodation 
 
10.25 The District Council has a duty to take reasonable steps to help prevent any 

eligible person who is threatened with homelessness from becoming 
homeless. This means either helping them to stay in their current 
accommodation or helping them to find a new place to live before they 
become actually homeless. If someone becomes unintentionally homeless 
then the Council will take reasonable steps to help them to secure 
accommodation.  

 
 
 
 

Page 143



  

Finance, benefits and debt 
 
10.26 The District Council administers the housing benefit and council tax reduction 

schemes for eligible Staffordshire Moorlands residents. The Council has also 
administered the Test and Trace Self-Isolation Support Payment Scheme 
during the pandemic. 

 
10.27 The Council can also assist in the delivery of the other pathways by supporting 

the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector and through 
its involvement in key partnerships such as Moorlands Together. For example, 
the Council provide funding for the three Citizens Advice services within the 
District, Support Staffordshire and Haregate Community Centre. 

 

Page 144



                                   
  Partnership Plans 2021 to 2022 
 

Moorlands CSP Delivery Plan 2021-22  online 
 

 
The Moorlands Together Safer and Stronger Communities Partnership (CSP) is made up of a number of 
organisations that work together to make our district safer. These organisations include Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Council, Staffordshire County Council, Staffordshire Police, Your Housing Group, Staffordshire Housing 
Group, Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service, local Clinical Commissioning Group and probation service providers. 
Funding to support partnership activity is provided by Staffordshire Commissioner for Police, Fire and Crime and 
by individual agencies through mainstream budgets. 
 
The Moorlands Together Safer and Stronger Communities Strategy Group considers the information contained 
within an annual strategic assessment to establish local priorities. The priorities are then reflected in the community 
safety partnership plan, which sets out what the CSP will do to address these priorities. There are five main 
priorities for 2021/22 :  
 
The strategic priorities for Staffordshire Moorlands CSP for 2021/2022:  
 Anti-Social Behaviour 
 Domestic Abuse 
 Rural Crime (including burglary and vehicle theft) 
 Fraud 
 Vulnerable People 
 
The Moorlands Together Safer and Stronger Communities Partnership Plan builds on the five priorities set out in 
the Staffordshire Commissioner for Police, Fire and Crime’s Safer, Fairer, United Communities Strategy. These are: 

• Early intervention and Prevention - preventing crime and antisocial behaviour and providing early help to 
individuals, families and communities before problems become entrenched, more complex and costly to 
resolve. 

• Supporting victims and witnesses- ensuring that victims, witnesses and their families are supported in 
a way that recognises their individual circumstances and places them at the very heart of all criminal justice 
processes. 

• Managing offending and reoffending- being able to reduce offending and reoffending in Staffordshire 
and Stoke-on-Trent. 

P
age 145

https://www.staffordshire-pcc.gov.uk/saferfairerunited/


                           Page 2  
 

• Public confidence- ensuring that the people of Staffordshire are better informed and involved in how 
policing and community safety arrangements are delivered, helping thereby to increase public confidence 
and reduce the fear of crime. 

• Modernised policing- a modern and transformed police service fit for a changing future, able to address 
existing and new issues and the threat and harm that impact from local, regional, national and international 
criminal activity. 

It should be acknowledged some activity is centrally commissioned and the Moorlands Together Safer and Stronger 
Communities Partnership plan aims to compliment, not duplicate, any activity based on local needs.  
 
The CSP will also be adopting a Place Based approach with public services working in partnership with each other, 
the voluntary and business sectors and communities to plan, design, resource, build and deliver services around 
people, families and communities in the most disadvantaged communities to support them to improve their life 
opportunities and outcomes.  
 
If you wish to contact the Local Community Safety Partnership please contact:  
 
David Smith 
Principal Officer Communities and Partnerships 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Moorlands House 
Stockwell Street 
LEEK 
ST13 6HQ 
Telephone: 01538 395695 
Email: Community.Safety@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 
  

P
age 146

mailto:Community.Safety@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


                           Page 3  
 

1) Anti-social Behaviour 
Priority Areas: 
1.1 Diversionary activity  
1.2 Positive Engagement 
1.3 Enforcement 
1.4 Reduce problems in the town centres 
 Aims Activity Lead Performance Measures Assumptions and Key Risks 
1.1 Reduce number of calls to 

police about ASB caused by 
young people in hot-spot 
areas 
 
 
 

Targeted  outreach programme 
in hot spot areas at key times  
 
 
 
 
 

SMDC 
(Commission 
services on behalf 
of CSP) 

Reduction in ASB 
Number of attendees at 
sessions 
Case studies 
Completed evaluation 

Funding suitable suppliers to 
deliver services fit for purpose 
and have the desired outcomes 
 
ASB hot spots are caused by the 
activities of young people 

1.2 Prevent ASB on new 
recreational facilities and 
create a positive environment 
for all 

Positively engage adults/young 
people in locations where 
improvements to recreational 
facilities is or has taken place to 
create better links and more 
community ownership of the 
facilities    

SMDC Parks & 
Countryside 
CSP 

Number of people engaged 
Number of events 

BMX track will be built this year 
as dependant on funding 

1.3 Take action against those 
persistently engaging in ASB 

Enforcement  
 
External legal support for: 
• Applications for  Anti-Social 

Behaviour Injunctions 
• Prosecutions  for breach of 

Community Protection Notice 
• Prosecutions for failure to 

comply with Public Spaces 
Protection Orders, etc 

SMDC  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of Injunctions 
 
Number of Community 
Protection Notice Warnings 
 
Number of Community 
Protection Notices 
 

Courts will not grant 
injunctions/orders 
Legal costs could escalate as 
cases are particularly complex  

1.4 Develop and deliver a 
campaign focusing on 
reducing Town Centre 
violence 

Intoxicated 
Roll out the successful 
Intoxicated scheme to other 
areas (including Biddulph and 
Cheadle) 

Police 
SMDC 

Reduction in town centre 
anti-social behaviour and 
violence 
 

Partners are willing to support 
the activity 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2) Domestic Abuse 

P
age 147



                           Page 4  
 

         Link with county wide Domestic Abuse recommissioning 
Priority Areas: 
2.1 children affected by domestic abuse 
 Aims Activity Lead Performance Measures Assumptions and Key Risks 
2.1 To provide support for 

children affected by domestic 
abuse  

Provision of children’s worker 
to provide targeted support 

SMDC 
(Commission 
services on behalf 
of CSP) 

Number of children 
supported 

Appropriate service can be 
commissioned 

 
 

3) Rural Crime 
 
Priority Areas: 
3.1        Countryside Problem Solving Group 
 Aims Activity Lead Performance Measures Assumptions and Key Risks 
3.3 Reduce rural crime and anti-

social behaviour 
Facilitate a multi-agency group 
to adopt a problem solving 
approach to tackling rural 
issues that cause significant 
concerns in our rural 
communities  
 
Develop and deliver Problem 
Solving Plan 

SMDC 
Staffordshire 
Wildlife 
Police 
Peak District 
National Park 
Authority 
FARS 

Projects delivered 
Campaign messages and 
reductions in calls for 
services/complaints 
 

Covid continues to cause a vast 
increase in footfall to our rural 
beauty spots.  
 
Lack of funding to develop ideas 
to tangible projects 

  
 

4) Fraud 
Priority Areas: 
4.1   Illegal money lending, fraud, Scam  and Cyber crime Awareness 
 Aims Activity Lead Performance Measures Assumptions and Key Risks 
4.1 Raise awareness of potential 

threats that target the 
vulnerable people within our 
communities  (Fraud, Scams  
and Cyber crime  
Illegal money lending) 

Fraud, Scam  and Cyber 
crime Awareness  
Illegal Money Lending 
Team 

CSP 
NatWest Bank 
Digital PCSO 
Illegal Money 
Lending Team 
 

Number of events 
Number of attendees 
Areas targeted 
Material produced locally  

Needs to be linked with the 
County forum of Online Fraud 
Forum. 
 
Education dependant on external 
partners providing FOC 

 
 
 
 

5) Vulnerable People   
Priority Areas: 

P
age 148



                           Page 5  
 

5.1 Raise awareness of healthy relationships and mutual consent 
5.2 Education around Community Safety – Safe & Sound 
5.3 Prevent 
5.4 Hate Crime/ASB 
 Aims Activity Lead Performance Measures Assumptions and Key Risks 
5.1 Raise awareness of healthy 

relationships and mutual 
consent /respect- (trust, 
honesty, support, 
fairness/equality and non-
bulling behaviour). 

Education workshops: 
Sexting and the 
consequence 
Bullying/Cyber bullying 

CSP Commission  
 
 

Number of schools 
Number of pupils 
 
 
 

Schools willing to take part and 
agreeing to host the 
performances  
 
Establish the provider - Sexting 
and the consequence 

5.2 Raise awareness to year 6 
pupils focusing on following 
prioritises: 

Safe & Sound 
• Sessions run online with 

topics relevant to improve 
safety for year 6 pupils 

FARS 
CSP 

Number of schools 
Number of pupils attending 
Evaluations from event 

Schools will be willing to attend 
the event and pay for transport. 
 
Partner agencies currently 
working in the area will support 
the event to keep costs to a 
minimum. 
 
FARS will co-ordinate the 
planning of the event and provide 
all relevant resource.  

5.3 Prevent Awareness campaign CSP Number of people 
attending event and 
evaluation 

Partner agencies will support and 
attend the event  

5.4 To give victims of hate 
crime/ASB specialist support 

Commission a Service to 
deal with victims of Hate 
Crime/ASB 

SCC TBC The tender process will begin in 
March 
 
Mobilisation of service is due to 
commence in October 2021 
 

 
 

P
age 149



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Our Vision, Our Plan, Our Promise, Our Actions

Working together to make Staffordshire Moorlands a place where people feel safe and 
supported, the diversity of our community is valued, and our environment is protected

2021 to 2024

P
age 151



2

A word from our Chair
Staffordshire Moorlands is a beautiful part of 
the country and we want to make sure that 
anyone who lives in, works in, or visits our 
district can do so without worrying about their 
safety. This plan will help us to do that.

We work together, in partnership, to focus on 
those problems that are of most concern to 
you. We believe that we are stronger when 
we work together and are better equipped to 
achieve our vision for Staffordshire Moorlands.

Cllr Mike Bowen  –  
Chair of the Community Safety Partnership and 
Cabinet Member for Communities.

CONTENTS
Our Vision 4

Who are we? 4

Our Plan 5

What do we need to do? 5

Our Priorities 5

National drivers 5

Countywide drivers 6

Covid-19 6

How will we do it? 7

PREVENT  7

REDUCE 8

SUPPORT 8

How will we work together? 9

How will you know that we’ve  
done what we set out to do? 9

What do we need to deliver our plan? 9

Our Promise 10

Planning what we do 10

Taking action 10

Reporting 
back to you 10

P
age 152



3

Our Promise
We will work together to:

Focus on the most important problems 
in Staffordshire Moorlands. Talk to our 
communities about local problems, Take early 
action, Provide support for those who most 
need our help, Work with offenders to stop 
them from committing more crime, Work with 
our communities to tackle problems together, 
Hold a public meeting once a year, Provide our 
community with information about what we are 
doing

Responsible authorities:
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, 
Staffordshire County Council, The Chief Officer 
of Staffordshire Police, Providers of probation 
services; and NHS North Staffordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG)

Strategy Group members:
Cabinet Member for Communities, SMDC 
(Chair); Executive Director, SMDC; County 
Councillor, SCC; LPT Commander, Staffordshire 
Police; Station Managers, Staffordshire Fire 
and Rescue Service, Head of Engagement, 
Peak District National Park Authority; North 
Staffordshire Operations Manager, Support 
Staffordshire.

Our Plan (strategy)
We believe that we can achieve our vision if we:

PREVENT problems from occurring in the first 
place (Primary prevention). 

REDUCE the impact of community safety 
problems (Secondary prevention)

SUPPORT those affected by problems and 
provide support to help stop people from 
reoffending (Tertiary prevention). 

Key Areas (Statutory Requirements)
We will work together to formulate and 
implement a strategy at borough level for:

• Reducing crime improving safety

• Reducing disorder including anti-social and 
other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment 

• Combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol and 
other substances in the area

• Preventing re-offending

Responding to any cross-cutting issues, such as 
mental health, and involving the community and 
voluntary sector

Our Priorities
Acquisitive and Drug-Related Crime, Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Domestic Abuse, Personal Safety, 
Preventing re-offending, Rural Problems

is for Staffordshire Moorlands to be a place 
where people feel safe and supported, the 

diversity of our community is valued, and our 
environment is protected

shows how we will deliver our vision.

tells you how we will work together to plan, take 
action, and report back to you.

shows what we will do during the year to deliver 
the things that we set out in our plan.

Our Vision

Our Plan

Our Promise

Our Actions

Moorlands Together Safer and Stronger Communities Partnership’

P
age 153



4

OUR VISION
Our Vision is for Staffordshire Moorlands to be a place where people feel safe 
and supported, the diversity of our community is valued, and our environment is 
protected.

WHO ARE WE?
Every district in the country must have a 
partnership (a group of organisations) that 
meets to look at crime and disorder issues. We 
call our partnership the Staffordshire Moorlands 
Community Safety Partnership.

The organisations that must work together 
in the partnership are set down by law. These 
organisations are known as the “responsible 
authorities” and are:

• Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

• Staffordshire County Council

• The Chief Officer of Staffordshire Police

• Providers of probation services; and

• NHS North Staffordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG). 

There are lots of other organisations who work 
with the responsible authorities to make our 
District safer. These include community groups, 
residents associations, parish and town councils, 
schools and colleges, and organisations such as:

• Support Staffordshire;

• Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service;

• Your Housing Group;

• New Era (Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent)

• HM Prison & Probation Service;

• Peak District National Park Authority; and

• Staffordshire Police, Fire & Crime 
Commissioner.

Our Vision

P
age 154



5

OUR PLAN
WHAT DO WE NEED TO DO?
By law, we must work together to tackle:

• crime and disorder;

• antisocial behaviour;

• behaviour that spoils the local environment 
like dumping rubbish (fly tipping), graffiti and 
dog fouling;

• misusing drugs and alcohol; and

• reoffending by adult and young offenders.

OUR PRIORITIES
We are required to carry out a review (a 
strategic assessment) of the problems in the 
District each year. We use this and other 
information to choose the most important 
problems that need to be tackled in the District 
in the next year to help us to work towards our 
vision.

We must then produce plans that show how we 
will work together to tackle these problems (our 
action plan).

As well as looking at the results of the review, 
we also need to think about what is happening 
at both a national and County-wide level. The 

Covid-19 pandemic and associated lockdowns 
have also had a big impact on our local 
communities, and will undoubtedly continue 
to produce more challenges over the next 12 
months.

NATIONAL DRIVERS

The Home Secretary sets out the key national 
threats in a document called the Strategic 
Policing Requirement. The currently recognised 
threats are terrorism, serious and organised 
crime, cyber security, threats to public order or 
public safety, civil emergencies, and child sexual 
abuse.

www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-
policing-requirement

We also need to consider how the work and 
priorities of the partnership are affected by 
any new laws, policies or guidance from the 
Government or other key bodies.

Some of the recent changes (and some that are 
due shortly) include:

• Introduction of the Domestic Abuse Act 
2021. This includes a power for senior police 
officers to issue a domestic abuse protection 
notice and for the courts to make a domestic 

abuse protection order, and a requirement 
for the District Council to publish a strategy 
for the provision of accommodation-based 
support in its area.

• Updated guidance on working together to 
prevent terrorism (“Channel Guidance”) was 
published in November 2020;

• Proposed introduction of a ‘Serious Violence 
Duty’ that will require local authorities, 
the police, fire and rescue authorities, 
specified criminal justice agencies and health 
authorities to work together to look at 
problems linked to serious violence in their 
area, and then produce and implement a 
strategy for respond to any issues that are 
identified.

• Proposed introduction of a new criminal 
offence of trespass.

• Changes to the probation system with a 
new National Probation Service taking on 
responsible for managing all those on a 
community order or licence following their 
release from prison in England and Wales 
from 26 June 2021.

Our Plan

P
age 155

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policing-requirement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policing-requirement


6

The Home Office are also carrying out reviews 
of and consultations about political violence and 
disruption, pet theft, violence and abuse toward 
shop staff, and pre charge bail legislation.

COUNTYWIDE DRIVERS

We must also consider the picture across 
Staffordshire. We recognise that it is better 
to tackle some things, or provide some 
services by working together as a County 
and that other things are best addressed 
locally. The Staffordshire Safer and Stronger 
Communities Strategy Group brings together 
representatives from the community safety 
partnerships for each district as well as others 
from the responsible authorities and other key 
organisations. This allows us to work together 
to share resources, skills and experience across 
Staffordshire. 

The Staffordshire Safer and Stronger 
Communities Strategy Group follows a 
similar approach to the local partnerships and 
identifies key County-wide priorities that we 
will work together to tackle. These priorities, 
and information about how we will work 
together, are described in a document called the 
Staffordshire Community Safety Agreement. 
The current priorities (2021-23) are:

• Domestic Abuse 

• Vulnerable Persons and Contextual 
Safeguarding (incl. Alcohol, Drugs and Mental 
Health)

• Public Place Violence & Serious Violence

• Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking 

• Community Cohesion & Tackling Extremism

• Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 

• Fraud 

• Drug Supply & County Lines

www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Community/
Communitysafety/community-safety.aspx

County Lines is where illegal drugs are 
transported from one area to another, often 
across police and local authority boundaries. The 
‘County Line’ is the mobile phone line (or other 
“deal line”) used to take the orders of drugs. 
exploit children and vulnerable adults to move 
[and store] the drugs and money

The Staffordshire Police, Fire & Crime 
Commissioner identifies a set of priorities in the 
Safer, Fairer, United Communities 2017-20201  
strategy, and provides funding to Staffordshire 
Moorlands Community Safety Partnership to 
support delivery of those priorities. The current 
priorities are:

• Modern Policing – “A police force that is fit 
for a changing future”

• Early intervention – “Identifying and tackling 
root cases at the earliest opportunity”

• Support Victims and Witnesses – “Making 

it easier for victims and witnesses to get the 
support they need, when they need it”

• Managing offenders – “Preventing offending 
in the first place and reducing offending”

• Public confidence – “Creating opportunities 
for communities to shape policing, with 
greater transparency and openness to 
increase confidence in policing”

https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/cms/wp-
content/uploads/Police-and-Crime-Plan-
Final-9-6-17-6.pdf

COVID-19

The last 12 months have been extremely 
challenging for everyone. New legislation was 
introduced to limit public gatherings, close 
certain premises and so on to help stop the 
spread of the virus. Whilst the lockdowns led 
to a reduction in some crime types (such as 
shop theft and crimes linked to the night time 
economy), we saw an increase in some other 
problems. The large increase in the number of 
visitors to our rural areas led to problems such 
as increased littering, concerns about the use of 
barbecues, damage to dry stone walls, and traffic 
and parking issues. and the District experienced 
increased levels of fly-tipping, and we also saw 
some increase in neighbour disputes as people 
spent more time at home. 
1These priorities will be updated by the newly appointed 
Commissioner during 2021

Our Plan

P
age 156

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Community/Communitysafety/community-safety.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Community/Communitysafety/community-safety.aspx
https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/cms/wp-content/uploads/Police-and-Crime-Plan-Final-9-6-17-6.pdf
https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/cms/wp-content/uploads/Police-and-Crime-Plan-Final-9-6-17-6.pdf
https://staffordshire-pfcc.gov.uk/cms/wp-content/uploads/Police-and-Crime-Plan-Final-9-6-17-6.pdf


7

OUR PRIORITIES FOR 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS
We have identified the following priorities after 
considering our strategic assessment, and 
national and local drivers.

• Anti-Social Behaviour

• Domestic Abuse

• Rural Crime (including burglary and vehicle 
theft)

• Fraud

• Vulnerable People

We will also support the Staffordshire Safer 
and Stronger Communities Strategy Group to 
deliver the countywide priorities.

HOW WILL WE DO IT?
In this section, we will let you know our strategy 
(approach) for tackling our priorities and 
achieving our vision for the District.

We believe that we can achieve our vision if we:

PREVENT 

We recognise that some people and places 
within our District are at more risk than others 
from crime, antisocial behaviour, fires or other 
community safety problems. 

This includes people who are currently 
experiencing repeated problems or who are at 
greater risk because of their age or for other 
reasons such as physical, emotional or mental-
health difficulties. We want to make sure that we 
support these people whenever we can.

We also recognise that adults and young people 
who commit crime and cause other problems 
often have problems such as mental health 
problems, family problems, homelessness, drug 
problems, lack of skills and training and possibly 
debt and money problems. We can help people 
to stop offending by helping them with these 
problems.

We believe we can prevent problems by:

Promoting community safety and encouraging 
people to take positive action (such as not 
leaving valuables on show, locking their bikes, 
not starting fires in moorland areas);

• Working to address some of the issues that 
make it more likely that some people will 
commit crimes or cause other problems (such 
as mental health, financial problems substance 
misuse, and housing); and 

• Supporting and strengthening our 
communities (such as providing support 
to community and voluntary groups and 
activities). 

Our Plan

P
age 157



8

REDUCE

We will work together to tackle the problems 
that matter most to people in their local area.

We recognise that a small number of people 
can cause a lot of problems for others because 
of their behaviour. We will try and make sure 
that there is support for these people to help 
them to stop causing problems for others BUT 
we will do all we can to catch and convict those 
who, despite our offers of support, carry on 
committing crimes or causing other problems.

We believe that we can reduce the impact of 
problems by:

• taking early, preventative action to ‘nip 
problems in the bud’; 

• targeting enforcement action on those who 
cause the most problems for others.

• helping those people who most need our 
support to stop them from being a victim 
of crime, anti-social behaviour or other 
problems.

SUPPORT

Victims -  
Being a victim of crime, anti-social behaviour, 
a fire, or a road accident can be a horrible 
experience for someone to cope with. Everyone 
reacts differently and how you react depends 
on lots of different things. This includes the 
incident itself, the sort of person you are, 
things that have happened to you in the past, 
and the support you have around you. The 
effects can be even worse when you also have 
other problems to deal with such as a health 
or mental health problem, financial difficulties, 
bereavement, or housing problems. We think 
it is important the people are able to access 
support when and if they need it.

Offenders -  
If we can stop offenders committing more 
crimes then we will have a safer District with 
fewer victims of crime. Helping offenders to 
stop offending and get a job or training can also 
mean that they can then contribute to society, 
and improve their life chances and those of their 
children and families. We can also save money 
for tax payers if we can reduce the number of 
offenders because we will not have to spend as 
much money on things such as prisons.

We believe that we can support our community 
by making sure that:

• there are support services for those who 
have been the victim of crime and other 
problems;

• there are services for those people who are 
causing problems (offenders);

• making sure that people know how to access 
support.

Our Plan

P
age 158



9

HOW WILL WE WORK  
TOGETHER?
We believe that the best way for us to achieve 
our aims is by working together.

Each member of our partnership has their own 
services and targets that they need to deliver. 
But we know that many problems can only be 
solved by organisations and people working 
together.

This document sets out our overall plan 
for working together to make Staffordshire 
Moorlands a place where people feel safe and 
supported, the diversity of our community is 
valued, and our environment is protected. Each 
year we also develop a detailed plan (we call 
this our action plan) that will show in detail how 
we will work together to take action to tackle 
the key problems in our District. Many of these 
problems change over time so we will write a 
new action plan each year to make sure that 
we are always tackling the problems that matter 
most to you.

We will also meet regularly throughout the year 
and take action to tackle any new problems 
that come to our attention and that can only be 
solved by us working together.

Representatives from the responsible 
authorities, and from other key organisations, 
meet every three months to look at whether we 
are meeting the targets that we have set. We 
call this group our Strategy Group.

Other officers meet more regularly to look at 
the levels of problems within the District and 
report to the Strategy Group if it does not look 
like we will meet our targets.

We also want to involve local people wherever 
possible. This includes:

• asking you what the main problems are in 
your area;

• involving you in helping to decide how to 
solve problems;

• providing support if you want to get involved 
in action to improve your area; and

• letting you know what we’ve done to reduce 
problems in your area.

HOW WILL YOU KNOW THAT 
WE’VE DONE WHAT WE SET 
OUT TO DO?
We will publish our action plan each year so that 
you can see what we plan to do.

We will provide you with regular updates on 
what we have achieved throughout the year and 
a final update once each year has ended.

WHAT DO WE NEED TO 
DELIVER OUR PLAN?
We can deliver many actions within our 
plans without needing any additional money, 
equipment or other resources. We can 
do this by bringing together the people, 
skills, equipment and so on from different 
organisations, and from the local community, to 
work together to solve problems. This generally 
produces better results than when organisations 
try and tackle problems on their own.

We can also sometimes work together to 
think of new ways of tackling problems that 
don’t have an additional cost or we change the 
way that we normally respond to problems to 
produce better results.

In some cases, additional money is needed to 
tackle problems. If this is the case, then we use 
money provided by Staffordshire Police, Fire 
& Crime Commissioner or contributions from 
individual organisations when these are available. 

Our Plan

P
age 159



10

OUR PROMISE
We will work together to:

• Focus on the most important problems within the District. 
Each year we will carry out a strategic assessment to help us to identify priorities and then produce a plan that shows how we will 
tackle those priorities.

• Talk to you (our communities) about crime and disorder issues in your area and about what you think are the most important 
problems to tackle. 
We will use this information to make sure that we are focussing on the issues that are most important to you.

• Take early action to nip problems in the bud or ideally prevent them from happening in the first place.

• Take quick, firm action against those who break the law and cause problems in our District.

• Support those people within the District who most need our help and who may be at particular risk from crime, antisocial behaviour, 
fires or other community safety problems.

• Some people might be more vulnerable than others because of their age or for other reasons such as physical, emotional or 
mental-health difficulties. Others are vulnerable because they have been the victim of crime or antisocial behaviour.

• Work with people who break the law (offenders) to stop them from committing more crime (reoffending) in the future

• Work with you (our communities) and provide opportunities to work together to tackle problems.

• The District Council will hold at least one meeting each year to look at whether the partnership has done what it said it would.

• This meeting will be held in public so you know what is said.

• Provide you with information so that you know what we are doing to make Staffordshire Moorlands safer.

• This will include publishing a summary of our action plan.

Pl
an

ni
ng

 w
ha

t w
e 

do
Ta

ki
ng

 a
ct

io
n

Re
po

rt
in

g 
ba

ck
 to

 y
ou

Our Promise

P
age 160



RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES:

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Staffordshire 
County Council, The Chief Officer of Staffordshire 
Police, Providers of probation services; and NHS North 
Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

To work together to formulate and implement 
a strategy at district level for:

• Reducing crime and disorder in the area 
(including anti-social and other behaviour 
adversely affecting the local environment);

• Combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol 
and other substances in the area; and

• Reducing re-offending in the area.

Purpose

Moorlands Together Safer and Stronger Communities Partnership

STRATEGY GROUP MEMBERS:

Cabinet Member for Communities, SMDC (Chair); 
Executive Director, SMDC; County Councillor, SCC; LPT 
Commander, Staffordshire Police; Station Managers, 
Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service, Head of 
Engagement, Peak District National Park Authority; North 
Staffordshire Operations Manager, Support Staffordshire.

HOW THE DISTRICT COUNCIL SUPPORTS THE COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

CCTV

Environmental crime

Statutory Nuisance

Dangerous structures

Untidy sites

ASB Case management

Licensing

Diversionary activity

Planning (designing out 
crime)

Support for victims

• Housing

• Refuge support

Support for Voluntary & 
Community Sector

Preparation of partnership plan, monitoring expenditure, administration of meetings

Representation on County Groups

Licensing 
Commissioning housing support

Accommodation/homelessness prevention 
Finance, benefits and debt 
Health 
Support for health partnerships

CRIME & DISORDER

PARTNERSHIP SUPPORT

SUBSTANCE MISUSE

RE-OFFENDING  
(PATHWAYS TO 
PREVENTION)

Working together to make Staffordshire Moorlands a place where people feel safe and supported,  
the diversity of our community is valued, and our environment is protected

Our vision

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Cabinet 

 
29th June 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Cheadle to Cresswell Disused Railway – 
Potential Asset Transfer 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Mark Deaville (Deputy Leader) 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Sarah Porru ( Head of Regeneration) 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Cheadle West 

 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet authority to begin the process of 

Asset Transfer of the Cheadle to Cresswell Disused Railway line from the 
Department for Transport to the ownership of Staffordshire Moorland District 
Council. The report sets out the due diligence process that needs to be 
undertaken which will identify the costs of the asset transfer, the liabilities and 
potential revenue implication of ownership and maintenance, and the legal 
obligations the Council will become responsible for, including managing 
existing leasehold agreements.  

 
1.2. Following the conclusion of the due diligence process a further Cabinet report 

will be prepared setting out these conclusions for the Cabinet to decide 
whether  or not to proceed with the Asset Transfer. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Council engages with the Department for Transport to assess the 
potential transfer of the Cheadle to Cresswell disused railway line to the 
ownership of Staffordshire Moorland District Council,  to  undertake all 
necessary legal, financial and technical assessments to understand the full 
costs, legal liabilities and ongoing maintenance liabilities associated with any 
potential Council ownership of the disused railway. 
 

2.2 That a further Cabinet report is prepared on the results of the due diligence 
process and recommendations on whether to proceed with the Asset Transfer. 

 
 
 
 

Page 163

Agenda Item 11.1



  

3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1  The last train to use the Cheadle line was a maintenance train in 1986. The 

junction with the main Stoke to Derby line was severed in 1989, which finally 
isolated the Cheadle branch from the national rail network. 

3.2 Today much of the line is used by pedestrians as an informal footpath. During 
the Covid 19 lockdowns in 2020/21 the popularity of the route soared 
considerably as walking became a popular local pursuit. There is an active 
local community Group “The Friends of Cheadle to Cresswell Railway Path” 
which provides information on how to access the path and organises path 
clearing days and other community activities to promote the use of the path. 

 
3.3 The Council’s Local Plan has a number of key objectives and policies which 

directly support the development of sustainable transport initiatives and 
identifies the Green Infrastructure Strategy as the vehicle for identifying 
specific initiatives to improve access to the countryside.  The strategy 
identifies  the disused railway from Cheadle to Cresswell as a potential Green 
Travel Corridor that should be investigated further. 

 
3.4 The current freeholder of the railway line is the Department for Transport who 

in turn have a leaseholder agreement with Moorland and City Railways Limited 
The lease has seven years left to run. The DFT have confirmed they would 
provide the Council the opportunity to buy the railway (full or in part) before 
taking a decision to sell to another party (including the existing leaseholder). 
DFT are now engaging with the Council about the potential transfer of the 
asset before taking action in respect of any proposals by the existing 
leaseholder. 

 
3.5 The approach of the UK government to public asset transfers is set out in the 

policy and protocol document “Managing Public Money” (Appendix 1) , which 
established that public sector organisations may transfer property among 
themselves without placing the asset on the open market, provided they do so 
at market prices and in appropriate circumstances and comply the following 
guidelines: 

 
Protocol For Transfers Of Assets  
 
• Consult ePIMS to see if properties on the civil estate can be used. 
• Value assets at market prices using Royal Institute Chartered Surveyors’ Red 

Book (www.rics.org). 
• The original and prospective owners should work collaboratively to agree a 

price. It is good practice to commission a single independent valuation to 
settle the price to be paid. 

• The organisations should take legal advice, especially where sponsored 
organisations are involved as these may have specific legal requirements. 

• Consult the Government Property Unit of the Cabinet Office, who may be 
able to help with coordination. 

• The ts of transfer should not normally involve neither clawback (rights to 
share disposal proceeds) or overage (rights to share future profits on 
disposal) 

Page 164



  

• As Local authorities are not part of the indivisible Crown a full investigation of 
legal title will be required. 

 
3.6 Department officials have instructed their lawyers to provide the Council with 

all land titles for the railway line of which there are 16 separate title 
documents, which will be reviewed in turn and assembled to get a clear picture 
of the footprint of the land subject to the transfer. Instruction has also been 
given to Highways England to provide the Council full disclosure of all relevant 
engineering and maintenance records held and any relevant correspondence 
with the Tenant,  all on a Without Warranty or Liability basis. 

 
3.7 Subsequent to a Cabinet decision to accept the recommendations in this 

report the following steps will be taken: 
 

a. To jointly commission an assessment of all the structures on the railway 
considering all existing relevant engineering and maintenance records, 

 
b. To undertake a structural & condition survey of structures to inform the 

Red Book valuation and current and future repair and maintenance 
requirements, 

 
c. To jointly commission a Red Book Valuation to inform the price of the 

Asset transfer, 
 
d. Upon satisfactory compliance with all aspects of the Protocol For Asset 

Transfer, to report back to Cabinet addressing the following matters: 
 

• The finding of the structural and condition survey and its 
implication for capital spend and timescale for spend on repair 
and maintenance of structures, 

• The agreed price for the Asset Transfer, 
• The legal obligations of ownership of the railway and to the 

current leaseholder, 
• The approach to maintaining the railway in its current state 

including cost implications (ie Tree works), 
• The approach to develop the business case to support 

investment and secure external funding for the creation of a 
green travel corridor. 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1  The creation of a greenway travel corridor along the Cheadle to Cresswell 

disused railway, whilst not a specific initiative identified in the Corporate Plan 
links firmly to two of the Council’s key Corporate Plan aims; - 1.To help create 
a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work, and  2. 
to protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 
emergency. 

 
5. Alternative Options 
 

Page 165



  

5.1 Option 1  (Recommended)To proceed with the government’s Protocol For 
Transfer of Assets. This is required if the Council wants to own the railway, 
however undertaking the due diligence steps under the protocol do not commit 
the Council to that decision but do guarantee that a fair price for the asset will 
have been identified as well as the future costs and liabilities of ownership. 
However the due diligence process will mean the Council incurs costs of the 
process. 

 
5.2 Option 2 (not recommended) – To not proceed with the government’s Protocol 

For Transfer of Assets the Council will not be in position to decide whether to 
own the railway or not. However, the due diligence costs associated with the 
Protocol would be avoided. 

 
 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
Ownership of the disused railway would entail the Council 
considering the safety of pedestrians using the railway. This will be 
considered as part of the wider due diligence process. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
Ownership of the disused railway will likely require preparation and 
resourcing of a maintenance regime. This will be considered as 
part of the wider due diligence process. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Refer to the Equality Impact Assessment 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
If the recommendations of this report are approved, it will commit 
the Council to incurring costs associated with the due diligence 
process, including structural and conditions surveys and the 
commissioning of a red book valuation.  Estimated unbudgeted 
costs of which are £25,000.  However, a Community Renewal 
Fund Bid  has been submitted to Staffordshire County Council to 
part cover the costs.  If the net costs to the Council can not be met 
from existing revenue budget within Regeneration, this will need to 
be funded via a draw on reserves.  
 
The further Cabinet Report on the findings of the Transfer of 
Assets process will need to establish the capital cost of the asset 
transfer, the costs of immediate and future maintenance and repair 
of railway structure and the revenue costs of maintaining the line. 
 
Moreover, the future development of the railway line into a Green 
travel Corridor will require a business case to support any 

Page 166



  

additional capital funding and applications for grant funding.  
  

6.5 Legal 
 
There are no legal issues arising specifically from the contents of 
the report, however, should the recommendation to consider the 
purchase of the railway be approved, then the legal review of the 
title to the land will be a critical part of the due diligence process. 
This review will confirm the legal obligations which the Council 
would be subject to were it to take legal ownership of the land. 
Further, the Council will need to satisfy itself as part of the due 
diligence process that it has the necessary powers to take the 
actions proposed in the report.  
 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
Establishing a greenway between Cheadle and Cresswell primarily 
provides the opportunity for encouraging active travel with all the 
benefits of physical and mental wellbeing, whether it is used for 
recreation on for a daily commute. It further provides the 
opportunity to contribute to the Council’s climate change agenda 
through habitat management and adaption along the route, 
including tree planting. 
 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
Subject to a successful asset transfer of the railway line to Council 
ownership, and identification of funding for the creation of a green 
travel corridor, it will be important to engage and consult the local 
community on its development. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
Refer to attached risk assessment 

 
Neil Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 
 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

**INSERT NAME OF ANY PAPERS AND  WEB LINKS” Sarah Porru 
Head of Regeneration 
sarah.porru@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
7. Detail 
 

Page 167



  

7.1 In 1849 the market town of Cheadle, population 3,000, was still without any 
form of rail transport. The North Staffordshire Railway had completed its Stoke 
to Derby line in 1848 and the Churnet Valley Line the following year but both 
of the lines missed the town, passing around 3.5 miles (5.6 km) to the south 
and north of Cheadle respectively. The people of the town, along with several 
mines on the Cheadle Coalfield, wanted a rail connection as a means of 
transporting their goods. It was not until 1888, that the Cheadle Railway, 
Mineral & Land Co. Ltd began construction of a branch line leaving the NSR 
line at Cresswell. However, the line to Cheadle didn’t open until 1901. 

7.2 The Cheadle extension was not in operation for long due to regular difficulties 
with keeping open the tunnel section and as a result construction of a new 
deviation line began in 1932 under new ownership which is the current 
alignment we see today. 

7.3 Passenger use of the line dwindling by the 1950s and slowly continued its  
decline up to  the final passenger train on the line ran in June 1963 as part of 
the Beeching Cuts on the national railways. Freight traffic from a nearby 
quarry continued to run until 1978. The last train to use the Cheadle line was a 
maintenance train in 1986. The junction with the main Stoke to Derby line was 
severed in 1989, which finally isolated the Cheadle branch from the national 
rail network. 

7.4 Today much of the line is used by pedestrians as an informal footpath. During 
the Covid 19 lockdowns in 2020/21 the popularity of the route soared 
considerably as walking became a popular local pursuit. There is an active 
local community Group “The Friends of Cheadle to Cresswell Railway Path” 
which provides information on how to access the path and organises path 
clearing days and other community activities to promote the use of the path. It 
is understood that an application is planned to be submitted to Staffordshire 
Country Council as Highway Authority to demonstrate that there is evidence to 
prove that the railway path should be designated as a Public Right of Way. 

The Strategic Case 

7.5 The Council has recently adopted its Local Plan and this is now in place 
guiding new and future development in the District.  The plan has a number of 
key objectives for the future property and health of the District which support 
and guide the development of new greenways: 

Objectives of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan: 

 SO6. To maintain and promote sustainable regenerated rural areas 
and communities with access to employment opportunities, housing 
and services for all. 

SO7. To protect, provide and enhance the tourism, cultural, sport and 
recreation and leisure opportunities for the District’s residents and 
visitors. 

SO8. To promote local distinctiveness by means of good design and 
the conservation, protection and enhancement of historic, 

Page 168



  

environmental and cultural assets throughout the District. 

SO9. To conserve and improve the character and distinctiveness of the 
countryside and its landscape, heritage, biodiversity and geological 
resources. 

SO10. To deliver sustainable, inclusive, healthy and safe communities. 

SO11. To reduce the need to travel or make it safer and easier to travel 
by more sustainable forms of transport. 

 

7.6 The Local Plan recognises that there will be opportunities to consider 
improvements in the transport infrastructure that go beyond the identified 
schemes and funding in the Integrated Transport Strategy and therefore has 
Local Plan Policy T2 to guide the development of other sustainable transport 
measures  and particular states the following: 

“2.  Continue to safeguard all existing disused railway lines within the 
District and support the reuse of these for public or commercial/tourism 
use. To this end the Council will refuse any development which would 
impede or truncate these routes. However, proposals for recreational 
routes, cycleways, bridleways etc will generally be acceptable.” 

7.7 In addition Policy C3 (Green Infrastructure) seeks to create access to the 
countryside, including through the implementation of the separate 
Staffordshire Moorlands Green infrastructure Strategy. This strategy is being 
prepared and identifies the disused railway from Cheadle to Cresswell as a 
Green Travel Corridor with proposals to investigate walking / cycling access. 

Current ownership of the railway line 

7.8 It is understood that the current freeholder of the railway line is the Department 
for Transport who in turn have a leaseholder agreement with Moorland and 
City Railways Limited which has seven years left on the lease. Recent activity 
by the leaseholder regarding the potential sale of parts of the disused railway 
to adjoining landowners has caused some concern about the impact that 
piecemeal ownership of the line could have on the strategic objective to 
establish the railway line as a greenway. However, approaches to the DFT 
have confirmed that whilst the DFT had been made aware of the sales offer 
from the leaseholder they would, in line with the established policy, provide the 
Council the opportunity to buy the railway (full or in part) before taking a 
decision to sell to another party (including the existing leaseholder). DFT are 
now engaging with the Council about the potential transfer of the asset before 
taking action in respect of the proposal by the existing leaseholder. 

Transfer of Public Assets 

7.9 Discussions with the Head of Estates and his team at the Department for 
Transport have commenced and are ongoing over the requirements of the 
Transfer of Public Assets process. These discussions have informed the 
content of this Cabinet Report. Department officials are aware that acceptance 

Page 169



  

of the recommendations in this  report will establish  the Council’s commitment 
to engage in the process of asset transfer with the DFT with a view to a further 
formal decision of the Cabinet, following the due diligence process, to consider 
whether or not to agree to the transfer of the railway to the Council’s 
ownership. 

   

 

7.10 The approach of the UK government to public asset transfers in England and 
Wales is set out in the policy and protocol document “Managing Public Money” 
(Appendix 1) , which established that public sector organisations may transfer 
property among themselves without placing the asset on the open market, 
provided they do so at market prices and in appropriate circumstances and 
comply the following guidelines: 

 
Protocol For Transfers Of Assets  

 
• Consult ePIMS to see if properties on the civil estate can be used. 
• Value assets at market prices using Royal Institute Chartered 
Surveyors’ Red Book (www.rics.org). 
• The original and prospective owners should work collaboratively to 
agree a price. It is good practice to commission a single independent 
valuation to settle the price to be paid. 
• The organisations should take legal advice, especially where 
sponsored organisations are involved as these may have specific legal 
requirements. 
• Consult the Government Property Unit of the Cabinet Office, who may 
be able to help with coordination. 
• The terms of transfer should not normally involve neither clawback 
(rights to share disposal proceeds) or overage (rights to share future 
profits on disposal) 
• As Local authorities are not part of the indivisible Crown a full 
investigation of legal title will be required. 

 
7.11 Department officials have instructed their lawyers to provide the Council with 

all land titles for the railway line of which there are 16 separate title 
documents, which will be reviewed in turn and assembled to get a clear picture 
of the footprint of the land subject to the transfer. Much of this land is 
unregistered and the deeds are copperplate, parchment documents, so 
collation and interpretation will be a painstaking exercise.   

 
7.12 Instruction has also been given to Highways England to provide the Council 

full disclosure of all relevant engineering and maintenance records held and 
any relevant correspondence with the Tenant,  all on a Without Warranty or 
Liability basis.  

 
 

Page 170



  

Risks and mitigation measures 
 
7.13 Refer to attached risk assessment 
 
 
Next steps 
 
7.14 Subsequent to a Cabinet decision to accept the recommendations in this 

report the following steps will be taken: 
 

a. To jointly commission an assessment of all the structures on the railway 
considering all existing relevant engineering and maintenance records, 

 
b. To undertake a structural & condition survey of structures to inform the 

Red Book valuation and current and future repair and maintenance 
requirements, 

 
c. To jointly commission a Red Book Valuation to inform the price of the 

Asset transfer, 
 

d. Upon satisfactory compliance with all aspects of the Protocol For Asset 
Transfer, to report back to Cabinet addressing the following matters: 

 

 The findings of the structural and condition survey and its implication 
for capital spend and timescale for spend on repair and 
maintenance of structures, 

 The agreed price for the Asset Transfer, 

 The legal obligations of ownership of the railway and to the current 
leaseholder, 

 The approach to maintaining the railway in its current state including 
cost implications (ie Tree works), 

 The approach to develop the business case to support investment 
and secure external funding for the creation of a public greenway. 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Cabinet 

 
29 June 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan and 
Neighbourhood Development Order 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Edwin Wain - Portfolio Holder for 
Planning, Development and Property 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Mark James - Principal Planning Officer 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Biddulph North, Biddulph Moor, Biddulph 
South, Biddulph East & Biddulph West 

 
 

Appendices Attached –  
 

 Appendix 1a&b Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan (Regulation 16) 

 Appendix 2 Neighbourhood Plan Consultation Statement 

 Appendix 3 Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions Statement 

 Appendix 4 Biddulph Parish Map (Neighbourhood Area) 

 Appendix 5 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening 
Assessment of Neighbourhood Plan 

 Appendix 6 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening 
Assessment of Neighbourhood Plan 

 Appendix 7 Neighbourhood Plan Screening Determination Statement 

 Appendix 8 Biddulph Town Centre Neighbourhood Development Order 

 Appendix 9 Neighbourhood Development Order Consultation Statement 

 Appendix 10 Neighbourhood Development Order Basic Conditions 
Statement  

 Appendix 11 Map of Area of Application of the Biddulph Town Centre 
Neighbourhood Development Order 

 Appendix 12 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening 
Assessment of Neighbourhood Development Order 

 Appendix 13 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening 
Assessment of Neighbourhood Development Order 

 Appendix 14 Neighbourhood Development Order Screening Determination 
Statement 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 173

Agenda Item 12.1



  

1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 To consider and approve the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan and 

Neighbourhood Development Order for consultation purposes. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Cabinet notes the proposals set out in the draft Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan, Neighbourhood Development Order and supporting 
documents. 
 

2.2 That the Cabinet approves the publication of the Biddulph Neighbourhood 
Plan and Neighbourhood Development Order for consultation purposes.  
 

2.3 That the Cabinet authorises the Head of Development Services to appoint an 
independent examiner in consultation with Biddulph Town Council. 
 

2.4 That the Cabinet notes the process and estimated timescales for taking the 
documents forward in line with the regulations.  

 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 A draft Neighbourhood Plan for Biddulph and Neighbourhood Development 

Order for Biddulph Town Centre have been prepared by Biddulph Town 
Council with the local community. The Neighbourhood Plan seek to set 
planning policy in the parish on a number of matters including design, housing 
and Local Green Space. A number of designations for Local Green Space are 
proposed. The Neighbourhood Development Order seeks to provide consent 
for replacement shop fronts within Biddulph Town Centre, provided they 
comply with specified requirements and conditions.  
 

3.2 The plans and supporting documents have now been submitted to the District 
Council to determine if they have met the necessary requirements in order for 
it to publish the plans for consultation. This report recommends that the 
Council determines that the requirements to proceed to public consultation 
have been met and that engagement should commence in July. It is also 
recommend that the District Council liaises with the Town Council to appoint 
an independent examiner to undertake an examination of the documents.  
 

3.3 After the examination, the Council must determine if the “basic conditions” 
have been met and if the documents should proceed to a referendum. If more 
than half of the number of votes cast in a subsequent referendum are in favour 
of the plan and Neighbourhood Development Order, the documents should be 
made by the Council and be used to determine planning applications in the 
Parish and to support relevant shop front proposals within the Neighbourhood 
Development Order area. 
 
 
 

 

Page 174



  

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 Given the broad nature of Neighbourhood Planning, there will be direct 

implications for all of the Council’s corporate priorities. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 Option 1 (recommended) – that the recommendations outlined in Section 2 of 

this report are supported. 
 
5.2 Option 2 (not recommended) - to find that the proposals do not comply with 

the requirements for a Neighbourhood Plan or Neighbourhood Development 
Order and thus to recommend that the plan is not taken forward for publication 
and examination. If Councillors were minded to refuse the submitted 
Neighbourhood Plan and/or Neighbourhood Development Order, the authority 
is required to notify the Town Council of the reasons for the refusal and to 
publicise its decision. This report concludes that the requirements have been 
met to enable the documents to be published for consultation.  

 
 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
None direct 
 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
None direct 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
The estimated future costs for the appointment of an independent 
examiner is £12,000 which is likely to be due in 2021/22. The cost 
of holding a referendum is also likely to be over £10,000. 
Depending on how quickly the documents progress, this cost may 
be incurred in 2021/22 or 2022/23. 
 
It is understood that the New Burdens funding arrangements for 
2021/22 have yet to be confirmed. However, in 2020/21, LPAs 
were able to claim £20,000 for Neighbourhood Development 
Orders once a Decision Statement had been published by the LPA 
confirming its intention to send the order to referendum. £20,000 

Page 175



  

was claimed by the Council in 2020/21 to support the Leekfrith 
Neighbourhood Plan referendum. It is expected that a surplus from 
this grant can contribute towards the costs in Biddulph but this has 
yet to be confirmed. In either case, the costs of the examiner and 
referendum will be largely covered by external funding. 
 
If not covered via external funding – the costs will need to be 
absorbed from within the Development Services revenue budget.   
 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The Council must consider the draft plan and order against the 
statutory requirements set out in paragraph 6 of Schedule 4B of the 
Town and County Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) set out provisions for the preparation of Neighbourhood 
Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders.  
 
These matters are considered in Section 7 of this report.  
 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
The draft Neighbourhood Plan contains several policies which will 
help to address climate change and it impacts. These include 
Policy NE1 Natural Environment Features, INF3 Community 
Infrastructure and DES1 Design. 
 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
The draft Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood Development 
Order have been subject to pre-submission public consultation by 
the Town Council as described in Section 7 of this report. Approval 
is now sought for further public consultation on the documents to 
be led by the District Council for a minimum period of six weeks. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
Risks are considered in the report. 
 

 
Neil Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 
 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1178/Neighbo
urhood-planning 
 

Mark James 
Principal Planning Officer 
mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk 

Page 176

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1178/Neighbourhood-planning
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1178/Neighbourhood-planning


  

https://biddulph.co.uk/neighbourhood-plan/ 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
7. Detail 
 
 Background 
 
 
7.1 On 16 February 2016, the District Council designated Biddulph Parish as a 

Neighbourhood Area following an application from the Town Council. Since 
that time, Biddulph Town Council has been developing two planning 
documents to help shape the future of the Parish, namely the Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan and a Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) for 
Biddulph Town Centre. A Working Group comprising of members of the Town 
Council and local residents have assisted the process along with a planning 
consultant appointed by the Town Council. Advice and assistance has also 
been provided by the District Council.  

 
7.2 Both documents have been informed by public consultation and engagement 

with the community and stakeholders and led by the Town Council. Members 
of the neighbourhood planning team have attended meetings of Residents 
Associations, meetings with young people, health groups, and other local 
organisations. A householder questionnaire was circulated in December 2017 
and completed forms were returned by over 1,200 households in the town. 
Separate consultation on potential Local Green Space designations were 
undertaken in 2018 and 2019.  

7.3 Formal public consultation was undertaken in September  – November 2019 
by the Town Council on the draft Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood 
Development Order respectively. Details of all the consultations undertaken by 
the Town Council are provided in their Consultation Statements for the 
respective document (Appendix 2 and 9).  

7.4 In February 2021, the Town Council submitted the draft Neighbourhood Plan 
and Neighbourhood Development Order along with supporting documents to 
the District Council to determine if they have met the necessary requirements 
to proceed to further public consultation to be held by the District Council 
under regulation 16. 

 
Proposals 

 
7.5 The draft Neighbourhood Plan (Appendix 1) proposes planning policies for 

the whole of Biddulph Parish (Appendix 4). If the plan is ultimately “made” 
following a successful referendum, it will form part of the statutory 
development plan for the District alongside the Staffordshire Moorlands local 
Plan (adopted September 2020).  

Page 177

https://biddulph.co.uk/neighbourhood-plan/


  

 
7.6 The draft Neighbourhood Plan is intended to cover the period up to 2035 and 

provides a Vision and Aims for the Parish alongside 17 planning policies which 
relate to tourism, guidance for the development of sites, community facilities, 
the natural environment, Local Green Space, the urban edge, the Biddulph 
Valley Way, the protection of important local views, housing, infill housing, 
critical road junctions, sustainable drainage, community infrastructure, design, 
public realm, parking and movement. The plan seeks to allocate 75 Local 
Green Spaces in addition to the 9 already designated in the Local Plan.  

 
7.7 The Neighbourhood Plan has been informed by consultation feedback and 

technical evidence, including; a Housing Needs Assessment, a Town Centre 
Masterplan Framework, ecological mapping, landscape and flood risk.  

 
7.8 The draft Neighbourhood Development Order (Appendix 8) seeks to 

remove the need to apply for planning permission for reinstatement of 
shopfronts within a defined area of the town centre of Biddulph (Appendix 11). 
Specifically, part 1 of the NDO seeks to permit the following development, 
subject to the associated parameters and conditions being met. These include 
specifications for design, stallrisers, pilasters, materials, panelling, facias, 
lighting, shutters and canopies. The Order only applies to commercial 
buildings. Proposals must not the include the modification, enlargement or 
making-smaller of the existing shopfront opening  Limitations also apply. 
These include the fact that other consents for as for listed buildings, 
advertisements or regulatory approvals are not covered by the Order and must 
be dealt with separately if required.  

 
“The replacement of a shopfront in an existing opening on the ground floor 
frontage of commercial premises, providing the new shopfront meets the 
following design parameters. 
 

 
7.9 The intention of the NDO is to support the regeneration and economic 

development of Biddulph Town Centre by assisting with environmental 
improvements. It is proposed that the NDO will be in effect for 4 years but it 
will be monitored during this period to determine if updates are needed.  

 
 

Submission documents 
 

7.10 As outlined above,  and in accordance with Regulations 15 and 22, the Town 
Council has prepared Consultation Statements for submission to the District 
Council regarding the Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood Development 
Order (Appendix 2 and 9). The Statements set out: details of people and 
organisations consulted, how they were consulted, a summary of the main 
issues and concerns raised, a description of how these issues and concerns 
were considered. Maps are also provide to identify the areas to which the 
Neighbourhood Plan and NDO relate. 

7.11 Neighbourhood Plans and NDO’s must meet certain basic conditions before 
they can proceed to referendum. Whether or not the documents have met 

Page 178



  

these conditions must be checked by the District Council and will be tested by 
an independent examiner. Basic Conditions Statements for the 
Neighbourhood Plan and NDO have also been prepared and submitted by the 
Town Council (Appendix 3 and 10). The Statements set out, in the view of the 
Town Council, how each of the basic conditions have been met. The basic 
conditions for a Neighbourhood Plan are that it must: 

 have appropriate regard to national policy; 

 contribute to the achievement of sustainable development; 

 be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan 
(Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan) 

 be compatible with EU obligations, including human rights requirements. 

7.12  In addition to the above, NDO’s must also comply with the following basic 
conditions: 

 having special regard to the desirability of preserving any listed building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest that it 
possesses, it is appropriate to make the order 

 having special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of any conservation area, it is appropriate to make 
the order. 

 

7.13 As part of the District Council’s duty to check conformity of the draft 
documents with the basic conditions, screening assessments have been 
prepared to determine whether a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) of the Plan or NDO is required under the Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes Regulations (Appendix 6 and 13) and whether a 
Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Plan or NDO is required 
under the EU Habitats Directive (Appendix 5 and 12). Screening reports have 
been sent to the statutory consultation bodies: Historic England, Natural 
England and the Environment Agency for their opinion. 

7.14 Subsequently, Screen Determination Statements have been published by the 
District Council for both the Neighbourhood Plan and NDO which both 
conclude that both documents are unlikely to lead to significant environmental 
effects and therefore a Strategic Environmental Assessment is not required. In 
addition, neither document likely to have an adverse effect on any European 
site, both alone and in combination with other plans and projects and therefore 
further Habitats Regulations Assessments are not required. 

7.15 The Basic Conditions Statements also refer to the outcome of the District 
Council’s Screen Assessments.  Compatibility with EU obligations and human 
rights is also addressed in the statements. Equalities Impact Assessments 
have been prepared by the Town Council and District Council. 

Page 179



  

 
Role of the Council and procedural requirements 

 
7.16 When a draft neighbourhood plan or Order is submitted to a local planning 

authority, it must consider it against the statutory requirements set out in 
paragraph 6 of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). The Act should be read alongside the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended). The Council has to be satisfied 
that a basic condition statement has been submitted by the Town or Parish 
Council. However, at this current stage, it is not required to consider whether 
the draft plan or order meets the basic conditions. The District Council can 
only draw such conclusions following receipt of the independent examiner’s 
report.  

 
7.17 When the Council considers that the draft neighbourhood plan or Order meets 

the requirements in the legislation, it must publicise the documents for a 
minimum of 6 weeks, invite representations, notify any consultation body 
referred to in the consultation statements and send the draft neighbourhood 
plan or Order to independent examination in accordance with the regulations. 

 
7.18 Having reviewed the submitted documents, it is considered that the draft 

neighbourhood plan and NDO have met all of the necessary requirements to 
enable them to proceed to public consultation. A summary of these 
requirements and how they have been met for each document is set out 
below. 

 
 Neighbourhood plan compliance  
 

Requirement Compliance  

Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012  (Reg 15.). The Qualifying 
Body (Town Council) must submit: 
 

a) map / statement which identifies the 

area  

b) consultation statement  

c) Proposed Neighbourhood Dev Plan 

d) Statement of ‘Basic Conditions’ (how 

proposed Neighbourhood Plan meets 

requirements of paragraph 8 of 

Schedule 4B to the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990)  

e) I) environmental assessment or ii) 

where it has been determined the 

plan is unlikely to have significant 

environmental effects so does not 

require assessment, a statement of 

reasons for the determination  

 

a) Submitted. See Appendix 4 and p.12 
of Neighbourhood Plan (Appendix 1) 

b) Submitted. See Appendix 2. The 
Consultation Statement provides the 
necessary details; details of persons 
consulted, how they were consulted, 
a summary of the main issues and 
how they have been considered. 

c) Submitted. See Appendix 1. 
d) Submitted. See Appendix 3 
e) Submitted. See Basic Conditions 

Statement (Appendix 3) and 
Appendix 6/7. 

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Schedule 4B paragraph 6 and  The Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Section 

1a. A plan has been submitted that meets the 
definition of a neighbourhood plan. It sets out 
policies which relate to the use of land. A plan 

Page 180

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/10/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/10/enacted


  

38B (where relevant). 
 

(1)This paragraph applies if— 

(a)a proposal has been made to a local 

planning authority, and 

(b)the authority have not exercised their 

powers under paragraph 5 to decline to 

consider it. 

(2)The authority must consider— 

(a)whether the qualifying body is authorised 

for the purposes of a neighbourhood 

development order to act in relation to the 

neighbourhood area concerned as a result of 

section 61F, 

(b)whether the proposal by the body complies 

with provision made by or under that section, 

(c)whether the proposal and the documents 

and information accompanying it (including 

the draft neighbourhood development order) 

comply with provision made by or under 

paragraph 1, and 

(d)whether the body has complied with the 

requirements of regulations made under 

paragraph 4 imposed on it in relation to the 

proposal. 

period is specified. The plan does not make 
provision for “excluded development”

1
. The 

plan does not relate to more than one 
neighbourhood area.  
1b. The plan has not been declined as it is 
not a repeat proposal. 
 
2a. The Town Council is authorised to act in 
the neighbourhood area.  
2b. Yes, the proposal is a Neighbourhood 
Plan. 
2c. n/a  
2d. Reg. 14 of the 2012 Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) regulations have been 
complied with regarding pre-submission 
public consultation (Appendix 2). 
 
 

 
  Neighbourhood Development Order compliance 
 
 

Requirement Compliance  

Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012  (Reg. 22). The Qualifying 
Body (Town Council) must submit: 

(a)a map which identifies the land to which 

the order proposal relates; 

a) Submitted. See p. 5 of the NDO 
(Appendix  8) and Appendix 11. 

b) Submitted. See Appendix 9. The 
Consultation Statement provides the 
necessary details; details of persons 
consulted, how they were consulted, 
a summary of the main issues and 

                                            
1
 Excluded development includes: development that consists of a county matter e.g. relating to 

minerals; any operation relating to waste development; development falling within Annex 1 to Council 
Directive 85/337/EEC (Environmental Impact Assessment) e.g. oil refineries, power stations, 
radioactive waste disposal, motorways, airports, toxic and dangerous waste disposal; or a nationally 
significant infrastructure project. 

Page 181



  

(b)a consultation statement; 

(c)the proposed neighbourhood development 

order or community right to build order; 

(d)where the qualifying body considers it 

appropriate, following consultation with the 

Historic Buildings and Monument Commission 

for England (known as English Heritage), an 

archaeology statement; 

(e)a statement explaining how the proposed 

neighbourhood development order or a 

community right to build order meets the 

basic conditions in paragraph 8(2) of 

Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act;  

 

how they have been considered. 
c) Submitted. See Appendix 8. 
d) An archaeology statement has not 

been submitted as it is not deemed 
necessary by the Town Council. The 
Historic Environment Record 
provides not indication of designated 
or non-designated archaeology within 
the NDO area.  The Basic Conditions 
Statement sets out how listed 
buildings and conservation areas 
have been considered. The 
Consultation Statement sets out that 
Historic England had no adverse 
comments to make on the NDO. 

e) Submitted. See Appendix 10.  

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Schedule 4B paragraph 6  
 

(1)This paragraph applies if— 

(a)a proposal has been made to a local 

planning authority, and 

(b)the authority have not exercised their 

powers under paragraph 5 to decline to 

consider it. 

(2)The authority must consider— 

(a)whether the qualifying body is authorised 

for the purposes of a neighbourhood 

development order to act in relation to the 

neighbourhood area concerned as a result of 

section 61F, 

(b)whether the proposal by the body complies 

with provision made by or under that section, 

(c)whether the proposal and the documents 

and information accompanying it (including 

the draft neighbourhood development order) 

comply with provision made by or under 

paragraph 1, and 

(d)whether the body has complied with the 

1a. A Neighbourhood Development Order 
has been submitted to the District Council 
1b. The plan has not been declined. 
 
2a. The Town Council is authorised to act in 
the neighbourhood area.  
2b. Yes, the proposal accords with the 
requirements under s61F of the 1990 Act 
which largely relates to neighbourhood 
forums.  
2c. The submission complies with the 
provisions of paragraph 1 of schedule 4B in 
terms of the prescribed form, prior 
consultation and supporting information. 
2d. The 2012 Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) regulations have been complied 
with regarding pre-submission public 
consultation (Appendix 9). 
 
3.The order is compliant with s61E(2), 61J 
and 61L of the 1990 Act in that it relates to 
the defined area, it does not relate to 
“excluded development”, it does not grant 
consent for any development in any particular 
case where planning permission is already 
granted for that development in that case. 
 

Page 182



  

requirements of regulations made under 

paragraph 4 imposed on it in relation to the 

proposal. 

3)The authority must also consider whether 

the draft neighbourhood development order 

complies with the provision made by or under 

sections 61E(2), 61J and 61L. 

 
 
 
Next steps 
 
7.19  An indicative timetable for the next steps in the process is set out below. 

Subject to the approval of this report, public consultation will commence in 
July. In parallel, the District and Town Council will seek to appoint an 
independent examiner. Unlike the Local Plans or planning appeals process, 
the Planning Inspectorate do not consider neighbourhood plans or NDOs. 
Instead, the two Councils must appoint an independent and suitably qualified 
examiner of their choosing.  

 
7.20 As highlighted in this report, following the receipt of the examiner’s report, the 

Council  must decide if thinks that the basic conditions and legislative 
requirements have been met for the plan to proceed to referendum. If more 
than half of the number of votes cast in a subsequent referendum is in favour 
of the plan and NDO, the documents should be made by the Council and be 
used to determine planning applications in the Parish and to support relevant 
shop front proposals within the NDO area.  

 
 

Stage Timescale (estimated) 

Cabinet approval for consultation 29th June 2021 

Public consultation (plan and NDO)  15th July – 27th August 2021 

Appoint Examiner Summer 2021 

Submission of Plan and NDO to 
Examiner 

Summer 2021 

Examination Autumn 2021 

Decision on Examiner’s 
Recommendations 

Winter 2021/22 

Publication of Examiner’s Report and 
Plan Proposal and NDO Decisions 

Winter 2021/22 

Referendum, plan made and published Spring 2022 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



Biddulph
Neighbourhood Development Plan

February 2020

Regulation 16 DraftPage 185



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N2

Contents

PART 1 ........................................................................ 3
Introduction

Vision and Aims

PART 2 ........................................................................ 6
Context and General Data about the Parish:

• Strategic Context

• Land Use

• Socio-Economic Context

• Infrastructure and Community Facilities

• Tourism and Leisure

• Environment

• Heritage

PART 3 ...................................................................... 43
Community and Stakeholder Engagement

PART 4 ...................................................................... 48
Local Green Space Designations

Draft Policies

Details of the Neighbourhood Development Order

PART 5 ...................................................................... 84
Non-Planning Issues

APPENDICES  ........................................................... 86

Page 186



S E P T E M B E R 2019 3

Part 1

Page 187



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N4

I NT R O D U CT I O N

The Town of Biddulph was granted Neighbourhood Plan status on 16 February 2016. 

The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan sets out a series of policies which, once made, will be used to guide 
development and the preparation of planning applications. The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan will form part 
of the statutory development plan for the area, together with the adopted Core Strategy March 2014 and the 
emerging Local Plan (when the latter is adopted). The policies will be used by Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council in determining planning applications for all development proposals in the Biddulph Neighbourhood 
Plan area.

The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan will expire in 2035.

A number of projects have been identified during the development process and these will be detailed in a 
separate Delivery Plan document for Biddulph Town Council, which will be based on the made Neighbourhood 
Plan. The Delivery Plan will be monitored on a regular basis and reviewed annually.

The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan aims to deliver the Vision for Biddulph to 2035, in order to reflect the 
issues raised by the local community. Biddulph Town Council has committed to ensuring that data is regularly 
refreshed and that policies and practices mirror the priorities identified by groups and individuals working in 
the town and the wider community. The Plan was developed by the community, the people who know and love 
the area, to ensure that the right types of development happen in the right place.

Biddulph, from Mow Cop

Page 188



PA RT O N E 5

V I S I O N A N D A I M S

VISION
The Garden Town of Staffordshire is recognised as such by all who live in, work in or visit our parish. It is seen 
to have a rich history and positive future where the wellbeing and prosperity of all is nurtured and valued. 
Development is planned for the benefit of the community; particularly in terms of design, infrastructure, 
sustainability and green spaces.

AIMS
1.  Protect the rural setting and character, promoting the ‘Garden Town of Staffordshire’.

2.  Identify all local heritage structures and monuments, understanding their history, our culture and   
 encouraging responsible tourism.

3.  Promote the local economy, aiming for prosperity for all.

4.  Hold the wellbeing of our community at our core.

5.  Understand our housing needs and encourage creative and thoughtful sustainable design.

6.  Improve our infrastructure where required.

7.  Care for and enhance the natural environment, countryside, Green Belt and open spaces, ensuring that  
 habitats and wildlife thrive.

POLICY MATRIX

AIMS: 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Policies:

HCT1: Enterprise and Tourism Development    

LE1: Albion Mill Conversion    

LE2: Mills Triangle Policy Area   

CF1: New Community Facilities   

CF2: Existing Community Facilities   

NE1: Natural Environment Features    

NE2: Urban Edge  

NE3: Local Green Space   

NE4: Biddulph Valley Way     

NE5: Protection of Views of Local Importance 

HOU1: Housing   

HOU2: Infill Housing  

INF1: Critical Road Junctions   

INF2: Sustainable Drainage    

INF3: Community Infrastructure       

DES1: Design     

DES2: Public Realm, Car Parking and Movement    

Page 189



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N6

Part 2

Page 190



PA RT T W O 7

C O NT E X T A N D G E N E R A L D ATA A B O U T T H E PA R I S H

The purpose of this section is to provide background information in relation to Biddulph, but also to provide an 
honest assessment of the issues and challenges that face the town. This context explains the rationale for the 
creation of the policies contained in Part 4. A number of maps have been developed throughout the creation of 
the Neighbourhood Plan. These maps and the methodologies that underpin them, are included at  
www.biddulph.co.uk The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group seeks to continuously update, enhance and 
interpret mapping information and will update this on the website, as appropriate.

STRATEGIC CONTEXT 
Biddulph lies in the north-west corner of the Staffordshire Moorlands District and near to the southern 
boundary of Cheshire. Prior to the Local Government Act 1972 and the consequent changes in 1974, Biddulph 
was an independent industrial town serving the surrounding rural area. Due to the topography, transport links 
developed north to Cheshire and south to Stoke-on-Trent rather than eastwards to connect with the rest of the 
Staffordshire Moorlands. However, both Leek and Cheadle, the other Staffordshire Moorlands towns, have an 
industrial/rural heritage providing some unifying similarities in character, even though transport connections 
between Biddulph and the other two towns remain poor.

The major transport route both north and south is the A527. Congleton is reached first in the northerly 
direction. Roads can then be taken west to the M6 or north to Macclesfield and Manchester. In the southerly 
direction, the A527 links up with the A500 and then to the M6 south. Roads east and west are rural in nature 
and heavy goods vehicles heading for the Staffordshire Moorlands need to take circuitous main road routes. 
The nearest railway station is Congleton, although Kidsgrove and Stoke-on-Trent are easily accessible and 
access to Manchester and London is relatively quick. National Cycle Route 55 passes through the town on the 
track-bed of the old railway line.

Demographically, Staffordshire Moorlands is progressing towards an ageing population. The proportion of over 
65’s is increasing and the proportion of young people decreasing. The largest age groups are: 40-49,50-59 and 
60-69. There is a high level of employment and the level of category C2 (skilled manual workers) is 4% higher 
than the national average. Some 70% of workers travel out of Staffordshire Moorlands to work and household 
income is above average for the area. Benefits claimants are 10% lower than the rest of Staffordshire and 
20% lower than the national average. Over 80% of households own their property outright or have a mortgage, 
whilst 18% rent from social or private landlords. Housing in Biddulph ranges from pre-1919 terraces, an estate 
built for miners, post 1970 housing estates and  rural farmsteads to executive homes. 

Biddulph is situated in a valley rising from north to south. The highest part at Mill Hayes, Knypersley is a 
watershed, where streams flow north to find their way to the Irish Sea and others flow south to the North Sea. 
To the west of Biddulph the land rises to Congleton Edge and to the east Biddulph Moor. Biddulph Moor is 
also the name of a village situated on the upland plateau and part of the parish of Biddulph. Other historical 
villages now incorporated into Biddulph include Brown Lees, Gillow Heath, Knypersley and Bradley Green. 
Biddulph is a town where the surrounding landscape and green spaces are highly valued.  Recent Green Belt 
reviews in 2015-2017 (see map on page 9) have caused great concern amongst residents and there is a need 
to balance development alongside the very features that make Biddulph a lovely place to live.  The Green Belt, 
which constrains the town, performs a vital role in both ensuring that the rural nature of this town is preserved 
with views maintained out into the countryside, and that the town does not sprawl and become part of a 
wider urban conurbation.  The latter is especially important between Biddulph and Biddulph Moor village, the 
south and eastern edges towards Stoke-on-Trent and along the ridge between Biddulph and Congleton.  In the 
Householder Questionnaire, 93% of respondents stated that it was very important (71%) or important (22%) 
that any development in Biddulph was designed to fit with the existing environment, heritage and the valley 
nature of the area.

Page 191



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N8

The surrounding rural areas are generally used for livestock farming or equine activities. Biddulph is known 
nationally for the Biddulph Grange Garden, the foremost example of a Victorian garden, administered by the 
National Trust. Biddulph Old Hall has recently been recognised as an Elizabethan building of some importance. 
There is a strong voluntary sector within the town and the ‘Biddulph in Bloom’ team have worked on many 
projects within the town that have enhanced the area and attracted national recognition for excellence. In 
2019, Biddulph was awarded a Gold award and was the winner of the Large Town Category in the RHS National 
‘In Bloom’ competition. 

The landscape of the Staffordshire Moorlands varies from rugged gritstone outcrops and open moorland 
at the Roaches, the Cloud and Congleton Edge, to steep sided wooded valleys in the south, the extremes 
connected together by the valley of the River Churnet. In the east, the underlying rock changes from gritstone 
to limestone with its characteristic caves and disappearing rivers. In the west, the Biddulph valley rises to Mow 
Cop and Congleton Edge, the last ridge before the flat Cheshire Plain. Staffordshire Moorlands is noted for the 
scenic beauty of the landscape, in all its forms. 

Although there is little evidence today, the Biddulph Valley was a hive of industrial activity in the past. Coal, iron 
ore, whetstone, sand and stone have all been extracted from the ground. Former industrial and commercial 
success has left a legacy of two country parks: Biddulph Grange Country Park lies next to the gardens of the 
same name and Greenway Bank Country Park surrounds Knypersley Reservoir and the Serpentine Lake.

Surveys of local residents have consistently identified that the reason people choose to live in the town is 
because of the countryside surrounding it. 

• In the 2011 Big Biddulph Survey, people were asked what they liked about living in Biddulph.  The highest  
 response was being ‘Near to the countryside / great views’ (27%).  

• This was further supported by the Householder Questionnaire carried out in 2017 where 97% of respondents  
 gave clear evidence that the view and links to the countryside are what they most like about living here (83%  
 strongly agree, 14% agree).  

The policies in the Neighbourhood Plan seek to ensure that development in and around the town does not 
erode this natural asset as it is the main reason people choose to live here.

Page 192



PA RT T W O 9

BIDDULPH

Below is a map of the Green Belt within the Staffordshire Moorlands, considered as part of the 2015-17  
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) Green Belt Review.

SMDC Green Infrastructure Strategy, May 2018

Page 193



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N10

L A N D U S E
Land use within Biddulph and the surrounding area has been largely controlled by the geography of the valley.  
Recent mapping by Staffordshire Ecological Record (see table below) reveals that the two dominant land uses 
are improved grassland (61%), and built-up areas and gardens.  Broadleaved woodland contributes 9% whilst 
less than 2% is used as arable land.  A number of important habitats are also found within the plan area (see 
map below).

Reference:  Staffordshire Ecological Record Habitat Map, March 2019

BIDDULPH SETTLEMENT HABITAT DESCRIPTION
• Biddulph is a town that lies mainly within the Ancient Slopes and Valley Farmlands character area, but it  
 is contained along its northern extent by the Gritstone Uplands which lead to the Gritstone Highland Fringe  
 beyond;

• The town is set within a valley contained by Mow Cop ridge to the west and in the far east by Lask Edge  
 ridge. There is a minor ridge between Biddulph and Lask Edge along which there is a line of rocky outcrops  
 that contain the eastern edge of the important landscape setting to the east of the settlement; 

• South East of Biddulph the landscape is characterised by a series of wooded stream valleys with large scale  
 fields with strong hedgeline boundaries and scattered rocky outcrops to higher ground;

• The Staffordshire Way Gritstone Trail follows the Mow Cop ridgeline to the west of the town with connecting  
 footpaths into Biddulph; 

• West of the town, strong vegetation along streamlines runs down the slope from the Mow Cop ridgeline with  
 incised lanes. This area of landscape is important to the settlement;

• The Biddulph Inner Relief Road forms a strong edge to the south west of the town the land that falls away  
 steeply from it to the east is part of the landscape setting for the settlement.

Page 194



PA RT T W O 11

BIDDULPH MOOR SETTLEMENT HABITAT DESCRIPTION 
• Biddulph Moor is a medium sized village that lies between the Gritstone Uplands and the Ancient Slope and  
 Valley Farmlands character area;

• The townscape is a mixture of stone dwellings with a large number of modern brick dwellings;

• The village is relatively flat but sited high on the Lask Edge and the land rises to a ridge line east of the  
 village;

• The landscape setting is important to the village, particularly where the more open upland, characterised by  
 drystone walls and lack of trees, contrasts with the stronger vegetational pattern along streamlines and the  
 environs of the historic parkland.

KEY HABITAT CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PARISH
• Ancient slope and valley farmlands;

• Gritstone Highland Fringe;

• Gritstone Uplands

Biddulph Habitat Map

Page 195



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N12
Page 196



PA RT T W O 13

S O C I O-E C O N O M I C C O NT E X T

DEMOGRAPHIC OVERVIEW OF BIDDULPH
In the Census of 2011, the five wards of Biddulph had a population of 19,892.

Biddulph Town Centre is focused along the central High Street and Tunstall Road. There is a large Sainsbury’s 
in the centre of the town, which is accessible via the Inner Relief Road and attracts customers from a  
wide area. 

There are a range of disused and vacant shops in the town centre. The lack of variety of shops, vacant 
shops and inactive frontages, lack of accessibility due to one-way streets, lack of legibility and way-finding, 
has degraded the urban fabric of the Town Centre. This is exacerbated by a lack of night time economy and 
unattractive urban environment.

Biddulph is the second largest settlement in the District.  It has suffered from economic decline and includes 
the Biddulph East Ward, an area of high deprivation.  The strategic aim in recent years has been to enhance the 
role of Biddulph as a significant service centre and a garden town, surrounded by a visible rural hinterland.

Biddulph Parish Boundary

Page 197



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N14

P O P U L AT I O N P R O F I L E  A N D I N C O M E S

AGE STRUCTURE 
Below is presented the age structure of Biddulph at the time of the last census. Together with Staffordshire 
Moorlands, the structure exhibits a weighting towards a more elderly population, with roughly 18% of residents 
aged 65 and over. Nevertheless, the combined populations of those aged between 25-44 and 45-64 is around 
53% of the population. Heads of household falling into these age categories are most likely to have children, 
this suggests the largest household type will be families with children. The fact that around 17% of the 
population are aged between 0-15 supports this finding. 

Source: Census 2011, AECOM Calculations

Page 198



PA RT T W O 15

Source: Census 2011, AECOM Calculations

HOUSEHOLD COMPOSITION
Below is data relating to household composition drawn from Census 2011. The largest single household type 
is families with children; the combined total of those with children, dependent and non-dependent, comes to 
37.1%. It is important to point out however the presence of similarly large minority of childless couples; those 
families without children, both aged 65+ and younger than 65, amount to 31.8% of all households. Finally, one 
person households represent 27.2% of the total.

  Biddulph Staffordshire 
Moorlands England

One-person 
household Total 27.2% 28.1% 30.2%

 Aged 65 and over 13.3% 13.5% 12.4%

 Other 13.9% 14.6% 17.9%

One family only Total 68.9% 67.9% 61.8%

 All aged 65 and over 11.4% 11.3% 8.1%

 With no children 20.4% 20.8% 17.6%

 With dependent 
children 25.5% 24.5% 26.5%

 All children  
Non-Dependent 11.6% 11.2% 9.6%

Other household 
types Total 3.9% 4.0% 8.0%

• The ‘all children non-dependent’ category should be considered in the context of concealed households.  
 Growth (previously 7.3% in 2001) in this category acts as an indicator of depressed household formation  
 rates as young people are unable to move out of the parental home as a result of a weak supply of suitable  
 affordable accommodation. 

• Evidence suggesting the loss of younger households, and depressed household formation rates reinforces  
 key findings, which are:

• Overall, a loss of households of working age; 

• A substantial loss of dwellings in multiple occupation (a couple and one or more other adults);

• A modest increase in lone parent households with 1-3 dependent children;

• A modest decline in family households with 1-3 dependent children; 

• A very substantial increase in couples without children who are aged 65+;

• A decline of couples under the age of 65 without children; and 

• A substantial increase in one person households.

• It is worth drawing a comparison with the most up-to-date data for the District level, which indicates that  
 affordability has been deteriorating as the housing market recovers. However, the evidence gathered   
 suggests that in Biddulph, properties are relatively affordable compared with dwellings in Staffordshire  
 Moorlands as a whole.

Page 199



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N16

HOUSEHOLD INCOME
It is likely that residents with an income below £25,000 will struggle to afford market rents; this amounts to 
3,772 households or 43% (rounded) of all households. Similarly, we can assume that all households whose 
household income falls below £30,000 will be unable to access market housing for sale. This amounts to 
4,591 or 52% (rounded) of all households. This is a crude indicator of affordability given that many prospective 
purchasers will have access to other sources of finance.   

From the evidence gathered, it is clear that a substantial proportion of households are unable to access 
market housing without financial assistance to ensure eligibility for lending. Those on low incomes, including 
the majority of first-time buyers, will be unable to find suitable accommodation within the market. 

Source: CACI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME AVERAGES

• Household income data for Biddulph in 2017 shows  the mean (average) household income in Biddulph was  
 £35,071 and the mean house price in the area was £164,633 .

HOUSEHOLD INCOME

Source: CACI

Page 200



PA RT T W O 17

Source: Census 2001/NLP Analysis

• Biddulph exists within its own identifiable sub-area; this means it will have particular characteristics that  
 distinguish it from other parts of the District and wider area.
• Biddulph exhibits linkages with a large geographical area, for example, a strong economic dependency on  
 Stoke-on-Trent. Demand for housing will originate from across the sub-region, rather than being contained  
 within the town or indeed the wider District; this will translate into house-price growth as a result of   
 competition for housing from people migrating into the area. Moreover, it must be assumed that some  
 housing need in Biddulph will be satisfied by urbanised areas within the sub-region, for example people  
 choosing to move into towns nearby;

E M P LOY M E NT T R E N D S
TRAVEL TO WORK COMMUTING FLOW

Page 201



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N18

R E S I D E NT S W H O A R E E C O N O M I C A L LY A CT I V E
ECONOMIC ACTIVITY IN BIDDULPH, 2011

Economic category  Biddulph Staffordshire 
Moorlands England

Economically active Total 67.4% 69.3% 69.9%

 Employee: Full-time 38.2% 38.1% 38.6%

 Employee: Part-time 14.2% 14.6% 13.7%

 Self-employed 9.2% 11.3% 9.8%

 Unemployed 3.3% 2.8% 4.4%

 Full-time student 2.5% 2.5% 3.4%
Economically  

Inactive Total 32.6% 30.7% 30.1%

 Retired 19.6% 19.1% 13.7%

 Student 3.4% 3.3% 5.8%

 Looking after home 
or family 3.6% 2.9% 4.4%

 Long-term sick or 
disabled 4.7% 4.1% 4.1%

 Other 1.4% 1.3% 2.2%

Source: AECOM Calculations

From the table above, 67% of residents are economically active. The proportion of people who are retired 
provides further evidence of the ageing population in Biddulph and across the District. These households are 
an important part of the population. 

The evidence of decline in the economically active population is amplified at the District level through 
forecasts suggesting the overall loss of working age households. The objective should be to maintain Biddulph 
as a working as well as retired community, able to sustain the businesses, services and facilities essential 
to thriving community life.  The needs of families should be prioritised, firstly so as to retain a balanced 
population in future years, but also so as to capitalise on the area’s natural appeal to them. 

Page 202



PA RT T W O 19

I N F R A S T R U CT U R E A N D C O M M U N IT Y FA C I L IT I E S
The main priorities for INFRASTRUCTURE AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES identified in Biddulph are  
identified as follows:

• Improve to highways within Biddulph and improve connectivity to the wider area;

• Increase provision of sustainable transport alternatives to move about the town;

• Improve the public transport offer;

• Support the provision of public services for the town;

• Provide sustainable drainage in anticipation of climate change and to alleviate existing flooding;

• Preserve the existing community facilities and assets within the town;

• Develop infrastructure projects that will enhance and encourage the usage of green spaces within 
 the town.

O B S E R VAT I O N S F R O M C O M M U N IT Y F E E D B A C K
Following analysis of data collected by agencies, the householder questionnaire and a piece of work 
commissioned by Biddulph Town Council in relation to a range of Highways issues within the area, a number 
of observations have been made about actions necessary to improve transport links across Biddulph and to 
the wider area, which will include improvements to the Town Centre and A527. (Chart over the page).

1  Improvements to the A527 corridor will require work to improve traffic flows to both the North and South of  
 the town, facilitated by working with other local authorities.

2 Key junctions along the A527 have been identified that will require improvements following the public  
 consultation and traffic surveys, before any new developments can commence.  

3 Work to improve traffic flows within the Town Centre will need to be prioritised, with consideration given to  
 altering the existing one-way system and possible partial pedestrianisation of the Town Centre, which was  
 supported by 55% of respondents to the Householder Questionnaire.   

4 Provision of sustainable transport alternatives as part of Community Infrastructure involve  the reduction of  
 congestion within the Town Centre and surrounding areas by promoting alternatives to car usage, including  
 improvements to public transport, encouraging cycling, promoting usage of public footpaths and the   
 Biddulph Valley Way.

5 Public transport improvements are essential in order to encourage greater usage; currently 52.77% of  
 respondents to the Householder Questionnaire never travel by bus.  Such improvements could include:  
 the creation of new routes, provision of bus shelters, introduction of new timetables that integrate with rail  
 timetables and working to improve rail services available to the town from across the wider area (Congleton,  
 Kidsgrove, Stoke); 51% of people stated that they use the train at least monthly.

6 Cycling can be encouraged by creating new cycle routes across Biddulph, provision of cycle tracks and cycle  
 racks within the Town Centre and the introduction of cycle lanes where appropriate. In addition,  there is an  
 extensive network of historic public footpaths across Biddulph. Residents could be encouraged to increase  
 usage of these by: providing new signage; provision of maps showing the routes; installing more durable all- 
 weather surfaces and clearing any obstructions where necessary. 

7 The Biddulph Valley Way is an important leisure, tourism, heritage and transport asset for Biddulph. It should  
 be promoted as part of a sustainable transport network for Biddulph  following a range of improvements  
 which could include:  replacing the surface material with a more durable alternative, provision for new  
 drainage to remove surface water, improvements to access points for the elderly and disabled, new signage  
 and increasing the number of access points to encourage greater usage.  Improvements were felt to be  
 important by 76% of respondents to the Householder Questionnaire.

Page 203



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N20

Analysis of Householder Questionnaire data revealed a number of key themes running through the responses 
in relation to the town centre. These are summarised below and the themes are threaded through the 
Neighbourhood Plan policies and included in the Non-Planning section of the Neighbourhood Plan (Part 5).

Page 204



PA RT T W O 21

A list of all community facilities within the town is provided in Appendix B. The aim is to give an indication of 
the buildings, sites and services available.

Page 205



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N22

C O N S I D E R AT I O N O F P L AY FA C I L IT I E S

Young people across Biddulph, aged from 8-16, were asked about their leisure time and 420 responses were 
received. The message from young people was that there are not enough opportunities for them to play and 
hang around in the town. 

It is clear from the discussions with young people that the location of play facilities is important. In many 
cases, they are not able to cross main roads and so ensuring that a range of facilities are in close proximity to 
their homes is important. As a result, play facilities are identified as a use for Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) funding/ s.106 funding later in the document. The requirements of Biddulph’s children are detailed below: 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN PLAY QUESTIONNAIRE

Page 206



PA RT T W O 23

TO U R I S M & L E I S U R E

The main priorities identified in relation to Tourism 
and Leisure are:

• Encourage the development of tourist   
 accommodation (hotels and Bed & Breakfast) in   
 the area; 

• Promote the availability of tourist accommodation  
 in the area; 

• Attract more staying visitors via improving the   
 quality and range of accommodation stock – in   
 order to extend visitor stays and increase visitor   
 spend;

• Develop, strengthen and promote business tourism  
 and demonstrate its importance and value.

There are a number of features in Biddulph which 
actively promote tourism in Biddulph, not least of 
which is Biddulph Grange Gardens.  

Managed by the National Trust, over the last few 
years there has been a marked increase in the 
number of visitors, particularly on Bank Holiday 
weekends and during the school holidays. Parking 
overflows from the car park and on to Grange Road, 
sometimes causing congestion for local people.  

A survey carried out in 2017 in the neighbouring 
Biddulph Grange Country Park confirmed that people 
travel to the park for the day, from a wide area.  

61% of people who visited the park that day had 
an ST8 postcode. People also travelled from York, 
Manchester and Birmingham to visit Biddulph Grange 
Country Park. 

China in Biddulph Grange Gardens

The Fishing Pool in the Biddulph Grange Country Park

The Biddulph Grange Country Park Visitor Centre

Page 207



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N24

The Biddulph Grange Country Park in winter

Other attractions that bring people to the area include a Public Footpath network of more than 150 paths, 
linking to the Gritstone Trail, Biddulph Valley Way and the Staffordshire Way and Biddulph Old Hall which, 
although privately owned holds a number of open days per year.  However, visitors tend to travel here to visit 
one place and go home. 

To further encourage tourism in the area it would be helpful if people could stay in the area for a few days and 
plan an itinerary covering a number of visits and activities.  A survey of visitors to the National Trust Biddulph 
Grange Gardens in Summer 2018 provided a useful snapshot of requirements.

Whilst tourist accommodation is widely available in nearby Congleton and Leek, there is very little in  
Biddulph itself.  

Page 208



PA RT T W O 25

The Biddulph Grange Country Park in winter

Those completing the survey stated that Bed and Breakfast and hotel accommodation would be the preferred 
accommodation types in Biddulph, to support tourism. 

KEY THEMES
In relation to tourism, analysis of the Householder Questionnaire data from 2017 around how the High Street 
could be developed appear on first sight to be inconclusive.  

Answer Choices Responses

Option a) a Tourist Shopping Village? 39.75% 450

Option b) a new shopping centre relocated on the edge of town? 34.28% 388

Option c) a Cultural Centre (cinema, theatre, museum, restaurants, etc.)? 53.00% 600

Option d) None of the above 21.82% 247

Option e) Your answer 305

ANSWERED 1132

Would you like to see Biddulph Town promoted as, or including, any of the following: 
(you may select more than one)

Page 209



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N26

However, analysis of the 305 free text answers provides further clarity; three main themes are identified:

1. The High Street needs to be rejuvenated.  Many believe to relocate shops outside of town would be a big  
 mistake.  Leek is given many times as a good example and model that Biddulph could follow.  Examples  
 to consider include an indoor market (Leek style) with a pedestrianised centre allowing for a regular outdoor  
 market (Leek style).  More choice of shops are required with greater variety including gift shops and tea  
 shops.  Many refer to the centre as a village or traditional town with character and history and wish it   
 to retain this feel.  There is a huge need for a further supermarket with both Lidl and Aldi being strongly  
 suggested.  There are emotional pleas to put the heart back in to the centre and give the place a general  
 tidy up.  It was suggested that “Shop Front Guidelines” could be generated which set a style and standard to  
 the place.  The Master Plan document produced by AECOM explores some of these ideas further. 

2. Many specified a need for some cultural provision within the town giving examples of cinemas and theatres.   
 There was some support for provision of a museum.  It was also stated that good restaurants and tea shops  
 with outside eating space should also be part of this provision.  People felt that, done appropriately, this  
 could encourage Biddulph Grange Garden visitors to continue on into the town.

3. Many were clear that Biddulph warrants promotion as a tourist destination.  However, there were also  
 concerns that too many visitors within the centre could spoil the atmosphere and village feel.  Clearly a  
 balance is required.  To further support this it has been suggested that a hotel service would be required,  
 Travel Lodge was one suggestion given.  Key areas given that support Biddulph as a tourist destination  
 were:

  • Proximity to the Peak District, Cheshire and the Potteries.

  • Our own Country Parks (Biddulph and Knypersley) and our footpaths.

   ••  Biddulph should be promoted generally as an area for outdoor activities.

  • Biddulph Grange Gardens.

  • The Biddulph Valley Way

   ••  It was suggested that this area particularly lends itself to promotion as a centre for cycling,   
     including race activities, cycling clubs, cycle shops.

Page 210



PA RT T W O 27

E N V I R O N M E NT

The main priorities identified in relation to the Natural Environment are:

• Protecting green belt and reducing urban sprawl, including the enhancement of key views into and across  
 the landscape

• Linking, enhancing and protecting green infrastructure (footpath network, Biddulph Valley Way (BVW) local  
 watercourses)

• Enhancing natural assets (designated sites, reducing fragmentation of woodlands)

• Sensitive development, enhancing natural watercourses and reducing flooding (SUDS)

• Identification and surveying of new natural assets leading to new designations, where appropriate. 

The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan area has 9 Local Wildlife Sites (LWS - county level importance) and 7 
Biodiversity Alert Sites (BAS - District importance).  It also has 20 sites listed on the Ancient Woodlands 
Inventory and 3 sites designated of regional importance due to their geology / geomorphology.  These sites 
are fragmented in places.  

Existing wildlife corridors (such as the water courses and Biddulph Valley Way) need enhancing to benefit 
wildlife more fully, and new corridors need identifying and managing to link fragmented areas together.  Future 
development sites need to safeguard and enhance any existing areas of biodiversity identified within the 
Phase 1 Ecological Surveys, amongst others.  Such features include mature and veteran trees, hedgerows, 
watercourses, habitat mosaics, ponds and wetlands.

NATURAL FEATURES
HOW IMPORTANT ARE THE NATURAL FEATURES TO PEOPLE LIVING 
IN THE AREA?
People living in Biddulph feel very connected to the landscape and value its intricate mosaic of habitats which 
are both clearly visible and easily accessible via the footpath network.  The mix of woodlands, waterways, 
wildlife and geological features are all found to be important to local people, as is the Green Belt which 
currently protects them.

Page 211



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N28

As noted in the ‘Strategic Context’ section at the beginning of the Plan, the Householder Survey carried out in 
2017 shows that over 97% of respondents gave clear evidence that they considered the surrounding landscape 
and views (the Green Belt); the streams, rivers, lakes and ponds; the woodland and mature trees; and the 
wildlife to be either very important (over 80% in each case) or important.  In addition, our unusual geological 
features were found to be either very important or important by 88% of people (65% very important, 23% 
important).

THE NATURAL ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT
Development within the plan area is welcomed where it is in keeping with the natural surroundings and seeks 
to work with the natural contours and features of the landscape, keeping buildings low-rise, especially towards 
the edges. 

Incorporating natural features within the development such as watercourses, hedgerows, mature trees 
and habitat mosaics (as identified in Phase 1 Ecological Surveys) will lead to good design and high-end 
developments due to the rural feel of such projects.

Existing green corridors need to be protected, new wildlife corridors need to be identified and managed, and 
developments need to enhance and create new car-free links between them and the wider services of the 
town.

The Householder Questionnaire asked ‘How important is the balance between development and the natural 
environment?’ 

• 93% of respondents stated that it was very important (71%) or important (22%) that any development in  
 Biddulph was designed to fit with the existing environment, heritage and the valley nature of area

• 91% of respondents stated that it was very important (66%) or important (25%) that development included  
 Wildlife corridors to link isolated and possible endangered areas.  These could be combined with cycle  
 ways and paths which were also seen as very important or important features of any new development,  
 stated by 91% of respondents (64% very important and 27% important) 

• 88% of respondents stated that is was very important (57%) or important (31%) that developments included  
 shared open green spaces.

WATERCOURSES WITHIN THE PLAN AREA
Within the valley, the majority of farmland is broken-up by numerous streams spilling into the Biddulph Brook 
which threads its way through the valley and out towards Cheshire where it joins the River Dane to the north of 
the town and thence through the neighbouring town of Congleton and on into the Irish Sea.  The local streams 
are often wooded gullies which provide important corridors for wildlife to move around in safety. In contrast, in 
the southern end of the valley, the streams (including the Head of the Trent) flow southwards into Knypersley 
Reservoir and into the River Trent flowing towards the North Sea.  The Plan area straddles this important 
watershed between the rivers flowing to the south (then towards the east) or to the north (and towards the 
west).  

81% of respondents to the Biddulph Householder Questionnaire stated that our streams, rivers, lakes and 
ponds were very important to them. 

FLOODING

Responses to the Biddulph Householder Questionnaire suggest that the majority of issues are connected to 
the River Dane catchment. In recent years there have been an increased number of severe weather events that 
have led to flooding within Biddulph.  

Page 212



PA RT T W O 29

Being situated in a valley which has been shaped by glaciers in the past, the local soil contains a high 
percentage of clay, which can impede percolation.  During times of heavy rainfall, the surrounding fields suffer 
from poor drainage and this leads to localised flooding.  

Two different types of flooding are evident within the valley;

1. That from rising watercourses following heavy rainfall events (River flooding)

2. That from surface runoff from the surrounding fields following heavy rainfall events  
 (Surface water flooding).

THE FOLLOWING MAPS INDICATE WHERE THE AREAS MOST AFFECTED  
ARE FOUND. 

FLOOD ZONE MAP FOR BIDDULPH NORTH – RIVER FLOODING

© Environment Agency copyright and / or database rights 2019. All rights reserved.  
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey licence number 100024198

Page 213



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N30

FLOOD ZONE MAP FOR BIDDULPH SOUTH – RIVER FLOODING

© Environment Agency copyright and / or database rights 2019. All rights reserved.  
© Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey licence number 100024198

Page 214



PA RT T W O 31

 FLOOD ZONE MAP FOR BIDDULPH- SURFACE WATER FLOODING

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 OS 100024198

Historically housing developments have taken place without adequate consideration given to provision of 
sustainable drainage, which has consequently increased the flooding risk for the town. Particular areas of 
concerns identified by residents from the Householder Questionnaire included: Mow Lane, Marsh Green Road, 
Station Road, Thames Drive, Mill Hayes Road, Pool Fold, Whitemore and land to the rear of the Thames Drive 
estate at Torville Drive and Plover Drive. Presently, any heavy rainfall feeds directly into the Biddulph Brook at 
the earliest opportunity and this creates flooding risks downstream.  Any new developments in Biddulph will 
have to incorporate sustainable drainage provision as part of the development. 

The Householder Questionnaire asked residents for details of any flooding incidents in Biddulph and to 
forward copies of any pictures that they might have.  Respondents made no distinction between blocked 
drains, surface water and river flooding, therefore, further work will be required to clarify these problems in 
future and determine sites for flood prevention investment.  The respondents clearly identified that blocked 
grids and watercourses are an issue for Biddulph, with work required in anticipation of a greater frequency of 
severe weather events in the future.   

Page 215



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N32

EXAMPLES OF FLOODING INCIDENTS IN BIDDULPH INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING:

The Biddulph Brook at Essex Drive

Marsh Green RoadCollection point for main sewers in Biddulph

Surface water run off at the back of the Thames Drive estate, with water flowing off the hills onto Plover Drive in this example

Page 216



PA RT T W O 33

The Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) Green Infrastructure Strategy (May 2018) indicates where 
flooding hotspots are found across the district.  The following map illustrates the severity of flooding within the 
area of Biddulph, which indicates that this is a greater problem than that shown in the rest of the district.  

It is to be noted that not all of these sites are close to watercourses, so a combination of rising rivers and 
surface run-off are likely to be attributable to the pattern of flooding across the plan area.   An understanding 
of the nature of such events is vital so that future development can reduce the risk of flooding.

Map A.4 Flood attenuation and water management

BIDDULPH

Page 217



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N34

THE ROLE OF SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE SOLUTIONS IN REDUCING FLOODING
Sustainable Drainage Solutions (SDS) covers a wide range of engineering and natural solutions which are 
designed as part of new developments.  They can range from porous pavements (which allow the surface 
water to percolate through the paving to be sorted temporarily in underground tanks and released slowly into 
the stream network) to the design of natural swales, leaky dams and ponds to drain and slow down water 
before entering the water networks.  

During periods of heavy rainfall, localised flooding is evident.  Changes in weather patterns due to climate 
change predict an increase in storms and heavy, intense rainfall.  

The stream corridors need enhanced natural flood management to slow down rainfall entering both the natural 
and man-made drainage systems.  

New development must take SDS into account and build natural features (swales / ponds) into development 
schemes to both manage run-off and benefit wildlife.  

Tree planting to reduce the speed with which rainwater enters the watercourses should be encouraged in 
strategic locations.

Respondents to the Biddulph Householder Questionnaire were asked which issues they thought the 
neighbourhood plan should focus on to make things better in the future.  With regards to flooding,  93% stated 
that it was either very important (69%) or important (24%) that developers fulfil their obligations with regards 
to managing rainwater, working with local farmers to slow down rainwater entering the watercourses (i.e. 
natural flood management, planting trees) and planting more trees in the Valley to slow down flood water.

It is vital that SDS schemes are automatically built into future developments within the Biddulph Valley and 
that developers are creative, allowing natural solutions which also benefit wildlife to be designed within new 
schemes.

FURTHER INFORMATION IN RELATION TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL FEATURES 
WITHIN THE TOWN CAN BE FOUND IN THE APPENDICES: 

APPENDIX C- COMPOSITE PROTECTED / BAP SPECIES LIST
APPENDIX D- FEATURES OF BIDDULPH VALLEY WAY
APPENDIX E- ENVIRONMENTAL DATA AND MAPPING 
 

Page 218



PA RT T W O 35

B I D D U L P H N AT U R E R E C O V E RY M A P

The Neighbourhood Plan aims to protect, enhance and link important natural features within the parish 
landscape.  Independent consultants developed a Nature Recovery Map and Wildlife Corridors Map in order to 
guide this vision (see below).

Biddulph parish is within the Potteries and Churnet Valley National Character Area , and within the Species-
Rich Farmland Ecosystem Action Plan in the Staffordshire Biodiversity Action Plan.

Many opportunity zones will overlap as some areas have several priorities, and a mixture or mosaic may be 
appropriate on any given site.

The Nature Recovery Map is based on current knowledge of habitats, surface water flooding, and aerial 
photography interpretation. Many habitats of potential high value have not yet been assessed or designated- 
therefore the map may need to be updated as and when further survey data is gathered.

The zones and focus areas should guide wildlife conservation actions whether through planning policy and 
development control, green infrastructure projects or other partnership work. For any particular development 
or project site, the zone and/ or focus area it falls within provides a steer as to the habitat protection, 
restoration and creation priorities that should be considered and contributed to.

However, it is important that detailed site investigations to assess suitability of proposals are carried out 
first to ensure existing sensitive habitats, wildlife and other features such as archaeology are not negatively 
affected.

It is important to combine biodiversity opportunities with other green infrastructure elements such as 
landscape, access, recreation and water management to avoid conflict and determine where multiple benefits 
can be achieved.

A further stage would be to call for sites or contact landowners that would be willing to have habitat and/
or green infrastructure enhancements on their land.  Formulating costed green infrastructure projects in key 
areas would then create a ‘bank’ of opportunities to receive funding via biodiversity offsetting, Community 
Infrastructure Levy, section 106 agreements or applying for grant funding. 

FURTHER DETAIL ON THE NATURE RECOVERY MAP AND OPPORTUNITIES 
WITHIN THE DIFFERENT ZONES CAN BE FOUND IN APPENDIX F.

Page 219



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N36
Page 220



PA RT T W O 37

WILDLIFE CORRIDORS MAP

Page 221



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N38

H A B ITAT D I S T I N CT I V E N E S S M A P

This Neighbourhood Plan built upon information contained within the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
(SMDC) Green Infrastructure Strategy and brought in external consultants to map ecological networks in more 
detail. In order to do this effectively, a distinctiveness map was first produced. This provides information on 
each field within the parish and classifies it in terms of how ‘diverse’ the field is. 61% of our parish is currently 
used as improved grassland for agriculture and, apart from the field margins, provides little in terms of 
biodiversity. This land is classed as low distinctiveness (coloured yellow on the map). The ancient woodlands 
and country parks are visible as areas coloured green and most of these spaces are designated sites in some 
form. The red sites are those which show Medium levels of distinctiveness. They are often found alongside 
streams, in fields which are not maintained for agriculture or along the gritstone edges and indicate that they 
may contain high levels of biodiversity (mostly unsurveyed). The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group will 
continue to concentrate our efforts over the coming years on enhancing our knowledge of the ‘red’ areas on 
the map with appropriate wildlife surveys.

Page 222



PA RT T W O 39

H E R ITA G E

Reference documents “Staffordshire County Council 
Historic Environment Record, Monument Full Report” 
and a summary document “Monument Full Report 
Edited” contained in Appendix G.

Biddulph’s heritage history is rich and can be traced 
back to the Bronze Age.  Earthworks on Cloud Hill, 
dating from about 1500BC and a burial ground from 
that period, known as Bridestones, plus other period 
of prehistory findings, suggest that Bronze Age Man 
lived in this area.  

The Roman Road from Derby to Stoke-on-Trent 
probably passed through Biddulph and Moody Street 
may be of Roman origin.  Wares from that imperial 
period, including pottery, have been found in that 
vicinity.  

After the Romans left, Saxons and Danes arrived, 
giving life and name to many local places.  Late 
Saxon records not only prove the existence of an 
established Biddulph community but mention a 
church destroyed by the Danes in 999AD.  The 
present Church of St Lawrence with its late Norman 
font complete with circular bowl and ornamentation 

of interlaced arches may be on that same site. 

The place name of Biddulph is also interlaced with 
a mixture of the Roman and Saxon, being originally 
Wilfracester.  

A Lord of the Manor of Biddulph named Ormis went 
on a crusade to the Holy Land and is said to have 
brought back some Saracen prisoners who settled 
on Biddulph Moor.  The reputed dark complexions of 
some older families in this area is quoted in support 
of this statement, although there is also a rival story 
of Colonel Biddulph returning from India in the late 
17th century bringing a large company of Indian 
servants with him.  They settled on Biddulph Moor as 
well.  

The Cistercian monk of Abbey Hulton held Biddulph 
Grange until Henry VIII dissolved the monasteries.  
The Biddulphs stayed loyally catholic, John Biddulph 
was killed fighting for the King’s cause at the Battle 
of Hopton Heath during the Civil War.  Although 
Biddulph Hall (Biddulph Old Hall) held out against 
Parliamentary forces for a while, it eventually 
surrendered to superior gun power and was 
demolished.  John Biddulph’s son Francis also fought 
on the Royalist side, and was captured with the fall of 

Paintings displayed in Biddulph Town Hall, created by 
local artist Janice Deane.

Page 223



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N40

Chester.  After his release, he returned to Rushton, another 
of the family’s houses near Biddulph and engaged an Italian 
governess called “Singing Kate” on account of her beautiful 
singing.  Unfortunately she brought the plague with her 
and Francis Biddulph spread it still further whilst riding out 
in search of a doctor.  The victims were buried in pits near 
Rushton Grange, these are known as “Singing Kate’s hole”.

Biddulph became a stronghold of Nonconformist feeling, 
with John Wesley visiting the place a number of times in the 
early days of his Methodist mission.  Biddulph Grange, which 
had begun its existence as a monastic building was bought 
in the 19th Century by James Bateman who introduced 
such exotic features as Chinese and Egyptian gardens, 
the Wellington Avenue, a yew topiary, box avenue and a 
picturesque ravine.  Latterly it took on a humanitarian aspect 
when it became an orthopaedic hospital with much of the 
exotic environment conserved.  

Knypersley Hall, reputed to date from the 12th Century, and 
the mock castle on Mow Cop dating from the 18th Century, 
have represented various stages in the evolution of Biddulph, 
which still thrives.  The Biddulph Valley (Biddulph Valley 
Way), where Victoria Colliery was sited is rich in deposits of 
primary fossil fuel, coal, which since very ancient times has 
been extensively extracted.  Victoria Colliery was near three 
old collieries, Childerplay, Brown Lees and the Hardmine.  

The development of Victoria Colliery owed much to its 
first owners James Bateman, who acquired the land in 1810 and was then a manufacturer of mine pumping 
machinery and secondly Robert Heath of Burslem.  It was Heath who built up the colliery from 1857 to 1908, 
the father’s work being extended by his son, also named Robert.  In the late 19th Century, Heath’s joined forces 

with Low Moor Iron of Yorkshire and by 1928 had 
gone into liquidation.  The company then became 
part of a consortium called the Norton and Biddulph 
Collieries, which kept its name until 1947 when they 
were nationalised.  The coal productivity of Victoria 
Colliery moved from 90,691 tonnes in 1864 to its peak 
in 1934 of 322,776 tonnes.  The colliery provided the 
main source of employment from 1860 to 1953.  In 
1908 it employed some 1,110 men and boys.  By 
1953 it had a workforce of 1,580 men and boys.  

By 1977 the workforce had reduced to 600 men and 
boys but still had a lasting effect on the economic 
life of Biddulph.  Since the closure of coal mining in 
the UK during the 1980’s engineering continued to 
be of significance in Biddulph with the establishing 
of Cowlishaw Walker & Co Ltd.  Founded in 1879 by 
George Cowlishaw, an engineer and Mr Walker with 
approximately 100 people to manufacture mining 
machinery such as haulage gear, coal cutters and 
shaker conveyor driven by compressed air.  During 
the period 1891 to 1935 they made and marketed a 
Snyers Patent Elastic Clutch or Coupling.  Later they 
designed and patented a Brush Clutch which was 
manufactured for many years.  The plant at Biddulph 
was considered to be amongst the best equipped for 
quality engineering having its own extensive machine 

Page 224



PA RT T W O 41

shops, fabrication shops and heat treatment ovens.  By 1977 the company employed around 400 people and 
were still modernising and updating their equipment.

Supporting all this industry there were a number of important Toll and Turnpike Roads with all their associated 
furniture.  These included a 2.5 mile toll road linking Biddulph and Congleton. The earliest record of the route 
as a toll road is 1819, although it has milestone stock of earlier date. The route had two main gates and a 
fountain built in 1861 at the side of the main road through Biddulph. The fountain was designed for use by 
travellers along the route. The fountain is set on a rough-faced sandstone wall between two pillars, with a 
drinking trough for horses set into the wall to the south.  There is also a listed early 19th century stone drinking 
trough on the Tunstall to Bosley turnpike road, to the east of Shepherds Cross, Biddulph.

Biddulph had many mills going back to the 1700s.  These included corn, silk, cotton and fustian mills.  The 
water provided by the leat in Biddulph Grange Country Park was used to power 3 mills and 1 forge from the 
1700’s onwards.  Almost immediately after the leat exits the Country Park was the site of the first mill, Stonier’s 
Mill.  Records show that this mill was in existence in January 1813 and was mainly used for cotton spinning.  
It contained 1,248 throstle spindles which were turned by a powerful waterwheel.  From here the leat courses 
through farmland running parallel to Hurst Road until it reaches Hurst Mill, now known as The Mill Cottage.  
Here it runs into the mill pool which is still in existence.  It is thought that this mill dates back to the same 
period as Stanier’s Mill since their water supply arrangements are interdependent.  In 1840 this mill was listed 
as a silk mill.  The mill was turned by a waterwheel with power sufficient to turn 250 dozen spindles.  Water 
currently still exits the mill pool at Mill Cottage and continues its original course into the Mill House pool, 
originally constructed to serve Biddulph Corn Mill.  This mill was turned by a waterwheel 10ft in diameter and 
2ft 6in wide.  It powered up to two pairs 
of millstones and corn was still being 
milled there in the early 20th century.  The 
watercourse then leaves the mill pool via 
a weir and continues its journey through a 
woodland area, The Clough.   
The confluence of the stream from the mill 
pool and Biddulph Brook is the site of Lea 
Forge.  Although it is indicated that in 1597 
Lea Forge was a bloomsmithy (forge), 
records show that in 1786 it was converted 
into a flint mill.  In the early 1800’s it was 
then converted back to a forge, mainly run 
as a scrap iron, spade and shovel factory.  
Then, in 1917 a manufacturing business 
from Manchester relocated to the forge 
concentrating solely on the development 
of Prussian blue for the colour business.

There were a number of fustian mills in Biddulph, the largest being Albion Mill on Station Road, which opened 
in the late 19th century. This was run by Frayling Ltd. until the late 1990s. The mill has a plaque dated 1884 
on the frontage to Station Road. In 1916 the mill was operated by the United Velvet Cutters’ Association.  The 
building has three floors and is about 50ft wide and 200ft long to accommodate the cutting frames.  The 
bottom storey at the front of the building has been replaced in newer brick, while the upper storeys and the 
sides appear to retain their original brickwork.  The longest fustian mill in the district was Reliance Mill, Walley 
Street.  This was one of a group of mills built just prior to the First World War and was used by the army during 
the Second World War. 

A major employer in the town during the 20th century was Selectus.  Selectus Limited was engaged in the 
manufacture of ribbons, other narrow fabrics and in more recent times, Velcro touch and close fasteners.  
Registered in October 1929, it was located in Borough High Street, London and was initially involved in 
manufacturing bias binding, though its associates, Senn & Co LTD were established in Switzerland in 1725.  
The first Biddulph factory for Selectus was built in 1935.  Velcro, a novel nylon fastener was invented in 
Switzerland in the 1950’s and patented throughout the world.  In 1956 Selectus Ltd. acquired the sole licence 
for the UK and Eire.  Selectus was one of the biggest employers in Biddulph and extended its factory to 
accommodate its increasing operations five times.  When Selectus moved their workings to China in June 
2007, they were the last remnants of the former industrial glory of Biddulph.

The Corn Mill, only foundation stones remain

Page 225



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N42

SUMMARY OF THE CATEGORIES OF HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT RECORDS:

BUILDINGS
Grade I Registered  1

Grade II Registered  2

Listed  6

Others 12

COLLIERIES
Buildings  2

Mines 14

Shafts  8

Railway lines  2

ENGINEERING FACILITIES
Iron  1

Glass  1

FARMS
Buildings 25

Crop marks  2

COUNTRY PARKS
Grade I Registered  1

Other  2

ROADS
Turnpike / Toll Roads  2

Listed Road Furniture  2

Other Road Furniture  3

MILLS
Fustian  2

Silk  1

Corn  1

Ribbon  1

MINERALS
Quarries 18

Sandpits  6

CHAPEL / CHURCH BUILDINGS
Listed  3

Other  4

OLD TUNNELS / BRIDGES  5

Page 226



PA RT T W O 43

BIDDULPH

Map A.7 Historic Landscapes

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGIC NETWORK FOR 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS MAY 2018

Page 227



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N44

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGIC NETWORK FOR 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS MAY 2018

Map A.7 Historic Landscapes

BIDDULPH

Page 228



Part 3

Page 229



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N46

C O M M U N IT Y A N D S TA K E H O L D E R E N G A G E M E NT

From the early stages of the Neighbourhood Plan development, the Working Group was clear that consultation 
must be transparent, inclusive, well organised and accessible. The Group must be prepared to answer 
questions and to genuinely listen to the views of the community. A range of methods of consultation and 
information sharing were used throughout the development process, including: 

• A Facebook page dedicated to the Neighbourhood Plan, ‘MyBiddulph’ with boosted posts; 

• Articles and advertisements in the Biddulph Chronicle, Biddulph Times and Sentinel newspapers; 

• Information included on www.biddulph.co.uk ; 

• Information shared on local radio, with interviews featuring members of the Working Group.

• Information shared at Biddulph Town Council meetings;

• Members of the Working Group held consultation events and attended residents’ groups/ forums;

• Posters were displayed in prominent places around the town;

• The School Learners’ Forum were engaged in planning and consultation activities;

• A householder survey was delivered to 7,500 homes within the town, with an additional 1,500 surveys  
 available in alternative locations, including Biddulph Library.  This was also available online via Survey  
 Monkey;

• Regular contact was made with the Local Planning Authority and support provided, as appropriate;

• Working Group members asked visitors to the Biddulph Grange Gardens to answer an accommodation  
 survey;

• A play survey was complete by 420 young people across eight schools;

• A ‘Biddulph 2035’ postcard competition took place for school children to contribute towards the vision for  
 the Plan;

• There were stalls at local events, such as the Biddulph Festival Launch Parade.  

This Plan has been developed from the views of local people; their engagement has informed every stage of 
the development of the vision and the policies. 

The Householder Questionnaire distributed in November 2017, resulted in over 1200 responses (there were 
8500 households at the time of the 2011 census), representing the collective views of homes within the town. 
Analysis of postcode data suggested that responses represented all five wards, with each dot on the map 
below accounting for a different postcode. 

Page 230



PA RT T H R E E 47

The vast majority of respondents that answered the Householder Questionnaire were long-term residents of 
the town, which supported the Working Group’s view that Biddulph is a town that people choose to move into 
(or not move out of) to raise families or to settle in later life:

Page 231



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N48

The strongest theme running through the questionnaire analysis is the importance of the rural positioning of 
the town and the green spaces that surround it and are within it. Consequently, the protection of these areas is 
one of the most important concepts within this document. 

And also,

Page 232



PA RT T H R E E 49

The Working Group noted the importance of Town Centre regeneration as part of the Householder 
Questionnaire, which prompted the decision to investigate the feasibility of a Neighbourhood Development 
Order (NDO). This NDO complements the Neighbourhood Plan and builds on the town centre data that 
emerged as part of the various consultation exercises that were completed. 

The Householder Questionnaire also highlighted the importance of Local Green Space Designations to 
residents of the town. A number of additional sites (not previously included within the draft Local Plan) were 
highlighted during this and other consultations, and further Local Green Space sites are included within this 
document.

Throughout the formal consultation stages, the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group continued to provide a 
wide range of opportunities for the community to feedback on the emerging Plan. The Group felt strongly that 
this would make the Plan robust and truly representative of the views of the community. 

Page 233



Part 4

Page 234



PA RT F O U R 51

LO C A L G R E E N S PA C E D E S I G N AT I O N

CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION
Paragraph 90 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 states: 

‘The designation of land as Local Green Space through local and neighbourhood plans allows communities to 
identify and protect green areas of particular importance to them’. 

Biddulph is rural in character and known as the ‘Garden Town of Staffordshire’ with many green spaces 
throughout the neighbourhood area. Some of these have significant community value. 

The criteria for designating Local Green Space in neighbourhood plans is set out in Paragraph 100 of the NPPF 
2019: 

‘a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves; 

b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local significance, for example because  
of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its 
wildlife; and 

c) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land’.

Page 235



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N52

1 Humber Drive Community Space 
2 The Clough 
4 Greenway Moor Gateway to the Town 
5 Biddulph Bowling Club 
6 Fold Lane Gateway to the Town 
7 Well Street allotment 
8 Hurst Road verge 
9 VOS 16 Thames Drive Woodland 
10 Woodhouse Lane wooded area 
13 Congleton Road Gateway to the Town 
14 Ringwork Castle 
15 Biddulph Grange Country Park 
16 Biddulph Valley Way 
17 Eiger Close 
18 Uplands Play Area 
19 Geneva Way Green Space 
20 Behind Oxhey Drive 
21 Corner of The Uplands 
22 Torville Drive 
23 Knypersley Cricket Club 
24 Knypersley Sports Ground 
25 Knypersley Green Space 
26 Knypersley Bowling Club 
27 Knypersley Fishing Pool 
28 Green on Conway Road 
29 Mill Hayes Sports Ground 
30 Butterfly Garden 
31 Mill Hayes Grass Verge 
32 Greenway Bank 
33 Mill Hayes Fishing Pool 
34 Top Springfield Road 
35 Park Lane Allotments 
36 Moorland Road Allotment
37 Section B VOS 20 St Davids Way 
38 Shepherd Street Slater Street 
39 VOS 17 Leisure Centre 
40 VOS 18 Braddocks Hay 
41 VOS 19 Church Road playing fields

42 Green space Kingsfield Crescent 
43 Lawton Crescent 
44 Land Opp Lawton Crescent 
45 Hawthorn Grove Play Area 
46 Queens Drive Green 
47 Church Road roundabout 
48 Highfield Place Green Space 
50 Land at end of Healey Avenue 
51 Farnworth Close 
52 Corner of Craigside 
53 VOS 11 Gillow Heath Rec Ground 
54 VOS 13 Dorset Drive West 
55 VOS 14 Dorset Drive East 
56 Halls Road 
57 Gillow Fold Field 
59 Millennium Gardens 
60 Gillow Heath Station 
61 Paddock Play area 
62 Craigside Green Areas 
63 East of Newpool 
64 Brown Lees Fun Park 
65 Trent Head Well 
66 Hot Scotch Park 
68 Land adj to New Road Meth Church 
69 Village Green 
70 Fields Behind Talbot car park 
72 Land behind bungalow off Grange Road 
74 Pine Trees Congleton Road 
75 Coracle Grove 
76 Brown Lees Village Green 
77 Brook Street Green Areas 
79 Orme Road Grass Verge 
80 Grange Road corner 
85 Gas Works Site 
86 Cherry Tree Lane 
87 Hazel Grove Green Space 
88 Stoneyfields Green Space

DESIGNATIONS
The following spaces are designated by the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan as Local Green Space:

Each Local Green Space Designation, including maps and descriptions, can be found in Appendix H 
demonstrating how each site meets the NPPF criteria. 

Two periods of consultation enabled residents, users and landowners the opportunity to comment fully on the 
proposed sites.

Please note, areas of Biddulph Valley Way are included to strengthen Policy NE4. The entirety of the route is 
not included as a Local Green Space. 

Following further feedback during the Regulation 14 consultation period, the Neighbourhood Plan Working 
Group reconsidered all 75 of the sites above and added or removed information as appropriate, taking into 
account additional feedback from those that responded.  The numbering above relates to the number that was 
allocated to the site at the start of the consultation process.

Page 236



PA RT F O U R 53

D R A F T P O L I C I E S
POLICY CONTEXT 
Neighbourhood Plans must meet certain “basic conditions”. These will be tested through the independent 
examination and will be checked by the local planning authority before the plan is able to proceed to the 
referendum. 

The Basic Conditions for Neighbourhood Plans are that:

• They must have appropriate regard to national policy; 

• They must contribute to the achievement of sustainable development; 

• They must be in general conformity with strategic local policy; and 

• They must be compatible with EU obligations.

In addition, Neighbourhood Plans must be compatible with human rights legislation.

NATIONAL POLICY
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019 requires Neighbourhood Plans to set 
out a positive vision for the future of the local area and planning policies to guide decisions on planning 
applications. This Neighbourhood Plan has been written having regard to national planning policy and 
guidance. 

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies three overarching objectives to achieving sustainable development of 
which this Neighbourhood Plan seeks to positively address:  

“a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that 
sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, 
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure; 

b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient 
number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by 
fostering a well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect 
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and  

c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic 
environment; including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural resources 
prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate change, including moving to a low 
carbon economy.”  

These themes are reflected in the following policies, acknowledging the point raised in Paragraph 9 of the NPPF 
which states that: 

“These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of plans and the policies in 
this Framework; they are not criteria against which every decision can or should be judged. Planning policies 
and decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing 
so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each 
area.”    

Page 237



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N54

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
One of the basic conditions for a Neighbourhood Plan is to help achieve sustainable development. A key 
principle of the NPPF is the presumption in favour of sustainable development, which is defined clearly in 
paragraph 11. This means planning positively identifying opportunities to meet the development needs of 
the neighbourhood area. Sustainability has social, economic and environmental dimensions, and through 
the policies of this Neighbourhood Plan we seek to ensure the viability and sustainability of our diverse rural 
market town. 

Growth across the Neighbourhood Area of Biddulph, should not be to the detriment or loss of Green Belt 
and will be concentrated around the potential development of strategic sites and, appropriate infill.  The 
Neighbourhood Plan strongly promotes the re-use of existing buildings, particularly those in Biddulph Town 
Centre.  This will be augmented by the usual smaller-scale incremental development that is typical of rural 
market towns. 

The NPPF, Paragraph 13 states that in pursuing sustainable development, neighbourhood plans should support 
the delivery of strategic policies within the adopted Local Plan.  Through the policies in the Neighbourhood 
Plan we aim to achieve these, ensuring growth is sustainable through policies on:

• Local Heritage, Culture and Tourism; 

• Local Economy; 

• Infrastructure; 

• Community Facilities; 

• Natural Environment; 

• Housing; and 

• Design.

LOCAL STRATEGIC POLICY
The adopted Local Plan is the Core Strategy Development Plan, Staffordshire Moorlands, adopted in March 
2014.   The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Local Plan Document 2016-2031, went to 
consultation in Spring 2018 and is due to be examined in Spring 2020.   

Whilst the basic conditions relate to adopted strategic local policies, we have also taken account of the 
emerging Staffordshire Moorlands District Local Plan 2016-2031. 

The evidence base behind the emerging Local Plan has informed the Neighbourhood Plan. This includes: 

• Core Strategy Development Plan, Staffordshire Moorlands, Adopted March 2014; 

• Emerging Local Plan 2016-2031, Staffordshire Moorlands; 

• Strategic Housing Market Assessment, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, January 2016; 

• Strategic Green Infrastructure Network, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, June 2017. 

The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group has worked in close liaison with Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council throughout the preparation of the plan to reduce the risk of disparities between the emerging Local 
Plan and the Neighbourhood Plan.  

  

Page 238



PA RT F O U R 55

EU OBLIGATIONS
This Neighbourhood Plan is compatible with EU obligations and has included an Equalities Impact 
Assessment within its Basic Conditions Statement.  The policies within this plan have been prepared with due 
care and consideration to ensure they are compatible with EU obligations and the Neighbourhood Plan has 
been screened by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council for SEA.  The screening response confirmed: 

“This determination statement is intended to demonstrate that the Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan is 
compatible with certain European Union obligations as required by the basic conditions, namely: 

• Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 June 2001 on the   
 assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes on the environment; and 

• Article 6(3) and (4) of the EU Habitats Directive and with the Conservation of Habitats and Species  
 Regulations 2010 (as amended). 

 

This statement sets out the reasons for the determination that the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely 
to lead to significant environmental effects and therefore a Strategic Environmental Assessment is not required. 

In addition, this statement determines that the making of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan is not likely to 
have an adverse effect on any European site, both alone and in combination with other plans and projects, and 
therefore further Habitats Regulations Assessment is not required. 

Biddulph Town Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council will publish this determination statement in 
accordance with the regulatory requirements.”

 

POLICIES FOR THE NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA
The policies in the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan are based on evidence gathered from official statistics 
and existing publications and reports commissioned for the Plan. Key evidence is listed in the Schedule of 
Evidence at the end of this plan. 

In addition, local surveys, views, comments and ideas expressed by the local community have been taken into 
account. The consultation process and the responses received from the local community and key stakeholders 
are summarised in Section 3. 

The policies in this Neighbourhood Plan seek to deliver the aspirations and needs of the local community, 
within the framework of meeting the basic conditions and other legal requirements. The policies are structured 
as follows: 

1. Aims; 

2. Rationale/evidence; 

3. Policy; and 

4. Interpretation.

Page 239



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N56

P O L I C Y: LO C A L H E R ITA G E, C U LT U R E A N D TO U R I S M

Biddulph’s tourism is built upon its heritage, culture and natural landscape.   The area is host to buildings of 
national and local significance.  However, the distribution of these, their capacity and target audience are 
varied.  As such, the neighbourhood plan through its policies seeks to ensure a robust strategy to protecting, 
enhancing, supporting and celebrating these assets as a growing leisure and tourism offer.  

There are a number of statutory listed buildings and the Biddulph Grange Conservation Area within the 
neighbourhood area.   These assets are connected by footpaths and multi-user routes that help to promote 
healthy lifestyles, whilst providing access to the Town Centre and wider countryside.  Information is provided in 
the introduction which provides greater detail on the heritage, culture and tourism of Biddulph.  

Supporting the Town Centre, heritage assets, viability and vitality of the town is key.  The NPPF states in 
paragraph 85 that planning policies should: 

“promote their long-term vitality and viability – by allowing them to grow and diversify in a way that can respond 
to rapid changes in the retail and leisure industries, allows a suitable mix of uses (including housing) and reflects 
their distinctive characters;”

The adopted Core Strategy, March 2014 identifies a number of Spatial objectives that support these aims of 
the Neighbourhood Plan.  These include: 

“SO5. To ensure the long-term vitality and viability of the three market towns of Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle. 

SO7. To support and enhance the tourism, cultural, recreation and leisure opportunities for the District’s 
residents and visitors. 

SO8. To promote local distinctiveness by means of good design and the conservation, protection and 
enhancement of historic, environmental and cultural assets throughout the District. 

SO9. To conserve and improve the character and distinctiveness of the countryside and its landscape, heritage, 
biodiversity and geological resources.” 

(Pg 44,45, Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy, March 2014) 

These Spatial objectives are further supported by the evidence of tourism offer and need in Biddulph by 
Destination Staffordshire which identified a number of key priorities for the County to support the tourism 
economy.  Two key priorities for the Neighbourhood Area are: 

“2. Attract more staying visitors via improving the quality and range of accommodation stock – in order to 
extend visitor stays and increase visitor spend… 3. Continue to develop, strengthen and promote business 
tourism and demonstrate its importance and value.” 

(pg 17, Destination Staffordshire Tourism Review, Strategy and Action Plan 2015-2018, April 2015) 

The action plan also identified that the number of bed spaces provided in Staffordshire and the City of Stoke-
on-Trent (at just c.16,500 bed spaces, compared to 39,000 in Derbyshire) was insufficient and is holding back 
visitor economy growth in the area.  

Non-planning recommendations are included later in this document.

Page 240



PA RT F O U R 57

HCT 1: ENTERPRISE AND TOURISM DEVELOPMENT
Within the rural area of the parish, business, enterprise and tourism uses to diversify the rural economy will 
be supported subject to: 

• there being no significant adverse impact on the amenities of

• nearby residential properties; 

• the rural landscape; and 

• surrounding businesses and uses, including agriculture. 

INTERPRETATION
Significant impacts could include noise, vibration, dust, and traffic movements.  This is an enabling policy that 
enables suitable business and enterprise in the rural area.   

Page 241



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N58

P O L I C Y: LO C A L E C O N O MY 

Biddulph is one of the three key towns in Staffordshire Moorlands, the ‘gateway’ town to Cheshire and Stoke-
on-Trent.  The town includes a range of businesses from light industrial to retail, commercial and service 
sector.  Its connectivity to the M6, Cheshire, the Staffordshire Moorlands and city region of Stoke-on-Trent 
contribute to the diversity of industry. 

Community engagement highlighted the aspiration to maintain and support the Town Centre, including 
promoting the re-use of vacant units and buildings, promoting the re-use of heritage assets and ensuring the 
suitable future and diversity of this rural garden town.  These aims are also echoed in the NPPF which states in 
paragraph 118 that policies should: 

“promote and support the development of under-utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help to 
meet identified needs for housing where land  supply is constrained and available sites could be used more 
effectively.”

The adopted Core Strategy, March 2014 states in the vision that: 

“Our market towns of Leek, Cheadle and Biddulph will remain the focus of the Moorlands. They will be 
distinctive and unique in terms of their character and the quality and range of shops, services and facilities 
they provide for both residents and visitors. Their town centres will be welcoming, safe and appealing and 
will retain their significant historic heritage and distinctiveness which makes them special places, as well as 
being prosperous and vibrant, catering for the needs of both the town and its hinterland.” 

(Pg 41, Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy, March 2014) 

Further community engagement highlighted concerns over vacant mills and the opportunity for the 
Neighbourhood Plan to support their re-development and re-use contributing to the vibrancy of the 
town centre.  These aspirations are shared in the emerging Local Plan, and as such the policies in the 
Neighbourhood Plan are augmented by these policies.

   

LE 1: BIDDULPH TOWN CENTRE
Within the defined town centre (see Appendix I, which is the same area as the emerging Local Plan), in 
addition to retail development, sustainable new uses to diversify the local offer will be encouraged. This 
includes:

• Business and enterprise space, including co-working space; 

• Tourism-related uses; 

• Cultural and entertainment uses such as performance venues; and 

• Food and drink uses.

Residential uses will be considered for upper floors. Ground floor units would not be suitable for  
residential uses.

INTERPRETATION
The policy enables diversification and growth of the town centre and recognises the importance of 
complementary uses. Some examples of tourism related uses may include holiday accommodation and cycle 
hire for example at the Biddulph Valley Way.    

Page 242



PA RT F O U R 59

LE 2: ALBION MILL CONVERSION 
Within the defined area (see Appendix J) the following mixed uses will be supported: 

• Residential development (above ground floor only); 

• Business and enterprise space, including co-working space; 

• Tourism-related uses; 

• Cultural and entertainment uses such as performance venues; 

• Limited tourism-related retail as part of a wider mix of uses.

This is subject to there being no significant adverse impact on the amenities of nearby residential properties.

INTERPRETATION
This policy should be applied with policy DSB2 Biddulph Mills in the emerging local plan. 

Page 243



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N60

P O L I C Y: C O M M U N IT Y FA C I L IT I E S 

The Neighbourhood Area has a number of community facilities and services (defined as land and buildings 
which benefit local communities) including Biddulph Town Hall, churches, playing fields, leisure centre and 
children’s playground. The Neighbourhood Area also has a variety of other community facilities and services 
including primary and secondary schools, shops, post office, GP surgery’s and public houses, spread across 
the neighbourhood area. 

The community facilities and services are mostly concentrated in the town centre and are valued both by 
the wider community and by those in their immediate vicinity. These facilities and services are considered 
fundamental to maintaining a good quality of life within the neighbourhood area and ensuring that its current 
level of sustainability is not diminished. It should also be noted that within the wider area there are very limited 
facilities and services available. 

The intention of the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan is to ensure that such facilities and services are 
safeguarded, enhanced or increased in the future development of the neighbourhood area. 

As part of the aspiration to promote healthier lifestyles and well-being within the community the NPPF states 
in paragraph 91, C that planning policy should: 

“enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address identified local health and well-
being needs – for example through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, 
local shops, access to healthier food, allotments and layouts that encourage walking and cycling.”

Paragraph 92, also identifies that: 

“To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs, planning 
policies and decisions should 

a)   plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities (such as local shops,  
 meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship)  
 and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments;  

b)   take into account and support the delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural  
 wellbeing for all sections of the community; 

c)   guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where this would  
 reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs;  

d)   ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and modernise, and are  
 retained for the benefit of the community; and  

e)   ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses and community  
 facilities and services.”  

Considering the needs of the current and future generations of the community through consultation and survey 
evidence gathered, the following community facilities were identified, which local people think are needed in 
the neighbourhood area to complement the existing and address future need: 

• more outdoor formal spaces such as a sensory garden; 

• better use of the NHS building; 

• more variety and choice in Biddulph Town’s shopping area; 

• re-use of the Town Hall and outdoor event space; 

• provision of activities and facilities for older people; 

• provision of teenager facilities; and 

• improved offer in food and restaurants.

 

Page 244



PA RT F O U R 61

CF 1: NEW COMMUNITY FACILITIES
New community facilities will be supported, particularly those that meet an identified need providing there is 
no significant adverse impact on: 

• the amenities of any nearby residential properties; 

• road capacity and safety; 

• the local environment.

INTERPRETATION
This is an enabling policy for new community facilities.  Such facilities could include medical and other 
community uses and would be unlikely to include food and retail.  The policy seeks to encourage new facilities, 
particularly those that meet an identified need such as activities and facilities for the elderly. 

CF 2: EXISTING COMMUNITY FACILITIES
Development proposals that affect existing community facilities in the neighbourhood area will be supported, 
providing they do not have any significant adverse impact on the community value of the facility. These 
facilities are: 

• Biddulph Town Hall; 

• Biddulph Healthcare Centre; 

• Biddulph Methodist Church;

• Church Halls; 

• Biddulph Youth and Community Zone; 

• Knypersley Cricket Club and Sports Club; 

• Biddulph Moor Village Hall; 

• Biddulph Grange Country Park Visitor Centre; 

• Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre; 

• Lund House, Well Street; 

• Biddulph Library; 

• Recreation Ground Changing Facilities; 

• Wharf Road ‘Mission’; 

• Wharf Road bus hub; 

• Lawton Street Air Training Corps facility; 

• Bowling Club community spaces; 

• Biddulph Fire Station; 

• Sainsbury’s Community Room.

Appendix K shows the location of these facilities.

An exception to this is if a similar quality or better facility is provided nearby. 

INTERPRETATION
This is an enabling policy and to ensure that the range of community facilities in the area remains 
undiminished.  

Page 245



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N62

P O L I C Y: N AT U R A L E N V I R O N M E NT  

Biddulph is known as the ‘Garden Town of Staffordshire’.  This statement acknowledges not only significant 
heritage assets such as Biddulph Grange and Gardens of national interest and importance but also how the 
entire neighbourhood area is set within the natural landscape.  Predominantly nestled within the valley the 
main town of Biddulph is characterized by its relationship with the natural environment.  Within the wider 
neighbourhood area smaller settlements are set within the moorlands setting occupying higher ground with 
panoramic views of the Cheshire Plain and towards the Peak District National Park. 

Throughout the community engagement, one of the key characteristics of the neighbourhood area is that 
people feel ‘connected’ to the rural landscape and from most parts of the town and settlements enjoy views 
into the open countryside.  This desire to maintain and support the natural environment also identified 
opportunities to enhance the wildlife diversity and support natural habitats and assets.  Through the policies in 
this plan we seek to achieve these aspirations.

The area is described in Natural England’s National Character Area (NCA) 64 Profile: Potteries and Churnet 
Valley as: 

“In the east, the landform rises to meet the limestone uplands of the Peak District affording panoramic 
vistas of a transitional landscape from lowland to upland. In the north, the land rises to the Staffordshire 
Moorlands, with prominent ridges of Millstone Grit at Mow Cop and Congleton Edge forming a watershed 
between the River Trent and the River Mersey catchments. These ridges afford unrestricted views 
westwards across the Shropshire, Cheshire and Staffordshire Plain NCA.” 

(Pg5, National Character Area (NCA): 64 Profile: Potteries and Churnet Valley, 2015)

The NCA also identifies that the neighbourhood area forms one of the five key assets that provide tranquillity, 
noting in particular Biddulph Moor and the interlocking network of green spaces.  In terms of climate 
regulation, it also notes that Biddulph Moor and around Mow Cop (outside of the neighbourhood area) 
the carbon-rich peat soils are an important asset, with heathland occurring on the Millstone Grit outcrops, 
which are free draining mineral soils and seasonally waterlogged.  Combined with the pressures of regular 
flooding events due to significant infrastructure issues on watercourse and water management, the natural 
environment can play a role in reducing these impacts.   As such these assets should be protected and 
enhanced through the policies of this plan. 

Other significant natural assets within the neighbourhood area include the two country parks of Biddulph 
Grange Country Park and Greenway Bank Country Park, green links including the Biddulph Valley Way and an 
extensive network of footpaths and bridleways. There are also natural landscape features and assets that are 
designated. 

These important features were mapped within the neighbourhood area to inform the policies of this plan.  
Furthermore, through the evidence gathered, this can be used to fill the gaps in existing strategic documents 
that have not recorded the area in detail.   

The NPPF also supports the conservation and enhancement of the national environment setting out in 
paragraph 170 that: “Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by: 

a)  protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of geological value and soils (in a manner   
 commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality);  

b)  recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural  
 capital – including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of  
 trees and woodland;  

c)  maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public access to it;  

d)  minimising impacts and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological  
 networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures;  

Page 246



PA RT F O U R 63

e)  preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from,  
 or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability.  
 Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air quality;  
 and  

f)  remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where  
 appropriate.”  

NE 1: NATURAL ENVIRONMENT FEATURES
New development must preserve or enhance and not harm or degrade the special rural character and 
ecological and environmental features of the area, including:

• Wildlife areas including designated Local Wildlife Sites (see Map – Nature Conservation Sites); 

• Wildlife corridors / networks, watercourses, ponds and lakes (see Map – Wildlife Corridors /  
 Networks map); 

• Priority habitats (see Map – Habitat Distinctiveness map); 

• Other natural habitats (see Map - Habitat Map); 

• Location of reported Protected Species (see Map – Protected species within Biddulph Parish); 

• Opportunities to enhance existing or create new habitat links as detailed within the Nature Recovery  
 Network Map (see Map – Nature Recovery Network); 

• Veteran trees; 

• Mature trees and hedgerows; 

• Former mineral extraction sites that have been fully worked and are becoming a natural habitat or have 
 an ecological value or importance. 

• Complement landscape character

These maps are included within the introductory section and appendices. High resolution documents are 
available online and when applying the policy, reference should be made to these maps.

INTERPRETATION
The policy includes a general requirement to consider impacts on the natural environment and also highlights 
elements of the natural environment that are particularly sensitive.

NE 2: URBAN EDGE 
New development on the edge of the Biddulph Town and rural settlements must incorporate sensitively 
designed boundary treatments and landscaping to create an appropriate transition to the rural environment.

INTERPRETATION 
This policy requires sensitive boundary treatments to create a ‘soft’ transition, such as hedges and planting. 
Hard boundary treatments, such as concrete and timber close boarded fencing, would not be appropriate.

Page 247



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N64

NE 3: LOCAL GREEN SPACE
Local Green Spaces must remain as open space and their community value must be maintained or enhanced. 
Built development must not encroach onto Local Green Spaces. An exception to this may be for small-scale 
built development, subject to the following:

• it is directly related to the community use and/or management of the space;

• it does not compromise the open character of the space.  

INTERPRETATION
By protecting community value and open character, the policy precludes most development in Local Green 
Spaces. A possible exception may be very small-scale development that directly supports the community 
value of the space, without compromising its open character. The policy also requires impacts on Local Green 
Space to be considered for adjacent or nearby development proposals. Such impacts could include noise, 
visual impact, access or blocking of sunlight. 

 

NE 4: BIDDULPH VALLEY WAY 
Development proposals must have no significant adverse impact on the Biddulph Valley Way and its environs 
and must take opportunities to enhance the route. This includes:

• not encroaching into the route;

• providing a positive setting in terms of boundary treatments and allowing natural surveillance.

INTERPRETATION 
Development should not turn its back on the Biddulph Valley Way, for example by flanking them with hedges 
or fencing. It is essential that open surveillance be maintained. It is highly desirable for new development to 
provide links to existing pedestrian, cycle and bridle routes (see Design Policy DES 2). 

Page 248



PA RT F O U R 65

NE 5: PROTECTION OF VIEWS OF LOCAL IMPORTANCE
This policy aims to preserve or enhance significant local views of important buildings, townscape, and 
skylines within the built and natural environment of Biddulph Town Centre. 

The following views and vistas (see below) have been identified as being locally important, visible from the 
town centre: 

1.  From the Inner Relief Road towards Mow Cop; 

2.  From the Inner Relief Road north towards Biddulph Town Centre; 

3.  Well Street towards Mow Cop; 

4.  John Street towards the north; 

5.  Wharf Road towards Mow Cop; 

6.  Wharf Road roundabout towards Mow Cop; 

7.  Station Road towards the north; 

8.  War memorial towards the north; 

9.  South View towards the west; 

10. Between 66 and 68 High Street (currently Wetherspoons and B&M).

The Design and Access Statement that supports planning applications for developments that may affect 
these views and vistas must demonstrate how the proposal would preserve or enhance them.

INTERPRETATION 
This policy seeks to protect key views within Biddulph Town Centre and vistas towards the open countryside.

Page 249



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N66

1.  Top of the Inner Relief Road to Mow Cop

Page 250



PA RT F O U R 67

2.  Top of the Inner Relief Road towards Biddulph Town Centre 

3.  Well Street towards Mow Cop 4. John Street towards the North

Page 251



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N68

5.  Wharf Road towards Mow Cop

6.  Wharf Road roundabout towards Mow Cop

Page 252



PA RT F O U R 69

9.  South View towards the West

7.  Station Road towards the North 8.  War Memorial towards the North

Page 253



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N70

10.  Between 66 and 68 High Street

Page 254



PA RT F O U R 71

P O L I C Y: H O U S I N G 

Located to the western fringes of Staffordshire Moorlands, the rural parish of Biddulph ‘The Garden Town’ 
consists of the main settlement of Biddulph, and smaller settlements set within the Green Belt and open 
countryside of Biddulph Moor and Gillow Heath.  The growth strategy for the Neighbourhood Plan considers 
a number of factors that include constraints such as Green Belt, special landscape designations, topography, 
and infrastructure. 

The following map shows the current Green Belt boundary in relation to the Neighbourhood Area:

GREEN BELT REVIEW STUDY, NOVEMBER 2015

The Housing Needs Assessment April 2018 considered local factors specific to the Neighbourhood Area and 
the potential impact on demand/need for certain housing types.  The following table illustrates these types 
identified and the rationale for need, furthermore it goes on to highlight how or why these should be addressed 
through planning policy.

Page 255



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N72

SUMMARY OF LOCAL FACTORS SPECIFIC TO BIDDULPH WITH A POTENTIAL 
IMPACT ON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN HOUSING TYPE

Factor Source(s) Possible impact on housing needed  Conclusion

 Affordable 
Housing 
(AH)

SHMA, 
CACI, Land 
Registry 
Price Paid, 
Estate Agent 
surveys

The Average (mean) Affordability 
Ratio (AR) and the Lower Quartile 
Affordability Ratio (LQAR) for Biddulph 
were 4.7 and 5.9 in 2017, respectively. 

This compares with a LQAR for 
Staffordshire Moorlands of around 7.2 
in 2015. 

This data suggests entry level dwellings 
are relatively affordable in Biddulph 
compared with the District generally. 

Based on properties currently being 
marketed (January 2018), and taking 
into account house price data in 
the SHMA and feedback from local 
estate agents, an entry-level dwelling 
is estimated to cost £110,000. At 
this price point, using CACI data on 
household income, around 52% of all 
households estate agents suggests 
Biddulph remains an attractive place for 
young people. 

The Housing Waiting List data provided 
by SMDC suggests there are 76 
households in priority need in the NPA. 

The SHMA suggests that affordability 
issues may drive an increase in 
concealed households and dampen 
new household formation; data on 
concealed households and household 
composition, which indicates an 
increase in the number of households 
with non-dependent children over the 
inter-censual period, provides some 
evidence of this in Biddulph. 

Affordability issues will be 
exacerbated by the reported 
increase in house prices in the 
area in recent years. Moreover, 
in order to address demographic 
trends that have seen a decline 
in those aged between 25 - 44 
and a forecast loss of people of 
working age, it is appropriate for 
social rented housing to form 
the majority of affordable homes 
provided.

On the basis of the affordability 
evidence we have gathered, we 
would recommend that forms of 
‘intermediate’ AH such as Shared 
Equity, Discounted Market for Sale 
Housing (DMSH) as well as rental 
models such as Affordable Rent 
should be considered as part of 
the AH quota within the NA.

Biddulph should also seek build 
to rent (BTR) development, a 
percentage of which may be 
‘intermediate rented housing’ so as 
to address the need for affordable 
market housing for younger age 
groups.

On the basis of the Housing 
Waiting List, there is no 
requirement for the NDP to develop 
an affordable housing policy that 
specifies what proportion of new 
build housing should be AH that 
departs from SMDC’s emerging 
policy H3; it is worth noting 
however that this data should be 
used with caution in arriving at an 
accurate picture of housing need. 

Page 256



PA RT F O U R 73

Factor Source(s) Possible impact on housing needed  Conclusion

Demand/
need for 
smaller 
dwellings 

Census

Childless couples and one-person 
households constitute 31.8% and 27.2% 
of the population, respectively. 

Single person households have 
recorded the greatest proportional uplift 
at 16.6% over the inter-censual period. 

The growth of households with non- 
dependent children points to depressed 
household formation rates, a finding 
supported by the small, but statistically 
significant, presence of concealed 
households in the area (70 at the time 
of the last Census). 

Policy should address the needs 
of concealed households through 
the provision of smaller, affordable 
market dwellings as well as AH 
so as to encourage household 
formation and help stem the 
decline of the local working age 
population living in the area. 

In terms of size of dwellings, the 
trends identified point towards the 
need for a mix of smaller dwellings 
and family sized homes, of 2-5 
habitable rooms. 

Demograph-
ic change

Census, 
SHMA

The numbers of people aged between 
25-44 fell in Biddulph during the inter- 
censual period by 11.4%; this mirrors 
projected trends in the District in which 
the proportion of the population aged 
under 65 is forecast to fall by some 
10.4% between 2011 and 2031. 

Data from the SHMA suggests that 
the District will see an increase in lone 
parent households, elderly couple 
households, one person-households 
of all ages and an overall loss of 
households of working age. Given the 
similarity in the data between Biddulph 
and the wider District, these trends are 
likely to impact on the NPA. 

Trends relating to the decline in 
the population of those falling 
into younger age brackets raise 
questions as to the long-term 
viability of services typically used 
by younger age groups such as 
schools. Indirectly it also impacts 
on a wider range of businesses, 
given the implicit reduction in the 
working age population.

Family-sized 
housing

Census, 
Estate 
Agents 
Survey

Families with children made up the 
largest group in Biddulph at 37.1% of 
the population in 2011.

Notwithstanding these trends, the 
area remains an attractive place to 
live on account of its closeness to 
centres of employment and its relative 
affordability. Moreover, families are 
drawn to the area on account of its high-
quality schools.

The evidence of decline in the 
economically active population 
is amplified at the District level 
through forecasts suggesting 
the overall loss of working 
age households. The objective 
should be to maintain Biddulph 
as a working as well as retired 
community, able to sustain the 
businesses, services and facilities 
essential to thriving community 
life. 

The needs of families should be 
prioritised, firstly so as to retain 
a balanced population in future 
years, but also so as to capitalise 
on the area’s natural appeal to 
them.

Page 257



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N74

Factor Source(s) Possible impact on housing needed  Conclusion

Housing for 
independent 
living for 
older people

Census, 
SHMA

Biddulph shows strong evidence of an 
ageing population, with that aged 65- 84 
having increased by 22.6% and those 
aged 85+ increasing by 57.3% over the 
inter-censual period. 

This chimes with data in the SHMA that 
forecasts an increase in those aged 
over 65 by 46% between 2011 and 2031, 
suggesting these trends are forecast 
to continue in the NPA over the Plan 
period. 

Considering the findings of 
age structure and household 
composition together, there 
is clear evidence of an ageing 
population. The impact of this 
over the medium to long term will 
be profound, requiring not only 
additional dwellings suited to 
the needs of the elderly but also 
an activist policy that seeks to 
maintain a balanced demographic 
in future years. 

Working from the recommended 
number of specialist dwellings 
for each 1000 people aged 75+ 
put forward by the Housing LIN58 
the following provision should be 
provided over the Plan period: 
•  91 additional conventional       
   sheltered housing units; 
•  182 additional leasehold  
   sheltered housing units; 
•  30 additional ‘enhanced’  
   sheltered units, split 50:50  
   between those for rent and those  
   for sale; 
•  15 additional extra care housing  
   units for rent; 
•  46 additional extra care housing  
   units for sale; 
•  9 additional specialist dementia  
   care beds. 

Tenure of 
housing Census

In 2011, tenure in Biddulph was split 
77.4% (owner occupation), 12.2% 
(social rented) and 9.1% (private 
rented). It has a significantly higher 
proportion of social rented housing than 
the District as a whole. 

The town retained 18 shared ownership 
dwellings over the period 2001- 2011 
(in contrast with the District, where 
numbers declined over the same 
period). 

During the inter-censual period, in line 
with District trends, there was a very 
substantial increase in privately rented 
dwellings from 359 to 703 dwellings. 

Owner occupation has been the 
dominant trend in tenure; however, 
as we have seen, this tenure is 
beyond the means of the vast 
majority of households; planners 
should therefore encourage other 
forms of tenure to come forward, 
such as shared ownership, starter 
homes and the private rented 
sector.

Pg 9-12, Biddulph Housing Needs Assessment, April  2018, AECOM 

Page 258



PA RT F O U R 75

It is clear from the table that there is a need for:

• Any affordable homes (AH), provided in the Parish include a mix of shared equity, discounted market for    
 sale housing and affordable rent. 

• Housing suitable for independent living for older people. 

• Provision of smaller, affordable market dwellings as well as AH so as to encourage household formation    
 and help stem the decline of the local working age population living in the area. 

• Need for family sized housing to retain working households. 

The promotion of self-build homes should also be considered. 

Issues also raised about housing and growth through the neighbourhood plan process included concerns over 
recent applications being granted permission in the Green Belt and the wider impact of these in terms of the 
infrastructure deficiencies.  Also, the size of infill developments, which have resulted in the over development 
of plots within Biddulph.   

The housing growth policies aim to inform future housing growth to ensure it is supported in sustainable 
locations and benefits the existing and new communities of the area. 

These policies should be read in conjunction with policy H1 in the emerging Local Plan.   

HOU 1: HOUSING  
For developments where housing mix or affordability requirements apply, the following must be achieved: 

• Affordable provision must be provided within the development. If this is not possible, affordable provision  
 should be provided within the neighbourhood area; 

• Housing must be designed to be tenure-blind.

The mix of housing must be based on a current housing needs assessment, to ensure that local need is fully 
reflected. In particular, housing mix must address identified deficiencies in Biddulph, including: 

• Housing suitable for independent living for older people (preferably in proximity to a bus stop); 

• Affordable homes that include shared equity, discounted market for sale housing shared ownership and  
 affordable rent.

The following types of housing are particularly welcomed: 

• Self-build housing; 

• Innovative design; and

• high environmental performance.

INTERPRETATION
Affordable Homes provision and requirements are set in policy H3 of the emerging Local Plan.  As part of the 
neighbourhood plan review the Housing Needs Assessment will be considered and amended where applicable.  
This policy encourages self-build.   

 

Page 259



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N76

HOU 2: INFILL HOUSING
Housing development of small infill sites will be supported within existing residential built frontages, subject 
to: 

• The housing being set-back and spaced to complement the existing townscape; 

• There being no significant detrimental impact on surrounding residential properties; 

• Avoiding over-development by ensuring that the number of houses relate to the established character of  
 the area.

INTERPRETATION
Infill housing will normally comprise 1-3 houses, and is unlikely to exceed upper limit of 5. This does not 
apply to larger sites that are windfall within the town centre. Where sites are in the Green Belt national policy 
requirements will also be considered in conjunction with this policy.

Page 260



PA RT F O U R 77

P O L I C Y: I N F R A S T R U CT U R E 

Biddulph has developed from several smaller settlements known as Biddulph Moor; Biddulph Park; Biddulph; 
Bradley Green; Brown Lees; Gillow Heath and Knypersley.  Whilst some of these smaller settlements remain as 
such set within the rural landscape others have developed and form the wider area known as Biddulph Town 
today.  As such, this growth has required upgrading and development of the infrastructure.  Not only in terms 
of highways but also community infrastructure of local services including drainage and water management.  

Through the community engagement of the Neighbourhood Plan the lack of appropriate or supporting 
infrastructure was highlighted.  The key priorities to be addressed included: 

• issues surrounding flooding and water management; 

• pinch points in the highway network; 

• the current ability or lack of capacity for the current highway network to function before any new 
 development is proposed; and 

• Communications, access to super-fast broadband and telecommunications.   

Severn Trent responded to this document to note that they encourage that all new development recognises 
a drainage hierarchy whereby disposal of surface water to the public foul or combined sewerage systems is 
avoided. Where possible a sustainable discharge should be made to either the ground, watercourse/ditch- 
course or a surface water sewerage system.

In order to plan positively for the future sustainability of Biddulph it is necessary that any planning application 
is considered not only in the context of the site but its wider contribution or demand on the existing 
infrastructure.  In section (Part 2) these infrastructure deficiencies are highlighted further.  

Policy SS6 Biddulph Area Strategy in the emerging Local Plan does identify opportunity for supporting 
infrastructure improvements stating that it supports the creation of: 

“major mixed-use development opportunities and related infrastructure improvements for the following 
strategic sites: 

• Wharf Road Strategic Development site - mixed-use development including housing, employment, retail and    
 supporting infrastructure will be supported in line with policy DSB1. 

• Tunstall Road Strategic Development site - housing and employment will be supported in line with policy    
 DSB3. Developments should secure Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in line with national planning  
 policy and manage surface water discharge rates in accordance with the Sustainable Drainage Systems  
 Non-Statutory Technical Standards (DEFRA, 2015).” 

(Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan, Submission Version, April 2018). 

The emerging Local Plan also identifies that Biddulph is the second largest settlement within the district and 
the opportunity that Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions could also provide financial support to 
infrastructure improvements that address the issues of cumulative growth.  Policy SS12 Planning Obligations 
and CIL makes clear that: 

“Development proposals will be required to provide, or meet the reasonable costs of providing, the on-site and 
off-site infrastructure, facilities and/or mitigation necessary to make a development acceptable in planning 
terms through the appropriate use of planning obligations and/or conditions.” 

(Pg 81, Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan, Submission Version, April 2018).

The NPPF, also sets out in paragraph 34 that: 

“Plans should set out the contributions expected from development. This should include setting out the levels 
and types of affordable housing provision required, along with other infrastructure (such as that needed for 
education, health, transport, flood and water management, green and digital infrastructure). Such policies 
should not undermine the deliverability of the plan.”

Householders were asked: ‘We are considering Biddulph’s traffic issues in relation to future development, 
please list any road junctions that you think are heavily congested’. 

Page 261



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N78

Knypersley Cross Road
Park Lane
Roaches School

163
75
4

New Pool Road
Bridge

35
7

By Pass 
Meadows Roundabout
St Johns Road
Tunstall Road
Thames Drive 
Mill Hayes Road
Childerplay Road

36
9
17
40
8
9
7

Congleton Road
Woodhouse Lane
Smithy Lane

128
91
40

Marsh Green
Mow Lane
Gillow Heath
Halls Road
Biddulph Arms Junction

27
47
6
47
37

King Street
John Street
Well Street
Lawton Street
High Street

61
30
19
26
42

South View
Wharf Road
Sainsbury’s Roundabout

39
32
46

Grange Road 12

Biddulph Moor 13

Total 1518

The numbers represent the number of responses received; the wording uses that used by those completing the 
form. 

The following policies seek to address the concerns and issues raised through community engagement and 
build upon the strategic policies of the emerging Local Plan.

Page 262



PA RT F O U R 79

INF 1: CRITICAL ROAD JUNCTIONS 
In considering whether development would have and severe adverse impact on road capacity or safety, 
particular regard should be made to the following congestion pressure points:

• A527- Newpool Road

• A527- Park Lane

• A527- Tunstall Road

• A527- St Johns Road

These have been identified through a study 
commissioned by Biddulph Town Council, which 
provides recommendations in relation to a range 
of Highways issues and uses data sourced from 
Staffordshire County Council. 

Residents identified the additional A527 Junctions 
has having growing congestion issues: 

• End of Childrerplay Road 

• End of Mill Hayes Road 

• Industrial Estate 

• End of Brown Lees Road

• Junction of A527 and Childerplay Road; 

• Junction of A527 and Mill Hayes Road,  
 industrial estate; 

• Junction of A527 and Brown Lees Road; 

• Junction of Meadows Way and Wharf Road; 

• Junction of Meadows Way and Station Road; 

• Junction of Congleton Road and Thames Drive;

• Junction of Congleton Road and Halls Road; 

• Junction of Congleton Road and Mow Lane; 

• Junction of Congleton Road and Smithy Lane; 

• Junction of Congleton Road and Woodhouse Lane; 

• Junction of Congleton Road and  
 Marsh Green Road; 

• Junction of Congleton Road and Grange Road; 

• Junction of New Street and Leek Lane; 

• Junction of New Street and Woodhouse Lane; 

• Junction of New Street and Rudyard Road; and 

• Junction of New Street and Hot Lane. 

The impact of development could be demonstrated in the Transport Assessment where this is a requirement 
or as part of the Design and Access Statement.

A527 Junctions: 
1. End of Childrerplay Road 
2. End of Mill Hayes Road 
3. Industrial Estate 
4. End of Brown Lees Road

Page 263



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N80

Junctions onto Meadows Way:
1. St Johns Road
2. Tunstall Road
3. Wharf Road

Park Lane - Tunstall Road -  
Newpool Road junction / traffic lights

Junctions onto Meadows Way - Station Road

Page 264



PA RT F O U R 81

INTERPRETATION
The plan outlining the ‘Critical Road Junctions’ shows all the critical junctions in Biddulph, where there is 
particular concern over traffic safety and congestion. 

Applying this policy will require consideration of the impact of the new development, together with the 
combined impact of other approved developments.

Grange Road junction onto Congleton Road

Congleton Road junctions:
1. Thames Drive
2. Halls Road / Mow Lane
3. Smithy Lane
4. Woodhouse Lane / Marsh Green Road

Junctions onto New Street:
1. Leek Lane
2. Woodhouse Lane
3. Rudyard Road / Hot Lane

BIDDULPH MOOR

Page 265



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N82

INF 2: SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE  
Development must have no significant adverse impact in terms of surface water runoff and disposal, 
including impacts on surrounding sites and environment. 

Surface water discharge should not exceed the Greenfield runoff rates.

This includes:

• ensuring hard surfaces are water permeable;

• use of sustainable urban drainage systems, where applicable;

• ensuring that there is sufficient capacity of wastewater infrastructure, or that the development includes 
other measures for surface water and waste-water disposal.

INTERPRETATION
The approach to surface water drainage should be considered in liaison with the LLFA, the public sewerage 
undertaker and where appropriate the Environment Agency. Sustainable drainage or water management 
measures must form an integral part of the design and layout, including utilising balancing ponds and water 
channels as an open part of the landscape.

Surface water should be discharged in the following order of priority:

• An adequate soakaway or some other form of infiltration system.

• An attenuated discharge to watercourse or other water body.

• An attenuated discharge to public surface water sewer, highway drain or another drainage system.

• An attenuated discharge to public combined sewer.

Applicants wishing to discharge to public sewer will need to submit clear evidence demonstrating why 
alternative options are not available as part of the determination of their application

Information is available at: 

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/Flood-Risk-Management/Information-for-Planners-and-
Developers.aspx

See also Defra 2015 non-technical standards and Staffordshire Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) SuDS 
handbook requirements. 

Page 266



PA RT F O U R 83

INF 3: COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE
In considering allocation of CIL or section 106 monies, the following infrastructure priorities should be 
considered: 

• Adequate and proper provision for surface water and foul water management; 

• Areas that currently experience flooding. 

• Schemes that provide innovative planting and improvements to bio-diversity will be encouraged; 

• Provide better linkages to national cycle network, including the Biddulph Valley Way, Route 55; 

• Provision of improved access to public transport; 

• Provision of new Local Green Spaces, including formal park space; 

• Sensory garden; 

• Play facilities, including those for older young people; 

• Creative space, including entertainment facility and expansion of heritage facilities within the town centre  
 and improvements in public realm. 

• Sites and opportunities to enhance areas shown on the Nature Recovery and Wildlife Corridors Map (see  
 Opportunities in Appendix F) 

• Improve or enhance the Biddulph Valley Way for the enjoyment of the community and natural habitat  
 value.  

In allocating Section 106 financial contributions made against local plan policy requirements, similar priorities 
are encouraged.

INTERPRETATION
This policy sets out infrastructure priorities.  With reference to the designation of new Local Green Spaces 
these would be considered for inclusion when reviewing the Neighbourhood Plan.   

Page 267



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N84

P O L I C Y: D E S I G N

Biddulph is predominantly set within the Green Belt, set within the rural area of Staffordshire Moorlands.  It 
has a distinctive rural character, comprising of Biddulph town, where the largest concentration of services, 
facilities, employment and housing are located and smaller rural settlements of Brown Lees, and Biddulph 
Moor.  

The Neighbourhood Area has a number of designations for both the built and natural environment.  

To be sustainable, new development needs to be well designed, to complement the existing character and 
quality of the rural area.  New buildings, streets and spaces should be integrated within their setting, both 
functionally and aesthetically. This is echoed in the responses from the community survey which highlighted 
key design aspects.  71% of those who responded to the householder survey said that new development 
should be designed to fit well with the existing environment and 61 % said the scale and height should be in 
keeping with surrounding buildings.  It was not just the design that was important with 64% also agreeing that 
new development should include footpaths and cycle routes connecting corridors to schools, shops and the 
town centre.   

The NPPF confirms that good design is indivisible from good planning.  It recognises that well-designed 
buildings and places improve the quality of people’s lives and that it is a core planning principle always to 
secure good design, particularly where developments are in an isolated location. Neighbourhood plans should 
develop robust and comprehensive policies that set out the quality of development that will be expected for 
the area.  Such policies should be based on stated objectives for the future of the area and an understanding 
and evaluation of its defining characteristics. 

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that: 

“The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development  
process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. Being clear about design 
expectations, and how these will be tested, is essential for achieving this. So too is effective engagement 
between applicants, communities, local planning authorities and other interests throughout the process.” 

It goes on to acknowledge in paragraph 127 that: 

“Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 

a)  will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the   
 lifetime of the development;  

b)  are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and effective landscaping; 

c)  are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and   
 landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as   
 increased densities);

d)  establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types  
 and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;

e)  optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of  
 development (including green and other public space) and support local facilities and transport  
 networks; and”  

For Biddulph these requirements are interpreted in design policy DES1 and DES2.   

  

Page 268



PA RT F O U R 85

DES 1: DESIGN
New development must complement the local context and be sustainable. Development must: 

• complement the existing character and townscape in terms of scale and massing; 

• complement the established layout in terms of set-back from the road and spacing around dwellings; 

• use high quality, authentic durable materials, to complement the site, character and surrounding context; 

• provide sustainable drainage and permeable surfaces in hard landscaped areas; 

• provide screened storage space for bins and recycling.

Authentic, distinctive, site-specific architectural solutions will be encouraged, especially innovative designs 
in terms of building energy performance. 

The following types of housing are particularly welcomed: 

 • • Self-build housing; 

 • • Innovative design; and

 • • high environmental performance. 

 

INTERPRETATION
Design and access statements submitted with planning applications should make clear how the requirements 
of this policy have been met. In terms of high-quality materials, the policy would be met by authentic local 
materials and other durable materials with a high standard of finish and durability. 

DES 2: PUBLIC REALM, CAR PARKING AND MOVEMENT
New development must demonstrate high standards of urban design by: 

• providing ease of movement for pedestrian routes and footpaths, including links to local services; 

• ensuring flanking buildings in residential areas have active frontages to provide natural surveillance; 

• providing a mix of car parking as an integral part of the layout, including garages, covered spaces and  
 driveways, so that vehicles do not dominate the streets and spaces; 

• ensuring that the number of parking spaces provided within the curtilage of each dwelling is proportionate  
 to the size of the property; 

• improving and enhancing existing footpaths, pedestrian routes, cycle routes and bridleways (and their  
 settings) including the Biddulph Valley Way. 

 

INTERPRETATION
Applying this policy will require consideration of the impact of the new development, together with the 
combined impact of other approved developments.

Page 269



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N86

D E TA I L S O F T H E N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT O R D E R

The Neighbourhood Development Order (the Order) has been prepared by Biddulph Town Council. The 
Neighbourhood Development Order relates to changes of use of upper floors of commercial properties to 
business and enterprise space (Use Class B1) and the replacement of shopfronts. The Order grants planning 
permission for these types of development in Parts 1 and 2, providing it meets the conditions and parameters 
set out. 

The Order is a response to the analysis of outcomes from community engagement and gathering of local 
evidence and the intention is to support the regeneration and economic development of Biddulph Town Centre. 
This includes supporting enterprise and improving the environment of the town. 

The Order has been prepared against the context of meeting the Basic Conditions and other legal 
requirements. 

The Order will be monitored during its period of application. If necessary, the Order may be revised and/or 
remade in the future.

Page 270



Part 5

Page 271



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N88

N O N-P L A N N I N G I S S U E S

This section does not form part of the statutory Neighbourhood Plan and is not subject to independent 
examination and referendum.  Therefore, it inclues proposed actions that fall outside the scope of the planning 
policy:

• Address empty shops through enabling use class policy;

• Pedestrianisation of the Town Centre or a ‘Flexible event space’ following further consultation;

• Retain visitors from Biddulph Grange, attracting them into the town;

• Promote tourism opportunities;

• Cycling;

• Issues around buses and movement;

• Parking and use of highways;

• Repairs to pavements;

• Capacity of services and amenities and the pressure on these;

• Promote festivals and community events;

• Biddulph Town hosting national events such as cycle tour etc. ;

• Biddulph Valley Way, making it more accessible - removeable bollards and remove the gates

• Overspill car park for Biddulph Grange Gardens;

• Working with utility companies to support ‘pop-up’ units on short term rents;

• Biddulph Town Hall as a community asset, securing its long-term future and viability;

• Supporting and working in partnership with Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) and the  
 Masterplan process to ensure it fully takes account of the Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood  
 Development Order;

Page 272



A P P E N D I C E S 89

Appendices

Page 273



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N90

A P P E N D I X A:  S O U R C E S
• Biddulph Housing Needs Assessment, April 2018, AECOM

• Biddulph Town Centre Masterplan Framework, October 2018, AECOM

• Interactive Green Belt Map:   
 http://alasdair.carto.com/viz/c1925a82-9670-11e4-ab1a-0e853d047bba/embed_map

• National Planning Policy Framework; Department for Communities and Local Government; March 2012   
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2  

• Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Green Infrastructure Strategy, May 2018 
 https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/3355/Green-Infrastructure-Strategy/pdf/22.10_SMDC_Green_ 
 Infrastructure_Strategy_May_2018.pdf  

• National Character Area (NCA) Profile 64: Potteries and Churnet Valley, 2015
 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6113027589931008?category=587130  

• All ecological maps, data tables and the research for the Nature Recovery Zones been created by  
 The Staffordshire Ecological Records Centre at Staffordshire Wildlife Trust.

• Planning for Landscape Change: Supplementary Planning Guidance to the Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent  
 Structure Plan 1996 – 2011 Appendix 2: A Strategic Statement on Preferred Areas for Woodland Initiatives  
 https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/Environment-and-countryside/Documents/StaffordshireSP 
 GAppendix2.pdf  

• All flooding maps have been created by the Environment Agency
 https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk 

• Existing and emerging Local Plan documents and evidence base

Page 274



A P P E N D I C E S 91

A P P E N D I X B:  L I S T O F C O M M U N IT Y FA C I L IT I E S

• Town Hall (accommodating Staffordshire County Council, Staffordshire Moorlands and Biddulph Town  
 Council staff along with Staffordshire Police Neighbourhood Team and PCSOs)
• 3 Post Offices (and widely used post boxes across all five wards)
• Biddulph Youth and Community Zone
• Library
• Allotments
• Burial Grounds
• Approximately ten active churches with associated halls and meeting facilities
• Declining number of (well used) pubs
• Fire Station, with ambulance base for Rapid Response Vehicle (RRV)
• 6 first/ primary schools, two middle schools, one high school
• Large healthcare centre based on Wharf Road
• Private and NHS dentists
• Childcare facilities (private and voluntary) playgroups, nurseries and Staffordshire Moorlands  
 Children’s Centre
• Leisure Centre
• Three recreation grounds with changing facilities 
• Children’s play areas
• Two Bowling Clubs
• Visitor Centre and Biddulph Grange Country Park
• Community Noticeboards, e.g. outside Town Hall, Brown Lees Village Green
• Public toilets
• Cash machines at various locations
• Residential homes for elderly residents.

Page 275



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N92

A P P E N D I X C:  A  C O M P O S IT E P R OT E CT E D/B A P S P E C I E S 
L I S T:  B I D D U L P H N E I G H B O U R H O O D P L A N (S J85) 
P R O D U C E D 16/1/2017

This list is created from 1km sq information, so may include records outside the search area:

Common Name
Common Toad
Great Crested Newt
Lesser Redpoll
Common Sandpiper
Sky Lark
Common Kingfisher
Northern Pintail
Northern Shoveler
Eurasian Teal
Mallard
Garganey
Gadwall
Greater White-fronted 
Goose
European White-fronted 
Goose
Greylag Goose
Pink-footed Goose
Meadow Pipit
Tree Pipit
Common Swift
Ruddy Turnstone
Common Pochard
Tufted Duck
Greater Scaup
Common Goldeneye
Red Knot
Little Plover
Eurasian Dotterel
Black Tern
Black-headed Gull
Eurasian Marsh Harrier
Hen Harrier
Stock Dove
Common Cuckoo
Bewick’s Swan
Whooper Swan
House Martin
Lesser Spotted Woodpeck-
er
Little Egret
Corn Bunting
Yellowhammer
Reed Bunting
Peregrine Falcon
Eurasian Hobby
Common Kestrel
Pied Flycatcher
Brambling
Common Snipe
Eurasian Oystercatcher

Barn Swallow
Herring Gull
Common Gull
Lesser Black-backed Gull
Great Black-backed Gull
Mediterranean Gull
Yellow-legged Gull
Yellow-legged Gull
Bar-tailed Godwit
Black-tailed Godwit
Linnet
Twite
Common Grasshopper 
Warbler
Common Crossbill
Wood Lark
Jack Snipe
Common Scoter
Red Kite
Grey Wagtail
Yellow Wagtail
Yellow Wagtail
Spotted Flycatcher
Eurasian Curlew
Whimbrel
Northern Wheatear
Osprey
House Sparrow
Eurasian Tree Sparrow
Grey Partridge
European Honey-buzzard
Common Redstart
Wood Warbler
Willow Warbler
Green Woodpecker
Snow Bunting
Slavonian Grebe
Willow Tit
a willow tit
Marsh Tit
Dunnock
Common Bullfinch
Sand Martin
Whinchat
Eurasian Woodcock
European Serin
Common Tern
Arctic Tern
Sandwich Tern
Common Starling
Common Whitethroat
Little Grebe

Common Greenshank
Green Sandpiper
Common Redshank
Redwing
Song Thrush
Fieldfare
Ring Ouzel
Mistle Thrush
Barn Owl
Northern Lapwing
Juniper
Freshwater White-clawed 
Crayfish
Common Cudweed
Dark-leaved Hawkweed
Bluebell
Pennyroyal
Small Water-pepper
Jacob’s-ladder
Native Black Poplar
Long-stalked Pondweed
a flowering plant
a flowering plant
Monk’s-rhubarb
Water-soldier
Heath Dog-violet
Wild Pansy
Ivy-leaved Bellflower
Brown Birch Bolete
Dusky Bolete
Small Heath
Tawny Mining Bee
a hymenopteran
a bumble bee
Field Cuckoo Bee
Small Garden Bumble Bee
Tree Bumble Bee
Large Red Tailed Bumble 
Bee
White-tailed Bumble Bee
Common Carder-bee
Early Bumble Bee
Buff-tailed Bumble Bee
insect - hymenopteran
Tree Wasp
insect - hymenopteran
Hornet
Red Wasp
Common Wasp
Grey Dagger
Knot Grass
Brown-spot Pinion

Green-brindled Crescent
Deep-brown Dart
Garden Tiger
Centre-barred Sallow
Mottled Rustic
Broom Moth
Latticed Heath
Scarce Grass-veneer
Small Square-spot
Small Phoenix
September Thorn
Dusky Thorn
Autumnal Rustic
Ghost Moth
Rosy Rustic
Shoulder-striped Wainscot
Rosy Minor
Dot Moth
Powdered Quaker
Large Wainscot
Shaded Broad-bar
White Ermine
Buff Ermine
Hedge Rustic
Blood-vein
Cinnabar
Oak Hook-tip
a true fly
a true fly
European Water Vole
West European Hedgehog
Brown Hare
European Otter
Eurasian Badger
Polecat
a bat
Myotis Bat species
Brandt’s Bat
Daubenton’s Bat
Whiskered Bat
Whiskered/Brandt’s Bat
Natterer’s Bat
Noctule Bat
Pipistrelle Bat species
Pipistrelle
Common Pipistrelle
Soprano Pipistrelle
Brown Long-eared Bat
Grass Snake
Common Lizard

Page 276



A P P E N D I C E S 93

A P P E N D I X D:  B I D D U L P H VA L L E Y WAY

The Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Strategy (2018) states the following about the Biddulph 
Valley Way:

Biddulph Valley Way is a major green network component and route of the former Biddulph Valley Railway 
Line. It is suitable for walkers, cyclists and horse riders. Originally a branch of the North Staffordshire Railway, 
the path has a mixture of embankments, cuttings, small copses, hedgerows and ditches. The Whitemoor Local 
Nature Reserve at the northern end of Biddulph Valley Way is a Staffordshire Site of Biological Importance 
due to its woodland wildlife. At the southern end, the corridor could link beyond the district boundary to the 
heritage country park at the site of the former Chatterley Whitfield Colliery. There is scope for increasing 
connections from the corridor to Biddulph town centre.

Proposed priorities and actions are to:

• Protect and improve the Biddulph Valley Way as an established greenway through the settlement, to   
 increase its use and enjoyment by people for health and recreation and to enhance its function as a wildlife  
 corridor. 

In particular to:

 Investigate scope for improving and maintaining the Biddulph Valley Way and for increasing the   
 connections to the Way from the town centre;

 Investigate opportunities for improved linkages between Biddulph and Congleton and Biddulph and Stoke  
 and Newcastle, using the Biddulph Valley Way;

 Improve links to Biddulph Grange Country Park and Greenway Bank Country Park from the corridor and the  
 town centre;

 Investigate scope for establishing network connections between strategic corridors 5a, 5, 5b, 6 and 7  
 creating a Biddulph circular for walking routes and as a wildlife corridor (Green Infrastructure Strategy,  
 May 2018- Appendix E);

 Investigate opportunities to protect and improve existing sites of ecological value, including the Biddulph  
 Valley Way LNR - including by working with partners to secure and maintain appropriate conservation  
 management;

 Investigate opportunities to reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and  
 expanding existing sites of importance, helping to create and improve wildlife corridors extending into the  
 surrounding countryside;

 Investigate opportunities to support woodland planting to buffer and link existing woodlands and other  
 semi natural open habitats within priority woodland habitat networks to promote biodiversity;

 Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary storage and  
 improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.

Page 277



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N94

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGIC NETWORK FOR 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS MAY 2018

Map A.2 Large-scale, linear infrastructure features with potential for connectivity for biodiversity enhancement

Page 278



A P P E N D I C E S 95

Map A.3 Green Travel Links

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Green Infrastructure Strategy, May 2018 pg.63-63

Page 279



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N96

Whitemore Local Nature Reserve on the Biddulph Valley Way p A.3 Green Travel Links

A P P E N D I X E :  E N V I R O N M E NTA L D ATA A N D M A P P I N G

WILDLIFE AND BIODIVERSITY
The Plan area includes 9 Local Wildlife Sites (LWS - county level importance) and 7 Biodiversity Alert Sites 
(BAS - District importance).  Only one of these sites currently has Statutory Protection – Whitemore Local 
Nature Reserve on the northern section of the Biddulph Valley Way.  Whilst these sites may vary in their level of 
protection, they all form an important mosaic of habitats for wildlife and these need better connections be-
tween them to ensure that wildlife can thrive and move safely across the valley.

Residents were asked whether local green space designations were important to them - 85% of respondents 
said Yes.  

Residents were also asked about issues that the Neighbourhood Plan could focus on to make things better in 
the future.  Regarding the identification of new landscape designations, (for example, working to protect our 
Green Belt by surveying, identifying and protecting sites containing valuable habitat/species, improving the 
ecological value of the Biddulph Valley Way), 94% of respondents said that it was either very important (73%) 
or important (21%) to them.

List of sites with Statutory Protection: Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan (SJ85) produced 19/11/2018

SiteID Grid Ref. Site Name Status

86/80/55 SJ885605 Biddulph Valley Way Local Nature Reserve

Page 280



A P P E N D I C E S 97

List of non-statutory biological/ecological sites: Biddulph Neighbouhood Plan (SJ85) produced 19/11/2018

Page 281



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N98
Page 282



A P P E N D I C E S 99
Page 283



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N100

COUNTRY PARKS WITHIN THE PLAN AREA

Two Country Parks are found within the plan area;

• Biddulph Grange Country Park, managed by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

• Greenway Bank Country Park, managed by Staffordshire County Council (Also known as Knypersley Pool or  
 the Serpentine).

Both of these contain areas of ancient/ semi-natural woodland.

GEOLOGY AND GEOMORPHOLOGY
Biddulph is a unique town sitting within a small valley surrounded by wooded hills, farmland and gritstone 
escarpments.  The underlying geology in the valley exerts some control on the visual aspect of this area, with 
the rocky crags such as the Wickenstones, Troughstone Hill and those rising up to Mow Cop and The Cloud 
providing a unique skyline which is highly valued.   

The plan area has a number of unusual geological or geomorphological features evident within the landscape.  
Known as Regionally Important Geological Sites (RIGS), the Knypersley Reservoir Sandstones situated within 
Greenway Bank Country Park (site key 85/95/45), Knypersley Glacial Meltwater Channel found behind Mill 
Hayes Sports Ground (site key 85/86/42) and the Wickenstone Rocks themselves (site key 85/97/82) are all 
designated sites within the plan area.

65% of respondents in the Biddulph Householder Questionnaire said that our unusual geological features were 
very important to them.

List of non-statutory geological/geomorphogical sites:  
Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan (SJ85) produced 19/11/2018

Page 284



A P P E N D I C E S 101

WOODLANDS
The Plan area has a wonderful mix of Ancient and Semi-Natural Woodland (ASNW) defined as broadleaf 
woodlands comprising mainly native tree and shrub species which are believed to have been in existence 
for over 400 years.  These woodlands mainly grow along the higher ridges, with landscaped estate parkland 
dotted with mature trees in the lower valley below.  In places these ancient woodlands are well connected 
both to each other and the wider landscape, but there are some that are fragmented.  This makes it difficult for 
wildlife to pass safely between them.   

Ancient and Semi-Natural woodlands typically support a greater variety of flora and fauna and have a higher 
nature conservation value than newer plantations or those whose woodland cover has been intermittent. 
These woodlands may also be culturally important, such as Bailey’s Wood which is the former site of Biddulph 
Castle.  

83% of respondents in the Householder Questionnaire stated that woodlands and mature/ veteran trees were 
very important to them. 

Respondents to the Biddulph Householder Questionnaire were asked which issues they thought the 
neighbourhood plan should focus on to make things better in the future.  

With regards to Protecting Hedgerows and Trees, 96% stated that it was either very important (74%) or 
important (22%) that developers fulfil their obligations.   

This means retaining hedgerows and mature trees, retaining ponds; identifying green corridors in the Valley 
and linking them together to allow nature to move safely through the Valley.  Improving the state of our current, 
protected sites is also important (e.g. ancient woodland, heathland, geological sites).

Bailey’s Wood – site of Biddulph Castle, managed by the Woodland Trust

Page 285



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N102

REVERSING FRAGMENTATION OF ANCIENT WOODLANDS
Supplementary planning guidance for this area (Strategic Statement on Preferred areas for Woodland 
Initiatives, SCC and S-O-T Structure Plan 1996-2011) shows that Biddulph was identified as a priority area in 
which the establishment of new native woodland would be of greatest benefit in reversing the fragmentation of 
ancient woodlands, with areas identified to the West, North and East of the town.

See Map: Reversing ancient woodland fragmentation and Preferred areas for woodland planting initiatives.  
This is a policy the Neighbourhood Plan would like to see supported.

Biddulph Town Council are signatories of the Woodland Trust Tree Charter and would like to see tree planting 
increased within the neighbourhood plan area https://treecharter.uk/ in a strategic manner.

List of sites on the Staffordshire Ancient Woodland Inventory (© NE):  
Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan (SJ85) produced 19/11/2018

Page 286



A P P E N D I C E S 103

Strategic Statement on Preferred areas for Woodland Initiatives, SCC and S-O-T Structure Plan 1996-2011

REVERSING ANCIENT WOODLAND FRAGMENTATION

Page 287



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N104

Strategic Statement on Preferred areas for Woodland Initiatives, SCC and S-O-T Structure Plan 1996-2011

REVERSING ANCIENT WOODLAND FRAGMENTATION

Page 288



A P P E N D I C E S 105

THE ROLE OF TREE PLANTING IN REDUCING FLOODING
Natural flood management techniques (such as increased tree planting which allow the roots to open-up 
the soil, and identifying areas where floodwaters can naturally gather further up-catchment or along the river 
banks) could be a good solution to reduce localised flooding and benefit both wildlife and people further 
downstream.

The SMDC Green Infrastructure Strategy (May 2018) indicates a number of priority areas for riparian woodland 
planting wrapping around the south-east side of the plan area.  This is mainly focused around Crowborough 
Wood and similar upland stream corridors in the east of the valley with the aim of reducing the speed with 
which rainfall enters the stream network.   

Map 7.6 Water Management corridors in and around Biddulph

Page 289



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N106

PROTECTED SPECIES
The majority of protected species within the plan area are recorded within the two country parks or within the 
ancient and semi-ancient woodland.  Bats are found across the town centre.

Page 290



A P P E N D I C E S 107

CONNECTING NATURAL SPACES 
Fragmented habitats are increasingly common and pressure from development can make this worse.  
However, wise development can also provide opportunities to create new ecological corridors that can be used 
by people and wildlife to safely move around the valley. 

ECOLOGICAL / WILDLIFE CORRIDORS 
(ALSO KNOWN AS GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE)
The SMDC Green Infrastructure Strategy (May 2018) identified a number of ecological networks within the 
Biddulph parish, below.  

SMDC Green Infrastructure Strategy, May 2018 pp.77

Page 291



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N108

A P P E N D I X F :  F U RT H E R D E TA I L  F R O M T H E N AT U R E 
R E C O V E RY M A P

The Following information has been provided by Staffordshire Wildlife Trust:

B R O A D ZO N E S

SPECIES-RICH FARMLAND ZONE (WHITE)
BACKGROUND
• Very little arable land- mostly grassland and pasture.;

• Most of the flatter areas with better soil have been agriculturally improved and have lower wildlife value;

• Most semi-natural vegetation is found on the wet, steep or rocky areas that have not been cultivated or  
 improved, and much of this has good diversity. Some areas are well connected through stream corridors,  
 road verges and smaller patches of habitat between larger blocks;

• Mineral extraction can be destructive, but also offers opportunities for restoration of rarer habitats.

ISSUES
• Some semi-natural habitats are fragmented or of small size. Agricultural intensification such as ploughing  
 and re-seeding grasslands, nutrient enrichment and drainage have reduced semi-natural habitats.

OPPORTUNITIES
• Restoration and creation of farmland habitat features as links and stepping stones– ponds, hedges, field  
 margins, road verges, small copses, enhance watercourses, create areas of diverse lowland meadow and  
 heathland mosaic.

URBAN ZONE (GREY)
BACKGROUND
• Biddulph boasts many linear green corridors and green wedges linking to rural areas – watercourses, 
disused railway, wetland areas and green spaces. 

ISSUES
• Flooding where watercourses have been built up to with no room for water movement;

• Potential habitat loss or degradation through urban expansion;

• Potential run off from roads and urban areas impacting on watercourses;

• Some public green spaces are currently not of high biodiversity value but could become useful ‘stepping  
 stones’ for wildlife if their value were enhanced.

Page 292



A P P E N D I C E S 109

OPPORTUNITIES
• Designate and secure protection and management of any high value habitats;

• Include new or retro-fitted sustainable drainage systems such as ponds, swales and wetlands, permeable  
 surfaces and water butts;

• Enhancing and managing green corridors to achieve higher wildlife value;

• Promote wildlife friendly gardens, and the importance of retaining trees and hedgerows;

• Include new bat and bird roosting/ nesting features in new developments;

• Restore existing hedgerows and plant new ones where opportunities allow;

• Ensure any new allotment sites selected as part of the neighbourhood’s requirements will not damage  
 ecology interest, and are designed to benefit wildlife;

• Ensure any new development contributes to GI objectives, either within the site or through contributions to  
 sites or projects nearby;

• Include and increase street trees where possible in new developments and existing areas;

• Conserve any existing traditional orchards in urban areas/ gardens, and create a new orchard where   
 practicable;

• Enhance amenity grasslands with wildflower seed/ bulbs in suitable areas, and consider management to  
 encourage birds and insects.

F O C U S A R E A S

HEATHLAND MOSAIC FOCUS AREAS (PURPLE)
BACKGROUND
• Heathland, acid grassland and scrub habitat is scattered in fairly small patches around the parish, and is  
 restricted to acidic soil. It tends to be found on and around rocky outcrops. Many road verges also support  
 heathy/ acidic vegetation. Much of the mature and ancient woodland areas also coincide with steep,  
 hard to cultivate land, so that mosaics of woodland, heathland and grassland are found rather than large  
 expanses of heathland habitat. 

ISSUES
• Lack of management for restoring heathland and general agricultural improvement;

• Much of the heathland in the parish has yet to be surveyed or designated.

OPPORTUNITIES
• Survey and designation of heathland areas;

• Securing management on existing heathland mosaics;

• Creating new small-scale heathland mosaics on suitable soils to expand and link existing sites, including  
 road verges.

Page 293



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N110

WOODLAND FOCUS AREAS (GREEN) 
BACKGROUND
• Biddulph has significant areas of semi-natural woodlands, including many ancient woodlands. These tend  
 to be concentrated on areas of thinner soil and steep, less- cultivatable land.

ISSUES
• Fragmented patches of woodland in many areas;

• Lack of management;

• Invasive species such as rhododendron;

• The Environment Agency advocates tree planting along watercourses in upland areas to slow water flow.

OPPORTUNITIES
• Support management of existing woodlands;

• Link existing woodlands with restored hedges with added standard trees, or create tree belts;

• Riparian tree planting around upper brook catchments;

• Expand and buffer existing ancient woodlands and woodland Local Wildlife Sites;

• Create new woodland blocks where these can act as stepping stones;

• Avoid tree planting on existing high value habitats

GRASSLAND FOCUS AREAS (ORANGE)
BACKGROUND
• Grasslands are the habitat we know least about in the parish, as they have yet to be comprehensively  
 surveyed, and are difficult to distinguish from aerial photos. Diverse grasslands seem to be small and  
 scattered, commonly found on wet or steep land that is harder to improve agriculturally. Road verges  
 are also an important resource for unimproved grassland as they have escaped improvement. From initial  
 aerial photograph interpretation it appears there may be a concentration of more diverse grasslands in the  
 south-east of the parish, and a smaller group of wet grasslands on the south-west side of Biddulph.

ISSUES
• Agricultural improvement- re-seeding, drainage, fertiliser application;

• Generally small size and scattered nature of grasslands;

• Much of the diverse grassland in the parish has yet to be surveyed or designated.

OPPORTUNITIES
• Support management of existing diverse grasslands;

• Create new meadows in key areas that will support existing habitat;

• Manage and enhance road verges to link sites.

 

Page 294



A P P E N D I C E S 111

WATER
BACKGROUND
• The area’s topography determines where water settles and flows. Most of the parish is in the River  
 Dane catchment, with most water flowing into Biddulph from the surrounding high ground. Many small  
 tributaries feed into the main watercourse, the Biddulph Brook, which flows north through the town to  
 join the River Dane in Congleton. There is a watershed across the south and eastern quarter of the parish,  
 roughly following Tower Hill Road, Newpool Road, Park Lane and New Street,  and cutting through the  
 centre of Biddulph Moor. Water falling to the north/west of this line flows into the Dane, and to the south/ 
 east of it into the River Trent catchment.

BROOK CATCHMENTS FOCUS AREAS (DARK BLUE)
BACKGROUND
• Most watercourses are wooded – steep or not easy to cultivate. 

ISSUES
• Most flatter fields have been drained and agriculturally improved, so less water stays on the land- it runs off  
 faster into the lower areas and causes short-term flash flooding in the built-up areas;

• Little buffer of natural vegetation along some watercourses.

OPPORTUNITIES
• Habitat creation and watercourse enhancement in the upper catchments to slow the flow. More ponds,  
 small wetlands, woodland planting, other buffer habitat, woody debris etc.

VALLEY WETLANDS FOCUS AREAS (LIGHT BLUE)
BACKGROUND
• Very little ‘fluvial’ flooding- narrow floodplain along the Biddulph Brook;

• Much more surface water flooding (pluvial);

• Most watercourse corridors in the urban areas are also accessible linear green spaces. 

ISSUES
• Large concentration of flooding hotspots- greatest number of any settlement in the district. 

OPPORTUNITIES
• Creating and managing wet grassland and lowland meadows;

• Wetland habitat creation in the lower lying areas where water sits for longer- ponds, scrapes and marshy  
 areas;

• Planting trees and scrub where appropriate.

• Restoring modified/ straightened channels to a more natural meandering shape, increasing water capacity,  
 improve filtering, flood attenuation, water cooling and soil protection;

• Retrofitting sustainable drainage features in urban areas to alleviate flooding

• Enhancing visibility and access to watercourses as part of open spaces;

Page 295



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N112

• Installing wildlife features such as kingfisher nesting banks and otter holts;

• Pollarding willows and other trees to prolong life;

• Improve the stream channel complexity, for example to improve filtering, flood attenuation, water cooling  
 and soil protection;

• Work with the Environment Agency to assess all culverts, weirs and other artificial structures to determine  
 whether these can be removed/ adapted to enable free movement of aquatic species and natural   
 processes;

• Work with the River Dane and the Staffordshire Trent Valley Catchment Partnerships, part of the national  
 Catchment Based Approach (CaBA), to improve the understanding of brook quality. This could include for  
 example:

   the adoption of stretches of watercourses by communities;

   water quality testing in specified locations by members of the public (following best practice  
    biosecurity measures);

   sourcing funding for more detailed baseline studies and habitat enhancements 

S P E C I E S

PRIORITY SPECIES FOR THE SPECIES-RICH FARMLAND ECOSYSTEM 
ACTION PLAN ARE:
  Birds - Barn owl, Farmland seed-eating birds, Snipe, Lapwing, Yellow wagtail, Skylark, Grey partridge,  
  Cuckoo, Grasshopper warbler, Wood warbler;

  Mammals - Bats - brown long-eared, noctule, pipistrelle, Polecat, Brown hare;

  Invertebrates- Heath rustic (moth), Wall (butterfly);

  Herpetiles – Grass Snake, Common Toad;

  Plants - Dyer’s greenweed.

BACKGROUND
  Well-managed farmland with semi-natural habitats supports a large range of priority species such as  
  barn owl Tyto alba, skylark Alauda arvensis, linnet Linaria cannabina, and yellowhammer Emberiza  
  citrinella as well as mammals like brown hare Lepus europaeus and polecat Mustela putorius;

  Scarcer species are seen in the more upland areas, such as Ring Ouzel Turdus torquatus;

  Mature woodland areas are particularly important for bats, and a range of scarce plant species;

  Priority plant species in the parish include native black poplar Populus nigra subsp. Betulifolia;

  Wetland and less intensively farmed areas support a range of water fowl and waders such as lapwing,  
  curlew;

  Urban areas have records of hedgehog Mustela putorius, amphibians, and birds such as song thrush  
  Turdus philomelos, house sparrow Passer domesticus and bullfinch Pyrrhula pyrrhula.

Page 296



A P P E N D I C E S 113

OPPORTUNITIES
 Encouraging otters to return and use the Biddulph Brook would be an aim that would indicate the health of  
 watercourses in the area;

 Also benefits to brook lamprey Lampetra planeri, native brown trout Salmo trutta and Red Data Book  
 species logjammer hoverfly Chalcosyrphus eunotus;

 There may be opportunities to encourage white-clawed crayfish in tributaries;

 Planting of Black Poplar in wetland areas would increase this rare UK priority tree;

 Willow tit could be encouraged with tree and scrub management in suitable wetland areas;

 Scarce plants such as Long-stalked Pondweed and Petite-leaved Hawkweed have been recorded on Local  
 Wildlife Sites- these should be protected and encouraged.

A P P E N D I X G:  S TA F F O R D S H I R E C O U NT Y C O U N C I L 
H I S TO R I C E N V I R O N M E NT R E P O RT (H E R) M O N U M E NT 
F U L L R E P O RT

This information is available on an interactive map at: 
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/Environment-and-countryside/HistoricEnvironment/Historic- 
environment-record.aspx

25/04/2017 NUMBER OF RECORDS: 125

PRN Number 00069 - MST69
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8936 6017 (36m by 42m)
Site Name Biddulph Old Hall
The scheduled remains of Biddulph Old Hall, a mansion house of late 16th century date. The house was mostly 
destroyed by Cromwell in 1643 (during the civil war), although a small part survived to be incorporated into the 
listed 17th century farmhouse (Primary Record Number 06009) which now on the site.

PRN Number 40277 - MST6382 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89367 60150 (92m by 182m)
Site Name Biddulph Old Hall Garden, Biddulph
Formal garden at Old Biddulph Hall, Overton Road, Biddulph.

PRN Number 00178 - MST178
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8963 6042 (12m by 12m)
Site Name Shepherd’s Cross, Biddulph

PRN Number 00179 - MST179 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 88934 59478 (90m by 88m)
Site Name Ringwork Castle, Bailey’s Wood, Biddulph
00179 - MST179
The scheduled remains of a ringwork castle which was the home of the Biddulph family until they moved to 
their new house (Biddulph Hall), just north-west of this site, in the 16th century.

Page 297



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N114

PRN Number 00371 - MST371 
National Grid Reference SJ 885 575 (point)
Site Name Axe Hammer Findspot, Biddulph
A probable Bronze-Age perforated axe hammer found at Biddulph, which is now in Hanley Museum, Stoke-on-
Trent. The axe hammer is thought to have been recovered from a church-yard in Biddulph.

PRN Number 00373 - MST373 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8981 5554 (29m by 30m)
Site Name Gawton’s Well, Knypersley Hall Park, Knypersley
A well associated with a man named Gawton, who is supposed to have been cured by the waters of the well 
and lived thereafter at the nearby Gawton’s Stone. The well is situated within Knypersley Hall Park.  The well 
was famous in the 17th century for medicinal properties, especially against the plague.

PRN Number 00509 - MST509 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9058 6218 (122m by 76m)
Site Name Bridestones Burial Chamber, Biddulph
The remains of a scheduled Neolithic chambered long cairn on the Staffordshire/Cheshire County boundary.

PRN Number 40297 - MST6401 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9077 6227 (322m by 327m)
Site Name Landscape Park, Bridestones, Biddulph
A post-medieval landscape park at the Bridestones.

PRN Number 01201 - MST1198 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9002 5552 (53m by 53m)
Site Name Gawton’s Stone, Biddulph
A natural pile of stones.

PRN Number 01289 - MST1284 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8808 5683 (24m by 20m)
Site Name Church of St John the Evangelist, Biddulph
01289 - MST1284
A listed church built between 1848 and 1851 in the Early English style and designed by architect R. C. Hussey. 
The church was built at the expense of John Bateman of Knypersley Hall. A medieval cross (PRN 06014) 
stands in the churchyard

PRN Number 01608 - MST1600 
National Grid Reference SJ 883 602 (point)
Site Name Silver spoon, Whitemore Farm, Biddulph
A Roman silver spoon found near Whitemore Farm in 1886.

PRN Number 01949 - MST1941
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 88829 55501 (196m by 116m
Site Name Site of Knypersley Mill, Knypersley
The site of a nineteenth century silk mill
The site of Mill Hayes farm and reservoir is possibly the original position of the old mill. 

Page 298



A P P E N D I C E S 115

PRN Number 01609 - MST1601 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 88745 60122 (109m by 94m)
Site Name Whitegates Glass Works
Glass Works: The approximate site of a glass works described in the Transactions of the North Staffordshire 
Field Club in 1943. The centre hole was recorded to be 9 feet deep and 3 feet in diameter, with the sides being 
of sandstone.  An archaeological evaluation uncovered glass ‘siege pots’ in disturbed context, however most 
findings were consistent with iron working. The evidence, mainly in the form of iron slag, indicated a possible 
iron bloomery predating the glass working.  There is also cartographic evidence of an iron forge on the site.

PRN Number 02381 - MST2371 
National Grid Reference SJ 891 590 (point)
Site Name Biddulph / Bidolf (Settlement)
A settlement possibly established by the late 11th century. The core of the settlement from this period through 
to the late 18th century was focused around Biddulph Grange and the Church of St Lawrence, however with the 
expansion of coal mining and ironworking activity during the 19th century the focus of the settlement shifted 
southwards (around the Bradley Green area), with the population increasing significantly during this period.

PRN Number 03127 - MST3114 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 90145 58186 (81m by 45m)
Site Name Nettlebeds Farm, Biddulph
A cruck framed building of post medieval date at Nettlebeds Farm.

PRN Number 03692 - MST3465 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 88829 59819 (91m by 117m)
Site Name Leamill Forge, Biddulph
03740 Millpond, Leamill Forge, Biddulph
The forge is recorded a late 18th century map although it may have also been operated as a flint mill in the 
18th and early 19th centuries. By the mid 19th century it was an iron works and during the early 20th century it 
was converted to a dye works.

PRN Number 03740 - MST3511 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 88826 59672 (14m by 41m)
Site Name Millpond, Leamill Forge, Biddulph
An extant pond which is the possible site of a mill pond shown on a map of 1775. The mill pond is associated 
with a forge 

PRN Number 04913 - MST4496 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8668 5684 (323m by 340m)
Site Name Towerhill Colliery, Towerhill Road, Biddulph
The colliery was operating in the early 19th century but had closed by circa 1900.

PRN Number 20805 - MST6054 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 86369 56703 (1671m by 695m)
Site Name Tower Hill Colliery Tramway, Railway and Tunnel
A tramway was built between the Tower Hill and Collieries and Congleton in the early 19th century. In 1832 a 
new railway, with a 430 metre long tunnel was built to replace the old tramway.

Page 299



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N116

PRN Number 13496 - MST9855 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8670 5682 (15m by 19m)
Site Name Engine House, Biddulph Road, Biddulph
An early-mid 19th century Grade II Listed colliery buildings. These probably comprise the stables and 
workshops, but possibly also the engine house. The foundations of the winding engine house are also extant. 
Alterations were made in the 20th century.

PRN Number 51694 - MST13111 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8789 5825 (503m by 222m)
Site Name The Falls Colliery, Falls Farm, Gillow Heath
An eighteenth century colliery, flooded by Robert Heath in the late nineteenth century when he opened the 
Biddulph Valley Coal and Ironworks.  The Falls Colliery is first mentioned in 1808 when Edward Mainwaring, 
the owner of the land, granted a 31 year lease to Hugh Henshall Williamson for the purpose of running ‘an iron 
railroad’ from his colliery to the Pilacosha Wharf on Congleton Edge Road. A plan for a railway or tram road to 
run by the Macclesfield canal to the Red Cross toll bar at Knypersley shows that Hugh Henshall Williamson, 
the owner of the Falls colliery, had eight working shafts in operation in 1838. A plan of the Falls colliery in 1847 
shows four shafts on the western rear dip working the Bullhurst, Newpool and Froggery seams, and two shafts 
close to where Biddulph Station (PRN 51666) was later built, working the Bullhurst and Winpenny seams. In 
1848 the Falls colliery was advertised to let, and again in 1849, but there was no mention of it in the White’s 
directory of 1851 and it is likely that all the coal had been worked that was accessible by the technology 
available at the time. 

PRN Number 51706 - MST13123 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8815 5736 (8m by 9m)
Site Name Coal Shaft, Bradley Green
A 19th century coal mine shaft, possibly associated with the Bradley Green Colliery to the north-west, but 
equally likely to be the result of a smaller scale working. Visible on the 1889 first edition Ordnance Survey map.

PRN Number 51705 - MST13122 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8783 5752 (581m by 474m)
Site Name Bradley Green Colliery, Wharf Road, Biddulph
An eighteenth-century coal mine which was expanded in the early nineteenth century by Silas Leigh and John 
Bradbury.  In 1772 coal was being delivered to Astbury Limeworks by John Ford, who was working the seam 
in the land of the farm he owned on the western side of Tunstall Road. This land was bought by Silas Leigh 
and John Bradbury in 1838 where they developed Bradley Green colliery. In 1838 there were two shafts open 
on this land. The colliery closed in 1894, when the deepest shafts were the Balder and the Rover (250 yards 
and 265 yards respectively) and the Winpenny and Bowling Alley had been worked out. After 1894, the Balder 
continued as a pumping pit to prevent water from entering the shafts at Biddulph Valley Colliery. 

PRN Number 51709 - MST13126 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8755 5791 (335m by 215m)
Site Name East Ballbrook Colliery, Biddulph
A nineteenth century coal mine (possibly called the ‘Turnhurst’), which had gone out of use by the late 19th 
century. Remains of the workings were still identifiable in 1963.

Page 300



A P P E N D I C E S 117

PRN Number 51710 - MST13127 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8706 5746 (334m by 276m)
Site Name Site of Ballbrook Colliery, Akesmore Lane, Biddulph
The site of Ballbrook Colliery at Biddulph. The colliery was extant in the earlier 20th century.  The colliery 
consists of two shafts, one of which is an adit, and a short tramroad between these two features. (LH, 26-Sept-
2007).  Slight traces of the feature are visible on aerial photography from 1963, but no visible remains can be 
seen on aerial photography from circa 2000.

PRN Number 51713 - MST13130 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8757 5692 (190m by 166m)
Site Name Newpool Villa Colliery, Newpool Road, Newpool, Biddulph
The site of a colliery (Newpool Villa Colliery), off Newpool Road, Biddulph. The colliery appears to have been 
extant by the late 19th century and probably continued in use into the early 20th century.

PRN Number 51715 - MST13132 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8739 5677 (185m by 143m)
Site Name Site of Colliery, Newpool Road, Newpool, Biddulph
The site of a colliery off Newpool Road, Biddulph in the late nineteenth century. It appears to have gone out of 
use by the 1930s.

PRN Number 51717 - MST13134 
National Grid Reference SJ 8788 5670 (point)
Site Name Site of Coal Shaft, Red Cross, Knypersley
The site of a coal mine shaft at Red Cross, Knypersley in the late nineteenth century.

PRN Number 51719 - MST13136 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8815 5691 (136m by 112m)
Site Name Site of Colliery, St John’s Road, Knypersley
The site of a colliery in the nineteenth century, off St John’s Road, Knypersley. The colliery appeared to have 
gone out of use by the 1930s.

PRN Number 51720 - MST13137 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8817 5671 (88m by 47m)
Site Name Site of Colliery, Park Lane, Knypersley
The site of a colliery within the bounds of Knypersley Hall Park. The colliery was extant in the late 19th century.

PRN Number 51722 - MST13139 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8945 5644 (66m by 44m)
Site Name Shaft, Park Lane Farm, Knypersley
19th century mine shaft, disused before 1888 when it was marked on the first edition Ordnance Survey map of 
the area.

Page 301



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N118

PRN Number 51727 - MST13144 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8827 5501 (371m by 135m)
Site Name Childerplay Colliery, Greenway Bank, Biddulph and Brown Edge
Childerplay colliery was first mentioned in 1775 when it was cited next to Childerplay Farm, which stood on the 
East side of Childerplay Road near to its junction with Bemersley Road. In 1810 it came under the ownership 
of James and John Bateman, and the rich coal-seams in the area were probably the reason why Bateman 
purchased the Knypersley estate for his son John. The farmhouse was demolished in the 1930s.

PRN Number 51728 - MST13145 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8801 5562 (808m by 1182m)
Site Name Biddulph Valley Coal and Ironworks, Biddulph
Successful colliery and iron foundry of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. The colliery and iron works 
were owned by both the Batemans and Robert Heath.  Biddulph Valley Colliery, originally known as the ‘Victoria 
Colliery’, was built in the 1860s to further exploit the mineral deposits below the Knypersley Hall estate. The 
Biddulph Valley branch of the North Staffordshire Railway operated a side branch that served the Coal and 
Ironworks and most of the trains and some of the tracks were manufactured at the foundry.  At the height of 
its production, the ironworks supplied iron to both the Forth Railway Bridge and the Menai Bridge.

PRN Number 51695 - MST13112 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8818 5813 (222m by 192m)
Site Name Brickfield, Station Road, Gillow Heath
A 19th century brickfield marked on the 1888 first edition Ordnance Survey map, which had gone out of use by 
the time of the second edition in 

PRN Number 51707 - MST13124 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8835 5721 (175m by 100m)
Site Name Brick Field, Bradley Green
A nineteenth century brick field and clay pit, identified on the 1st Edition Ordnance Survey mapping.

PRN Number 30043 - MST6097 
National Grid Reference SJ 880 570 (point)
Site Name Biddulph Carved Stone
A carved stone figure of a kneeling man found in a back garden off Well Street, Biddulph. The simple style of 
the figure suggests a possible early medieval date.

PRN Number 06010 - MST5061 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8899 5901 (27m by 18m)
Site Name St Lawrence’s Church, Congleton Road, Biddulph
A listed parish church with a fifteenth century core, including the tower; the church was substantially rebuilt 
circa 1833. It is possible that it has at least 12th century origins.

PRN Number 13498 - MST9856 
Site Name St Lawrence’s Churchyard Wall
Churchyard wall, entrance archways and gates to the south and west of the Church, dated 1835.

PRN Number 13499 - MST9857 
Site Name Church of St Lawrence Chest Tomb
Late-17th or early-18th century stone chest tomb.

Page 302



A P P E N D I C E S 119

PRN Number 13500 - MST9858 
Site Name Genders Memorial
Early-19th century stone pedestal tomb to the Genders family.

PRN Number 13501 - MST9859 
Site Name Gosling Memorial
Stone chest tomb for Francis Gosling, who died in 1823, and owned and ran Leamill forge up until his death.
PRN Number 13502 - MST9860 
Site Name Church of St Lawrence Coach House
Mid-19th century coach house and lodgings at the church of St Lawrence’s, Biddulph.

PRN Number 13503 - MST9878 
Site Name Weeping Cross, St Lawrence’s Church, Biddulph
Stone cross of possible 15th century date, restored in the mid-19th century.

PRN Number 50453 - MST11566 
Site Name St Lawrence’s Churchyard
The churchyard to St Lawrence’s medieval parish church.

PRN Number 13505 - MST9879 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 90478 56876 (15m by 11m)
Site Name Crowborough Farmhouse, Crowborough Road, Crowborough, Biddulph
A listed stone farmhouse built in 1664 and rebuilt in the nineteenth century.

PRN Number 06016 - MST9959 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8853 5858 (16m by 20m)
Site Name Gillowfold Farmhouse, Biddulph
A listed farmhouse with a 15th century, timber-framed core, a late 17th century coursed stone wing and a 19th 
century red brick wing. The house has a ‘T’ shaped plan derived from a hall and crosswing and has a surviving 
large cruck truss marking the division of the 17th century parlour cross wing from the former hall. The property 
is now divided into two units.

PRN Number 13506 - MST9960 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8786 5806 (22m by 20m)
Site Name Whitehouse Cottage, Biddulph
A listed timber framed dwelling of late 15th century date with mid 19th and 20th century alterations. The 
cottage is of timber framed construction with wattle and daub and painted brick infill and a Norfolk reed 
roof. Three cruck truss frames survive inside. The building appears to have developed from an open hall.  
Whitehouse Cottage is the best preserved timber walled cruck-framed building in the Staffordshire Moorlands, 
retaining all three of its cruck trusses, much of its outer walling and its thatched roof. Originally built as a 
two-bay structure with a central truss rising an apex with hipped ends. A third bay was added in the 17th 
century. There is no evidence of smoke blackening on the timber framed firehood it is presumed to be original. 
The ground floor levels of the original bays are at different heights and the infilling of the central truss and 
the addition of upper floors seem to have been cumulative rather than a single phase. The central cruck 
was dendrochronologically dated to give an estimated felling date of 1580.  The White House is the oldest 
inhabited dwelling in the area.

Page 303



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N120

PRN Number 40054 - MST6163 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89679 59058 (1373m by 893m)
Site Name Biddulph Grange Park and Biddulph Grange Gardens
A Grade I registered park and garden which was laid out between the 1840s and 1860s by James and Maria 
Bateman in collaboration with Edward Cooke. The landscaping comprises discrete ‘world gardens’ including 
China and Egypt. The gardens were restored by the National Trust in the early 1990s.

PRN Number 05548 - MST6474 
Site Name Biddulph Grange and Biddulph Grange Hospital
The original property was burnt down in 1896 and largely rebuilt in 1897 by the architect John Bower for the 
Bateman family. It was converted to a hospital in 1922, which closed in the late 20th century. The property is 
now managed by the National Trust.

PRN Number 13486 - MST9838 
Site Name The Alcove

PRN Number 13487 - MST9839 
Site Name Biddulph Almshouses
Row of mid-19th century almshouses, listed with attached boundary walls and railings, approximately 100m 
north of Biddulph Grange.

PRN Number 13488 - MST9840 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Chinese Bridge
Ornamental footbridge in the Chinese Garden at Biddulph Grange, built 1848-1860 by John Bateman.

PRN Number 06004 - MST9841 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Chinese Temple
Ornamental garden temple at the entrance to the Chinese Garden at Biddulph Grange, built 1848-1860 by John 
Bateman.

PRN Number 06001 - MST9842 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Egyptian Portal
A listed ornamental garden portal in the Egyptian garden at Biddulph Grange, built in circa 1856 by John 
Bateman.

PRN Number 13489 - MST9843 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Garden Steps
Formal steps and approach to Heath’s study at Italian Garden, Biddulph Grange, built 1848-1860 by John 
Bateman.

PRN Number 13490 - MST9844 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Garden Gateway
Mid-19th century Tudor-arched doorway to Biddulph Grange gardens, located approximately 70m south-east of 
St Lawrence’s Church.

Page 304



A P P E N D I C E S 121

PRN Number 06005 - MST9845 
Site Name The Great Wall of China, Biddulph Grange
Listed ornamental garden walls forming part of the Chinese Garden perambulation at Biddulph Grange. The 
walls are of coursed stone construction with a ruinous finished appearance. They were built between 1848-
1860 by John Bateman.

PRN Number 06006 - MST9846 
Site Name The Joss House
Ornamental Chinese shelter forming part of the Chinese Garden at Biddulph Grange, built 1848-1860 by John 
Bateman.
PRN Number 13491 - MST9847 
Site Name Overton Road Entrance, Biddulph Grange
The listed mid 19th century Overton Road entrance to Biddulph Grange, which comprises ashlar panelled gate 
piers with crested timber gates flanked by stone flanking walls and a pedestrian entrance.

PRN Number 06007 - MST9848 
Site Name The Prospect Tower
Ornamental garden tower with stepped approach forming part of the Chinese Garden at Biddulph Grange, built 
1848-1860 by John Bateman.

PRN Number 13492 - MST9849 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Arbour
Rectangular seating enclosure with stone seat at Biddulph Grange, built c1860 by John Bateman.
PRN Number 13493 - MST9850 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Spring Head Basin
Ornamental spring head basin in the shape of a lion’s head at Biddulph Grange, built 1848-1860 by John 
Bateman.

PRN Number 06003 - MST9851 
Site Name The Tea House
Ornamental cottage ornee and tunnel connecting to the Egyptian portal at Biddulph Grange, dated 1856.

PRN Number 13494 - MST9852 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Garden Entrance
Ornamental garden tunnel entrance at Biddulph Grange, forming part of the perimeter perambulation from the 
main house, built 1848-1860 by John Bateman.

PRN Number 06008 - MST9853 
Site Name The Vase, Biddulph
Ornamental mid-19th century stone garden vase, situated in the Chinese Garden at Biddulph Grange Gardens.

PRN Number 13495 - MST9854 
Site Name The Walled Garden, Biddulph Grange
A listed, ornamental semi-circular garden wall with portals at either end, forming part of the Chinese Garden 
perambulation at Biddulph Grange, built 1848-1860 by John Bateman.

Page 305



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N122

PRN Number 50230 - MST11333 
Site Name Biddulph Grange Egyptian Sphinxes
Two pairs of stone sphinxes in the Egyptian Garden at Biddulph Grange, built c1856 by John Bateman.

PRN Number 50231 - MST11334 
Site Name Sculpture of a Brahmin Cow, Biddulph Grange
Life-size sculpture of the Brahmin Cow, forming part of the Chinese Garden perambulation at Biddulph Grange, 
built 1848-1860 by John Bateman.

PRN Number 50232 - MST11335 
Site Name Site of Biddulph Grange
Documentary evidence suggests that Hulton Abbey, now lying within Stoke-on-Trent, held a grange in Biddulph 
during the medieval period. The abbey certainly held tithes within the parish from 1291.

PRN Number 13520 - MST9974 
National Grid Reference SJ 8918 5939 (point)
Site Name Spring Head Basin, Biddulph Grange, Grange Road, Biddulph
A Grade II stone well head constructed in the early to mid 19th century. It is Neo-Norman in style with a zig-zag 
moulded arch over a stone basin.

PRN Number 50002 - MST11099 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8923 5960 (4m by 2m)
Site Name Ornamental Bridge, West of Grange Road, Biddulph
A listed ornamental stone bridge built by James Bateman in the mid 19th century as part of a private walk 
created to link Biddulph Old Hall and Biddulph Grange.
PRN Number 50003 - MST11100 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89832 59286 (4m by 3m)
Site Name Biddulph Grange Ornamental Bridge
A listed mid-19th century ornamental bridge at Biddulph Grange.

PRN Number 51680 - MST13097 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8948 5926 (42m by 39m)
Site Name Grange Estate Workshop, The Grange, Biddulph
A nineteenth century workshop housing a sawmill on the Grange estate.

PRN Number 13507 - MST9961 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8983 5978 (26m by 37m)
Site Name Elmhurst, Biddulph
A listed mid 19th century stone dwelling, built by Reverend William Holt, who owned and ran the nearby Hurst 
Silk Mill.

PRN Number 06015 - MST9965 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8963 6042 (1m by 2m)
Site Name Drinking Trough, Shepherds Cross, Overton Road, Biddulph
A listed early 19th century stone drinking trough on the Tunstall to Bosley turnpike road, to the east of 
Shepherds Cross, Biddulph.

Page 306



A P P E N D I C E S 123

PRN Number 13512 - MST9966 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89634 61313 (13m by 20m)
Site Name Higher Overton Farmhouse, Overton Road, Biddulph
An eighteenth century listed farmhouse.

PRN Number 13513 - MST9967 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89651 61336 (7m by 19m)
Site Name Barn, Higher Overton Farmhouse, Overton Road, Biddulph
A listed rubble built barn, constructed in 1740.
PRN Number 13514 - MST9968 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89630 61348 (30m by 28m)
Site Name Barn, Higher Overton Farm, Overton Road, Biddulph
A listed, eighteenth century stone built barn associated with Higher Overton Farm.

PRN Number 13515 - MST9969 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8989 6006 (29m by 39m)
Site Name The Moor House, Overton Road, Biddulph
Mid 19th century Grade II Listed house, converted into flats.

PRN Number 40050 - MST6159 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89778 60103 (306m by 380m)
Site Name The Moorhouse Park, Overton, Biddulph
A small landscape park associated with the mid 19th century country house ‘The Moorhouse

PRN Number 13516 - MST9970 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8947 6164 (14m by 20m)
Site Name Overton Hall, Overton Road, Biddulph
A listed, late 17th century farmhouse of coursed sandstone with stone slate roof. The two storey house is 
T-shaped on plan comprising hall and parlour cross wing with 19th century extension and massive double flue 
chimney stack.

PRN Number 13517 - MST9971 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89465 61615 (8m by 21m)
Site Name Barn with Dovecote, Overton Hall Farm, Overton Road, Biddulph
A listed early 19th century barn of coursed sandstone with tiled roof. The barn is of single-storey construction 
with loft and dovecote.

PRN Number 13518 - MST9972 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89480 61602 (18m by 7m)
Site Name Cow House with Hayloft, Overton Hall Farm, Overton Road, Biddulph
A listed, mid 19th century barn of coursed stone construction with tiled roof. The barn comprises two levels of 
hayloft over a byre (cow house).

Page 307



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N124

PRN Number 06009 - MST11320 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89367 60193 (25m by 21m)
Site Name Biddulph Old Hall Farmhouse
A listed farmhouse attached to the ruins of Biddulph Old Hall. The farmhouse is of late 17th century date, 
although incorporates parts of the hall from the 1580’s. The house is of coursed sandstone construction and 
forms a roughly L-shaped plan backed up against the Old Hall to the south.

PRN Number 50664 - MST12235 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89496 59856 (21m by 27m)
Site Name Biddulph Corn Mill
The site of Biddulph Mill, shown on William Yates’s map of 1775, and identified on the first Edition Ordnance 
Survey map of 1888 as a corn mill.  The mill is named as Biddulph Mill and identified as a corn mill on the 1st 
Edition Ordnance Survey map of 1888.  The site of a mill is marked in this location on William Yates’s map of 
1775.  It is believed that the corn mill pre-dated the building of Biddulph Old Hall in the 16th century. The mill 
was still grinding corn using water power in 1912, but it had probably ceased to do so by 1920. The derelict 
mill was demolished in the late 1940s.

PRN Number 51258 - MST12478 
National Grid Reference SJ 899 612 (point)
Site Name Milestone, Overton Road, Biddulph Park
A listed late 18th century milestone on the Tunstall to Bosley Turnpike route at Overton End Farm. The 
milestone once gave distances to Macclesfield and Newcastle-under-Lyme, however the distances were 
deliberately defaced in 1940 (as an official measure in case of invasion).

PRN Number 51259 - MST12479 
National Grid Reference SJ 887 584 (point)
Site Name Milestone, Biddulph
A shaped milestone which predates 1800. The signage on the stone is badly worn but has not been obliterated. 
The signage on the left hand side reads To Congleton (3 miles), To Macclesfield (11 miles). The signage of the 
right hand side reads To Newcastle (9 miles).
PRN Number 51260 - MST12480 
National Grid Reference SJ 888 596 (point)
Site Name Milestone, Congleton Road, Biddulph
A listed milestone dated to circa 1770 and of a type thought to be unique to the Biddulph area. The milestone 
once gave distances to Newcastle-under-Lyme and Congleton however the distances were obliterated in 1940 
as an official measure in case of invasion.

PRN Number 51261 - MST12481 
National Grid Reference SJ 885 610 (point)
Site Name Milestone, Whitemoor
A partially broken milestone dating from before 1800. It is situated on the A527 near the county boundary at 
Whitemoor.

PRN Number 51054 - MST12714 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 88756 59172 (20m by 15m)
Site Name Barn at Marsh Green Farm, Biddulph.
A brick built threshing barn at Marsh Green Farm.

Page 308



A P P E N D I C E S 125

PRN Number 51664 - MST13081 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8821 5792 (1012m by 6493m)
Site Name Biddulph Valley Railway Line, Biddulph
The course of a branch of the North Staffordshire Railway Line which was built in the mid nineteenth century 
at the urging of John Bateman. The line supported the various iron and mineral trades that were already 
flourishing at the time of its inception.

PRN Number 51665 - MST13082 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8868 5964 (9m by 15m)
Site Name Railway Cottage, Biddulph
A nineteenth century railway cottage that once housed the family that monitored the crossing of the Biddulph 
Valley Railway Line at this point.

PRN Number 51666 - MST13083 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8812 5839 (49m by 56m)
Site Name Gillow Heath Station, Biddulph Valley Railway, Biddulph
The site of Gillow Heath Station, built around 1860 to accommodate the Biddulph Valley Railway Line  The

PRN Number 51667 - MST13084 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8981 6058 (75m by 75m)
Site Name Quarry, Biddulph
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown purpose.

PRN Number 51668 - MST13085 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8993 6081 (151m by 79m)
Site Name Quarry, Biddulph
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51669 - MST13086 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8788 6002 (168m by 223m)
Site Name Quarry, Biddulph
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51670 - MST13087 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8733 5935 (147m by 147m)
Site Name Sand Pits, Biddulph
Sand pits worked in the nineteenth century, probably supplying fine sand to the pottery industry.

PRN Number 51671 - MST13088 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8714 5902 (344m by 498m)
Site Name Quarry, Biddulph
A large 19th century quarry

PRN Number 51672 - MST13089 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8760 5904 (21m by 24m)
Site Name Old Whetstone Mine, Biddulph
A nineteenth century whetstone mine and marl pit at which bricks were later fired.

Page 309



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N126

PRN Number 51673 - MST13090 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8794 5953 (40m by 51m)
Site Name Pit, Biddulph
A late nineteenth, early twentieth century coal pit.
PRN Number 51674 - MST13091 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8781 5975 (69m by 44m)
Site Name Sand Pit, Biddulph
A sand pit that went out of use by 1888. During its working life it was probably supplying fine sand to the 
pottery industry.

PRN Number 51675 - MST13092 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8821 5938 (88m by 66m)
Site Name Mine, Biddulph
A nineteenth to twentieth century coal mine.

PRN Number 51676 - MST13093 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8972 5979 (81m by 131m)
Site Name The Hurst Silk Mill, Hurst Road, Biddulph
A nineteenth century silk mill owned and managed by the Reverend William Holt who built and inhabited 
nearby Elmhurst.

PRN Number 51698 - MST13115 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8831 5809 (19m by 57m)
Site Name Albion Mill, Station Road, Bradley Green
The largest fustian mill in Biddulph, which opened in the late 19th century. The mill is still extant.  The mill is 
still standing and was run by Frayling Lt until the late 1990s. Albion Mills is the largest mill in Biddulph and 
has a plaque dated 1884 on the frontage to Station Road. In 1916 the mill was operated by the United Velvet 
Cutters’ Association.  The building has three floors and is about 50ft wide and 200ft long to accommodate 
the cutting frames.  The bottom storey at the front of the building has been replaced in newer brick, while the 
upper storeys and the sides appear to retain their original brickwork

PRN Number 51699 - MST13116 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8840 5795 (85m by 67m)
Site Name Reliance Mill, Walley Street, Bradley Green
The longest fustian mill in the district, which was one of a group of mills built just prior to the First World War. 
The mill building was used by the army during the Second World War.  Reliance Mill was one of a group built 
just before the first World War. It is a two-storey building with an area of 2,191 square yards. The building is 
the longest fustian mill in the district, allowing a great capacity for frames and cutting. In April 1929 Messrs. 
Herbert Beech and William Lancaster bought the land from Sir James and AH Heath and, in 1914, Messrs. 
William and Henry Jackson had the building on mortgage from them. In 1934, Henry Jackson was still the 
owner when the building was mortgaged a second time and Kelly’s Post Office Directory lists Reliance Mill as 
the firm of Wm. Jackson & Son, Fustian Cutter. The building was used by the army during the 1939-45 war and 
was owned in 1979 by JH Greenwood Ltd. Knitwear manufacturers.

PRN Number 51679 - MST13096 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8954 5942 (120m by 104m)
Site Name Colliery, Hurst Vale Cottage, Biddulph
A nineteenth century coal mine.

Page 310



A P P E N D I C E S 127

PRN Number 51681 - MST13098 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8681 5849 (160m by 187m)
Site Name Mow Cop Quarry, Biddulph
Large quarry, now disused

PRN Number 51684 - MST13101 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8681 5849 (160m by 187m)
Site Name Pot Bank, Gillow Heath, Biddulph
A nineteenth and twentieth century pot bank at Gillow Heath, parts of the kilns are still visible.

PRN Number 51685 - MST13102 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8788 5879 (73m by 147m)
Site Name Colliery, Gillow Heath, Biddulph
A nineteenth century coal mine.

PRN Number 51686 - MST13103 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8772 5863 (108m by 143m)
Site Name Quarry, Mow Lane, Gillow Heath
An early nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51687 - MST13104 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8821 5881 (74m by 95m)
Site Name Gillow Mill, City Bank, Gillow Heath
A nineteenth century fustian mill in Gillow Heath.

PRN Number 51688 - MST13105 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8811 5868 (53m by 30m)
Site Name Shaft, Mow Lane, Gillow Heath
A nineteenth century coal mine.

PRN Number 51689 - MST13106 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8948 5872 (37m by 32m)
Site Name Shaft, Woodhouse Lane, Biddulph
A nineteenth century coal mine.

PRN Number 51690 - MST13107 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8995 5861 (57m by 48m)
Site Name Sprink Side Farm, Woodhouse Lane, Biddulph
A farm that served as a pheasantry to the Grange estate in the nineteenth century.

PRN Number 51691 - MST13108 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8999 5858 (86m by 95m)
Site Name Quarry, Sprink Side Farm, Biddulph
A late nineteenth, early twentieth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

Page 311



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N128

PRN Number 51692 - MST13109 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8917 5837 (228m by 231m)
Site Name Uplands Mill, The Uplands, Biddulph
The Uplands Mill is a 20th century mill building, thought to have been associated with the manufacture of silk 
and Velcro during the 1980s and 90s. The mill’s most recent owners, Selectus Ltd, made ribbons until very 
recently, when they moved their workings to China in June 2007; they were the last remnants of the former 
industrial glory of Biddulph. 
PRN Number 51693 - MST13110 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8842 5848 (277m by 291m)
Site Name Sand Pits, Biddulph Park, Gillow Heath
Sand extraction pits of nineteenth century date. The purpose of the pits was probably to supply fine sand to 
the pottery industry.

PRN Number 51702 - MST13119 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8977 5752 (21m by 15m)
Site Name Quarry, Firwood House, Biddulph
A late nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51721 - MST13138 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8906 5644 (45m by 101m)
Site Name Quarry, Park Lane, Knypersley
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51723 - MST13140 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8982 5657 (39m by 39m)
Site Name Quarry, Park Lane and Crowborough Road, Biddulph
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content. Quarry visible on the 1888 first edition Ordnance 
Survey map of the area; possibly associated with the workings of similar date to the south

PRN Number 51729 - MST13146 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9082 5570 (33m by 100m)
Site Name Quarry, Ladymoor Gate, Biddulph
A mid nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51730 - MST13147 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9065 5674 (20m by 82m)
Site Name Quarry, Crowborough Farm, Crowborough
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51750 - MST13167 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9018 5954 (516m by 539m)
Site Name Sand Quarry, The Hurst, Biddulph
A large nineteenth and twentieth century sand quarry, probably supplying the pottery industry with fine sand.

Page 312



A P P E N D I C E S 129

PRN Number 51751 - MST13168 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9020 5959 (40m by 53m)
Site Name Sand Pit, Rough Hurst Farm, Biddulph Park
A nineteenth century sand pit, probably supplying fine sand to the pottery industry.

PRN Number 51752 - MST13169 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9027 5951 (59m by 63m)
Site Name Sand Pit, Horse Pastures Farm, Biddulph Park
A nineteenth century sand pit, probably supplying the pottery industry with fine sand.

PRN Number 51753 - MST13170 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9157 5931 (22m by 68m)
Site Name Quarry, High Bent, Biddulph
19th century quarry

PRN Number 51754 - MST13171 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9048 6022 (67m by 78m)
Site Name Quarry, Millstone Green, Biddulph Park 
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51755 - MST13172
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9054 6040 (53m by 154m)
Site Name Quarry, Wragg Hall Farm, Newtown
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51756 - MST13173 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9016 6107 (60m by 76m)
Site Name Quarry, Biddulph Common Road, Biddulph Park
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51757 - MST13174 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9077 6132 (21m by 21m)
Site Name Quarry, Sunny Bank Farm, Biddulph Park
A nineteenth century quarry of unknown mineral content.

PRN Number 51758 - MST13175 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9076 6201 (27m by 35m)
Site Name Quarry, Long Edge Plantation, Biddulph Park
Small 19th century quarry

PRN Number 51777 - MST13194 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8835 5786 (38m by 39m)
Site Name Wesleyan Chapel, Station Road, Bradley Green
A late nineteenth century Wesleyan Chapel. The chapel was built on the original site of the meeting hall of the 
Knypersley Lodge of Oddfellows (formed in 1795), which relocated to a new building on Wharf Road in the 
1860s Administrative Areas

Page 313



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N130

PRN Number 51778 - MST13195 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8913 5932 (16m by 17m)
Site Name Grange Lodge, Grange Road, Biddulph
A nineteenth century lodge, built by James Bateman.
Built when Robert Heath took up residence at the Grange in 1874 and closed down the turnpike road; he had 
the present Grange Road built and the Lodge created for the gatekeeper. The building was originally a one 
storey structure, but was rebuilt with a second storey in order to provide more accommodation shortly after the 
Grange became a hospital in 1924. Its most recent use has been accommodation for the Head Gardener and 
his family following the acquisition of the Grange by the National Trust

PRN Number 51779 - MST13196 
National Grid Reference SJ 8943 5964 (point)
Site Name Site of toll gate, Grange Road, Poolfold
The site of a toll gate on the Bosley to Tunstall toll road which was established 1770.

PRN Number 51780 - MST13197 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8951 5981 (26m by 36m)
Site Name The Talbot Inn, Poolfold, Biddulph
An inn has stood on this site since the late 18th century. The inn was rebuilt by the Stanier family in 1868.
An inn has stood on this site since at least 1775; it was often frequented by the Reverend Jonathon Wilson 
who came to Biddulph in that year and recorded his visits to the hostelry in his diary. It was later owned by the 
Stanier family who rebuilt the inn in 1868 and sold it to Joe Barker in 1920. The inn has recently been partially 
rebuilt again.

PRN Number 51782 - MST13199 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8819 5700 (68m by 90m)
Site Name Knypersley Villas, Tunstall Road, Knypersley
Knypersley Villas comprise two semi detached houses and one detached house. The villas were built between 
1888 and 1912 by Robert Heath for his senior officials at the Biddulph Valley Coal and Iron Works. One of the 
villas was later used as the vicarage for St John’s Church in Knypersley.

PRN Number 51785 - MST13202 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9032 5915 (29m by 31m)
Site Name Spring House, The Hurst, Biddulph
House that was built and inhabited by the Holt Brothers in the late 19th century, who owned the nearby Hurst 
sand pit.  Spring House was built in 1872 for William Holt, the son of William Henry Holt (Vicar of Biddulph 
1831-1873). William and his brother Edward, who lived with him in the house, were potters’ sand merchants 
and owned the Hurst sand quarry

PRN Number 51786 - MST13203 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8816 5644 (18m by 17m)
Site Name Pavilion, Knypersley Cricket Ground, Knypersley
An early twentieth century cricket pavilion in the grounds of Knypersley Cricket Ground.

Page 314



A P P E N D I C E S 131

PRN Number 51787 - MST13204 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8898 5894 (22m by 25m)
Site Name Church Hall, Congleton Road, Biddulph
The former school was built circa 1874.  St Lawrence’s Church School was built in the mid to late 19th century; 
at some time between 1905 and 1922 the name of the school changed to Biddulph North School. The school 
eventually closed following the opening of OxHey First School, Biddulph Middle School and Biddulph Grammar 
School. The building is now used as a church hall which can be hired out for functions; every summer a bible 
school is run in the hall. The school was built in 1874, the year Robert Heath came to live at the Grange.

PRN Number 51789 - MST13207 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8877 5850 (30m by 22m)
Site Name Biddulph Arms Hotel, Congleton Road, Biddulph
A hotel and public house built in 1874 by Robert Heath as part of a series of amenities provided for the 
people of 

PRN Number 52587 - MST14020 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8852 5859 (102m by 63m)
Site Name Gillow Fold Farm, Biddulph
An isolated farmstead with a regular ‘L’ plan courtyard with the farmhouse forming the eastern side of the 
courtyard. The farmstead is thought to be of possible late medieval origin.

PRN Number 52780 - MST14214 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89480 61641 (52m by 94m)
Site Name Overton Hall Farm, Overton Road, Biddulph
An isolated farmstead laid out around a loose, four-sided yard with detached farmhouse. The farmstead may 
have been established as early as the late 17th century and is still extant, though possibly all now converted to 
residential use.

PRN Number 53051 - MST14484 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8963 6132 (55m by 88m)
Site Name Higher Overton Farm, Overton Road, Biddulph
Barn, Higher Overton Farmhouse, Overton 

PRN Number 52781 - MST14215 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 90488 56869 (64m by 61m)
Site Name Crowborough Farm, North of Crowborough Road, Crowborough, Biddulph
An isolated farmstead possibly established in the mid 17th century. The farmstead was originally laid out 
around a loose, single-sided yard however the single outbuilding range is now in ruinous condition.  The listed 
farmhouse is dated 1664 providing a possible relative date for the origin of the farmstead itself

PRN Number 61356 - MST16338 
National Grid Reference SJ 89 60 (point)
Site Name Chinese Coin Findspot, Biddulph
A Chinese brass coin of the Ch’ing dynasty, minted by emperor K’ang Hsi between AD 1662 and AD 1723, 
probably in Szechuan. The coin was recovered during metal detecting in Biddulph parish in January 2006.

Page 315



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N132

PRN Number 53738 - MST17505 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8821 5774 (26m by 43m)
Site Name Yew Tree House, Biddulph
A slate roofed, rendered complex of buildings of probable 18th or early 19th century date, with later attached 
outbuildings.  Part of the building appears to have been used as a Police Station in the mid 20th century.

PRN Number 53739 - MST17506 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8819 5772 (9m by 12m)
Site Name Yew Tree Cottage, Biddulph
An L-shaped house with a slate roof, clad in yellow render, possibly shown on enclosure map of 1841.

PRN Number 53741 - MST17508 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8832 5780 (24m by 16m)
Site Name The Wheel / The Royal Oak, Biddulph
A public house probably established in the first half of the 19th century, and originally known as ‘The Wheel Inn’ 
(being located on the site of a wheelwrights yard (PRN 53742), before becoming ‘The Royal Oak in the 1860s. 
The two storey pub building is of painted brick with a tiled roof.
PRN Number 53742 - MST17509 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8832 5780 (26m by 34m)
Site Name Wheelwrights Yard, Biddulph
Documentary evidence for a wheelwrights yard that appears to have been established by 1807 and which 
was still functioning in the mid 19th century.  A Thomas Doorbar (born in 1807 and described as the son 
of a wheelwright) was recorded in 1851 as a joiner and beerhouse keeper and in 1861 as a publican and 
wheelwright. The 1861 directory records him as Thomas Durbar of ‘The Wheel’

PRN Number 53743 - MST17510 
National Grid Reference SJ 8818 5778 (point
Site Name Mine Shaft, North of Wharf Road, Biddulph
A mine shaft of probable mid to late 19th century date, identified during geotechnical works on land north of 
Wharf Road, Biddulph.

PRN Number 53744 - MST17511 
National Grid Reference SJ 8814 5768 (point)
Site Name Mine Shaft, South of Wharf Road, Biddulph
Documentary evidence for a mine shaft to the south of Wharf Road in the late 19th century. Possibly 
associated with Bradley Green Colliery 

PRN Number 53745 - MST17512 
National Grid Reference SJ 8804 5766 (point)
Site Name Air Shaft, South of Wharf Road, Biddulph
Documentary evidence for an air (ventilation) shaft to the south of Wharf Road in the late 19th century. 
Probably associated with Bradley Green Colliery.

PRN Number 53987 - MST17756 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8912 5968 (6m by 7m)
Site Name Tunnel, Fold Lane, Biddulph
A tunnel under Fold Lane, which probably formed part of the private walk linking Biddulph Old Hall to the 
Grange that was created by James Bateman in 1860.  

Page 316



A P P E N D I C E S 133

PRN Number 53988 - MST17757 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8937 5990 (9m by 6m) SJ85NE
Site Name Footbridge, Biddulph Old Hall, Biddulph
An attractive stone bridge to the south of Biddulph Old Hall. The bridge carries a footpath from west-east, with 
a tunnel carrying the private walk created in 1860 (linking Biddulph Old Hall to Biddulph Grange) underneath.

PRN Number 53989 - MST17758 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8907 5986 (2m by 3m)
Site Name Rustic Footbridge, South-West of Biddulph Old Hall, Biddulph
A rustic bridge which crossed the stream which flows down the Clough from Biddulph Mill Pool to join the 
Biddulph Brook in the valley bottom. The footbridge was probably built as part of the private walk established 
by James Bateman in 1860 to link Biddulph Old Hall with Biddulph Grange, although it is now possible that the 
original structure may have been replaced by a more modern bridge.

PRN Number 53990 - MST17759 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8921 5976 (331m by 633m)
Site Name Private Walk, Biddulph Grange to Biddulph Old Hall, Biddulph
A private walk established by James Bateman in 1860 to link Biddulph Old Hall to Biddulph Grange. A number 
of ornamental footbridges and tunnels are situated along the route.

PRN Number 53994 - MST17763 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9002 5852 (42m by 11m)
Site Name Pedestrian Tunnel and Arch, Sprinkside, Biddulph
A tunnel and ornamental arch which had probably formed part of the original landscaping of Biddulph Grange 
in the mid 19th century.

PRN Number 53995 - MST17764 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8846 6029 (155m by 309m)
Site Name Ridge and Furrow Cropmarks, Whitemoor, Biddulph
The possible remains of medieval ridge and furrow visible as cropmarks on aerial photography in the 
Whitemoor area of Biddulph.

PRN Number 53996 - MST17765 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8823 6022 (171m by 161m)
Site Name Possible Ridge and Furrow Cropmarks, Whitemoor, Biddulph
The possible remains of medieval ridge and furrow, visible on aerial photographs in the Whitemoor area of 
Biddulph.

PRN Number 54441 - MST18210 
.National Grid Reference SJ 8876 5832 (point)
Site Name Drinking Fountain and Trough, Congleton Road, Biddulph
A drinking fountain and horse trough installed on a main route through Biddulph in the mid 19th century.
A fountain built in 1861 at the side of the main road through Biddulph. The fountain was designed for use 
by travelers along the route. The fountain is set on a rough-faced sandstone wall between two pillars, with a 
drinking trough for horses set into the wall to the south

Page 317



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N134

PRN Number 54443 - MST18212 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8832 5813 (22m by 12m)
Site Name Wesleyan Chapel, Station Road, Bradley Green
A mid 19th century Wesleyan chapel at Bradley Green, Biddulph. The two-storey chapel is of brick construction.

PRN Number 54444 - MST18213 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8831 5815 (17m by 14m)
Site Name Wesleyan School, Station Road, Bradley Green
A mid 19th century Wesleyan school at Bradley Green, Biddulph. The two-storey school is of brick construction 
with a modern lean-to extension to the south side.

PRN Number 55790 - MST19559 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9058 6216 (90m by 58m)
Site Name Possible Stone Circle, Bridestones, Biddulph
Geophysical survey evidence for a series of negative features in a curvilinear alignment to the south of the 
Bridestones Neolithic chambered long cairn (PRN 00509), which have been interpreted as possible evidence 
for the remains of a Neolithic stone circle.

PRN Number 61021 - MST19904 
National Grid Reference SJ 87 58 (point)
Site Name Palstave Findspot, Biddulph
A Middle Bronze Age cast bronze un-looped palstave axe, recovered during metal detecting in Biddulph parish 
in September 2010.

PRN Number 57803 - MST21914 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8939 6061 (45m by 71m)
Site Name Over Hall Farm / Over Biddulph, Overton Road, Biddulph
An isolated farmstead laid out around a regular courtyard with main L-plan range, and farmhouse set long side 
on to the yard. The farmstead was probably established in the mid to late 19th century and is still extant.

PRN Number 57804 - MST21915 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8968 5750 (47m by 49m)
Site Name Firwood House Farm / Far Wood House, New Street, Biddulph Moor
An isolated farmstead laid out around a loose, two-sided yard with additional detached elements. The 
farmstead was probably established in the late 18th or early 19th century and is still extant.

PRN Number 57807 - MST21918 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9037 6084 (62m by 60m)
Site Name Park Farm, Biddulph Road, Biddulph
An isolated farmstead, linear on plan with attached farmhouse and additional detached outbuildings. The 
farmstead appears to have been established in the later 18th or early 19th century and is still extant.

PRN Number 57808 - MST21919 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8993 6203 (54m by 28m)
Site Name Smithy Farm, Dial Lane, Biddulph
One of a cluster of farms on Dial Lane, Biddulph. Smithy Farm is laid out around a loose, three-sided yard with 
detached farmhouse set long side on to the yard. The farmstead appears to have been extant by at least the 
later 18th-early 19th century and is still extant.

Page 318



A P P E N D I C E S 135

PRN Number 57812 - MST21923 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9124 6033 (24m by 27m)
Site Name Bentley House Farm, East of Newtown, Biddulph
One of a cluster farmsteads to the east of Newtown, Biddulph. The farmstead is laid out around a loose two-
sided yard with detached farmhouse set long side to the yard. It was probably established in the mid to late 
19th century.

PRN Number 57816 - MST21927 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9087 5970 (22m by 37m)
Site Name Daisy Fields Farm, High Bent, Biddulph
One of a cluster of farmsteads in the High bent area. The farmstead has an L-shape plan with an attached 
farmhouse. It was probably established in the mid to late 19th century and is still extant.

PRN Number 57817 - MST21928 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9114 5947 (26m by 34m)
Site Name Home Farm, High Bent, Biddulph
One of a cluster of farmsteads at High Bent, Biddulph. The farmstead is laid out around a loose, two-sided yard 
with the farmhouse set long-side on to the yard. The farmstead was probably established in the mid to late 
19th century and is still extant.

PRN Number 57818 - MST21929 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9098 5917 (17m by 51m)
Site Name Sprinks Farm, Biddulph
An isolated, linear plan farmstead with attached farmhouse which appears to have been established by at 
least the early 19th century.

PRN Number 57821 - MST21932 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 9108 5701 (32m by 31m)
Site Name Greenfields Farm, Crowborough Road, Biddulph
An isolated farmstead laid out around a loose, single-sided yard with detached farmhouse set gable end on. 
The farmstead appears to have been established in the mid to late 19th century and is still extant.

PRN Number 57875 - MST21986 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8793 5729 (55m by 26m)
Site Name Knypersley View Farm, Biddulph
An isolated farmstead laid our around a regular L-plan courtyard with farmhouse set gable end on. The 
farmstead was probably established in the mid to late 19th century.

PRN Number 57876 - MST21987 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8776 5921 (47m by 64m)
Site Name Beacon House Farm, North-West of Gillow Heath, Biddulph
An isolated farmstead laid out around a regular courtyard, which appears to have been extant by the late 18th 
century.

Page 319



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N136

PRN Number 58504 - MST22370 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8810 6044 (1808m by 2936m)
Site Name New Biddulph Turnpike Road
A turnpike road connecting Biddulph and Congleton, possibly established in the early 19th century (although 
with milestone stock of earlier date).  A 2.5 mile toll road linking Biddulph and Congleton. The earliest record of 
the route as a toll road is 1819, although it has milestone stock of earlier date. The route had two main gates

PRN Number 58522 - MST22388 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8906 5838 (6262m by 13436m)
Site Name Tunstall and Bosley Turnpike Road
A late 18th century turnpike road connecting Tunstall with Biddulph, Bosley and Macclesfield.
A 10.9 mile toll road which linked the Tunstall, Biddulph, Bosley and Macclesfield. The route had five main 
gates and three side gates and was first recorded in 1770

PRN Number 06012 - MST5062 
National Grid Reference SJ 8843 5641 (point)
Site Name Knypersley Manor, Biddulph
Documentary evidence for the site of a medieval manor house (possibly a moated site), at Knypersley. The site 
of the manor is now thought to be occupied by the 18th century Knypersley Hall.

PRN Number 06014 - MST9980 
National Grid Reference SJ 8807 5684 (point) SJ85NE
Site Name Red Cross, St John’s Churchyard, Knypersley
A listed stone churchyard cross of possible 15th century or earlier date, which was apparently moved here 
from its original location. The cross is of millstone grit with a round head with a small cross carved in relief on 
either side. Further carvings on the shaft are largely obscured.

PRN Number 14174 - MST10956 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8844 5639 (28m by 34m) SJ85NE
Site Name Knypersley Hall, Conway Road, Knypersley
A listed country house of early-mid 18th century date, reduced and remodelled (from three to two storeys) in 
the 19th century. The house is of roughcast brick with a hipped slate roof. Knypersley Hall was the seat of Sir 
Francis Bowyer in the early 18th century before becoming the home of the Bateman family in the early 19th 
century.

PRN Number 40179 - MST6285 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8841 5637 (799m by 736m)
Site Name Knypersley Hall Park, Biddulph
A landscape park around Knypersley Hall, which was probably established in the late 18th to early 19th 
century. Knypersley Park is originally recorded to have been a deer park, although was probably disparked in 
the 17th century. Much of the original extent of the park is now built over.

Page 320



A P P E N D I C E S 137

PRN Number 51055 - MST12715 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 89866 56176 (16m by 29m)
Site Name Barn at Knypersley Park Farm
A stone built gabled barn with a queen strut construction tiled roof.
An isolated stone built barn of exterior size 72 foot by 30 foot. A possible large cart entrance on the front wall 
of the barn has been identified, it has been bricked up but the hinge brackets are still in place. The barn is in 
good condition and is used for general storage. The barn has been reroofed with small flat tiles. It is gabled at 
either end with a lean-to built on to one end. The roof structure is of queen strut construction

PRN Number 51725 - MST13142 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8906 5539 (544m by 270m)
Site Name The Serpentine Reservoir, Knypersley
The earliest reservoir in the UK, built circa 1781.
The earliest part of the reservoir, the Serpentine, was constructed between 1781 and 1783 and was the first 
reservoir in Britain to be completed. The Serpentine covered 20 acres and was 30 feet deep at its completion, 
though since then considerable silting has occurred and essential maintenance and renovation work on the 
neighbouring Knypersley Reservoir this year has sought to deal with this issue.

PRN Number 51726 - MST13143 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8951 5519 (401m by 633m)
Site Name Knypersley Reservoir, Knypersley, Biddulph and Brown Edge
Knypersley reservoir was built in 1825; James Potter, son of the resident engineer at Rudyard, was employed 
to oversee the building of the reservoir which abutted its earlier neighbour and feeder body, The Serpentine 
(PRN:51725). Potter’s youth and inexperience were held to be to blame for several issues, including the 
persistent leakage of water from 1828 onwards.  To solve these engineering problems, Thomas Telford, 
founder of the Institute of Civil Engineers in London, was brought in to find the source of the problem. Telford 
redesigned and repaired various features, though it was not until 1868, when a well head was replaced, that 
the problem of leaking water was finally resolved.  In 2005 and 2006 the reservoir underwent a programme of 
renovation to bring the structure up to modern health and safety standards, using both Telford’s original plans, 
held at the Institute of Civil Engineers, and new plans designed by Mott MacDonald. The work included the re-
grouting of the overflow spillway and drop structure, de-silting of the inlet culvert, grouting of the outlet culvert 
and inspection of the ‘wet well’ in the dam wall, which has involved the construction of a temporary ‘coffer’ 
dam. Repairs were also made to the slate sided weir to the south of the reservoir, which controls the flow of 
six million litres of water a day into the Caldon canal every day and a further one and a half million litres of 
water into the River Trent. The 19th century dry well valves that control the volume of water flowing out of the 
reservoir are to be replacedby a computer control system at ground level.

PRN Number 14175 - MST10957 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8844 5643 (65m by 39m) SJ85NE
Site Name Stables, Coach Houses and Lodge, North of Knypersley Hall, Knypersley Stables, Coach Houses and 
Lodge, North of Knypersley Hall, Knypersley

PRN Number 13510 - MST9964
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8800 5677 (22m by 21m) SJ85NE
Site Name  Knypersley School / Knypersley Hall, Newpool Road, Knypersley
A listed former school, built circa 1850 under the patronage of the Bateman family. Now used as a hall.

Page 321



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N138

PRN Number 13521 - MST9975 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8917 5648 (12m by 10m)
Site Name Squirrel Hayes Lodge, 162 Park Lane, Knypersley, Biddulph
A listed mid 19th century gate lodge designed by Edward Cooke, landscape architect, for James Bateman of 
Biddulph Grange. The lodge is of coursed sandstone construction with plain tiled roof and was probably built 
to serve the carriage drive from Biddulph Grange to Judgefield Lane.  The building is marked as a ‘Lodge’ on 
the first edition 6” OS map. Contrary to the List description the map suggests that it was a lodge to Greenway 
Bank country house through the associated landscape park (PRN 40047), now partly covered by Greenway 
Bank country park, rather than to Knypersley Hall 

PRN Number 13508 - MST9962 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8967 5534 (9m by 15m) SJ85NE
Site Name Prospect Tower and Attached Wing, Knypersley Estate
A listed stone prospect tower inscribed with date 1828. The Tower probably marks the debut period of the 
work of John Bateman (who later went on to work at Biddulph).
Identified as being at risk on the 2015 Heritage at Risk Register. 

PRN Number 40047 - MST6156 
National Grid Reference Centred SJ 8886 5528 (982m by 490m)
Site Name Greenway Bank Park
A landscape park originally established in the late 18th century by Hugh Henshall (who was responsible for the 
completion of the Trent and Mersey Canal following the death of James Brindley). It is now a country park.

Page 322



A P P E N D I C E S 139

A P P E N D I X H:  LO C A L G R E E N S PA C E D E S I G N AT I O N S

The individuals Local Green Space Designations can be found in a separate document. 
The map of all sites is here:

South Biddulph LGS

20/09/2019 00:44:Date:
Author:

Scale: 1:20282

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Whole Biddulph LGS

20/09/2019 00:36:Date:
Author:

Scale: 1:64421

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Page 323



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N140

Central Biddulph LGS

20/09/2019 00:39:Date:
Author:

Scale: 1:21069

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Biddulph North LGS

20/09/2019 00:37:Date:
Author:

Scale: 1:24039

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Page 324



A P P E N D I C E S 141

Biddulph Moor LGS

20/09/2019 00:40:Date:
Author:

Scale: 1:10614

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Page 325



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N142

A P P E N D I X I :  M A P O F TO W N C E NT R E
The green line represents the area of the Neighbourhood Development Order

Page 326



A P P E N D I C E S 143

A P P E N D I X J :  M A P O F A L B I O N M I L L  C O N V E R S I O N

Page 327



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N144

A P P E N D I X K:  M A P O F E X I S T I N G C O M M U N IT Y FA C I L IT I E S 
C O NTA I N E D I N  P O L I C Y C F 2 

All Existing Community Facilities

15/09/2019 15:27:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:29045

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Biddulph East

15/09/2019 15:22:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:3139

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Page 328



A P P E N D I C E S 145

Biddulph Moor

15/09/2019 15:15:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:1980

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Biddulph North

15/09/2019 15:16:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:3352

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Page 329



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N146

Biddulph South

15/09/2019 15:26:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:3851

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Knypersley

15/09/2019 15:25:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:1664

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Page 330



A P P E N D I C E S 147

Biddulph Park Chapel Building- Oasis

15/09/2019 15:09:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:1434

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Rec Ground and Leisure Centre

15/09/2019 15:18:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:2338

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Page 331



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N148

Town Centre

15/09/2019 15:20:Date:
Author:CF2

Scale: 1:2329

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

Page 332



A P P E N D I C E S 149

A P P E N D I X L :  M A P O F B I D D U L P H VA L L E Y WAY

Biddulph Valley Way

15/09/2019 16:15:Date:
Author:

Scale: 1:68684

Biddulph CP

© Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019,© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100051767) 2019

=  Biddulph valley Way

Page 333



N E I G H B O U R H O O D D E V E LO P M E NT P L A N150
Page 334



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan 

Consultation Statement December 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

Page 335



 

2 
 

Contents  

 

Introduction ...........................................................................................................................................3 

Summary of Community Engagement ..................................................................................................3 

Stage 1 – Open Consultation .............................................................................................................4 

The Questions and Responses .......................................................................................................7 

Stage 2 – Targeted Consultation .................................................................................................... 10 

Local Green Spaces Consultations (December 2018 and April 2019) ........................................ 10 

Stage 3 – Six Weeks Formal Statutory Pre‐Submission Consultation (Regulation 14) ................... 13 

Conclusions ......................................................................................................................................... 15 

Appendix 1 - Summary of Responses to Green Spaces Consultations in January 2019 and April 2019

 ............................................................................................................................................................ 16 

Appendix 2 - Regulation 14 Public Consultation ................................................................................ 23 

Appendix 3  Statutory and Other Consultees ................................................................................ 25 

Appendix 4 Comments from Statutory Consultees and Modifications Made .............................. 26 

Appendix 5 Residents and Consultants Correspondence .............................................................. 44 

 

 

   

Page 336



 

3 
 

Introduction 
 

This Consultation Statement summarises the community engagement programme and the 
Regulation 14 consultation that were undertaken for the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan 2016 to 

2035. It shows how the requirements of Regulations 14 and 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning 

(General) Regulations 2012 have been satisfied. 

 

Summary of Community Engagement  
 

In 2015, Biddulph Town Council agreed to produce a Neighbourhood Plan for the town of Biddulph. 

An application was made to Staffordshire Moorlands District Council to designate the Town Council 

area as the Neighbourhood Area, which is the area that the Neighbourhood Plan will cover; on 16 

February 2016 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council approved and designated the Biddulph 

Neighbourhood Area. This enables the Town Council to produce a Neighbourhood Plan for 

Biddulph. 

 

The Town Council set up a Working Group comprising Town Councillors and local residents to take 

the process forward. Neighbourhood Planning specialists, Urban Vision Enterprise CIC, were 
appointed to provide professional advice and guidance, beginning with training on Neighbourhood 

Planning and the preparation of a project plan. 

 

Neighbourhood Plans are produced from two main sources of information. Firstly, factual evidence 

about the town, its social, economic and environmental characteristics, obtained from sources like 

the Census or other research; and secondly, the views and ideas of local people about the local 

area and its needs, obtained from a process of community consultation and engagement. 

 

The Working Group agreed to undertake community consultation in three stages: 

 

Stage 1 - Open consultation to find out what people think is good and bad about Biddulph 
and should be changed. 

 

Stage 2 - Targeted consultation with stakeholders, residents and interest groups to confirm 

the main issues identified, and to test the proposed aims and possible policies that would 

form the basis of the plan. 

 

Stage 3 - Six weeks formal statutory consultation on the draft Neighbourhood Plan. 

Page 337



 

4 
 

Each of these stages is considered below: 

 

 

Stage 1 – Open Consultation  
  

The purpose of the Stage 1 consultation was to find out what local people think about Biddulph, 

before any plans or proposals are produced. The results of this consultation enable the main issues 
to be identified, and the strategic aims and vision of the Neighbourhood Plan to be produced in 

draft form. This approach is widely regarded as good practice, because it enables the community to 

play an integral role in the development of a document that will highlight their knowledge of, and 
aspirations for, their town.  

  

The application for the designation of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Area involved a period of 

formal consultation by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council to allow people to comment on the 
proposed Neighbourhood Area boundary. In advance of this, and throughout this period, the Town 

Council brought the concept of a Neighbourhood Plan into the public domain to make local people 
aware that a plan for the town was being considered.  

  

At the end of 2015, and throughout early 2016, the Town Council organised and publicised a series 

of drop-in events at venues across the town.  The drop-in events were publicised in advance via 

local media including the Biddulph Chronicle and Biddulph Times. Posters, leaflets and emails were 

also important tools of engagement.  A dedicated section of the Town Council’s website was 

created to provide information about the Neighbourhood Plan, which linked with a Facebook page 
‘My Biddulph’.  

 

Below are examples of early responses to consultation events where residents had an opportunity 

to understand what a Neighbourhood Plan means for the town.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 338



 

5 
 

 

Householder Questionnaire 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group spent several months pulling together existing reports 
and data and organising this information into themes. These discussions led to the development of 

a Householder questionnaire, which was delivered to 8,000 households in the town. Additional 

copies were available at key venues. Responses had to be either posted, hand delivered or 

completed on Survey Monkey before Christmas 2017. There were 1217 responses.  

 

During this time, a range of publications encouraged people to complete the questionnaires. The 

Biddulph Times wrote: 

 

The questionnaire will be delivered to all homes in the Biddulph area towards the end of November. 

It can be completed manually and returned in the envelope provided, no need for a stamp or 

dropped into the Town hall. The questionnaire will also be available online, and accessible through 
the ‘mybiddulph’ Facebook page or at www.mybiddulph.co.uk. Replies are required by 22nd 

December 2017. 

 

The data will be collated and used to generate planning policies to be included in the 

Neighbourhood Plan. When a draft is available it will be available for consultation and it is planned 

that a referendum on its acceptance will be held towards the end of 2018. 

The Plan has to go for approval by a government inspector prior to the referendum and the 

inspector will be looking for evidence for the policies proposed. This questionnaire can go a long 
way to providing the required evidence. This is the chance for the residents of Biddulph to influence 

planning policies in Biddulph. It is very important that residents complete and submit the 
questionnaire to get their views heard on the future of the town. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 339

http://www.mybiddulph.uk/


 

6 
 

 

 

Local Schools were encouraged to get involved in creating a vision for Biddulph and designing the 
cover of the Householder Questionnaire. A ‘Biddulph 2035’ competition resulted in some incredible 

ideas! 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 340



 

7 
 

The Questions and Responses 

 

The introductory section of the questionnaire asked ‘About You’. This section provided information 
about the ages of those living in households where a questionnaire had been completed, their 

postcode area and their length of time living in the town.  

 

The map below shows the coverage with regard to responses received. Each dot represents a 
postcode rather than a response (one dot might equate to five responses, for example) and 

demonstrates that responses were received from across the town.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 341



 

8 
 

 

The questionnaire included sections on: 

• Community and Wellbeing 

• Economy 

• Heritage Culture and Tourism 

• Housing Need and Design 

• Infrastructure 

• Landscape Open Spaces and Wildlife 

 

There were a range of ‘tick boxes’ and opportunities for free text. For example, 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In relation to proposed new Local Green Space designations: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The rural

surroundings

The people/

community

Historic

character

Town Centre Ease of

commute

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

What are the things that you like about 
living in the Neighbourhood Plan area?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neutral

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

Not applicable

 Yes No

40.00%

42.00%

44.00%

46.00%

48.00%

50.00%

52.00%

54.00%

56.00%

Do you think Biddulph Town Centre 
should be pedestrianised?

Responses

 

 

 

 

Page 342



 

9 
 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group spent a number of months collating the results of the 

questionnaire before moving onto the next stage of consultation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Page 343



 

10 
 

Stage 2 – Targeted Consultation 
 

The purpose of Stage 2 was to consult with stakeholders, residents and interest groups on specific 
areas of the draft Plan to confirm the main issues identified, and to test the proposed aims and 

possible policies that would form the basis of the Plan. 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group organised two periods of consultation in relation to 
proposed Local green Space Designations, a play survey and a visitor accommodation study.  

 

Local Green Spaces Consultations (December 2018 and April 2019) 

 

The draft Neighbourhood Plan identified a number of areas of green space which were considered 

for designation as Local Green Space.  Where they could be identified, the Town Council contacted 

site owners or organisations with an interest in sites that were included within the Plan as well as 
undertaking wider community engagement.  They were referred to the Council’s website, where 

they could view information about individual sites. 

 

The results were collated by the Working Group.  88 sites were included in the green space audit 

for potential inclusion within the Neighbourhood Plan.  A summary of responses is included at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Play ques 

 

 

FREE TEA AND CAKE AT BIDDULPH 

TOWN HALL! 

Friday 7th December 2018, 10 - 3pm 

 

We want to know two things, while you’re 

with us: 

1) What do you like and what would you 

change about the town centre? 

2) What local green spaces are important to 

you? 

This is a drop-in event. There will be a 

further event on Saturday 19th January 

2019, if you are not able to join us this time. 

 

 

  

 

Page 344



 

11 
 

Play Questionnaire 

Students from across the First, Middle and High Schools were invited to complete a questionnaire 

in postcard form, which would help the Working Group to identify where there were gaps in 

provision and opportunities for development.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

420 responses were received from all groups, which provided a picture of the experiences of young 

people within the town.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  Neighbourhood Plan Play Study 

 

   

We need your help to design new areas where young people can play and to improve existing play 

areas. Thank you! 

1. How often do you go out to play or hang out? (please tick one)   

• Most days  

• A few days a week  

• Hardly ever  

• Only when adults are around  

• I don't play or hang about with friends  

 

2. When you go out to play or hang out, what do you like doing? (tick as many as you like)  

• Climbing things  

• Running and chasing games  

• Exploring  

• Making bike/ scooter tracks  

• Playing with mud, sand or water  

• Chatting and being with my friends  

• Playing ball games  

 

• Fishing  

• Looking for bugs and stuff  

• Spending time with adults  

• Building dens  

• Making swings   

 

 

 

• Dancing  

• Going out with my family  

• Having a picnic  

• Anything else?  

 

 

3. In your town, do you think there are enough places to play and hang around? (please tick one) 

• Yes • Hardly any  • No  

 

4. How do you get to the place where you hang out? For example, walk, car, cycle 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 345



 

12 
 

Visitor Accommodation 

During August 2018, the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group attended the Biddulph Grange 

Gardens National Trust property to ask visitors about demand for accommodation.  

The results represented approximately 165 visitors and helped to guide thoughts around the need 

for enhanced visitor accommodation options in the town.  

  

 
 

 

0.00%
5.00%

10.00%
15.00%
20.00%
25.00%
30.00%
35.00%
40.00%

If you have not travelled from home, what 
type of accommodation are you staying 

in? (please tick)

Responses

Page 346



 

13 
 

Stage 3 – Six Weeks Formal Statutory Pre‐Submission 

Consultation (Regulation 14) 
 

A press release setting out the Regulation 14 consultation arrangements was circulated locally to 

online, printed and radio news outlets.  It contained the following information: 

 

Biddulph residents, supported by Biddulph Town Council, are undertaking the formal pre-

submission consultation of the draft Neighbourhood Development Plan and draft 

Neighbourhood Development Order for Biddulph.   

Consultation will run from Monday 23 September, midday to Monday 4 November, 

midday. This is a six-week statutory consultation period and we welcome comments on the 

draft documents. 

To view the documents, hard copies together with consultation forms can be found at the 

following locations: 

• Biddulph Moor Post Office 

• Biddulph Town Hall 

• Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre 

• Biddulph Doctors 

• Biddulph Valley Doctors  

• Brown Lees Post Office 

• Flavours, Smithy Lane 

• Biddulph Library 

 

An electronic copy is also available to view online or download at 

http://biddulph.co.uk/neighbourhood-plan/ together with a downloadable consultation 

form.   

 

Biddulph residents, supported by Biddulph Town Council, will also be at the following 

community events and markets where the plan can also be viewed: 

• Saturday 28 September, 10-2pm Biddulph Town Hall 

• Friday 4 October, 11-2pm and Friday 1 November, 11-2pm Biddulph Artisan Market 

(town centre) 

• Saturday 5 October, 10-2pm Biddulph Town Hall (part of the ‘Ethical Fair’) 

• Sunday 6 October, 11-2pm Biddulph Youth and Community Zone (part of ‘Staged: Theatre 

for the Ages’ event) 

Page 347

http://biddulph.co.uk/neighbourhood-plan/


 

14 
 

We want to hear from you, please give your views on any of the policies in the draft Plan 

and any other comments you would like to make.  

 

Posters and flyers were also produced for display and circulation around the town. 

 

A list of statutory consultees was requested from, and supplied by, Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council.  Each of these was individually approached either by letter or email according to the 
preference expressed in the list supplied by the District Council.  A full list of these statutory 

consultees in included at Appendix 3. 

 

Responses to the consultation were logged by Biddulph Town Council and analysed by Urban 

Vision.  The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group considered the responses and determined the 

changes required to the plan. 

 

A summary of responses from statutory consultees have been included in Appendix 4, together 

with the comments of the Working Group and the agreed modifications to the plan. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 348



 

15 
 

Conclusions 
  

The Town Council and the Working Group have been pleased by both the support received from 
residents for production of the Neighbourhood Plan and the overwhelming number of positive 

comments received during consultations.  Comments have been constructive and have enabled the 

Plan to be refined to a point where the Working Group believe that it will meet the needs of the 

area and its residents for many years to come.  

  

Each of the consultation exercises outlined above was well supported, and their outcomes ably 

analysed and reported by Urban Vision.  The Working Group have considered all comments and, 

where appropriate, made amendments to the Plan.    

  

The policies of the Plan have arisen from community consultation and reflect the expressed desires 
of residents. This is demonstrated by the small number of people who have raised concerns about 

the Plan. It thus appears that the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan reflects a general consensus and is 

largely non‐ controversial, which we hope will manifest itself at the referendum. 

  

Page 349



 

16 
 

Appendix 1 - Summary of Responses to Green Spaces Consultations in January 2019 and 

April 2019  
 

 

 

 

 

Post Code OS Grid Ref.

B
ea

u
ty

 (
B

)

H
is

to
ri

ca
l s

ig
n

if
i'c

 

(H
)

R
ec

re
at

io
n

'  
va

lu
e 

(R
)

Tr
an

q
u

il'
 (

T)

W
ild

lif
e 

(W
) 

O
th

er
 (

O
)*

(O)*  Other reason explained
Positive Comments Negative Comments General Comments Date Comment Received

Comment from: Landowner (L), 

Community Engagement (C ), User 

Group (U).

Recommendation following two periods of consultation

1 Land at the end of Humber Drive ST8 7LW 53°07'04.5"N 2°09'52.6"W

Accessible open space providing an 

important area for the community to 

engage in recreational activities; an 

important transition area between 

settlements. 

a a a a a a BRW  Contributes to "well being"
Used daily as a short cut to avoid busy roads.  An attractive area maintained by the Council.  Important ‘green’ 

space for well-being and a play area.
SMDC amenity green space. 19-Jan-19 L, C LGS- rename as 'Humber Drive community space'.

2 The Clough SJ896, 598; SJ891, 588 & SJ890, 597

This is a local beauty spot, used by residents 

for short family walks and walking dogs.  

Although this land had TPO’s placed on it, 

back in the 1970’s a large number were cut 

down and Japanese Knotweed took over.  

This has now been rectified by the current 

owners with the planting of over 300 native 

trees in 2001 (once the knotweed had been 

eradicated).  It is vital that now this place 

has been reclaimed for nature, it is retained 

for responsible recreational use by the local 

community.

a a a a a a BHRTW

Tunnel filled in in 1960’s when sewers put in.   Really important wildlife corridor.  Any extension towards 

main road would be beneficial to allow link with Bailey’s Wood. Many people park in the pub carpark, take a 

walk through the Clough and relax in the Talbot afterwards. This route is regularly used by walking groups as 

part of a longer hike, including Biddulph Ramblers. The valley provides an ideal habitat for flora and fauna  -  

in springtime the ground is covered in bluebells, daffodils, red campion, wood sorrel and wood anemone.  It 

is also inhabited with rabbits, foxes, various owls, dippers, buzzards, most tits and finches, and bats.  In 

addition there are some interesting tree species, planted by the Batemans including Scotts Pine, Hornbeam 

and evergreen Oak.  

Within walking distance of the main 

road and accessed via Hurst Road (a 

public footpath which starts next to the 

Talbot pub).  

19-Jan-19 C LGS

3 The Leat SJ899, 594; SJ 897, 597;  SJ 895, 599

The Ordnance Survey Map of 1876 shows 

the route of the leat from within the 

confines of Biddulph Grange Country Park 

and onwards, exiting the Country Park at 

the Hurst Road entrance.  It continues its 

course through fields running parallel with 

Hurst Road until it enters the Mill House 

pool on Grange Road.  The leat had fallen 

into considerable disrepair within the 

Country Park and this year the Biddulph 

Grange Country Park Friends group raised 

the funding to have repair works carried out 

(supported by High Peak Borough Council & 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council).  

Due to this work the integrity of this water 

source further downstream has been 

secured.

a a a a a a BHRT
This has significant heritage and has just been repaired within the country park. Map of Leat needs extending 

to Congleton. 

The leat’s story starts at the weir 

towards the top of the Himalayan Walk 

in Biddulph Grange Country Park where 

there is a simple mechanism diverting 

water off the stream sourced from the 

moorlands.  A further project is 

underway preparing to prepare an 

Interpretation Board to be installed at 

this point to tell the Leat’s story.  At the 

point where this important feature 

exits the Country Park it can be clearly 

seen from Hurst Road at various points.  

More importantly it can be viewed via 

footpaths 158, 36 and 89.

19-Jan-19 C

LGS- merge with sites 15 and 73 to make one designation 

covering areas of Biddulph Grange Country Park. 'New' area 

considered in April consultation. 

4
Congleton Road Biddulph in Bloom grass verge 

(Greenway Moor- WI)
SJ889, 590

The grass verge is on Congleton Road, just in 

front of Biddulph Bowling Green and 

extends along to the junction with 

Woodhouse Lane.  Greenway Moor WI 

representatives perform this voluntary 

work regardless of whether the town is 

putting an entry into the competition or 

not.  Therefore, it is an endeavour done by 

the people of the town, for the people of 

the town.  This is a particularly good 

example (by the WI) and provides a 

beautiful passageway into the town from 

the north.

a a a a a a BWO
Important area for the 'Garden 

Town of Staffordshire' image.

Gardening work has been being carried out on a voluntary basis by the people of the town for more than 20 

years.  It is hugely valued by the people of the town and its visitors.  This work is carried out throughout the 

year and this grass verge in particular is very well maintained.  On entering the town this planted verge 

reinforces Biddulph’s reputation as the “Garden Town of Staffordshire”.  Throughout the spring, summer and 

autumn months pollinators are supported by this planting and we should ensure it is not lost to them or to 

the people of Biddulph.

19-Jan-19 C LGS- rename as 'Greenway Moor WI gateway to the town'.

5 Biddulph Bowling Club SJ889, 590

This is the location of a thriving bowling 

club which recently relocated to this spot.  

The club has been in existence for more 

than 100 years and continues to compete in 

local leagues and competitions.

a a a a a a RO  Contributes to "well being"
This place is highly valued by both the members and the residents who live nearby.  It has become a very 

well used space, even in winter months on what had been a space that had fallen into disrepair.
19-Jan-19 C LGS

6 Fold Lane Biddulph in Bloom grass verge SJ888, 595

The grass verges are on the junction of Fold 

Lane with Congleton Road.  Biddulph in 

Bloom volunteers perform this voluntary 

work regardless of whether the town is 

putting an entry into the competition or 

not.  Therefore, it is an endeavour done by 

the people of the town, for the people of 

the town.  This is a particularly good 

example (by Biddulph in Bloom) and 

provides a beautiful passageway into the 

town from the north.

a a a a a a BWO
Important area for the 'Garden 

Town of Staffordshire' image.

This is the first opportunity for formal planting as you enter Biddulph. This is important for Biddulph in bloom 

and as a gateway. This work has been being carried out on a voluntary basis by the people of the town for 

more than 20 years.  It is hugely valued by the people of the town and its visitors.  This work is carried out 

throughout the year and these grass verges in particular are very well maintained.  On entering the town 

these planted verges reinforces Biddulph’s reputation as the “Garden Town of Staffordshire”.  Throughout 

the spring, summer and autumn months pollinators are supported by this planting and we should ensure it is 

not lost to them or to the people of Biddulph.

19-Jan-19 C LGS- rename as 'Fold Lane gateway to the town'.

7 Well Street Biddulph in Bloom allotment ST8 6HY 53°06'52.4"N 2°10'19.9"W

Without this facility the work done by 

Biddulph in Bloom volunteers could not be 

carried out.  Much of what we see on the 

various plots is grown on this site from 

seed; the huge preparation work that most 

of us don’t see.

a a a a a a RTW

Helps Biddulph in Bloom 

volunteers to grow plants and 

flowers from seed within the 

town, making an important 

contribution to the 'Garden 

Town of Staffordshire' image.

This site is “silently” special to the community since, without it, the work done by the town’s volunteer base 

could not be carried out.  If this site were not protected the gardened sites all around the town would be 

bare and very drab.  The whole character of the town would be changed for the worst.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

Consultation Responses

P
ro

te
ct

e
d

 R
e

f.

Address/location

Approx. location
Particular significance because of any one of below:

Description

NPPF Para 100  Criteria

N
o

t 
ex

ta
n

t

N
o

t 
al

lo
ca

te
d

 f
o

r 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

N
o

t 
an

 e
xt

en
si

ve
 

tr
ac

t 
o

f 
la

n
d

Is
 lo

ca
l i

n
 c

h
ar

ac
te

r

Is
 in

 c
lo

se
 p

ro
xi

m
it

y 

to
 s

er
vi

n
g 

ar
ea

Is
 d

em
o

n
st

ra
b

ly
 

sp
ec

ia
l  

to
 lo

ca
l 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y

P
age 350



 

17 
 

  

8
Grass verge on the junction of Hurst Road and 

Grange Road
SJ896 599

Planted with fruit trees in memory of a well-

loved local resident in 2003.  Also full of 

daffodils in the spring.

a a a a a ? B

Provides a “gateway” for walkers making their way up the Hurst to enter Biddulph Grange Country Park at the 

top of the road.  Particularly in spring with all the daffodils in flower provides a special haven for the local 

Poolfold residents.

What about the fields opposite the 

Talbot – local green space designation. 

Open up the foot path from the Talbot 

pub Car park to Hurst Lane, blocked at 

the old mill. 

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

9 VOS 16- Thames Drive woodland ST8 7SX 53°07'10.9"N 2°09'54.7"W

Unmanaged mature woodland belt with 

watercourses, glades, public right of way, 

and informal path network through 

southern section.

a a a a a a BRTW

LOCAL PLAN SITE. Footpath from the leisure centre up through unmanaged   woodland belt to old Carriage 

Drive (now gone) to mushroom farm back behind Chamberlain Way to valley park, open up the coppice. A 

fantastic nature corridor.  The Old Carriage Drive is a haven for foxes, badgers, all types of wildlife and must 

remain free of people, dogs etc.  

Why open the Coppice and destroy all this 

??
19-Jan-19 C Retain as LGS

10
Small wooded areas where Woodhouse Lane 

meets Congleton Road
ST8 7RJ 53°07'35.6"N 2°10'01.0"W

This small square of land at the bottom of 

Woodhouse Lane adjoining the Biddulph 

Bowling Club makes a fabulous small space.

a a a a a a BRW
Important area for the 'Garden 

Town of Staffordshire' image.

An area of grassed land with planted bluebells, courtesy of Biddulph in Bloom.  There are several deciduous 

trees, mostly maples but including mountain ash and a chestnut tree.  This area is used by some local dog 

owners to exercise their dogs and has great amenity value. Part of the Bowling Green land and needs 

protecting with Bowling Green.

Part of the Bowling Green land and 

needs protecting with Bowling Green.
19-Jan-19 C LGS

11 Hurst Quarry SJ900, 593

This site sits opposite the Hurst Road 

entrance to Biddulph Grange Country Park 

and provides a natural extension of habitat 

for wildlife (including badgers, bats, 

invertebrates and birds).

a ? r a a a BHW

Various surveys have revealed evidence of significant wildlife presence.  These include Common Toad 

(Priority species), Palmate Newt, 7 species of Bat (Protected), Badgers (Protected), Barn Owl, Tawny Owl, 

and Kestrel.  An Invertebrate Study revealed that the site has been proven to hold a resource of ground-

nesting bees and wasps that fulfils adequately the Site of Biological Interest (SBI) guidelines, having 23 

breeding species and two species of genuine scarcity.  This partial study concluded that, in relation to the 

Staffordshire Wildlife Trust guidelines (2014), the site should be considered to be of SBI quality.

Check whether the proposed LGS has 

planning permission. If an active mineral 

extraction site or with an extant planning 

permission it must be removed as a 

proposed LGS. Any description that 

includes 'richness of wildlife'  should be 

supported with evidence. Large site could 

be considered an extensive tract of land- 

consider size of site. 

 A negative woodland trust ownership, 

FPs in unfit condition – very poor access 

by car for less able, poorly used, beauty 

of bluebells being taken over by 

brambles. Probably an important site 

for protecting our wildlife.  Any 

hedgehogs there?

19-Jan-19 C,L

Active mineral extraction site- although this is disputed. 

Large area. Should be highlighted that this is an important 

site within the town; protection of wildlife is imperative to 

the residents of the town. 

12 Biddulph Common SJ89719 61793
Is designated as a “Common” on the OS map 

and is therefore of heritage value.
a a r a a ? BHRW

Suggestion to access the Digimaps in order to do a ‘map regression’ and see  earlier references to Biddulph 

common. 

Biddulph Common is much larger than this 

site. 
Greenbelt protection 19-Jan-19 C,L

Remove. Boundaries unclear and greenbelt protection in 

place. 

13
Wide verge along Congleton Road from Marsh 

Green Road
SJ88753 59010

This is a wide grassed verge, which fronts on 

to properties in Congleton Road and 

benefits from maintenance by those 

residents.  There are several attractive semi 

mature, deciduous trees along its length.  It 

contributes greatly to the pleasant, 

southerly approach to the town.

a a a a a a BRO
Important area for the 'Garden 

Town of Staffordshire' image.

Recreational value. Provides visual break and transition space in a busy settlement area.

Good visual attractiveness contributing to the setting of the local area, providing important buffer. Helps to 

contribute towards making Biddulph a more attractive place to live, work and visit.  

What about car parking? (& foot 

bridges). Is this public footpath to 

Station Road?  Who owns these verges?  

Council or highways.  No more road 

signage. 

19-Jan-19 C LGS- rename 'Congleton Road gateway to the town'.

14 Ringwork Castle, Bailey’s Wood SJ 88934 59478

Small wooded area, the site of an old 

Ringwork castle.  PRN Number 00179.  This is 

a cultural and ecologically important site 

with easy access via the footpath network 

for local residents and visitors along the 

Biddulph Valley Way.  It is an ancient and 

semi-natural woodland.

a a a a a a BHRW Very wild area but needed with proximity to main road pollution. A wild peaceful area must be preserved

A negative woodland trust ownership, 

FPs in unfit condition – very poor access 

by car for less able, poorly used, beauty 

of bluebells being taken over by 

brambles.  Have walked through this 

wood with an organised walk but it was 

pretty poor underfoot.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

15
Biddulph Grange Country Park- Spring Wood 

and Picnic Area
SJ 89679 59058

This site is an important area of ancient and 

semi-ancient woodland found within the 

historic Biddulph Grange Country Park.  It is 

used frequently by walkers, dog walkers 

and various groups (scouts / guides etc).

a a ? a a a BHRTW

Incorporate country park agric fields in site. Farmers retain the right to graze cattle.  Lots of bats seen here 

years ago on an organised bat watch, lovely lake with lots of wildlife.  Pity about the state of the discussed 

visitor centre. Spring Wood is an ancient and semi-natural woodland consisting of a mature canopy of oak, 

ash, sycamore, beech, chestnut, Scots pine and larch. A number of different bats have been recorded in this 

area including Pipistrelle bats, Whiskered / Brandt’s bat, Daubenton’s bat and the Noctule bat.  English 

bluebells can be seen in the Spring and there is a wide diversity of fungi in the autumn.

19-Jan-19 C

NEW AREA LGS- merge with sites 3 and 73 to make one 

designation covering areas of Biddulph Grange Country 

Park. 'New' area considered in April 2019 consultation.

16
Biddulph Valley Way (Whitemoor Local Nature 

Reserve)
SJ885605

This site is a local nature reserve with great 

accessibility due to the Biddulph Valley Way 

running through it.  Opportunities for 

interpretation about the local wildlife are 

provided with numerous signs.

a a a a a a BRTW

Vital environmental site, good for walking.  Vital this area is protected.  Well used by walkers, cyclists etc.  

what about car parking and footbridges?  Vital area that needs to be protected great for walking and cycling.  

Biddulph Valley Way crossing on Halls Road needs dog poo bins.  Where Biddulph Valley Way crosses Halls 

Road need speed reduction for safe crossing. Pond between Marsh Green Road crossing and Bailey’s Wood is 

full of willdlife – frogs, newts etc – and is a rich hunting ground for the local crane population.  March Green 

Road two walkways and streams.  Kingfisher, Fox, Badgers.

19-Jan-19 C
LGS- Note Biddulph Valley Way 'pockets' as part of second 

consultation. 

17 Eiger Close grassed area (Uplands Estate) ST8 7DX 53°07'22.9"N 2°09'41.4"W

Grassed area on the periphery of the 

housing estate, providing attractive 

entrance and important green buffer 

between housing developments. 

a a a a a a RW

These areas are very important not only as recreational areas for people to walk, ride (horses) etc but also for 

the preservation of local flora and fauna.  Recreational value. Provides visual break and transition space in a 

busy settlement area. Good visual attractiveness contributing to the setting of the local area, providing 

important buffer. Helps to contribute towards making Biddulph a more attractive place to live, work and 

visit.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

18 Uplands Play Area ST8 7FG 53°07'23.8"N 2°09'52.5"W
This play area is newly created and is set 

within a popular family housing estate.
a a a a a a R  Contributes to "well being"

This needs to be completed, vital for local children. This is very important, so the children have a safe place 

to play outdoors.  Population in this area has increased rapidly.  Lots of young children.  Vital for them to 

have a safe area to play.  I agree lots of young children in the area that need a safe place to play away from all 

the traffic NEEDS to be completed.  Used by children walking to Oxhey School.  Allows them to walk in an 

area away from traffic pollution

Enables increased physical activity and 

improvements to children’s learning.

Provides a good contribution to the 

setting of the local area, ensuring a 

break between dwellings. Improved 

community cohesion and sense of 

belonging.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

19 Geneva Way Green Spaces ST8 7FF 53°07'17.6"N 2°09'42.3"W

Grassed area on the periphery of the 

housing estate, providing attractive 

entrance and important green buffer 

between housing developments.

a a a a a a R

Enhances the attractiveness of the estate in which it sits, providing a good contribution to the setting of the 

local area.

Helps to contribute towards making Biddulph a more attractive place to live, work and visit.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

20 Behind Oxhey Drive Green Spaces ST8 7FB 53.124117 N, -2.165702 W

Grassed area, providing attractive and 

important green buffer between housing 

developments.

a a a a a a BRW

Enhances the attractiveness of the estate in which it sits, providing a good contribution to the setting of the 

local area.

Helps to contribute towards making Biddulph a more attractive place to live, work and visit.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

21 Corner of the Uplands ST8 7ER 53°07'27.4"N 2°09'52.5"W

Grassed area, providing attractive and 

important green buffer between housing 

developments.

a a a a a a R

Enhances the attractiveness of the estate in which it sits, providing a good contribution to the setting of the 

local area.

Helps to contribute towards making Biddulph a more attractive place to live, work and visit.

SMDC amenity green space. 19-Jan-19 C,L LGS

22
Corner at junction between Torville Drive and 

Ribble Drive
ST8 7LL

A rectangular space that is open grass with 

trees and shrubs from the corner to 

approximately half way along the Torville 

side, when it then tapers and drops steeply 

down to the culvert that starts in the rear 

garden of No. 17 Plover Drive and continues 

under this space and down to Biddulph 

Brook at the Leisure Centre, moving water 

coming off the hillside up to Biddulph Moor. 

a a a a a a RW

Regularly see wildlife there.  A nature break for the estate.  Lovely area for squirrels and lots of birds.  

Probably best left overgrown to protect wildlife. Green space recreational area for the resident’s children.

The grass and shrubs at the open area are maintained by Ribble Drive’s residents, to retain its attractiveness 

and community use, while retaining its natural environment and wildlife habitats.

The steep drop down to the culvert is heavily overgrown providing wildlife habitats. Its boundary edge with 

Torville Drive has wide spread and thriving blackberry hedgerow extending back into that area and 

supporting wildlife, as well as fruit picking by residents along the roadway edge.

The joint maintenance and use contributes to the social and community cohesion of Ribble Drive.

In addition to being a recreational area, the open space is used by the resident’s children for such as 

displaying Well Dressing, signposting / hosting charity activities and assisting their school nature projects

19-Jan-19 C LGS

23 Knypersley Cricket Club ST8 7AH53'06'17.3N - 2'10'44.2W
Founded in 1880, the club has three senior 

teams and facilities available for hire.
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ H,R,T

( O ) The site has clear 

community use.  Sporting 

facility.

Recreational and historical value. Long established sporting venue valued by the wider community.

Accessible for entire community with various age groups accessing training and sporting facilities.

Iconic pavilion in the grounds, visible from the road side.

So much history attached to this site.  Great local point in the town.In support of this.  A wonderful asset to 

the town.  

The trees at the edge of the site by the 

road are especially important  - Do they 

have a TPO? 19-Jan-19

C

LGS

24 Knypersley Sports Ground ST8 7AH53'06'15.1N - 2'10'45.2W
Floodlit 5 a-side pitch and full-sized football 

pitch.
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ H,R,T

( O ) The site has clear 

community use.  Sporting 

facility.

Great sporting facility for young sports teams.  Recreational value. Good public access for formal and informal 

uses.

Provides opportunities for increased physical activity, improving mental and physical health.

Encourages improvements in community cohesion and children’s learning.

Entrance to Biddulph from South, all 

green spaces make a positive 

impression.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

25 Fields behind Knypersley Cricket Club ST8 7AL53'06'20.8N - 2'10'41.7W
Grassed areas used for both grazing and 

cultivation of grass for feeding.
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ B,R

(O) It provides a visual open 

space.  Site provides amenity.

Very important visually, helps for the town to appear as a green space. Provides visual break and transition 

area between settlements. Important area of darkness attracts bats, foxes, and other wildlife.

Provides enhanced opportunities for wildlife habitats and wildlife corridors.

Very good visual attractiveness, providing a good contribution to the setting of the local area.  

This helps make Biddulph look green!

Very important visually, helps for the 

town to appear as a green space. 

Previous SMDC site for removal from 

greenbelt.

19-Jan-19 C

Second consultation- Investigate usage further; consider 

renaming site as 'Knypersley transition space' or 

'Knypersley Green Space'.

26 Knypersley Bowling Club ST8 7AE53'06'18.3N - 2'10'48.5W

Long established bowling club with thriving 

membership. Competes in local leagues and 

competitions.

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ H,R 

( O ) The site has clear 

community use.  Sporting 

facility.

Recreational value. The club aims to promote the game of Crown Green Bowling, improving physical and 

mental health, and increased social activity.

Good facilities and evidence of frequent and regular use.

Up and coming bowlers need this facility.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

27 Knypersley Fishing Pool with field  - 53'06'11.3N - 2'10'39.4W

Standing open water. A pool used for 

fishing surrounded by tall herbs and locally 

frequent goat willow.  At the southern end 

is a small beech/oak woodland with 

occasional sycamore.

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ B,H,R,T

( O ) The site has clear 

community use.  Sporting 

facility.

This site is an important ecological site with open water, tall herbs and goat willow trees.   There is a small 

beach/oak woodland and occasional sycamore at the southern end.

A well-used fishing pool which contains massive shoals of small roach, gudgeon, and perch and big shoals of 

skimmer bream with the odd carp and tench.

Open standing water with tall herbs and goat willow. At the southern end is a small beech/oak woodland 

with occasional sycamore.

The pool runs alongside the Knypersley Meltwater channel – a relict glacial channel from the Devensian 

period.  It is the UK’s largest example of a subglacial meltwater that cuts across a drainage divide (the Trent / 

Mersey watershed) and is a Regionally Important Geological Site for this reason.

Used by up and coming young anglers. Used by local walkers of all ages. Encourages activity in the open 

spaces.

Pool at Knypersley hall of historical 

significance and for wild pond life.
19-Jan-19 C LGS

P
age 351



 

18 
 

 

28 Green on Conway Road ST8 7AL53'06'23.8N - 2'10'38.0W

Visually attractive site, providing important 

green space for the community on a highly 

populated road.

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ? R
(O) It provides a visual open 

space.  Site provides amenity.

Recreational value. Provides visual break and transition space in a busy settlement area.

Good visual attractiveness contributing to the setting of the local area.

Provides a safe place for young people and dog walkers. Lovely green space amidst the housing, keep it!

SMDC amenity green space. 19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

29 Mill Hayes Sports and Recreation Ground ST8 7PX53'06'00.9N - 2'10'45.2W

There is a car park with spaces for 40 cars, 

football pitches and open grass.  Owned by 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, 

managed by Parkwood Leisure.

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ R,T 

( O ) The site has clear 

community use.  Sporting 

facility.

Would benefit Biddulph families and increase motivation. Encourages local young people to engage in 

meaningful weekend activities.  Gives local people chance to gather with others to play games etc. 

Recreational value. Full sized Football, Mini Soccer and Junior Football grass pitches accessible for the entire 

community, throughout the year.

Good range of informal and formal uses.

Good visual attractiveness; provides a good contribution to the setting of the local area.

We play football here!  Apply lottery funding for communities

19-Jan-19 C
Document usage - Clearly demonstrate the public benefit.  

Document usage historically.

30 Butterfly Garden ST8 7QB53'05'25.6N - 2'10'51.8W

Owned by Biddulph Town Council and 

maintained by Biddulph in Bloom at the 

entrance to Biddulph, from Stoke-on-Trent.

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ B,T 

( O ) The site has clear 

community benefit. Important 

area for the 'Garden Town of 

Staffordshire' image.

Good level of wildlife along the site; ecological significance with a water course through the centre of the 

site.

Good visual attractiveness, providing important buffer from the industrial Brindley Ford into the ‘Garden 

Town of Staffordshire’. Helps to contribute towards making Biddulph a more attractive place to live, work 

and visit.

Beautiful open space on entry to the town of Biddulph, keep it green.  Important entrance to Biddulph in a 

relatively un-pretty area. Provides a pretty view coming into the town.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

31
Grass verge in front of Mill Hayes Sports 

Ground
SJ880 559

This has been planted with 8 trees and also 

has planted beds.  This is a grassy area with 

seating.

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ? R

(O ) Provides an entrance to the 

Town,, creates  a visual open 

space.

This site provides an introduction to the Garden Town of Staffordshire on entering from the south by 

showing a tended area in the midst of the town’s industrial units to the west.  The colour of the trees in 

autumn is particularly vibrant. Flower beds. Greenery breaks up the otherwise unpleasant view.

Litter in the car park behind distracts 

from the flower beds etc.
19-Jan-19 C

Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

32

Parts of Greenway Bank Country Park, also 

known as Knypersley Reservoir, Sandstones 

and Crowborough Wood
Multiple 

reference 

numbers- 

please 

view maps 

for location

Multiple 

reference 

numbers- 

please view 

maps for 

location

The ancient and semi-natural woodlands 

contained within Greenway Bank Country 

Park are important habitats for numerous 

creatures.  The sites, added together, form a 

vital reserve for wildlife and part of a wider 

area-wide wildlife corridor.  Consist of open 

water, deep sandstone gorges, 

predominantly broad-leaved woodland 

with marshy grassland., swamp and acidic 

areas mainly in the north-east section.  

Water voles have been recorded on site in 

the past.  There are some significant old 

trees on the ridge leading to Gawton's 

Stone.

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ B,H,R,T
( O ) The site has clear 

community benefit.

Lots of history, beautiful scenic walks for families. This is a vital area for walking, encouraging wildlife and 

good mental health in the community.  Vital green space site from historical and natural aspects., very well 

used throughout the year for recreation. The site is accessible to walkers and cyclists, being serviced by two 

car parks and a circular footpath.  It is also linked to the wider footpath network providing easy foot access 

for residents living in Biddulph, Brown Edge and the north of Stoke-on-Trent.

Loads of fossils in Crowborough Wood; 

significant geological potential.
19-Jan-19 C

Possibly too large. Second consultation to establish 

whether there are specific parts that need additional 

protection. 

33 Mill Hayes Fishing Pool ST8 7PR53'05'57.2N - 2'10'30.3W
Standing open water. A small pool used for 

fishing surrounded by trees.
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ B,R,T 

( O ) The site has clear 

community benefit.
Entrance to Biddulph Wildlife Reserve needs to be kept green.

The Mill Hayes pool is an important 

ecological site with open water, 

providing enhanced opportunities for 

wildlife habitats and wildlife corridors.

19-Jan-19 C

Document usage - Clearly demonstrate the public benefit.  

Document usage historically.

34
Part of Section A VOS 20- Top of Springfield 

Road
ST8 7BY

An area owned by Biddulph Town Council 

for the benefit of the Community; flat 

grassed area with boulders along the 

periphery, with fabulous views across 

Biddulph

a a a a a a RW

Biddulph Town Council has spent a lot of £ for the benefit of community.  Lovely to see after the years of 

been unkempt.  Lovely to see after its being wasteland for years!  Big improvement.  Makes the area look 

nice and nice to see it being used for dog walking etc.  Springfield Road lower level-  Amazing Green Space 

this needs to continue.  There is wildlife and this needs to be maintained.  The foxes are only just re-

establishing their dens.  No more new builds.  Thank you.  Only recently developed as a green space.  

Enhances the immediate environment at top of Springfield Road.  Is in constant use by dog walkers and is 

used by children as a safe play area.  Should be maintained as current status.

Needs to be better maintained (lower 

section).

The stock of fish was increased in 

spring 2003. The new fish were over 

2000 small roach and skimmer bream. 

Other fish that are present are 

numerous perch and gudgeon, Crucian 

carp, tench, mirror + common carp, 

rudd and golden orfe can also be 

caught.

19-Jan-19 C Reinstate as LGS

35 Park Lane allotments ST8 7BY

Owned and managed by Biddulph Town 

council providing an opportunity for 

residents of the town to grow their own 

food

N N N Y Y Y R

Particular local significance because of its recreational value; good level of wildlife observed.

Provides accessible facilities to enable local food production and improvements to health and wellbeing.

Improved community cohesion and sense of belonging.

Good visual attractiveness with a good 

variety of natural features.
19-Jan-19 C LGS

36 Moorland Road allotments ST8 6EN

Owned and managed by Biddulph Town 

council providing an opportunity for 

residents of the town to grow their own 

food

N N N Y Y Y R

Particular local significance because of its recreational value; good level of wildlife observed.

Provides accessible facilities to enable local food production and improvements to health and wellbeing.

Improved community cohesion and sense of belonging. Garden spaces available st Church Road gardens 

users welcome.

SMDC amenity green space. 19-Jan-19 C,L LGS

37
Section B VOS 20, Springfield Road- Behind St 

David’s Way
ST8 7XA

Accessible open space providing an 

important area for the community to 

engage in recreational activities; an 

important transition area between 

settlements. Includes wooden play/gym 

equipment

a a a a a a R
Contains important footpath that is well used. Used by dog walkers and children. Important buffer between 

housing estates. 

LOCAL PLAN SITE  Needs to be better 

maintained.  
19-Jan-19 C Retain as LGS

38 Shepherd Street/ Slater Street green space ST8 6JE

Accessible open space. Owned by 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and 

identified for allotments by Biddulph Town 

council

N N N Y Y Y R

Recreational value and adds to the local amenity.

Provides an outlook for surrounding residential properties.

Provides an opportunity for wildlife habitats.
SMDC amenity green space. 19-Jan-19 C,L LGS

39 VOS 17- Biddulph Valley Park/ Leisure Centre

Linear managed grassland with mature trees 

along the brook, includes the Leisure 

Centre. Steeply sloping down to Leisure 

centre and brook. Full Public Access

a a a a a a RW

LOCAL PLAN SITE  Agree with green space designation.  Important land for children to play on, picnics for 

families etc.  Lots of trees reducing pollution.  Important areas for families using it for recreation purposes 

and lots of trees there.  Very important park for dog and human walking and wildlife and plants. Biddulph is a 

great community needs promoting

19-Jan-19 C,L Retain as LGS

40
VOS 18- Braddocks Hay/ Upper Biddulph 

Valley Park

Linear woodland which extends south east 

to the open countryside, containing a 

network of footpaths

a a a a a a BRT LOCAL PLAN SITE  Green space designation should remain 19-Jan-19 C,L Retain as LGS

41
VOS 19- Braddocks Hay Recreation Ground/ 

Church Road
SJ886, 569

Open grassland with play and sports 

facilities; and community garden and school 

to North.

a a a a a a R
LOCAL PLAN SITE  floodlights on a 5‐a‐side.  Really well used.  Play equipment for under 5’s needs more of it.  

Slide, play hub, monkey bars, lights, zipline, for park on Church Road. 

 5-a-side turns into a lake needs draining.  

Better benches, more bins
19-Jan-19 C,L Retain as LGS

42
Green Space in the middle of Kingsfield 

Crescent

SJ88689,   

57780

grassed area in a densely populated housing 

estate, providing an important green
a a a a a ? R Safe for the children to play.  Great for dog walkers

Grassed area, with several mature 

silver birch trees.  The area forms a 

pleasant, natural outlook for the 

residents of the close and transition 

space in a busy settlement area.

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

43 Lawton Crescent SJ88688, 57923

pleasant green area with few deciduous 

trees, which give the properties in the 

crescent a green open outlook

a a a a a ? R
The area forms a pleasant, natural outlook for the residents of the crescent and transition space in a busy 

settlement area.
SMDC amenity green space. 19-Jan-19 C,L

Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

44 Land opposite Lawton Crescent SJ88688, 57923

parcel of land bounded by Lawton St, East St 

and Moorland Rd. An open recreational area 

with a few deciduous trees, affording 

residents in East St a pleasant open outlook.

a a a a a ? R
The area forms a pleasant, natural outlook for the residents of the street and transition space in a busy 

settlement area. This area is important.
SMDC amenity green space. 19-Jan-19 C,L

Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

P
age 352



 

19 
 

45 Hawthorn Grove Play Area ST8 6UJ
A play area set within a popular family 

housing estate
a a a a a ? R Very good play area and dog walking space.  It is quite well maintained

Recreational value. Good facilities 

provided and maintained. Enables 

increased physical activity and 

improvements to children’s learning.

Provides a good contribution to the 

setting of the local area, ensuring a 

break between dwellings. Improved 

community cohesion and sense of 

belonging.

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

46 Queens Drive Green ST8 7DA

Accessible open space providing an 

important area for the community to 

engage in recreational activities; an 

important transition area between 

settlements.  

a a a a a ? R

Recreational value. Provides visual 

break and transition space in a busy 

settlement area.

Good visual attractiveness contributing 

to the setting of the local area.

SMDC amenity green space.

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

47 Church Road roundabout ST8 6JL

Accessible open space providing an 

important transition area between 

settlements

a a a a a ? R

Enhances the attractiveness of the 

estate in which it sits, providing a good 

contribution to the setting of the local 

area.

Display of large-scale artwork, which 

can be viewed from all side.

Provides an outlook for surrounding 

residential properties.

Could be utilised with a better/greener 

streetscape or even a pollinator 

friendly growth in season – similar 

examples in Alsager Park.  Very 

important for children to have these 

open spaces.

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

48 Highfield Place Green Space ST8 6HB

Accessible open space providing an 

important transition area between 

settlements

a a a a a ? R Important for the community

Enhances the attractiveness of the 

estate in which it sits, providing a good 

contribution to the setting of the local 

area.

Provides an outlook for surrounding 

residential properties.

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

49 Newpool Meadows SJ880 564

This area now has Village Green status.  It 

connects the main road (A527) to the 

Biddulph Valley way via a public footpath.  

It is rich in wildlife and contains a small 

pond which is marked as a Conservation 

Area.

a a a a a a BRTW Village Green Status Hugely important amenity on many levels – wildlife, public use, visual amenity etc.  What about car parking.
LGS designation not necessary as already 

has Village Green status

It is significantly important to the local 

community.  The area is jointly 

managed by Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council and the Newpool 

Meadows Village Green Friends group.  

The Friends say “The Friends of 

Newpool Meadows has been set up 

from the Newpool Meadows Action 

Group who fought long and hard to get 

this valuable piece of land Village 

Green status after it was threatened 

with development.  The meadow has 

been used for recreation for as long as 

can be remembered and we are proud 

to be able to know that future 

generations can enjoy the land the way 

we have.”

19-Jan-19 C,L,U Village Green Status gives sufficient protection. 

50
Land at the end of Healey Avenue/ Royce 

Avenue
ST8 6SQ 53°06'12.0"N 2°11'04.3"W

Accessible open space providing an 

important area for the community to 

engage in recreational activities; an 

important transition area between 

settlements.

a a a a a ? RW Used to connect old part of Brown Lees to new houses. Used by dog walkers and children.

Recreational value and adds to the local 

amenity. Very good visual 

attractiveness providing an attractive 

setting and outlook for surrounding 

residential properties.

Improves community cohesion and 

provides an opportunity for wildlife 

habitats.

SMDC amenity green space.

19-Jan-19 C,L
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

51 Land at the end of Farnworth Close ST8 6PU 53°06'24.3"N 2°11'14.6"W

Accessible open space providing an 

important area for the community to 

engage in recreational activities; an 

important transition area between 

settlements.

a a a a a ? RW

Recreational value and adds to the local 

amenity. Very good visual 

attractiveness providing an attractive 

setting and outlook for surrounding 

residential properties.

Improves community cohesion and 

provides an opportunity for wildlife 

habitats.

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

52 Corner of Craigside and Station Road SJ883 579

This triangular plot has been planted with 7 

oak trees, which have been protected with 

decorative cages.  This is a grassy area with 

seating.

a a a a a a R Important for the community

This work has been being carried out on 

a voluntary basis by the people of the 

town for more than 20 years.  It is 

hugely valued by the people of the 

town and its visitors.  This work is 

carried out throughout the year.  This 

spot in particular provides a green 

break on what is often a busy bypass 

road.

19-Jan-19 LGS

53 VOS 11‐ ‘Gillow Heath Recreation Ground’ SJ 88422 58504

This site is well used by numerous local 

residents and different sports groups across 

the town (i.e.. football clubs).  The various 

facilities mean that people of all ages are 

catered for, with a good circular footpath 

providing easy access around the site and 

onto the wider footpath network beyond.

a a a a a a BR LOCAL PLAN SITE Used for sports and a lovely walking place. Nice dog walking area.

More litter bins needed, especially by 

access to/from Biddulph Valley Way and 

Washington Close.  Car parking insufficient.  

No pavement.  

Can the green spaces at the opening to 

Essex Drive (grass verges etc)  be added 

as a green space site?

19-Jan-19 C Retain as LGS

54 VOS 13- Dorset Drive (west) 53°07'03.6"N 2°10'58.2"W

Linear area of open space and woodland on 

edge of Biddulph enclosed by disused 

railway to west, with full public access.

a a a a a a RW LOCAL PLAN SITE  (54 and 55) VOS 13/14 Great Barrier between houses walking/nature birds. 19-Jan-19 C Retain as LGS

55 VOS 14- Dorset Drive (east) 53°07'05.7"N 2°10'47.4"W

Belt of linear woodland, grass and stream to 

south of Dorset Drive, with open areas of 

maintained grassland and mature trees.

a a a a a a RW
LOCAL PLAN SITE   Important area for recreation. Used to access town centre . Part of nature corridor within 

the town, offering sanctuary for wildlife. 

What about where Dorset Drive joins 

the bypass, that’s a Biddulph in Bloom 

planted.  Flood plain?

19-Jan-19 C Retain as LGS

56 VOS 12‐ ‘Halls Road’ SJ 88521 58312
This site forms an important natural wildlife 

corridor along the Biddulph Brook.
a a a a a a RW

LOCAL PLAN SITE great barrier between estates.  This path is in a poor condition but a busy shortcut avoiding 

walking around Halls Rod.
19-Jan-19 C Retain as LGS

P
age 353



 

20 
 

  

57
Biodiversity off-set site- fields at the end of 

Essex Drive/ York Close
53°07'35.0"N 2°10'19.7"W

This site forms an important link between 

two major wildlife corridors – that of the 

Biddulph Valley Way running along the 

eastern side of the town and the river 

network.  It also contains a significant 

population of two different orchids which 

are known to be rare within the plan area 

and one of which is rare within 

Staffordshire.

a a a a a a BRTW

What about other areas of the Biddulph Valley Way?  Land owner should be discouraged from frequent tree 

destruction!.  Wildlife feeding station for migrating birds and seagulls etc.  Should be taken into public 

ownership and trees planted into full woodland.  Near to sewage works.  Too near sewage works for more 

housing.  Lots of wildlife around including rabbits and a resident OWL.  Junction at Mow Lane/Congleton 

Road, Smithy Lane and Halls Road – accident hot spot.  Mow Lane access poor too narrow east of junction 

with Essex Drive.  Children (and adults) have used this site since the 1970’s for community gatherings, 

playing etc.  full of wildlife and I have spotted many rabbits and squirrels, also it is great for dog walking.  

(Heart) think of the wildlife.  Important site for wildlife i.e. Badgers.  Public right of way runs through this 

field.  Mow Lane already a threat to pedestrians due to traffic volume.  Threat to wildlife, will create excess 

traffic, surrounding lanes/roads already crowded used by public for country walks.  Access poor.  Roads don’t 

meet minimum widths. Exceptional reasons not demonstrated to remove from green belts.  Too close to 

sewage works for developers.  Rare flora and fauna due to wetland running through.  Not deliverable for 

development as too close to sewage works.  Wetlands environment.  United Utilities reports advise 

development close to sewage works not a good idea.  Too near to sewage works for housing, full of wildlife 

and nature plants.  Badger setts can be found in here.  Link recreation space with Biddulph Valley Way.  Broad 

range of nature species supports good biodiversity – irreplaceable.  Well used public right of way. Important 

site for biodiversity – it links the wildlife corridor of the Brook with the Biddulph Valley Way which are 

important for the movement of wildlife.  It would make a good biodiversity off set site.  Development close 

to sewage works not surrounded by national planning policy.  How can you make a drive for a car, because 

there’s a river and the old train tracks.  Bats present..  orchids present.  If you take away the plants, animals 

will be vulnerable. If you take away the plants animals will be vulnerable.  Newts!

Letter received from Planning Consultants 

rep. landowner

Previous SMDC site for removal from 

greenbelt.
19-Jan-19 C,L

Include in second consultation: 1) check if strategic housing 

allocation. 2) revise the description to include the section 

of the site marked as a wildlife corridor from the evidence 

base map and amend the text to include that part of the 

site forms a wildlife corridor and adjoins another. 3) Revise 

the description in include the habitat distinctiveness map 

to show that a significant proportion of the site is of 

medium value distinctiveness. 4) Amend the description to 

include that footpath number 24 runs the full length of the 

LGS and provides a link to footpath 25, which makes a 

circular walk. Walkable neighbourhood for leisure, fitness 

and wellbeing.  5) Consider re-naming if no interest in off-

set ability. 

58 Station Road (Next to Brammer’s Shop) SJ883 578
Little green haven, providing a breathing 

space within the town centre.
r r a a a a R O

Green area, no parking please!   At one of the pictures – is this a public footpath to Station Road? Important 

area of green within the town centre.

TC developing this area into more 

formal garden using S106 money. This 

small space provides 2 formal flower 

beds and a number of planted trees.  

There are also 3 benches, providing a 

welcome break from shopping in the 

town.

A spur road splits this site. This was left 

over from the construction of the 

bypass (Meadows Way). As it serves no 

purpose it should be taken up and 

incorporated into the gardens.

19-Jan-19 C Planning permission granted on-site

59 Millennium Gardens by Sainsbury’s car park SJ883 578
Little green haven, providing a breathing 

space within the town centre.
a a a a a a R  Important area of green within the town centre.

This space provides 3 drystone wall 

planted areas, currently with winter 

planting within.  There are 3 benches 

and a stone sculpture to mark the 

millennium (2,000).  This particularly 

provides a place of calm for personal 

reflection and well-being.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

60 Gillow Heath Old Station (Halls Road) SJ 88116 58364

Site of former platform and track for the 

Gillow Heath Rail Station Constructed in 

c.1860.  This site is important in terms of its’ 

local history, being the former site of Gillow 

Heath Railway Station.  It is a gateway to the 

Biddulph Valley Way, with an associated car 

park and opportunity for enhanced 

interpretation of this important route.

a a a a a a HRW

Heritage restoration opportunity.  Need to preserve – what ‘heritage sites’ are left in Biddulph?  Other towns 

are preserving!  Save it, don’t knock it down.  Wildlife is evident and reports have shown the importance of 

the plants and trees that are found there.

History:  Opportunity to provide 

interpretation of the Biddulph Valley 

Way, wider links to the industrial 

history of the area.

Leisure and recreation: wider links to 

the footpath network linking further 

afield to the Staffordshire Way and the 

Gritstone Trail.  The site is also a 

gateway to National Cycle Route 55 

which runs the length of the Biddulph 

Valley Way.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

61 The Paddock (Hunters Close) ST8 6SY 53°07'01.1"N 2°10'44.0"W

Owned and maintained by Staffordshire 

Moorlands District Council. In need of 

modernisation, but an important transition 

area between settlements.

a a a a a a R

This is actually a beautiful area - could be so much better if £ spent.  Good to include local youth clear this to 

earn respect.  Beautiful space but not utilised and groups of people vandalise.  Heavy usage by walkers, 

cyclists, horse riders, dog owners.  Wholly inadequate provision – poor maintenance by ???? service – muddy 

surfaces, lack of seats, hedges too high.  Lovely area with mature trees and other wild plants.  Love the idea 

of more wildflower bulbs.  The only downside is that you can feel vulnerable as its vandalised.  Dorset Drive 

Good area for walking doggies!  Also has a bin not on maps.  Neglected so prone to vandalism.  The Paddock 

area.  Urgent need for steps behind (Grahams house) – many adults pass through area.  Area now vandal pro.  

Why not consider Nature Trail, Wildflowers, meditation quiet area.  Urgent need – trees behind 44/46 

Hunters Close.  Very high and dangerous.  A good calm area but:  steps from cut through from Hunters Close 

to main road – to make make access possible down steep grassy bank.  Consider wildflower areas.  Bulb 

planting.

SMDC amenity green space. 

Recreational value.

Enhances the attractiveness of the 

estate in which it sits, providing a good 

contribution to the setting of the local 

area.

Provides an outlook for surrounding 

residential properties.

19-Jan-19 C,L LGS

62 Craigside Green Areas ST8 6BL 53°07'06.0"N 2°10'35.2"W

Accessible open space providing an 

important transition area between 

settlements.

a a a a a a R

Recreational value. Provides visual 

break and transition space in a busy 

settlement area.

Good visual attractiveness contributing 

to the setting of the local area.

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

63 East of Newpool SJ879569

Biodiversity Alert Site.  Mainly broad-leaved 

semi-natural woodland with an area of semi-

improved neutral grassland and scattered 

trees situated towards the north of the site.  

A tarmacked path passes through the entire 

length of the site

a a a a a a BRTW

Wildlife corridor essential to link both ends of Biddulph along train lines and on each side.  Linking both 

Country Parks as well i.e. both sides of main road.  What is a biodiversity alert site?  Are there others.  

Wonderful, useful, wildlife corridor.  Plus gives ‘safe’ area for locals to take exercise.  Links Newpool 

Meadows ‘village green’ with fields all the way to Gillow Heath and beyond.  Track used by families to walk 

to school – Health and Safety?  Used by many in Newpool Road/Lyneside estate for 

mobility/socialising/seeing neighbours!  Highly valued by walkers and cyclists linking Biddulph to ‘further 

afield’ north and south.  It would be a travesty if we could not access it. As a local resident I am concerned 

that green space around footpath crossing NC route 55 cutting out the ‘tin bridge’ on Newpool Road is 

protected.  Work by the church on their car park has created a (hopefully) temporary eyesore.  The green 

space there is attractive to residents.

Ensure site edge does not infringe on 

Wharf Road Strategic Development 

site. 

19-Jan-19 C,L Consider all Biddulph Valley Way 'pockets' (16)

64 Brown Lees Fun Park ST8 6PE 53°06'14.3"N 2°11'07.8"W

Owned by Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council and supported by Brown Lees 

Residents Association, this park is set within 

a popular family housing estate.

a a a a a a R

Update would be good for local families.  Very important for children to play here but people do walk dogs 

on it (despite notice) and inspections inadequate as rubber play surface lifting at edges (unsafe!)  wonderful 

play area.  Take the children on bike rides/walking Biddulph Valley Way to get there.

SMDC amenity green space. 

Recreational value. Good facilities 

provided and maintained. Enables 

increased physical activity and 

improvements to children’s learning.

Provides a good contribution to the 

setting of the local area, ensuring a 

break between dwellings. Improved 

community cohesion and sense of 

belonging.

19-Jan-19 C,L LGS

65 Trent Head Well ST8 7NU
Site of spring which is the source of the 

River Trent, the third largest river in England
a a a a a a H

The spring had a “well” built around it in the 1930s and is fenced off from the surrounding fields. It is a known 

tourist visiting spot. It is historically significant to the village and is also the reason for the annual well 

dressing, although this takes place on the village green as the site is not suitable for the event. 

The fields adjoining the well  should also be included as it provides access to the site. This featured on a 

BBC4 programme about the Trent River – highlighted its heritage importance.

Needs very much restoring.

Well Head should be well documented 

and highlighted.  Red line boundary 

needs extending east to avoid future 

fill in space

19-Jan-19 C,L

Within Green Belt and future development would include 

environmental protection.  However, site is important. Just 

well area to be included in second consultation. 

66 Hot Scotch Park ST8 7HP
Newly refurbished children's playground 

and adjoining play area
a a a a a a R

Encourages physical activity within young demographic.  Area that promotes social well-being within the 

community.  Vital amenity for the village.  Used by Church groups regularly. 

 Retain as green space due to 

community use. SMDC amenity green 

space. This is the only playground in 

the village and has recently been 

refurbished after a local campaign to 

raise funds. It has special significance 

to the community since the money was 

raised by local people and it was not 

paid for by the council. The playground 

has been there for over 40 years and is 

the only play area in the village. The 

adjoining grass area was previously 

used as a local football pitch and is 

currently not used as such because of 

the lack of changing facilities. It is used 

by local children as a play area for ball 

games and other general play.

19-Jan-19 C,L LGS

P
age 354



 

21 
 

  

67 Biddulph Moor Village Hall green space ST8 7HP
Village Hall with car park and adjoining 

Green Areas
a a a a a a R  Ensures clear access to Hall recreation ground. Used by toddler groups and elderly.  Great community hub.

BMVH Committee requested that this area 

is not included within the LGS designation. 

They are committed to protecting the site, 

but may wish to extend the Hall itself to 

meet the community needs. 

Village Hall which holds community 

events including annual bonfire and 

well dressing.

It is also used for weddings, parties and 

other community events

19-Jan-19 C,L
Remove. Would have negative impact on development of a 

community asset. 

68 Land adjacent New Road Methodist Church green space between bungalow and church a a a a a a Community.  Tradition and historical.  Value i.e. well-dressing which need protecting. 

Green space opposite school lane, used 

to display school well dressing 

tableaus.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

69 Village Green

small public area about 30 yds by 10 yds that 

has a grassed area/notice board/old 

telephone kiosk housing 

defibrillator/flower beds/ village green sign 

and carved rock

a a a a a a HR

Used for Village Christmas Tree 

and Well Dressing Celebration. 

Designated centre of village 

Centre of village and focus of two main events of year.  Needs protecting.  Used for community 

events/festivals.  Retain as green space to retain village green centre and amenity space

It is the only green area in the centre of 

Biddulph Moor and is well used by 

many residents for functions 

throughout the year.

Specifically at Easter week/Well 

dressing ceremony/Site for Christmas 

tree and Christmas decorations. The 

notice board is a central point to keep 

locals informed of events and 

occurrences in BM. Advertising boards 

can easily be erected when local events 

are occurring such as Bonfire c 5th Nov. 

The floral decorations enhance the area 

when visitors drive through or visit and 

the area is one of the recognised sites 

for the Biddulph in Bloom event

19-Jan-19 C LGS

70 North- Fields Behind Talbot car park
53°08'06.8"N 

2°09'27.5"W

Open space with hens roaming free, the 

historic leat runs along the periphery of the 

site.

a a a a a BTW

The site has particular local significance because of its historic significance, in that it is the setting of the leat, 

which begins within the Biddulph Grange Country Park.

Evidence of wildlife on the site and good visual attractiveness.

The site has particular local significance 

because of its historic significance, in 

that it is the setting of the leat, which 

begins within the Biddulph Grange 

Country Park.

19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

71
North- Bridestones Neolithic chambered tomb 

(c.3800-3600 BC)

53°09'23.4"N 

2°08'35.9"W

The Bridestones is a ruined Neolithic long 

cairn reported to have been 110m long.
a a a a a BHT

The site is of national as well as local importance and illustrates part of the lives and deaths of a community 

living in our area 6000 years ago.

Its biography illustrates the local significance of this site over the more modern era:

• 18th Century the Turnpike Road was built (Dial Lane) and the Cairn was robbed to lay under the road.  Also, 

it was reported that James Brindley's men blew up one of the megaliths in order to show the power of the 

explosives being used to build the Trent and Mersey canal.

• 19th Century saw locals using the site for recreation and damaging the stones with picnic fires it is also 

reported that the courtyard was robbed for Tunstall Park.

• 20th Century saw the site Scheduled and excavated (1960s).

• 21st Century sees the site often overlooked by most but still attracts 'New Age' attention.

Evidence of wildlife on the site and 

good visual attractiveness. Scheduled 

ancient monument, accessed by foot.

19-Jan-19 C
Site itself is not within NP area. Has other protection as 

scheduled ancient monument. 

72
North- Land behind bungalow opposite Toll 

Gate House

53.133629, -

2.161404

Connects from Grange Road to Fold Lane, 

visible from both roads.

Biddulph Brook flows through it.

Ancient woodland with Tree Protection 

Orders (TPOs).

a a a a a BHW

Site makes a positive contribution to the setting of a Bateman bridge, which is open to the public.

Good visual attractiveness, variety of natural features of a good quality. 19-Jan-19 CL
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

73 North- Grange Country Park- Grazing Area
53°07'45.5"N 

2°09'26.1"W

Grazing field with public footpath running 

through it.
a a a a a a BHRW

Accessed by public via public footpath. 

Local farmers have retained the right to 

graze cattle.

Good level of wildlife observed and 

good visual attractiveness. Evidence of 

good informal use by dog-walkers, local 

scout group, etc.

19-Jan-19 CU

LGS- merge with sites 15 and 3 to make one designation 

covering areas of Biddulph Grange Country Park. Put 'new' 

area out for consultation. 

74 East- Pine Trees- Congleton Road
53°07'13.4"N 

2°10'12.5"W

Area providing visual attractiveness and 

transition area between settlements. 

Provides residents with pleasant open 

outlook.

a a a a a a BRO
Important planting/ memorials 

on site.

This site was renovated and planted by Biddulph Lions.  Seat donated by Sowton Family.  Most trees in 

Memoriam

SMDC amenity green space.Evidence of 

wildlife and good visual attractiveness.
19-Jan-19 C LGS

75 East- Coracle Grove
53°06'27.0"N 

2°09'43.9"W

Area providing visual attractiveness and 

transition area between settlements. 

Provides residents with pleasant outlook.

a a a a a R

Evidence of wildlife and good visual attractiveness.

Evidence of good range of informal 19-Jan-19 C
Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

76 West- Brown Lees Village Green
53°06'11.3"N 

2°11'14.4"W

Historic ‘drying green’ for centre of the 

village‐ terraced miners’ houses. Used over 

the years for tea parties, recreational uses 

especially when the chapel was in use.

a a a a a a RW

Commemorative tree in the middle with seat at the side, by the village sign.

Flower containers by the seat, maintained by the local Residents Association.

No boundary restriction to access.

Local resident complained about 

consultation process and name of site. 

Area known as 'the field' to residents.

Historically significant as well as 

recreational use.

Small area of tranquillity in the middle 

of the terraced houses.

19-Jan-19 C LGS

77 West- Brook Street Green Space
53°06'10.2"N 

2°11'17.4"W

Small green spaces off brook street; one 

site with raised beds and a long flower bed, 

looked after and planted by local residents 

with help from Biddulph in Bloom.

a a a a a a RW

SMDC amenity green space. Small 

‘breathing space’ in a largely terraced 

community.

A small birch tree was recently planted 

by residents to support a ‘poppy net’ as 

part of centenary remembrance. The 

raised beds are planted by the 

residents’ association, with support 

from Biddulph in Bloom.

Evidence of wildlife and good visual 

attractiveness.

19-Jan-19 CL LGS

78 West- James Bateman Nature Reserve
53°06'39.0"N 

2°10'43.1"W

At the junction of Meadows Way and 

Tunstall Road, given in a ‘swap’ when the 

Meadows Way was developed and left to 

naturalise.

a r a a a RW
Part of Wharf Road Strategic Development 

Area in the Local Plan

Hedges and trees, and native 

undergrowth providing good habitat for 

wildlife.

Visual attractiveness provides good 

contribution to the setting of the local 

area.

19-Jan-19 C,L
Remove. Part of Strategic Development Area in the Local 

Plan.

Additional sites included at the start of Consultation Dec/Jan 2019

P
age 355



 

22 
 

  

79 South-  Orme Road Grass verge ST8 7BT
53.103412, -

2.170349

This is a wide grassed verge, which fronts on 

to properties in Orme Road.  There are 

several attractive semi mature, deciduous 

trees along its length.

a a a a a ? BTW Looking very positive, makes nice edge to school playing field must be kept clean.
Well used by dog walkers; recreational 

value. 

Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

80 North- Grange Road Corner ST8 7SB
53.130428, -

2.165904

The corner of the road where Biddulph 

Grange Gardens is situated. Maintained by 

Biddulph in Bloom; by the people of the 

town, for the people of the town.  This is a 

spectacular ‘welcome’ to visitors to the 

town.

a a a a a a BTW
Beautiful display of seasonal shrubs 

and bulbs; well maintained. 

Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

81
West- Fields on Tower Hill Road from 

Newpool Road junction to 12 Tower Hill Road
Extensive tract of land- land in the Green Belt

82 North- Congleton Edge Extensive tract of land- land in the Green Belt

83 Entrance to Essex Drive and York Close
Considered by NP Working Group- Not demonstrably 

special

84

West- Wedge of land from Thames Drive 

roundabout to the South and East, between 

Chells and the by-pass

Previously removed as visual open space.

85 West- Gas works site ST8 6BX
53.120497, -

2.174423

Land adjacent to Brockscroft Gardens with 

mature trees. 
a ? a a a ? BTW

Important green space in densely 

populated area. Heavily wooded with a 

richness of wildlife.

Not clear if 'demonstrably special' following first 

consultation. Included in second consultation. 

New site identified prior to 5 April consultation

86 Moor- Cherry Tree Lane Green Space ST8 7PA
53.119601, -

2.143335

Accessible open space providing an 

important transition area between 

settlements.

a a a a ? BR

Recreational value. Provides visual 

break and transition space in a busy 

settlement area.

Good visual attractiveness contributing 

to the setting of the local area.

First consultation in April 2019

87 Moor- Hazel Grove Green Space ST8 7NY
53.119660, -

2.142214

Pleasant green area which provides well-

used  footpath in a residential area. 
a a a a a ? BR

Area that promotes social well-being 

within the community.  Vital amenity 

for the village.  

First consultation in April 2019

88 Moor- Stoneyfields Green Space ST8 7NB
53.119184, -

2.140956

Grassed area in the centre of a housing 

estate, providing  important green buffer 

between housing developments. 

a a a a a ? BR

Area that promotes social well-being 

within the community.  Vital amenity 

for the village.  

First consultation in April 2019

New sites identified at the close of the initial consultation- Jan 2019

P
age 356



 

23 
 

Appendix 2 - Regulation 14 Public Consultation  
 

Publicity/ Press Releases: 

• Biddulph Chronicle  

• Biddulph Times 

• Leek Post and Times 

• Radio Stations: Signal 1; BBC radio stoke; Moorlands Radio 

• Sentinel 

 

Publicity/ Posters: 

• All Biddulph Town notice boards and those in the villages 

• All School Newsletters 

• All venues where a hard copy is available to view/comment on 

• Biddulph Bowling Club 

• Biddulph Grange Country Park 

• Biddulph Moor Post Office 

• Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre 

• Biddulph Valley Surgery  

• Biddulph Doctors 

• Chemists 

• Churches 

• Library 

• Mailing list to Groups and Organisations (WI, U3A, Youth Centre) 

• Sainsburys  

 

Publicity/ Website: 

• Biddulph Town Council  

• Social Media 

• Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

P
age 357



 

24 
 

 

Publicity/ Direct Engagement: 

• Pop-up at Biddulph Markets  

• Pop-up at other Biddulph events 

 

Statutory Consultees: 

• List provided by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  

• Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

 

Publicity/ Hard Copy Plan & NDO Locations: 

• Biddulph Moor Post Office 
• Biddulph Town Hall 
• Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre 
• Biddulph Doctors 
• Biddulph Valley Doctors  
• Brown Lees Post Office 
• Flavours, Smithy Lane 
• Biddulph Library 
 

 

 

  

P
age 358



 

25 
 

Appendix 3  Statutory and Other Consultees    
 

As part of the pre-submission (Regulation 14) consultation, the following bodies were individually 
contacted and asked for their comments:  

 

The Coal Authority 

Sport England 

Natural England 

Highways England 

Network Rail 

Historic England 

National Grid 

Seven Trent 

United Utilities 

Environment Agency 

Homes England 

Marine Management 

Canal and River Trust 

Western Power 

Office of Rail and Road 

Amec FW 

Staffordshire County Council  

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

Town and Parish Councils  

East Staffs Borough Council 

Peak District 

Stoke-on-Trent City Council 

Newcastle Borough Council 

Stafford Borough Council 

Cheshire East Council 

Derbyshire Dales 

 

Stoke on Trent and Staffordshire LEP  

Local Nature Partnership 

North Staffs CCG 

Healthwatch 

Support Staffordshire 

 

Residents/ Community Associations and local voluntary sector organisations.  

Page 359



 

26 
 

Appendix 4 Comments from Statutory Consultees and Modifications Made  
 

 

National and Statutory Bodies 
 
Coal Authority Letter 23rd September 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

As you will be aware the Neighbourhood Plan area lies within the current defined 
coalfield.   
 
According to the Coal Authority Development High Risk Area Plans, there are recorded 
risks from past coal mining activity in the area including; mine entries, recorded and 
likely unrecorded coal workings at shallow depth and surface mining activity.     
 
However, the Neighbourhood Plan does not appear to allocate any sites for future 
development and on this basis, we have no specific comments to make.    
 

General comments 
noted. 

No action required.  
 

 
Sport England Email 30th September 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

NB: This was an extensive representation which included general commentary about 
the role of Sports England, provision of and design of new facilities and reference to 
their guidance.  There were no specific comments or amendments suggested to the NP.  
Please refer to the consultation response for details.    

General comments 
noted. 

No action required.  
 

P
age 360



 

27 
 

Natural England Letter 14th October 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

Natural England does not have any specific comments on the draft Biddulph 

Neighbourhood Plan, or the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order.  

However, we refer you to the attached annex which covers the issues and opportunities 

that should be considered when preparing a Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

General comments 
noted. 

No action required.  
 

 
Highways England Letter 15th October 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

We support the commitments of the Parish to sustainable development principles 
contained within the Plan but have no further comments to make on its contents at this 
time.  
 
 

General comments 
noted. 

No action required.  
 

 
Network Rail Email 30th October 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

Network Rail has no comments to make on the NP. 

 
General comments 
noted. 

No action required.  
 

P
age 361



 

28 
 

 

 
Historic England Letter 31st October 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

Historic England has no adverse comments to make upon the draft plan which we feel 
takes a suitably proportionate approach to the main historic environment issues 
pertaining to Biddulph. 
 
We commend the commitment in the Plans Vision, objectives and policies to support 
well designed locally distinctive development that is sympathetic to the character of the 
area including its rural landscape character, views and green spaces. The Neighbourhood 
Development Order also promises to make a positive contribution to the future viability 
and vibrancy of the High Street. 
 
Beyond those observations we have no further substantive comments to make.  
I hope you find this advice helpful.  
 

General comments 
noted. 

No action required.  
 

 
 
National Grid Letter 1st November 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

Specific Comments  

An assessment has been carried out with respect to National Grid’s electricity and gas 
transmission apparatus which includes high voltage electricity assets and high-pressure 

General comments 
noted. 

Check the comments 
made about provision 
and ensure these are 

P
age 362



 

29 
 

gas pipelines.  

National Grid has identified that it has no record of such apparatus within the 
Neighbourhood Plan area.  

Electricity Distribution  

The electricity distribution operator in Staffordshire Moorlands Council is Western 
Power Distribution. Information regarding the transmission and distribution network can 
be found at: www.energynetworks.org.uk  

correctly reflected in the 
NP text.  

 

Severn Trent Letter 1st November 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

Waste Water Service Area  

Firstly, we would like to highlight that due to the geography of the parish its waste water 

services are provided by both ourselves and United Utilities. Severn Trent have 

ownership and liability for performance of sewers across several areas (Knypersley and 

Brown Lees) towards the south of the town whereas United Utilities services the 

remaining area including sewerage treatment provision.  

Housing  

There is no detail around specific housing development sites within the draft NDP 

although we acknowledge the references back to the emerging Staffordshire Moorlands 

General comments 
noted. 

Consider adding to the 
section on drainage that 
Severn Trent encourage 
that “all new 
development recognise a 
drainage hierarchy 
whereby disposal of 
surface water to the 
public foul or combined 
sewerage systems is 
avoided. Where possible 
a sustainable discharge 
should be made to either 
the ground, 

P
age 363



 

30 
 

Local Plan of which we will comment on separately.  

We note the recognised constraints of the green belt, landscape designations and 

topography to housing development within the Parish. We support the desire to uphold 

Biddulph as a ‘Garden Town’ and recognise the benefits of aligning to this status.  

Infrastructure  

We are supportive of policy INF2 which requests that SUDS must be utilised and 

integrated within new developments. We recognise the efforts of pushing SUDS as a key 

feature for design rather than an afterthought. We would ask that all new development 

recognise a drainage hierarchy whereby disposal of surface water to the public foul or 

combined sewerage systems is avoided. Where possible a sustainable discharge should 

be made to either the ground, watercourse/ditch- course or a surface water sewerage 

system.  

Environmental  

It is refreshing to see a Parish’s neighbourhood plan go as far as to encourage tree 

planting. We align with your views that effective tree planting can be used as a means of 

natural flood management whilst also enhancing amenity value and biodiversity of an 

area.  

 

watercourse/ditch- 
course or a surface water 
sewerage system.” 

 
  

P
age 364



 

31 
 

United Utilities Email 1st November 2019  
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

NB: This was an extensive representation, which included general commentary about 
the provision of utilities and the planning process.  The specific comments or 
amendments suggested to the NP are listed below.  Please refer to the consultation 
response for details.  
 
Specific Comments 
  
INF 2: Sustainable Drainage 
  
United Utilities recommends the following amendments [identified in red] to Draft Policy 
INF2 (Sustainable Drainage): 
  
Development proposals must be designed to include sustainable drainage water 
management measures as part of the design. New development should be designed to 
maximise the retention of surface water on the development site and to minimise runoff. 
  
The approach to surface water drainage should be considered in liaison with the LLFA, 
the public sewerage undertaker and where appropriate the Environment Agency. 
Sustainable drainage or water management measures must form an integral part of the 
design and layout, including utilising balancing ponds and water channels as an open 
part of the landscape. 
  
Surface water should be discharged in the following order of priority: 
  

• An adequate soakaway or some other form of infiltration system. 
• An attenuated discharge to watercourse or other water body. 

General comments 
noted. Specific policy 
comments to be used 
to inform an amended 
INF2. Policy and 
interpretation to be 
updated.  

Policy INF2 Amendments 
to now read: 
 
“Development must have 
no significant adverse 
impact in terms of 
surface water runoff and 
disposal, including 
impacts on surrounding 
sites and environment.  
 
Surface water discharge 
should not exceed the 
Greenfield runoff rates. 
 
This includes: 
 

• ensuring hard 
surfaces are 
water permeable; 

• use of sustainable 
urban drainage 
systems, where 
applicable; 

• ensuring that 
there is sufficient 

P
age 365



 

32 
 

• An attenuated discharge to public surface water sewer, highway drain or another 
drainage system. 

• An attenuated discharge to public combined sewer. 
  
Applicants wishing to discharge to public sewer will need to submit clear evidence 
demonstrating why alternative options are not available as part of the determination of 
their application. 
  
Development next to sensitive uses 
  
Planning should ensure that new development can be integrated effectively with existing 
businesses and facilities. Where development is proposed next to sensitive uses, 
applicants may need to provide evidence outlining any mitigating measures to ensure that 
the occupiers of new developments will enjoy an appropriate standard of amenity and will 
not be adversely affected by neighbouring uses and vice versa. It is considered best 
practice for future proposals that are within close proximity of sensitive uses to submit 
sufficient assessments to mitigate the issues of odour and noise, which is in line with 
Paragraph 182 of the NPPF that highlights that new development should be integrated 
effectively when in an area of existing, sensitive uses. We believe this is the most effective 
way to ensure new development is resilient when it will be affected by the operational 
functions of our assets within the plan boundary. When development is proposed next to 
sensitive United Utilities assets, we recommend applicants contact us via the details 
provided as early as possible. 
  

capacity of 
wastewater 
infrastructure, or 
that the 
development 
includes other 
measures for 
surface water and 
waste-water 
disposal.” 

Update the 
Interpretation to include:  

“The approach to surface 
water drainage should be 
considered in liaison with 
the LLFA, the public 
sewerage undertaker and 
where appropriate the 
Environment Agency. 
Sustainable drainage or 
water management 
measures must form an 
integral part of the design 
and layout, including 
utilising balancing ponds 
and water channels as an 
open part of the 
landscape. 

P
age 366



 

33 
 

  
Surface water should be 
discharged in the 
following order of 
priority: 
  

• An adequate 
soakaway or some 
other form of 
infiltration 
system. 

• An attenuated 
discharge to 
watercourse or 
other water body. 

• An attenuated 
discharge to 
public surface 
water sewer, 
highway drain or 
another drainage 
system. 

• An attenuated 
discharge to 
public combined 
sewer. 

  
Applicants wishing to 
discharge to public sewer 
will need to submit clear 

P
age 367



 

34 
 

evidence demonstrating 
why alternative options 
are not available as part 
of the determination of 
their application 
 
Information is available 
at:  
https://www.staffordshir
e.gov.uk/environment/Flo
od-Risk-
Management/Informatio
n-for-Planners-and-
Developers.aspx 
 
See also Defra 2015 non-
technical standards and 
Staffordshire Lead Local 
Flood Authority (LLFA) 
SuDS handbook 
requirements.” 
 

 
 
  

P
age 368



 

35 
 

Environment Agency October 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDP 

 
However, we recommend the following amendments in 
the Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan Draft Policies, dated April 2019: 
 
Natural Environment 
The NDP does not include any policies which refer to fluvial flood risk and we would 
strongly recommend including a policy for flood risk, which includes climate change and 
surface water drainage. 
 
All proposals for new development must demonstrate that existing flood risk will not be 
increased elsewhere (downstream), ideally by managing surface water on site and 
limiting runoff to the greenfield rate or better. 
We recommend Policy NE1 to include “watercourses and its floodplains” (bullet point 2). 
 
Please note, the maps shown on Page 25 are not the "Extent of flooding", but the 
"Areas at risk from"... (1. surface water flooding, 2. river flooding). 
 
Infrastructure 
New developments should seek to control and discharge all surface water runoff 
generated on site during the 1 in 100 year plus climate change rainfall event. For 
Greenfield development sites, the surface water runoff generated as a result of the 
development should not exceed the Greenfield runoff rate. For Brownfield development 
sites, developers are expected to deliver a substantial reduction in the existing runoff 
rate, and where possible, reduce the runoff to the equivalent Greenfield rate. 
We recommend Policy INF2 or INF3 is amended to include the following wording: 
surface water discharge should not exceed the Greenfield runoff rate (as described 

Comments noted from 
screening and 
confirmed by phone 
make suggested 
modifications.  

Make changes to INF2 as 
per comments to deal 
with surface run off and 
permeable surface.   
 
Make the corrections 
suggested 

P
age 369



 

36 
 

above). 
 
"In accordance with the Defra 2015 non-technical standards and/or Staffordshire Lead 
Local Flood Authority (LLFA) SuDS handbook requirements, and/or Local Plan 
policy surface water 'Greenfield' run-off rate requirements whichever is in force 
and more onerous at the time of the development." 
 
See the following link for more information on the Staffordshire Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) SuDS handbook and other matters the LLFA has Authority 
 
over https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/Flood-Risk- 
Management/Information-for-Planners-and-Developers.aspx 
 
Additional Comments 
In addition to the comments above, we note the Water Framework Directive (WFD) and 
objectives from the Humber and North West River Basin Management Plan have not 
been included. 
 

 
 
  

P
age 370



 

37 
 

Local Authorities and Parish Councils 
 

Staffordshire County Council Letter 25th October 2019 
 

Representations 
and Suggested 
Amendments 

Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

 
NB: This was an 
extensive 
representation 
which included 
general 
commentary and 
more detailed 
comments on 
policies.  Please 
refer to the 
consultation 
response for 
details.    
  

 

 
Transport: 
Consider if any of the factual information needs to 
be added to the evidence section. 
 
Demonstrate more clearly the evidence base in the 
rationale for the critical road junctions policy 
(highways report) this should also be available on the 
website.   
 
Regarding the assessments of the road junctions 
make clear where the evidence has been collated.  
 
Ecology and Landscape: 
Comments noted.  Check the headings to deal with 
habitats and landscaping.  
 
Make clear the evidence base for the views.  
 
Consider mapping the HER assets and including in 
the NP or link to SMDC where this information is 
available.  

 
Transport: 
Demonstrate more clearly the evidence base in the rationale for 
the critical road junctions policy (highways report) this should also 
be available on the website.   
 
SMDC Integrated Transport Policy, review the document and if 
appropriate include reference to it in the NP.    
 
Look at the information on cycle routes and if there is relevant 
information to include do so. 
 
Ecology and Landscape: 
Pgs 10 and 11 update information on key habitats  
 
Check the headings to deal with habitats and landscaping.  
 
Policy NE1 include ‘complement landscape character ’ to the policy 
list and include the map that makes reference to them.   
Consider using their wording on policy NE3 Local Green Space.  
 

P
age 371



 

38 
 

 
Various policies deal with heritage no changed 
required.   
 
Public Rights of Way: 
Comments noted no change required. 
 
Houses for older people:  
Look at the link to homes for older people and add 
relevant information into the rationale.   
 
 
 
 

Pg’s 39 and 41 take the ‘s’ off records to read Historic Environment 
Record.  
 
In the rationale to the heritage reference chapter 16 of the NPPF.  
 
Consider adding a point into the rational for HOU1 on that homes 
for older people should be in proximity to a bus stop.  
 
Policies that address pedestrian routes should make clear they are 
suitable for a range of people (disabled, elderly those with prams 
etc..)  

 
 
  

P
age 372



 

39 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Letter 4th November 2019 
 

Representations 
and Suggested 
Amendments 

Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

 
NB: This was an 
extensive 
representation 
which included 
general 
commentary and 
more detailed 
comments on 
policies.  Please 
refer to the 
consultation 
response for 
details.    
  

 

 
Look at the Biddulph Valley Way LGS spaces; does 
this cover the entire route?  If not make clear this is 
a partial selective application and strengthen the 
NE4 policy.  
 
Comments noted on Policy HTC1.  
 
Policy LE1 suggest using the boundary in the 
emerging Local Plan or agree a boundary with LPA.  
 
CAF1: Comments noted no changes. 
 
CAF2:  Comments noted.  
 
NE1: Comments noted amendments suggested to 
clarify policy.  
 
Chat about the mapping for NE1 and how best to 
show priority areas combined.  Show the most 
important.  Make clear the application.   
 
NE3:  Comments noted amendments suggested to 
clarify policy. 
 

 
Suggest adding to NE4 a bullet point to say there must be no 
adverse impact on the way or access or accessibility to the way.  
 
Suggest re-wording policy HCT1 to now read:  
 
“Within the rural area of the parish, business, enterprise and 
tourism uses to diversify the rural economy will be supported 
subject to:  

• there being no significant adverse impact on the amenities 
of 

• nearby residential properties;   

• the rural landscape; and   

•  surrounding businesses and uses, including agriculture. “  

Add into the interpretation that this policy enables suitable 
business and enterprise development in the rural area.  
 
Policy LE1: suggest using the boundary in the emerging Local Plan 
or agree a boundary with LPA.  
 

P
age 373



 

40 
 

NE4: Comments noted amendments suggested to 
clarify policy. 
 
NE5: Comments noted, consider the evidence and 
ensure that it is robust for the views identified.  
 
HOU1: Comments noted amendments suggested to 
clarify policy. 
 
HOU2: Comments noted and make suggested 
change to wording. 
 
INF1: Comments noted and make modifications to 
address these. 
 
INF2: Comments noted matter dealt with in united 
utilities amendment.   
 
INF3: Comments Noted, make amendments.   
 
DES1: Comments Noted, make amendments.  Listing 
authentic materials has been removed from 
previous policy in other neighbourhood plans.  The 
AECOM report is available online as part of the 
wider evidence base and mentioned within the 
neighbourhood plan.  
 
DES2: Comments noted.  Make amendments.  
 

Policy LE2: Either include an ‘area’ plan of the mills together or 
change the title of the policy to Albion Mill Conversion and show on 
a plan and remove first bullet point in the policy ‘subject to’ 
section. 
 
CAF2: Remove Appendix B not to confuse with list in policy.   
Consider placing plan with policy (Appendix k) 
 
Also add a new sentence into policy CF2: ‘An exception to this is if a 
similar quality or better facility is provided nearby’.  
 
Consider adding into the policy to say these are the facilities or 
particular importance at the time of preparing the NP.   
 
Policy NE1: Move the plans to the rationale section and make sure 
high quality resolution.  In the interpretation make clear that in 
applying the policy reference should be made to the maps listed.   
 
 
Policy NE3: Suggest re-wording to include ‘Built development must 
not encroach onto Local Green Spaces. An exception to this may be 
for small-scale built development, subject to the following: 
 

• it is directly related to the community use and/or 
management of the space; 

• it does not compromise the open character of the space;’ 
Policy NE4: Re-word to: ‘Development proposals must have no 
significant adverse impact on the Biddulph Valley Way and its 
environs and must take opportunities to enhance the route. This 
includes: 

P
age 374



 

41 
 

Local Green Space: Comments noted, amendments 
to be made.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• not encroaching into the route; 

• providing a positive setting in terms of boundary treatments 
and allowing natural surveillance.’ 

 
HOU1: Change title to ‘Housing’  
 
Amend 1st bullet point in HOU1 to: 
 

• Affordable provision must be provided within the 

development. If this is not possible, affordable provision 

should be provided within the neighbourhood area;  

• Also amend the last section of policy to read: The following 

types of housing are particularly welcomed:  

o Self-build housing;  

o Innovative design; and 

o high environmental performance.  

NB the blue text should also be checked with the design policy.   
 
HOU2: Change policy to read: 
 
Delete to the size of the site and the and as per comment. 
 
INF1: Amend the list of junctions to the evidenced list and re-word 
to say: 

P
age 375



 

42 
 

 
“In considering whether development would have and severe 
adverse impact on road capacity or safety, particular regard should 
be made to the following congestion pressure points: 
1 
2 
3 
4” 
 
INF2 amendments as per earlier.  
 
INF3 Amend to read “Cil or section 106”. 
 
DES1:  Make the following changes: 
 

• Bullet point 3 make ‘use’ from ‘uses’ 

• After the bullet point list in the policy write: “authentic,..” 

• Make the changes as per the Housing policy  

Also amend the last section of policy to read: The following 

types of housing are particularly welcomed:  

o Self-build housing;  

o Innovative design; and 

o high environmental performance.  

DES2: Make the following amendments: 

P
age 376



 

43 
 

• First bullet point re word to read: “pedestrian routes 

and footpaths, including links to local services.” 

• Second bullet point to read “In residential areas by 

ensuring flanking buildings have active frontages to 

provide natural surveillance.” 

• Third bullet point.  After the coma insert “including 

garages, covered spaces and driveways, …” 

• Point four: Replace ‘parking space’ with ‘the number 

of parking spaces’.    

• Remove bullet point 5 as dealt with in other policy 

(critical road junctions). 

• Last bullet point: Amend to add after the list of types 

“and their setting.” 
Local Green Spaces: Remove any spaces that don’t have 
SPECIAL community value.  LGS designations should not be 
used as a method to restrict or prevent growth.  Review the 
LPA comments on the value of spaces and remove any that do 
not clearly meet the criteria and evidenced accordingly.  
 
Where an LGS are in the Green Belt particular attention should 
be taken to the evidence.   While LGS and Green Belt enjoy 
similar protection the purpose of designation is quite different.  
LGS focuses on special community value rather than aims of 
Green Belt.  This statement should also be made clear in the 
Consultation Statement.  
 
Consider site 25 and 57 carefully as these are raised specifically.  

P
age 377



 

44 
 

Appendix 5 Residents and Consultants Correspondence 
 

 
Residents Email 4th October 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

please see attached three photographs showing views to the east of 
the Biddulph valley. 

General comments noted.  
The views are to inform the 
Town Centre, key views 
and vistas.    
 
 

If these images are for the views 
identified these could be used for 
additional evidence.  If these are not 
and additional views make clear in the 
rationale how these views were 
selected.   

 
 

Residents Email 8th October 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

We would just like to say the Neighbourhood Plan document that you 
presented at our meeting last week (BVNCA Wednesday 2nd. October 
2019) has been extremely well researched and created and the whole 
team responsible for this should be very pleased with themselves and 
their hard work and the results. 
  

Could we just ask, is it possible that the photograph on page 32 
‘Incident in Biddulph’ could be more specific as it is the collecting 
point for all the main Biddulph sewers entering the sewage plant (or 
not) – as this photo shows! We feel it should say what it is and where 
it is. 

General comments noted.  
 
 

Make clear in the narrative for the 
image on Pg32 where this is.   

P
age 378



 

45 
 

  
Please pass on our thanks to the team for producing this important 
document. 
 

 
 
Gladman Developments Limited Letter 22nd October 2019 
 

Representations and 
Suggested Amendments 

Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

NB: This was an extensive 
representation which included 
general commentary and 
more detailed comments on 
policies.  Please refer to the 
consultation response for 
details.    
 

• General comments noted.  No amendments to be made. 
 
Specific comments that are made include: 
 

• LGS Spaces 54, 55, 70, 85.   Are identified in response as 
being considered extensive tracts of land.  

• Protection of views.  Comments noted, suggested actions.   

• Design.  Comments noted, there are no elements of 
aesthetics in the policy.  Comments on clarity of design 
policy have been addressed through previous 
amendments listed in SMDC comments and actions 
section.  Ensure that the design codes is available online 
when the plan is Made to help inform and evidence the 
specific design elements.  

 

• LGS: Consider the sites listed  
and check these are not an 
extensive tract of land.   

• Views Policy.  Ensure a clear 
and robust evidence base to 
support town centre views 
policy. 

• Design policy, amendments 
being made as per SMDC 
comments section.   

 

  

P
age 379



 

46 
 

 
Residents Email 25th October 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

 
As discussed yesterday here are my thoughts on the plan and I do 
emphasise they come from me not the Church.  I am a resident in 
Congleton but have been attending Biddulph Methodist Church for 16 
years so consider myself to be part of the community. 
  
Re the Policy on Community facilities – there is reference to local 
churches providing facilities page 59.  At the Methodist Church we 
consider ourselves to be resource for the community and try to be an 
active catalyst into the regeneration of the town centre.  As you know 
we provide spaces for community groups to meet, as well as hosting 
our own activities some of which are faith based and some are for the 
benefit of the community as well as acting as a concert venue for the 
Youth Orchestra and  various choirs etc.  These concerts are usually 
for the benefit of local charities not the church.   We also host groups 
that are specifically to address loneliness and wellbeing such as the 
film club, lunch clubs in partnership with Methodist Homes and host 
day care facilities with Daybreak Daycare providing the 
service.  When local groups have lost funding such as the gentle 
exercise group we have taken over as sponsors.  We work in 
partnership with others whenever we can.  We use the title Victoria 
Centre so that people who wouldn’t come into a church feel more 
comfortable even though they are in effect the same thing because 
the church room is used as much as any other part of the building for 
community activities. 
  

General comments noted. 
The design policies 
encourage energy efficient 
and sustainable designs as 
suggested.   
 
Update list of community 
facilities to include the 
Biddulph Methodist 
Church as suggested. 
 
 

Update the community facilities list 
on pg 59 to ensure the Biddulph 
Methodist Church is listed.   

P
age 380



 

47 
 

What would be really helpful from my point of view would be a 
number of elements: 
  

• Access to grants to help maintain the property infrastructure 
of the church keeping it a pleasant place to be.  As you will 
know we have struggled with a leaky roof for a long time and 
heating will need upgrading at some point and who knows 
what else is around the corner.  These grants might come 
from the funds that are made available as a result of local 
development.  I note that you talk in the plan about Church 
Halls but in our premises the difference between the church 
and Church hall is limited.   Does the spiritual welfare of the 
residents not also have a part to play in the health of the 
community.  If the church has no people, then the church hall 
ceases to be maintained and is lost to the community as 
happened in Brown Lees.  BTW most of the people left now 
come to worship with us. 

• We hold a lot of funerals which I see as a high-risk point 
around isolation, we are interested in improving how we 
provide support but have limited resources that we can access 
to provide this. 

• Promotion of volunteering opportunities within the 
town.  There is a smaller and smaller base of people who run 
the church and other voluntary organisations.  The community 
needs to get more people involved it is good for them as well 
as the community as a whole.  Is there a central register of 
volunteering opportunities.  Could the hub be used to share 
volunteering opportunities.  Or perhaps the prescribing 
practitioner at the Doctors could be involved in this 
opportunity. 

P
age 381



 

48 
 

• Continuing the Networking meetings between community 
groups – I think that these are a significant step forward for 
the town – Thank you!! 

• As a church we have just been awarded a Bronze Eco Church 
Award we are on a journey to improve our carbon footprint - 
perhaps the town also needs to go on that journey - you might 
want to consider using some of the money that comes from 
Urban development to help people who are on low income to 
benefit from the savings that can be made by going green.    If 
the town could engage with a company to provide retrofits of 
Air-Source Heat pumps and solar panels across the town in a 
structured way the cost for each installation would come 
down significantly.  This would add significantly to the towns 
action on the climate change emergency. It will also 
potentially help people move out of fuel poverty  The grants 
that the government make cover most of the cost but over 7 
years.  If the cost is reduced, then finance companies who 
consider this a low risk loan because the repayments come 
from the grants The grants would cover the whole payment. 

• On the planning front I would like to see all new 
developments required to move away from Carbon fuel for 
central heating - Air source heat pumps are a very established 
heating technology Germany has just crossed over they now 
have more homes heated by Heat pumps than Gas boilers and 
solar panels should be part of the standard for all new builds.  

If you want to talk about any of these suggestions very happy to do 
so. 
 

 
  

P
age 382



 

49 
 

Advance Land and Planning Limited Letter 29th October 2019 
 

Representations and 
Suggested Amendments 

Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

NB: This was an extensive 
representation which included 
general commentary and 
more detailed comments on 
policies.  Please refer to the 
consultation response for 
details.    
 
 

• General Comments noted.  No amendments 

• Vision and aims comments noted.  Check these are pro-
growth. 

• LGS 57 comment noted.  To be considered carefully as 
part of the revisions.   

• Look at vision and aims and 
ensure development and 
growth are addressed.    Ensure 
that the aims are planning 
focused and relate to the later 
policies.  
 
Ensure that the vision is a 
positive statement for 
sustainable development of the 
area. 
 

• LGS 57 comment noted.  To be 
considered carefully as part of 
the revisions previously 
discussed.   

 
 
Residents Email 31st October 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

I would like to register my objection to any development of the green 
belt land adjacent to Victoria Row, Tunstall Road and Mill Hayes Farm 
in Knypersley, Stoke-on-Trent. 
 

Comments noted.  It would 
appear that this is a Local 
Plan consultee response.  
However, the useful 

Where there is supporting evidence in 
the statement on wildlife that could be 
added to proposed LGS descriptions 
this should be included.   

P
age 383



 

50 
 

It is a well-known fact that this area is rife with various wildlife, some 
of which are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside act 1981. 
There have been regular and recent sittings of foxes playing in the 
field bordering Victoria Row. Other recent sightings include Greater 
Spotted Woodpeckers and the more rare and protected Lesser 
Spotted Woodpeckers including juvenile birds which highlights that 
they are breeding in this vicinity. Song Thrushes have also been seen 
recently, another protected species on the red list of protected 
species. As well as these there are many bats which are seen 
regularly in and around the trees in Victoria Row and also flying in 
and out of the Mill Hayes Farm buildings. These are also a protected 
species. Along with these, there are many other birds seen daily 
including various breeds of tits, sparrows, thrushes and blackbirds. 
There has also been an albino starling observed and recorded on film 
on this land. Great Crested Newts have also been seen on the site. 
This is their natural environment and any development will have a 
devastating effect on their wellbeing. 
 
Another reason why this land is not suitable for development is due 
to the effect on an already very busy road and junction on the A527 
where Brown Lees Road and Victoria Row join it. This is a recognised 
accident black spot which already has a Gatso camera in place due to 
this. Any access into more development at this site will have a 
significant effect and heighten the risk of accidents even further. Any 
access into this land will be creating a risk and there are other sites 
which would be more suitable including expanding Victoria Business 
Park into Stoke-on-Trent and Newcastle-under-Lyme. In fact, 
Newcastle-under-Lyme council were willing to pursue this. If this site 
were to be used there would be no need for an additional site 
entrance as there is good access to this site already off Tunstall Road 

information that can be 
drawn from it could be 
used to support proposed 
LGS. 
 
 

 

P
age 384



 

51 
 

and Brown Lees Road. 
 
Another point I would like to make is regarding the misleading 
information which has been given out previously relating to another 
development close by. Prior to the building of industrial units on 
Victoria Business Park, we were told that the units on that site would 
only be single storey units. The reality is that these are now massive 
units and nothing like the original plans. we are sure that if the 
current plans for industrial units on this site get passed then the 
same will happen outside our front windows. 
 
We feel that the wool has been pulled over our eyes so to speak from 
the beginning regarding the plans to develop this site. Any 
development on this land will have the most effect on the residents 
of Victoria Row. When the plan was initially put forward there was a 
meeting at Knypersley Cricket Club regarding the proposals. The 
council issued a letter which should have been sent to every 
household within a certain radius of the land to invite them to the 
meeting and to inspect the plan. NO-ONE IN VICTORIA ROW 
RECEIVED ONE OF THESE LETTERS! The very people who would be 
mostly affected due to the proximity to their properties by the 
development were not invited. This is very underhanded, and I 
request that this fact is recorded on file. 
 
I would like this email to be accepted as my formal and strong 
objection on all the above grounds to any form of development on 
the green belt land bordering Victoria Row, Tunstall Road, Mill Hayes 
Road and Mill Hayes Farm. 
 

 

P
age 385



 

52 
 

 
Residents Email 1st November 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

I, as a resident and a homeowner of XXX would like to register my 
disapproval of the development of the greenbelt land bordering 
Victoria Row, Tunstall Road and Mill Hayes Farm. This land is a 
valuable site for wildlife as well as serving as a natural boundary 
between Staffordshire Moorlands and Stoke-on-Trent districts. There 
have been many observations of various species of wildlife including 
bats which reside in trees on the edge of this land. All species of bats 
in the UK are protected, as well as their breeding and resting places. 
There are also Song Thrushes which have regularly been seen. These 
birds are on the 'red' list and are protected under the Wildlife and 
Countryside act 1981. These acts are passed for a reason, not to be 
ignored for the sake of 'development'. Among other birds observed 
on this land are Lesser Spotted Woodpeckers which are also on the 
red list. The trees themselves are also very established and are 
essential to the wildlife should also be preserved. 
 
If this land were to be developed, apart from the damage caused to 
flaura and forna, the properties in Victoria Row would literally be 
surrounded by industry on all sides. There are much more suitable 
areas of land which would have far less impact and with better access 
than this site. 
 
The nearest junction to the site entrance is well known for being an 
accident blackspot. The density of traffic passing through the A527 
where Brown Lees Road and Victoria Row join it make this stretch of 
road to be constantly busy. There is a Gatso camera in place very 

Comments noted.  It would 
appear that this is a Local 
Plan consultee response.  
However, the useful 
information that can be 
drawn from it could be 
used to support proposed 
LGS. 
 
 

Where there is supporting evidence in 
the statement on wildlife that could 
be added to proposed LGS 
descriptions this should be included.   

 

P
age 386



 

53 
 

close to this junction and these are installed in notoriously accident-
prone locations. Any further development in this area will only 
increase the risk of more accidents due to the accessibility to the site 
and dramatic increase in the number of vehicles at this location. 
 
Please accept this email as my strong objection on all the above 
grounds and more to any form of development to the land adjacent 
to Victoria Row,Tunstall Road and Mill Hayes Farm Knypersley. 
 
 
 

 
 
Emery Planning Email 4th November 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

We write in respect of the current consultation on the Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
  
Our client is specifically promoting the land between Rudyard Road 
and Hot Lane, Biddulph Moor for a mix of market and affordable 
housing. A site location plan is attached, and further details are 
provided at Section 8 of the attached statement (which is our 
representations to the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan). The site 
was partially identified as a draft allocation for residential 
development in the Staffordshire Moorlands Preferred Options Sites 
and Boundaries consultation document in April 2016. However, the 
site was not taken forward as an allocation in the Publication Version 
of the Local Plan, which is currently being examined. 

General comments noted 
about a suggested site 
allocation.  The Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan is not 
making any site allocations 
nor do neighbourhood 
plans have to.   
 
 

No action required.  
 

P
age 387



 

54 
 

  
As currently drafted neither the Neighbourhood Plan does not 
propose any sites for allocation at Biddulph Moor and/or any Green 
Belt release. However, Biddulph Moor has been identified in the 
emerging Local Plan as a larger village, which means that it is a 
sustainable rural settlement that has an important role in terms of 
serving their rural hinterland. Whilst we recognise that no site 
allocations for development are being proposed through the 
emerging Local Plan, this does not prevent further allocations being 
identified through the emerging Neighbourhood Plan. In our view 
there are local needs within the village which cannot be met without 
some incremental growth of the village. Due to the site size threshold 
for when affordable housing will be required in the emerging Local 
Plan (10 dwellings), it is likely that zero affordable housing will be 
provided in the village during the plan period. New development can 
also help to support and maintain local services in the village, such as 
the local primary school (which we understand has been operating 
under capacity), post office and shop. 
  
We therefore promote the site as an allocation for market and 
affordable housing in the Neighbourhood Plan to meet local needs in 
Biddulph Moor. A mix of housing on the site could enable the village 
to attract and retain people who grow up in the village, and could 
also provide bungalows and/or specialist accommodation for older 
persons. An allocation could be made across the whole, or part, of 
the site. 
  
We would welcome further discussions with the Neighbourhood Plan 
group to discuss the prospective allocation of the site, and would be 
happy to make a presentation to the group should the opportunity 

P
age 388



 

55 
 

arise. We would be open to discussing the scale, form and type of 
development to meet the specific needs of the village. 
 

 
 
 

Residents Email 4th November 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

I have read the comprehensive document that you have compiled 
and agree that any future development of the town needs to take in 
to consideration extensive development of the infrastructure 
supporting this community both in terms of highways and sewage 
and better use of the medical centre and more variety within the 
town centre. I feel that the document has not gone far enough in 
terms of the extensive flooding issues that we have across the town, 
which only gets worse as more development occurs. 
 
As I can only comment on the small area in which I live and have 
experience, I have added some photos of localised flooding and have 
video recording available of the immense amounts of water that 
travels off the fields. I also feel that there should be more green 
spaces identified and again notice that you have shown a nature 
corridor running through the Thames Drive estate and down in the 
Gillow heath area but have not protected areas where these nature 
corridors end within the rural fields so that building immediately by 
these corridors would therefore render them useless if they no 
longer open out on to open spaces. I think more protection is needed 
here. 
 

General comments noted.  
There are proposed 
revisions to the sustainable 
drainage policy see the 
amendments suggested by 
United Utilities. 
 
 

see the amendments suggested by 
United Utilities. 

 

P
age 389



 

56 
 

In terms of design of new housing developments I would like the 
council to learn from the mistakes of the Bovis estate and its 
catalogue of disasters! 

 
 

Survey Monkey Responses received during six-week consultation period 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification for the NDP 

Please note, individual surveys are available to view separately. The 
information below identifies themes to highlight any modifications 
needed and does not include all comments about general 
improvements that individuals feel are needed within the town (e.g. 
lower prices for tourist attractions for locals). 
 
Local Green Space Designations 
These green spaces reinforce that Biddulph is the Garden Town of 
Staffordshire. 
These are crucially important. The appeal of Biddulph is its semi-rural 
location and pockets of green spaces.  
I am concerned about the conflict between the Neighbourhood Plan 
and Local Plan with regard to the land east and west of Dorset Drive. 
[Resident includes extensive information about benefits and usages]. 
 
Local Heritage, Culture and Tourism 
More B&Bs 
We need to revitalise the High Street 
Biddulph requires some hotel accommodation 
 
Local Economy 
Pedestrianisation might help 

 No additional actions required.  

P
age 390



 

57 
 

The town centre needs some proper standards with regard to 
signage.  
Anything to lift the high street is to be appreciated.  
 
Community Facilities 
Enhance Village Halls 
 
 
Housing 
Need family homes 
We should support sustainable/ green development 
We should be renovating derelict buildings in the town. 
 
Non-Planning and General comments 
Very comprehensive source information, solid evidence 
Improve Football fields, especially the cutting of grass [NB these 
areas are identified as proposed Local Green Space designations]. 
Growth of the town centre needs to be a priority 
 
 

 
 

 

 

P
age 391



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Urban Vision Enterprise CIC 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan 
Basic Conditions Statement  
December 2020  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 393



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

2 

Contents 
 
1.	 Introduction .................................................................................. 3	

2.	 Meeting the Basic Conditions ........................................................ 4	
2.1	 The Basic Conditions .......................................................................................... 4	

3.	 Regard to National Policy .............................................................. 5	
3.1	 National Policy and Guidance ............................................................................ 5	
3.2	 Overarching Objectives of the NPPF .................................................................. 5	
3.3	 NPPF Policy Areas .............................................................................................. 7	

4.	 Achieving Sustainable Development ........................................... 12	
4.1	 NPPF Policy on Sustainable Development ........................................................ 12	
4.2	 Achieving Growth ............................................................................................ 13	
4.3	 Addressing Sustainability ................................................................................. 13	

5.	 General Conformity with Strategic Local Policy ........................... 14	
5.1	 Strategic Policies ............................................................................................. 14	
5.2	 General Conformity ......................................................................................... 14	

6.	 Compatible with EU Obligations and Human Rights Law ............. 16	
6.1	 Screening Outcomes ........................................................................................ 16	
6.2	 Human Rights .................................................................................................. 16	

Appendices ........................................................................................ 17	
Appendix 1 – SEA and HRA Screening Outcome ........................................................... 17	
Appendix 2 - Equalities Assessment ............................................................................. 18	

 
 
 
  

Page 394



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

3 

1. Introduction 
 
 

This is a ‘Basic Conditions Statement’, prepared to accompany the submission of the 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan. The plan is being submitted by Biddulph Town 
Council, the qualifying body. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan proposal contains policies relating to the use and 
development of land and has been prepared in accordance with the statutory 
requirements and processes set out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 and other legislation) and the Neighbourhood 
Planning Regulations 2012 (as amended). 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan proposal states the period for which it is to have effect. 
This is a period until the end of 2035. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan proposal does not deal with excluded development 
(mineral extraction, waste development, nationally significant infrastructure or any 
other matters set out in Section 61K of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990).  
 
The Neighbourhood Plan proposal relates to the Biddulph Neighbourhood Area and 
to no other area. There are no other Neighbourhood Plans relating to that 
Neighbourhood Area.  
 
The Neighbourhood Plan proposal meets the basic conditions set out in the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. This is covered in more detail in the next part of this 
statement. 
 
 

 

  

Page 395



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

4 

2. Meeting the Basic Conditions  
 

2.1 The Basic Conditions 
 

The Basic Conditions that Neighbourhood Plans must meet are as follows: 
 

• have appropriate regard to national policy; 
• contribute to the achievement of sustainable development; 
• be in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan 

for the local area; and 
• be compatible with EU obligations. 

 
The Neighbourhood Plan (General) Regulations 2012 set out additional basic 
conditions, one of which relates to neighbourhood plans, as follows: 
 

The making of the neighbourhood development plan is not likely to have a 
significant effect on a European site (as defined in the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010(2)) or a European offshore marine site 
(as defined in the Offshore Marine Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) 
Regulations 2007(3)) (either alone or in combination with other plans or 
projects). 

 
It should be noted that there are no European sites in the neighbourhood area. 
  
In addition, Neighbourhood Plans must be compatible with human rights law. 
 
The outcome of the referendum on membership of the EU makes no immediate 
difference to the requirement on EU obligations, until such a time as Parliament 
passes relevant legislation. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 396



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

5 

3. Regard to National Policy 
 

3.1 National Policy and Guidance 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared against the context of national policy 
and guidance, in particular the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) and 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).  

 
3.2 Overarching Objectives of the NPPF 
 

The central theme of the NPPF is the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Three overarching objectives are stated for achieving sustainable 
development in Paragraph 8: 

a) an economic objective … 
b) a social objective … 
c) an environmental objective … 

Paragraph 9 states: 

“these objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in this 
Framework…” 

 
The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan includes a range of aims and policies to achieve 
growth to meet local need, ensuring that such growth takes account of the local 
community and environment. This includes the following aims, which are delivered 
by the policies shown in figure 1, and which address the economic, social and 
environmental objectives of the NPPF.   
 

1. Protect the rural setting and character, promoting the ‘Garden Town of 
Staffordshire’. 
 

2. Identifying all local heritage structures and monuments, understanding 
their history, our culture and encouraging responsible tourism. 

 
3. Promoting the local economy, aiming for prosperity for all. 

 
4. Holding the wellbeing of our community at our core. 

 
5. Understanding our housing needs and encouraging creative and 

thoughtful sustainable design. 
 

6. Improving our infrastructure where required. 
 

7. Caring for and enhancing the natural environment, countryside, Green 
Belt and open spaces, ensuring that habitats and wildlife thrive. 

 

Page 397



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

6 

 
Figure 1: Extract policy matrix, Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan 
 

 

Policy Matrix  
AIMS: 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 
Policies:        
HCT1: Enterprise and Tourism Development Ö Ö Ö    Ö 
LE1: Biddulph Town Centre  Ö Ö Ö Ö   
LE2: Albion Mill Conversion  Ö Ö  Ö   

CF1: New Community Facilities    Ö Ö  Ö  
CF2: Existing Community Facilities    Ö Ö  Ö  
NE1: Natural Environment Features Ö Ö  Ö   Ö 
NE2: Urban Edge Ö      Ö 
NE3: Local Green Space Ö   Ö   Ö 
NE4: Biddulph Valley Way Ö Ö  Ö  Ö Ö 
NE5: Protection of Views of Local Importance Ö       
HOU1: Housing   Ö Ö Ö   
HOU2: Infill Housing    Ö Ö   
INF1: Critical Road Junctions   Ö Ö  Ö  
INF2: Sustainable Drainage     Ö Ö Ö Ö 
INF3: Community Infrastructure Ö  Ö Ö  Ö  
DES1: Design Ö Ö Ö Ö Ö   
DES2: Public Realm, Car Parking and Movement   Ö Ö Ö Ö  

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 398



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

7 

3.3 NPPF Policy Areas 
 

 The NPPF was revised in February 2019 and contains a number of policy areas. The 
following table details the policy areas that are most relevant to the Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan against the aims and policies of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

 

NPPF Policy Area 
 

Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan 
Aims 
 

Policies 
 

Delivering a sufficient 
supply of homes 
 
…to support the Government’s 
objective of significantly 
boosting the supply of homes, 
it is important that a sufficient 
amount and variety of land can 
come forward where it is 
needed… 
 
…that the needs of groups with 
specific housing requirements 
are addressed… 
 

Aim 5 Policy HOU1 seeks to 
ensure that identified 
local housing needs are 
addressed. 
 
Policy HOU2 plans 
positively informing 
future housing growth 
informed by good 
design on infill 
development sites.  
 
Policies DES1 and DES2 
ensure that new homes 
are built to high 
standards of design.  
 

Building a strong, 
competitive economy 
 
…planning policies should… 
 
…set out a clear economic 
vision and strategy which 
positively and proactively 
encourages sustainable 
economic growth… 
 

Aims 1, 2, 3 and 6 Policies HCT1, LE1, and 
LE2 encourage and 
support a diverse range 
of commercial and 
tourism uses to make a 
resilient local economy.  
 
Policies CF1; CF2 and 
INF3 address local 
community 
infrastructure.  
 
The Plan seeks to 
accommodate growth 
through good 
connectivity in Policy 
DES2 and INF3. 
 

Ensuring the vitality of 
town centres 
 

Aims 1 and 3 Policies HCT1, LE1, and 
LE2 specifically support 
the vitality of Biddulph 
Town Centre.   
 

Page 399



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

8 

…planning policies and 
decisions should support the 
role that town centres play at 
the heart of local communities, 
by taking a positive approach to 
their growth, management and 
adaptation. 
 
Promoting healthy and 
safe communities  
 
…planning policies and 
decisions should aim to 
achieve healthy, inclusive and 
safe places which… 
 
…promote social interaction… 
 
…are safe and accessible… 
 
…enable and support healthy 
lifestyles… 
 

Aims 1, 4, 5 6 and 7 The plan seeks to 
improve a range of 
community and green 
infrastructure as well as 
creating safe and 
accessible places.  
(Policies CF1; CF2; NE3; 
NE4; INF1; INF3; DES1 
and DES2). 

Promoting sustainable 
transport 
 
…transport issues should be 
considered from the earliest 
stages of plan-making and 
development proposals, so 
that… 
 
…the potential impacts of 
development on transport can 
be assessed… 
 
…opportunities from existing 
and proposed transport 
infrastructure, and changing 
transport technology and 
usage, are realised… 
 
…opportunities to promote 
walking, cycling, and public 
transport use are identified 
and pursued… 
 
…the environmental impacts of 
traffic and transport 
infrastructure can be 

Aim 6 The Plan seeks to 
promote sustainable 
means of movement 
through Policy NE4 
promoting non-
vehicular routes and 
policy DES2 integrates 
sustainable transport 
methods into new 
developments. 
 
Policy INF1 highlights 
current critical road 
junctions that could be 
improved or addressed 
as part of larger scale 
future development 
proposals.  
 

Page 400



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

9 

identified, assessed and taken 
into account… 
 
…patterns of movement, 
streets, parking and other 
transport considerations are 
integral to the design of 
schemes… 
 
Making effective use of land 
 
… Planning policies and 
decisions should promote an 
effective use of land in meeting 
the need for homes and other 
uses, while safeguarding and 
improving the environment and 
ensuring safe and healthy living 
conditions… 
 
… encourage multiple benefits 
from both urban and rural land, 
including through mixed use 
schemes and taking 
opportunities to achieve net 
environmental gains 
– such as developments that 
would enable new habitat 
creation or improve public 
access to the countryside;… 
 
… recognise that some 
undeveloped land can perform 
many functions, such as for 
wildlife, recreation, flood risk 
mitigation, cooling/shading, 
carbon storage or food 
production;… 
 
… give substantial weight to the 
value of using suitable 
brownfield land within 
Settlements… 
 
… promote and support the 
development of under-utilised 
land and buildings,… 
 

Aims 1, 5, 6 and 7  The re-use of existing 
vacant buildings is 
strongly encouraged 
through policy LE2.   
 
Policy INF2 encourages 
sustainable drainage 
methods that may also 
provide other natural 
environment benefits as 
well as mitigating flood 
risk. 
 
Well-designed infill 
development is also 
supported through 
policy HOU2.    

Achieving well-designed 
places 

Aims 2, 5 and 7 The Plan seeks to 
ensure high standards 
of urban design are 

Page 401



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

10 

 
…plans should, at the most 
appropriate level, set out a 
clear design vision and 
expectations, so that 
applicants have as much 
certainty as possible about 
what is likely to be 
acceptable… 
 
…design policies should be 
developed with local 
communities so they reflect 
local aspirations, and are 
grounded in an understanding 
and evaluation of each area’s 
defining characteristics… 
 

achieved and that 
development enhances 
Biddulph’s character 
(Policies LE1; NE1; NE2; 
NE4; NE5; HOU1; HOU2; 
DES1 and DES2) 

Meeting the challenge 
of climate change, 
flooding and coastal 
change 
 
…the planning system should 
support the transition to a low 
carbon future in a changing 
climate, taking full account of 
flood risk and coastal change… 
 
…it should help to shape places 
in ways that contribute to 
radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and 
improve resilience… 
 
…encourage the reuse of 
existing resources, including 
the conversion of existing 
buildings, and support 
renewable and low carbon 
energy and associated 
infrastructure… 
 

Aims 1, 5, 6 and 7  Collectively, the policies 
cater for growth and 
encourage a balanced 
mix of uses. At the same 
time, they address 
character and 
environmental quality. 
In addition, they 
address connectivity, 
which is essential for 
both domestic and 
employment users.  
 
Flooding is particularly 
addressed in Policy 
INF2; INF3 and Policy 
DES2 promotes 
sustainable transport 
methods.  
 

Conserving and 
enhancing the natural 
environment  
 

Aim 7 The plan seeks protect 
and enhance important 
natural environment 
infrastructure and 
features (Policies NE1 

Page 402



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

11 

…planning policies and 
decisions should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and 
local environment… 
 

and NE4) and designates 
a range of Local Green 
Spaces (Policy NE3). 
 

Conserving and 
enhancing the historic 
environment 
 
…heritage assets range from 
sites and buildings of local 
historic value to those of the 
highest significance, such as 
World Heritage Sites… 
 
…plans should set out a 
positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment of 
the historic environment, 
including heritage assets at risk 
through neglect, decay or 
other threats… 
 

Aims 1 and 2 The plan seeks to 
conserve and enhance 
Biddulph’s historic 
character (Policies LE2 
and DES1).    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 403



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

12 

4. Achieving Sustainable Development  
 

4.1 NPPF Policy on Sustainable Development 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework incorporates a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. 
 
Para. 7 states that  
 

“the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development”, and “at a very high level, the objective of 
sustainable development can be summarised as meeting the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 
own needs”. 

 
Para. 8 states: 
 

“achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in 
mutually supportive ways”. These three objectives are: 
 

• An economic objective; 
• A social objective; and 
• An environmental objective. 

 
Para. 9 states: 
 

“these objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in this 
Framework”, and that “planning policies and decisions should play an active 
role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions”. 

 
Para. 10 states that  
 

“so that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of 
the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development” 
which is described in paragraph. 11. 

 
Para. 13 states: 
 

“the application of the presumption has implications for the way communities 
engage in neighbourhood planning”, and that “neighbourhood plans should 
support the delivery of strategic policies contained in local plans or spatial 
development strategies; and should shape and direct development that is 
outside of these strategic policies”. 

 
 
 

Page 404



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

13 

4.2 Achieving Growth  
 
The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan delivers growth by: 

 
• Encouraging new economic development (Policies HTC1; LE1 and LE2); 

 
• Addressing identified local housing needs and encouraging sustainable 

locations for development (Policy HOU1 and HOU2); 
 

• Ensuring a high-quality, well designed environment, which is essential to 
attracting investment and population (Policies DES1, DES2, NE1 and INF3); 
and 
 

• Protecting and enhancing the local environment (Policies NE1; NE2; NE3; 
NE4; NE5; INF1; INF2 and INF3). 

 
 

4.3 Addressing Sustainability  
 

The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan delivers sustainability by: 
 

• Encouraging housing growth to cater for a growing and ageing population, 
whilst addressing local housing needs (Policy HOU1); 
 

• Delivering high quality green infrastructure and preserving and enhancing 
key local community and environmental assets (Policies CF1; CF2; INF3; 
NE1; NE3; and NE4);    
 

• Encouraging infrastructure improvements (Policies CF1; NE1; INF1; INF2; 
INF3 and DES2); and 
  

• Creating well designed new developments that are sustainable (Policies 
LE2; CF2; NE5; HOU1; HOU2; DES1 and DES2).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 405



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

14 

5. General Conformity with Strategic 
Local Policy 

 

5.1 Strategic Policies  
 

The Neighbourhood Plan will be tested against adopted strategic local policies.  
These policies are contained within the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (adopted 
September 2020).    
 
Strategic local policies relevant to the Biddulph NDP are as follows:  

• SS1 - Development Principles 
• SS2 - Settlement Hierarchy  
• SS3 - Future Provision and Distribution of Development 
• SS4 -Strategic Housing and Employment Land Supply 
• SS6 - Biddulph Area Strategy 
• SS8 - Larger Villages Area Strategy 
• SS10 - Other Rural Areas Strategy 
• SS12 - Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy  

 
 

5.2 General Conformity  
 

The relationship of the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan to the strategic policies 
are considered in detail below.  
 
SS1 Development Principles 
The Neighbourhood Plan contributes positively to the social, economic and 
environmental improvement of the neighbourhood area through a range of policies 
(HTC1; LE1; LE2; CF1; NE1; NE3; NE4; HOU1; HOU2; INF2; INF3; DES1 and DES2).   
 
SS2 Settlement Hierarchy 
Policy SS2 sets the settlement hierarchy for the district through 4 tiers (towns, rural 
area larger villages, rural area smaller villages, other rural areas.  The neighbourhood 
area includes Biddulph, one of the three towns, Biddulph Moor identified as a rural 
area larger village and the larger neighbourhood area considered under the other 
rural area hierarchy.   

 
SS3 Future Provision and Distribution of Development 
Policy SS3 sets out the total number of additional dwellings for the Local Plan period.  
Policy HOU1 in the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan, respond by identifying the types 
of new homes that could be delivered based on identified local need.   Policy HOU2 
sets clear design criteria for additional new development on infill development 
proposals.   
 
 

Page 406



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

15 

SS4 Strategic Housing and Employment Land Supply 
The Neighbourhood Plan does not seek to amend the level of provision but 
encourages a variety of types of housing through policy HOU1 and additional 
housing through policy HOU2 on infill sites.  Policies HCT1; LE1 and LE2 aim to 
encourage a vibrant and diverse economy.    Policy LE2 of the Neighbourhood Plan 
encourages the re-use of existing vacant buildings for mixed use purposes.  Policy 
HOU2 sets clear criteria for the development of any small-scale infill residential 
development.    

 
SS6 Biddulph Area Strategy 
The Neighbourhood Plan responds through a range of polices.  Policy HOU1 supports 
the development of a balanced mix of house types to meet identified housing needs.  
Policies CF1 and CF2 seek to protect and enhance a range of community services and 
facilities.  Policies HCT1; LE1 and LE2 support the retention and growth of businesses 
in the town and policy INF1 and INF3 aim to address highway infrastructure capacity 
and public transport provision.     
 
SS8 - Larger Villages Area Strategy 
Biddulph Moor is one of the identified larger villages.  The Neighbourhood Plan 
responds by safeguarding and enhancing community services and facilities in policies 
CF1 and CF2.  Policy HOU2 seeks to integrate well-designed new development into 
the rural location and policy DES1 seeks to inform the design.  Policies NE1 and NE3 
protect natural features and assets within the area.   

 
SS10 Other Rural Areas Strategy 
Policy SS10 sets out the housing requirements for the rural areas.  The 
Neighbourhood Plan responds through policy HOU2 which sets clear design criteria 
for infill development.  Policy SS10 also seeks to protect and enhance other rural 
areas.  A range of policies in the Neighbourhood Plan achieve this by protecting the 
natural environment, encouraging infrastructure improvements and protecting the 
rural character of the area.  These include policies CF2; NE2; NE3; NE5; HOU1; HOU2; 
INF3 and DES1.   
 
SS12 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy  
Policy SS12 sets priorities for planning obligations including the provision of on or off 
site infrastructure facilities.  The Neighbourhood Plan responds to this through 
policies CF1, CF2 and INF3 identifying local infrastructure priorities.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 407



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

16 

6. Compatible with EU Obligations and 
Human Rights Law  

 

6.1 Screening Outcomes  
 

The Neighbourhood Plan was screened by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council. 
The council found that Strategic Environmental Assessment would not be required, 
nor would a Habitat Regulations Assessment. An extract from the Screening 
Assessments are included at Appendix 1. 
 
There are no European sites within the Neighbourhood Area. 
 

 

6.2 Human Rights 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is included at Appendix 
2.  It has indicated that the impact of the plan on protected characteristics is either 
neutral or positive.   
 
The Neighbourhood Plan process has included a wide range of community 
engagement activities, ensuring the scope of the plan and its policies are informed 
by issues and themes identified by local people.  Methods used included community 
drop-in events and open days, questionnaire, newsletters, social media and other 
activities.  Community engagement has gone considerably beyond the scope of 
statutory publicity and consultation. Further details can be found in the Consultation 
Statement.  
 

 
 
   

Page 408



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

17 

Appendices   
 

Appendix 1 – SEA and HRA Screening Outcome 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 409



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

18 

Appendix 2 - Equalities Assessment  
 

Legal Requirements  
 
The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on all public authorities in the exercise of their functions 
to have regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, to advance equality of opportunity, 
and to foster good relations between persons who have a “protected characteristic” and 
those who do not. Protected characteristics are defined in the Equality Act as age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation. 
 
An Equalities Assessment is a systematic analysis of a policy or policies in order to scrutinise 
the potential for an adverse impact on a particular group or community, in particularly those 
with a protected characteristic.   
 
An assessment has been made on whether the Neighbourhood Plan has a positive, negative 
or neutral impact on each of the protected characteristics. If the impact is negative, this is 
given a high, medium or low assessment. The following table describes these: 
 
 

Impact Description 
High A significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no 

mitigating measures in place etc. 
 

Medium Some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, 
poor evidence. 
 

Low Almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much 
legislation-led. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 410



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

19 

Biddulph General Population Characteristics 
 
Sourced from the 2011 Census key statistics the following table illustrates the age structure 
of the Parish residents.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(Source: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea?compare=E04009025, accessed 2nd 
January 2020) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 411



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

20 

Sourced from the 2011 Census key statistics the following table illustrates the Ethnic Groups 
who live in the Parish. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There are no statistics available on other protected characteristics. 
 
(Source: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea?compare=E04009025, accessed 2nd 
January 2020) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 412



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

21 

Aims and Policies of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan  
 
The aims of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan are: 
 

1. Protect the rural setting and character, promoting the ‘Garden Town of 
Staffordshire’. 

 
2. Identifying all local heritage structures and monuments, understanding their 

history, our culture and encouraging responsible tourism. 
 
3. Promoting the local economy, aiming for prosperity for all. 
 
4. Holding the wellbeing of our community at our core. 
 
5. Understanding our housing needs and encouraging creative and thoughtful 

sustainable design. 
 
6. Improving our infrastructure where required. 
 
7. Caring for and enhancing the natural environment, countryside, Green Belt and 

open spaces, ensuring that habitats and wildlife thrive. 
 
The policies are: 

• HCT1 Enterprise and Tourism Development 
• LE1 Biddulph Town Centre 
• LE2 Albion Mill Conversion 
• CF1 New Community Facilities 
• CF2 Existing Community Facilities 
• NE1 Natural Environment Features 
• NE2 Urban Edge 
• NE3 Local Green Space 
• NE4 Biddulph Valley Way 
• NE5 Protection of views of local importance  
• HOU1 Housing 
• HOU2 Infill Housing 
• INF1 Critical Road Junctions 
• INF2 Sustainable Drainage 
• INF3 Community Infrastructure 
• DES1 Design 
• DES2 Public Realm, Car Parking and Movement  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 413



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

22 

Impact on Protected Characteristics 
 
Age 
 
The plan seeks to accommodate housing need and growth and require that housing 
proposals address identified local needs (Policies HOU1 and HOU2). This will help to ensure 
that housing provision caters for all ages, including younger people seeking housing for the 
first time and older people looking to downsize. 
 
Policies HTC1 and LE1 seek to encourage the growth of enterprise and tourism uses and to 
make a vibrant and sustainable town centre.  This will help to create new jobs for people of 
all ages and will help to create choice and opportunity for people who have restrictions on 
their mobility (including the young and the old) by improving access to town centre-based 
employment, goods and services and to facilities in the town centre. 
 
Policies DES1 and DES2 require good design, including for people of a range of mobilities. 
 
The impact on all ages will be positive. 
 
 
Disability 
 
The needs of persons who are disabled or who have limited mobility are addressed in 
Policies DES1 and DES2, which seek to create a well-designed and accessible environment.  
 
Policy HOU1 requires new housing to meet local needs, Policy HTC1, LE1 and LE2 will help to 
enable local employment, and Policies DES1, DES2 and NE4 will enable improvement to the 
local environment.  
 
Policy DES2 and INF3 encourages the provision and improved infrastructure to support 
improved public transport services or access too.  
 
The impact on people with disabilities will be positive. 
 
 
Maternity and Pregnancy 
 
Key issues for women who are pregnant or who have young children are access to 
appropriate housing, flexible employment, and community facilities. Policies HOU1, HCT1, 
LE1, LE2, INF3, DES1 and DES2 address these issues. 
 
The impact on pregnant women will be positive. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 414



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

23 

Race 
 
A very small proportion of the population of Biddulph are from non-white ethnic groups.  
 
For the most part, the plan will have an equal impact on the local population regardless of 
race. A public realm designed with safety in mind will minimise opportunities for hate crime 
(there is no evidence that this is a problem in Biddulph). Policies DES1 and DES2 seek to 
create well designed development, which includes safety considerations.  
 
The impact will be positive on people of all races. 
 
 
Sex (Gender) 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan contains no specific policies or proposals for any particular gender. 
The policies have been written to provide equal opportunity to any gender in respect of the 
provision of development and access to facilities. 
 
No gender is disadvantaged by any of the policies and proposals in the Neighbourhood Plan. 
People will benefit equally from the implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan. This 
includes people with prams or pushchairs. 
 
The impact will be positive for all genders. 
 
 
Religion, Gender Re-assignment, Sexual orientation 
 
Key issues for religious groups are discrimination relating to employment, housing and the 
provision of services.   
 
Key issues for gender re-assigned people, gays and lesbians are personal relationships, 
transphobia and/or discrimination, and hate crime. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan does not and cannot directly address the social attitudes that 
underpin hate crimes. However, it does seek to provide a built environment with a safe 
public realm for all. 
 
The impact will be positive on all people, regardless of religion or LGBT+ status. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan provides a strategy for the development of the neighbourhood 
area, and a range of policies and proposals, which will result in positive benefits for many 
parts of the local community with protected characteristics.   
 
The Neighbourhood Plan makes equal provision for housing and seeks to provide 
community facilities which will benefit the diverse population.  
 

Page 415



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

24 

Contact 
 
 

 
 
 
Urban Vision Enterprise CIC 
 
www.uvecic.co.uk  
info@uvecic.co.uk  
01538 386221  
 
 
North Staffordshire Office:  
 
Foxlowe Arts Centre (1st Floor) 
Stockwell Street 
Leek 
Staffordshire 
ST13 6AD 
 
 
Liverpool Waterfront Office: 
 
National Architecture Centre 
21 Mann Island 
Liverpool 
L3 1BP 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
  

 
  

Page 416



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

25 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 417



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 419



This page is intentionally left blank



Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats
Regulations Assessment

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Page 421



41 Introduction

62 Legislative background

83 Methodology

134 Assessment

205 Conclusions

226 Consultation

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 422



Introduction

3Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 423



1 Introduction

1.1 Biddulph Town Council has prepared a draft Neighbourhood Plan setting out a vision
and proposals for the future of the town that reflect the needs and wishes of the community.
In preparing a draft Plan, Biddulph Town Council has carried out comprehensive community
consultation, helping to identify key priorities for the Neighbourhood Plan to address.
Consideration of feedback from community consultation has informed the preparation of a
number of planning policies and proposals set out in the draft Plan.

1.2 Following determination as to whether Habitats Regulations Assessment of the draft
Plan is required, the Neighbourhood Plan will be subject to a period of "pre-submission"
public consultation. Following this consultation, the Town Council will prepare to submit the
draft Neighbourhood Plan to the District Council in order that it might proceed to independent
Examination and subsequent Referendum.

1.3 Only a draft Neighbourhood Plan or Order that meets each of a set of basic conditions
can be put to a referendum and be "made" (adopted). The basic conditions are set out in
paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

1.4 The District Council will need to be satisfied that the basic conditions have been met.
A Neighbourhood Plan or Order must:

have regard to national policy and guidance;
have special regard to listed buildings (this applies only to Orders);
have special regard to conservation areas (this also applies only to Orders);
contribute to sustainable development;
be in general conformity with strategic policies in the development plan;
not breach EU obligations.
comply with other prescribed matters.(1)

1.5 Biddulph Town Council will be required to prepare a Basic Conditions Statement
alongside the submitted Plan, in order to demonstrate how the Neighbourhood Plan meets
the basic conditions set out above.

1 Regulations 32 and 33 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) prescribe 2 basic
conditions in addition to those set out in the primary legislation. These are (1) that the making of a Neighbourhood Plan
does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017;
and (2) having regard to all material considerations, it is appropriate that a Neighbourhood Development Order is made
where the development described in an Order is Environmental Impact Assessment development.

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 20194

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 424



Legislative background

5Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 425



2 Legislative background

2.1 Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and wild flora and fauna,
commonly known as the "Habitats Directive", provides for the protection of habitats and
species of European Community importance. Article 2 of the Directive requires the
maintenance (or restoration), at favourable conservation status, of habitats and species of
European Community interest. This is partly implemented through a network of protected
areas referred to as "Natura 2000 sites" (N2K), or "European sites", consisting of:

Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) - designated under the Habitats Directive(2); and
Special Protection Areas (SPAs) - designated under the Wild Birds Directive(3).

2.2 "Ramsar sites", designated under the Ramsar Convention 1971, are treated by UK
Government policy as if they were European sites in terms of the protection andmanagement
afforded to them. They should be included in assessment, where relevant.

2.3 Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive requires that:

“Any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the management of
the site but likely to have a significant effect thereon, either individually or in combination
with other plans or projects, shall be subject to appropriate assessment of its
implications for the site in view of the site's conservation objectives.”

2.4 This requirement is implemented in domestic English law through: The Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, with Regulation 102 setting out the obligations
of the Directive’s Article 6 placed upon local plan making authorities:

(1) Where a land use plan –

(a) is likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore
marine site (either alone or in combination) with other plans or projects), and

(b) is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site,

the plan-making authority must, before the plan is given effect, make an appropriate
assessment of the implications for the site in view of that site’s conservation objectives.

(4) In the light of the conclusions of the assessment, and subject to regulation 103
(considerations of imperative reasons of overriding public interest), the plan-making
authority… must give effect to the land use plan only after having ascertained that it
will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site or the offshore European
marine site (as the case may be).

2.5 Undertaking of these particular requirements is termed a "Habitats Regulations
Assessment" (HRA).

2.6 The purpose of an HRA is to assess the significance of potential impacts of a plan on
relevant European sites. The assessment should determine whether the plan would adversely
affect the integrity of the site in terms of its nature conservation objectives. Where negative
effects are identified, other options should be examined to avoid any potential for damaging
effects.

2 Council Directive 94/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (the Habitats Directive)
3 Council Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds. The "Wild Birds" Directive.

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 20196

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 426



Methodology

7Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 427



3 Methodology

3.1 An outline of the overall HRA process in accordance with current guidance(4) is set
out below.

Stage 1: Screening for likely significant effects

Identify European sites that should be considered in the assessment.
Gather information about the European sites.
Discretionary consultation with statutory nature conservation body (Natural England
for England) on the list of European sites, method and scope of screening.
Screen the plan for likely significant effects (LSEs) on a European site, including
the potential for effects in combination with other plans or programmes.
Consider potential for the application of mitigation measures, in order to avoid
potential effects.
Re-screen the plan after mitigation measures applied; and
Prepare a draft record of the HRA (Screening Report).

3.2 If, on the basis of objective information, it can be determined that there will be no
significant effects on any European sites, then the HRA process may stop here.

3.3 If significant effects cannot be ruled out (applying the precautionary principle), then
the effect must be reported as likely, and the HRA must progress to Stage 2: Appropriate
Assessment (AA).

Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment

Undertake an appropriate assessment in view of the conservation objectives of
the European site(s).
Apply mitigation measures until there is no adverse effect on site integrity.
Consult Natural England (and other stakeholders and the public if appropriate) on
the HRA.
Screen any amendments for likelihood of significant effects and carry out
appropriate assessment if required.
Re-consult Natural England if necessary on amendments; and
Complete and publish final HRA Report.

3.4 Should the situation arise where there were no alternative solutions and adverse
impacts remain, then the plan could only proceed if it meets the test of Imperative Reasons
of Overriding Public Interest (IROPI test), and all necessary compensatory measures are
secured. However, it should be noted that the guidance states that this should only be
undertaken in exceptional circumstances.

4 Habitats Regulations Appraisal of Plans: Guidance for plan-making bodies in Scotland v2.0 (David Tyldesley and
Associates; August 2012). Note although this guidance was originally prepared for Scottish Natural Heritage it is
recognised as an authoritative source of guidance throughout the UK; and European Commission: ‘Assessment of plans
and projects significantly affecting Natura 2000 sites: Methodological guidance on the provisions of Article 6(3) and (4)
of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC’ (European Communities, 2002)

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 20198

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 428



3.5 The HRA process is iterative and should be re-visited as policies develop, in response
to consultation, and as more information becomes available.

HRA of the emerging SMDC Local Plan

3.6 The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan has been subjected to Habitats
Regulations Assessment as part of the plan preparation process. A report of the HRA findings
can be found at:

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/2878/
Habitats-Regulations-Assessment---Submission-Version-Feb-2018/pdf/
HRA_Submission_Version_Local_Plan_February_2018.pdf

3.7 HRA screening of the Local Plan Preferred Options policies in December 2016 and
June 2017 identified a number of Likely Significant Effects in relation to the following:

Effects from increased water demand on the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 Special
Protection Area (SPA) and Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Peak District Dales
SAC;
Effects from increased traffic on air quality on the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA
and SAC and Peak District Dales SAC;
Increased recreational pressure on the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA and SAC
and Peak District Dales SAC; and
Urban effects on the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA and SAC and Peak District
Dales SAC.

3.8 The Appropriate Assessment stage of HRA was undertaken to evaluate the potential
for the "screened in" Local Plan policies to result in adverse effects on the European sites
as listed above. Various mitigation measures were subsequently proposed and these were
incorporated into the emerging Local Plan.

3.9 On the basis of the revised Local Plan with mitigation in place, it has been concluded
that the Submission Local Plan will not result in adverse effects on European sites, both
alone and in combination with growth in neighbouring areas. This conclusion is supported
by Natural England as confirmed in the Addendum to the HRA Report, dated June 2018:

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/3327/
Habitats-Regulations-Assessment-Local-Plan-Submission-version-
Addendum/pdf/7.3_HRA_Report_Submission_Version_
Local_Plan_Addendum_June_2018.pdf

Zones of influence

3.10 The HRA of the emerging SMDC Local Plan provides guidance as to when a
development proposal may require project level HRA because of the risk of impact on a
European site.

3.11 This guidance states that any proposed development within a 2km zone around the
South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA should be expected to undertake a project-level HRA
to ensure no potential adverse effects on the SPA or land that is functionally connected to
it. This zone of influence is mapped and illustrated at Map 1 below.

9Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 429



3.12 In addition, any development proposed within a 500m zone of the Peak District Dales
SAC, the South Pennine Moors SAC and the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA should
be subject to a project-level HRA to ensure no potential adverse effects occur from cat
predation, fires or other urban effects. The 500m zone of influence is also mapped and
illustrated at Map 1.

3.13 The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan Area is approximately 10 km beyond the zones
of influence.

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 201910

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 430



South Pennine Moors SAC

Peak District Dales

Peak District Dales

Midland Meres and Mosses Phase 1

Peak District Dales

Peak District Dales

South Pennine Moors SAC

Peak District Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1)

Midland Meres and Mosses Phase 2

0 105 Kilometres

±
Reproduced from Ordnance Survey map data by permission of Ordnance Survey, © 

Crown copyright. EAD OS Licence 100046104 

Staffordshire Moorland District 
Council

Staffordshire Moorland HRA

European Sites Plan With Impact Zones

Date: 19/07/2017

500m zone around Peak District Dales www.eadecology.co.ukand South Pennine Moors SAC - any
development proposed in this zone
would require a HRA to ensure no
potential adverse effects from cat
predation, fires and other urban effects

Key

District Boundary
Local Plan Area
Ramsar sites
SPA sites

SAC sites

2km zone around Peak District Moors
(South Pennine Moors Phase 1) SPA -
any development proposed in this zone 
would require a HRA Screening to en-
sure no potential adverse effects on the 
SPA or land that is functionally con-
nected to it

Map 3.1 Zones of influence around European sites where proposals require HRA

11Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 431



Assessment

12Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 432



4 Assessment

4.1 The table below presents a Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening for the policies
of the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan.

13Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 433



Li
ke
ly
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

on
Eu

ro
pe

an
si
te

In
ac
co

rd
an

ce
w
ith

em
er
gi
ng

St
af
fo
rd
sh

ire
M
oo

rla
nd

s
Lo

ca
l

Pl
an

?

C
om

m
en

t
D
et
ai
lo

fp
ol
ic
y
to

be
sc
re
en

ed
Pl
an

Po
lic
y

S
up

po
rt
fo
rl
oc
al

to
ur
is
m

w
ill
he

lp
Ye

s
Th

is
po

lic
y
w
ill
su
pp

or
te

ffi
ci
en

tu
se

of
re
so
ur
ce
s
by

re
-u
si
ng

ex
is
tin
g
bu

ild
in
gs

S
ub

je
ct
to

m
ee

tin
g
cr
ite
ria

,b
us
in
es
s,

en
te
rp
ris
e
an

d
to
ur
is
m

us
es

w
ill
be

H
C
T
1

E
nt
er
pr
is
e
an

d
To
ur
is
m

D
ev
el
op

m
en

t

av
oi
d
vi
si
to
rs

ch
oo

si
ng

to
tra

ve
l

to
th
e
E
ur
op

ea
n

si
te
s.
N
o

si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

an
d
he

lp
to

su
pp

or
ts
us
ta
in
ab

le
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

ft
he

ru
ra
le
co
no

m
y.

su
pp

or
te
d
in
ex
is
tin
g
bu

ild
in
g

co
m
pl
ex
es

to
di
ve
rs
ify

th
e
ru
ra
l

ec
on

om
y.

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

Ye
s

Th
e
po

lic
y
w
ill
he

lp
to

pr
om

ot
e
th
e

re
-u
se

of
va
ca
nt

un
its

an
d
bu

ild
in
gs
,

pr
om

ot
e
th
e
re
-u
se

of
he

rit
ag

e
as
se
ts

an
d
en

su
re

th
e
su
st
ai
na

bi
lit
y
an

d
di
ve
rs
ity

of
th
e
to
w
n
ce
nt
re
.

In
ad

di
tio
n
to

re
ta
il
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t,

su
st
ai
na

bl
e
ne

w
us
es

to
di
ve
rs
ify

th
e

lo
ca
lo
ffe

rw
ill
be

en
co
ur
ag

ed
in
th
e

to
w
n
ce
nt
re
.

LE
1

B
id
du

lp
h
To
w
n

C
en

tre

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

Ye
s
-
po

lic
y
sh
ou

ld
be

ap
pl
ie
d
w
ith

em
er
gi
ng

Lo
ca
l

P
la
n
po

lic
y
D
S
B
2

B
id
du

lp
h
M
ill
s.

Th
e
P
ol
ic
y
se
ts
a
fra

m
ew

or
k
fo
r

al
lo
w
ab

le
m
ix
ed

us
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

w
ith
in
th
e
M
ill
s
Tr
ia
ng

le
.

W
ith
in
th
e
de

fin
ed

m
ill
s
tri
an

gl
e,

th
e

po
lic
y
su
pp

or
ts
a
nu

m
be

ro
fs
pe

ci
fie
d

m
ix
ed

us
es
.

LE
2

M
ill
s
Tr
ia
ng

le
P
ol
ic
y
A
re
a

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s

Th
is
is
an

en
ab

lin
g
po

lic
y
fo
rn

ew
co
m
m
un

ity
fa
ci
lit
ie
s.
S
uc
h
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

co
ul
d
in
cl
ud

e
m
ed

ic
al
an

d
ot
he

r
co
m
m
un

ity
us
es
.

P
ol
ic
y
se
ts
fra

m
ew

or
k
fo
ra

llo
w
ab

le
ne

w
co
m
m
un

ity
fa
ci
lit
ie
s,
pa

rti
cu
la
rly

th
os
e
th
at

m
ee

ta
n
id
en

tif
ie
d
ne

ed
su
ch

as
ac
tiv
iti
es

an
d
fa
ci
lit
ie
s
fo
r

el
de

rly
pe

op
le
.

C
F
1

N
ew

C
om

m
un

ity
Fa

ci
lit
ie
s

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 201914

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 434



Li
ke
ly
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

on
Eu

ro
pe

an
si
te

In
ac
co

rd
an

ce
w
ith

em
er
gi
ng

St
af
fo
rd
sh

ire
M
oo

rla
nd

s
Lo

ca
l

Pl
an

?

C
om

m
en

t
D
et
ai
lo

fp
ol
ic
y
to

be
sc
re
en

ed
Pl
an

Po
lic
y

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s

Th
e
po

lic
y
se
ek
s
to

en
su
re

th
at

th
e

ex
is
tin
g
ra
ng

e
of

co
m
m
un

ity
fa
ci
lit
ie
s

in
th
e
ar
ea

re
m
ai
ns

un
di
m
in
is
he

d.

P
ol
ic
y
se
ts
a
fra

m
ew

or
k
fo
ra

llo
w
ab

le
de

ve
lo
pm

en
ta

ffe
ct
in
g
sp
ec
ifi
ed

co
m
m
un

ity
fa
ci
lit
ie
s
in
th
e

ne
ig
hb

ou
rh
oo

d
ar
ea

.

C
F
2

E
xi
st
in
g

C
om

m
un

ity
Fa

ci
lit
ie
s

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s

Th
is
po

lic
y
is
in
te
nd

ed
to

to
co
ns
er
ve

an
d
en

ha
nc
e
th
e
na

tu
ra
le
nv
iro

nm
en

t.
N
ew

de
ve
lo
pm

en
tm

us
tp

re
se
rv
e
or

en
ha

nc
e
th
e
sp
ec
ia
lr
ur
al
ch
ar
ac
te
r

an
d
ec
ol
og

ic
al
an

d
en

vi
ro
nm

en
ta
l

fe
at
ur
es

of
th
e
ar
ea

.

N
E
1

N
at
ur
al

E
nv
iro

nm
en

t
Fe

at
ur
es

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s
-s

om
e

fle
xi
bi
lit
y
m
ay

be
re
qu

ire
d
in
th
is

po
lic
y
to

en
su
re

si
te

vi
ab

ili
ty
.

Th
e
po

lic
y
w
ill
no

tl
ea

d
to

ad
di
tio
na

l
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t-

it
re
qu

ire
s
se
ns
iti
ve

bo
un

da
ry

tre
at
m
en

ts
.

N
ew

de
ve
lo
pm

en
to

n
th
e
ed

ge
of

th
e

to
w
n
an

d
in
ru
ra
ls
et
tle
m
en

ts
m
us
t

in
co
rp
or
at
e
se
ns
iti
ve
ly
de

si
gn

ed
bo

un
da

ry
tre

at
m
en

ts
an

d
la
nd

sc
ap

in
g

to
cr
ea

te
an

ap
pr
op

ria
te

tra
ns
iti
on

to
th
e
ru
ra
le
nv
iro

nm
en

t.

N
E
2

U
rb
an

E
dg

e

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s
-a

llo
ca
tio
ns

sh
ou

ld
m
ee

tt
he

N
P
P
F
cr
ite
ria

.

Th
is
po

lic
y
is
in
te
nd

ed
to

to
co
ns
er
ve

an
d
en

ha
nc
e
th
e
na

tu
ra
le
nv
iro

nm
en

t.
Th

e
P
la
n
al
lo
ca
te
s
a
nu

m
be

ro
f

am
en

ity
op

en
sp
ac
es

w
ith

co
m
m
un

ity
va
lu
e
as

Lo
ca
lG

re
en

S
pa

ce
.

N
E
3

Lo
ca
lG

re
en

Sp
ac
e

15Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 435



Li
ke
ly
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

on
Eu

ro
pe

an
si
te

In
ac
co

rd
an

ce
w
ith

em
er
gi
ng

St
af
fo
rd
sh

ire
M
oo

rla
nd

s
Lo

ca
l

Pl
an

?

C
om

m
en

t
D
et
ai
lo

fp
ol
ic
y
to

be
sc
re
en

ed
Pl
an

Po
lic
y

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s

Th
e
po

lic
y
w
ill
no

tl
ea

d
to

ad
di
tio
na

l
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t-

it
is
de

si
gn

ed
to

co
ns
er
ve

an
d
en

ha
nc
e
ke
y
gr
ee

n
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e.

P
ol
ic
y
se
ts
a
fra

m
ew

or
k
fo
ra

llo
w
ab

le
de

ve
lo
pm

en
ti
n
re
la
tio
n
to

th
e

B
id
du

lp
h
Va

lle
y
W
ay
.

N
E
4

B
id
du

lp
h
Va

lle
y

W
ay

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s
-s

om
e

fle
xi
bi
lit
y
m
ay

be
re
qu

ire
d
in
th
is

po
lic
y
to

en
su
re

si
te

vi
ab

ili
ty
.

Th
e
po

lic
y
se
ek
s
to

pr
ot
ec
tk
ey

vi
ew

s
w
ith
in
th
e
to
w
n
ce
nt
re

an
d
vi
st
as

to
w
ar
ds

op
en

co
un

try
si
de

.

P
ol
ic
y
re
qu

ire
s
D
es
ig
n
an

d
A
cc
es
s

S
ta
te
m
en

ts
to

de
m
on

st
ra
te

ho
w

re
le
va
nt

pr
op

os
al
s
pr
es
er
ve

or
en

ha
nc
e
sp
ec
ifi
ed

vi
ew

s.

N
E
5

P
ro
te
ct
io
n
of
vi
ew

s
of
lo
ca
lim

po
rta

nc
e

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s
-s

om
e

fle
xi
bi
lit
y
m
ay

be
re
qu

ire
d
in
th
is

po
lic
y
to

en
su
re

si
te

vi
ab

ili
ty
.

Th
e
po

lic
y
w
ill
no

tl
ea

d
to

ad
di
tio
na

l
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t-

it
is
de

si
gn

ed
to

en
su
re

th
at

af
fo
rd
ab

le
ho

m
es

ar
e
de

liv
er
ed

in
th
e
pl
an

ar
ea

,a
re

w
el
ld
es
ig
ne

d
an

d
m
ee

ti
de

nt
ifi
ed

ho
us
in
g
ne

ed
.

Af
fo
rd
ab

le
pr
ov
is
io
n
to
be

m
ad

e
w
ith
in

th
e
ne

ig
hb

ou
rh
oo

d
pl
an

ar
ea

,
de

si
gn

ed
to

be
te
nu

re
bl
in
d,

w
ith

m
ix

of
ho

us
in
g
ty
pe

an
d
te
nu

re
to

be
ba

se
d
on

a
cu
rr
en

th
ou

si
ng

ne
ed

s
as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

se
lf
bu

ild
en

co
ur
ag

ed
.

H
O
U
1

Af
fo
rd
ab

le
H
ou

si
ng

D
el
iv
er
y

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

Ye
s

Th
is
po

lic
y
is
in
te
nd

ed
to

en
co
ur
ag

e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
tp
ro
po

sa
ls
on

sm
al
le
rs
ite
s

w
ith
in
th
e
se
ttl
em

en
tb
ou

nd
ar
y,
th
er
eb

y
co
ns
er
vi
ng

th
e
na

tu
ra
le
nv
iro

nm
en

t.

S
up

po
rt
fo
rs

m
al
lr
es
id
en

tia
l

de
ve
lo
pm

en
to

fl
es
s
th
an

5
un

its
on

in
fil
ls
ite
s.

H
O
U
2

In
fil
lH

ou
si
ng

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 201916

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 436



Li
ke
ly
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

on
Eu

ro
pe

an
si
te

In
ac
co

rd
an

ce
w
ith

em
er
gi
ng

St
af
fo
rd
sh

ire
M
oo

rla
nd

s
Lo

ca
l

Pl
an

?

C
om

m
en

t
D
et
ai
lo

fp
ol
ic
y
to

be
sc
re
en

ed
Pl
an

Po
lic
y

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

Ye
s

Th
e
po

lic
y
w
ill
no

tl
ea

d
to

ad
di
tio
na

l
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t-

it
is
de

si
gn

ed
to

ea
se

co
ng

es
tio
n
at

pi
nc
h
po

in
ts
in
th
e

hi
gh

w
ay

ne
tw
or
k,
w
ith

a
be

ne
fic
ia
l

ef
fe
ct
on

ai
rq

ua
lit
y.

Tr
an

sp
or
tA

ss
es
sm

en
tr
eq

ui
re
d
w
he

re
pr
op

os
al
s
m
ay

im
pa

ct
on

sp
ec
ifi
ed

ex
is
tin
g
tra

ns
po

rt
pr
es
su
re

po
in
ts
.

IN
F
1

C
rit
ic
al
R
oa

d
Ju
nc
tio
ns

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s
-s

om
e

fle
xi
bi
lit
y
m
ay

be
re
qu

ire
d
in
th
is

po
lic
y
to

en
su
re

si
te

vi
ab

ili
ty
.

Th
is
po

lic
y
is
in
te
nd

ed
to

m
an

ag
e

su
rfa

ce
w
at
er

flo
w
an

d
en

ha
nc
e
th
e

na
tu
ra
le
nv
iro

nm
en

t.

P
ro
po

sa
ls
to

in
cl
ud

e
su
st
ai
na

bl
e

dr
ai
na

ge
m
ea

su
re
s.

IN
F
2

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
D
ra
in
ag

e

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s

Th
e
po

lic
y
w
ill
no

tl
ea

d
to

ad
di
tio
na

l
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t-

it
is
de

si
gn

ed
to

id
en

tif
y

lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

ity
in
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e
pr
io
rit
ie
s.

Id
en

tif
ie
s
pr
io
rit
ie
s
in
th
e
pl
an

ar
ea

fo
r

al
lo
ca
tio
n
of

se
ct
io
n
10

6
fin
an

ci
al

co
nt
rib

ut
io
ns

or
C
IL

m
on

ie
s.

IN
F
3

C
om

m
un

ity
In
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s

Th
e
po

lic
y
w
ill
no

tl
ea

d
to

ad
di
tio
na

l
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t-

it
se
ts
cr
ite
ria

fo
r

ap
pr
op

ria
te

de
si
gn

.

H
ig
h
qu

al
ity

de
si
gn

D
E
S
1

D
es
ig
n

17Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 437



Li
ke
ly
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

on
Eu

ro
pe

an
si
te

In
ac
co

rd
an

ce
w
ith

em
er
gi
ng

St
af
fo
rd
sh

ire
M
oo

rla
nd

s
Lo

ca
l

Pl
an

?

C
om

m
en

t
D
et
ai
lo

fp
ol
ic
y
to

be
sc
re
en

ed
Pl
an

Po
lic
y

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct
s

Ye
s

Th
e
po

lic
y
w
ill
no

tl
ea

d
to

ad
di
tio
na

l
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t-

it
se
ts
cr
ite
ria

fo
r

ap
pr
op

ria
te

de
si
gn

.

H
ig
h
qu

al
ity

ur
ba

n
de

si
gn

D
E
S
2

P
ub

lic
R
ea

lm
,C

ar
P
ar
ki
ng

an
d

M
ov
em

en
t

Ta
bl
e
4.
1
H
R
A
Sc

re
en

in
g
A
ss
es
sm

en
tf
or

th
e
B
id
du

lp
h
N
ei
gh

bo
ur
ho

od
Pl
an

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 201918

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 438



Conclusions

19Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 439



5 Conclusions

5.1 Emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Policy NE 1 Biodiversity and Geological
Resources provides protection for European sites. The Policy includes the following provision:

The biodiversity and geological resources of the District and neighbouring areas will be
conserved and enhanced by positive management and strict control of development
(and having regard to relevant ecological evidence) by:

1. Resisting any proposed development that could have an adverse effect on the integrity
of a European site (or successor designation) alone or in combination with other plans
or projects unless it can be demonstrated that the legislative provisions to protect such
sites can be fully met. Any development with a potential to adversely affect a European
site/s through construction activities should ensure that Ciria construction guidelines
are followed including environmental good practice on control of dust and water pollution.

5.2 The HRA undertaken of the emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan concluded
that the Submission Local Plan will not result in adverse effects on European sites, both
alone and in combination with growth in neighbouring areas.

5.3 As a result of the assessment set out in section 4 of this report, it is considered unlikely
that any significant environmental effects will occur as a result of the implementation of
policies and proposals set out in the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan.

HRA Stage 1 Screening Outcome

5.4 The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan does not require further HRA work to be
undertaken.

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 201920

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 440



Consultation

21Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 441



6 Consultation

6.1 Prior to a determination being made, this screening report has been sent to Natural
England to seek their opinion.

6.2 Natural England's screening opinion has been added to this screening report, before
a statement of reasons for the determination is prepared and published.

 

Date: 22 July 2019 
Our ref: 289316 
Your ref: Biddulph SEA and HRA Screening 
 
 

 
Joanna Bagnall 
Regeneration Service 
 
BY EMAIL ONLY 
Joanna.bagnall@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk  

 

Hornbeam House 

Crewe Business Park 

Electra Way 

Crewe 

Cheshire 

CW1 6GJ 

 

T  0300 060 3900 

   

 
 
Dear Ms Bagnall, 
 
SEA and HRA Screening: 
Draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan 
Draft Neighbourhood Development Order – Biddulph Town Centre
 
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 4th July 2019 which was received by Natural 
England on the same day. 
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development.   
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening  
We welcome the production of the SEA Screening reports. Natural England notes and concurs with the 
screening outcome of both the Neighbourhood plan and the Neighbourhood Development Order that 
significant effects on the environment are considered to be unlikely to occur. Therefore no further 
environmental assessment is required. 
 
Further guidance on deciding whether the proposals are likely to have significant environmental effects 
and the requirements for consulting Natural England on SEA are set out in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance.  
 
Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening  
Natural England welcomes the consideration given to the Habitats Regulations. We are satisfied that 
the conclusion of the Local Planning Authority (as competent authority) that there are no likely 
significant effects on European sites is appropriate, and therefore advise that further Habitats 
Regulations Assessment is not required for both the Neighbourhood Plan and the Neighbourhood 
Development Order. 
 
We would be happy to comment further should the need arise but if in the meantime you have any 
queries please do not hesitate to contact us.  
 
For any new consultations, or to provide further information on this consultation please send your 
correspondences to consultations@naturalengland.org.uk.   
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Victoria Kirkham 
Consultations Team 

Biddulph NP HRA Screening- June 201922

Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 442

mailto:Joanna.bagnall@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


Page 443



Screening Assessment of draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 444



Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic
Environmental Assessment

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Page 445



41 Introduction

62 Legislative background

93 The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan

134 Assessment

185 Conclusions

206 Consultation

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 446



Introduction

3Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 447



1 Introduction

1.1 Biddulph Town Council has prepared a draft Neighbourhood Plan setting out a vision
and proposals for the future of the town that reflect the needs and wishes of the community.
In preparing a draft Plan, Biddulph Town Council has carried out comprehensive community
consultation, helping to identify key priorities for the Neighbourhood Plan to address.
Consideration of feedback from community consultation has informed the preparation of a
number of planning policies and proposals set out in the draft Plan.

1.2 Following determination as to whether Strategic Environmental Assessment of the
draft Plan is required, the Neighbourhood Plan will be subject to a period of "pre-submission"
public consultation. Following this consultation, the Town Council will prepare to submit the
draft Neighbourhood Plan to the District Council in order that it might proceed to independent
Examination and subsequent Referendum.

1.3 Only a draft Neighbourhood Plan or Order that meets each of a set of basic conditions
can be put to a referendum and be "made" (adopted). The basic conditions are set out in
paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

1.4 The District Council will need to be satisfied that the basic conditions have been met.
A Neighbourhood Plan or Order must:

have regard to national policy and guidance;
have special regard to listed buildings (this applies only to Orders);
have special regard to conservation areas (this also applies only to Orders);
contribute to sustainable development;
be in general conformity with strategic policies in the development plan;
not breach EU obligations.
comply with other prescribed matters.(1)

1.5 Biddulph Town Council will be required to prepare a Basic Conditions Statement
alongside the submitted Plan, in order to demonstrate how the Planmeets the basic conditions
set out above.

1 Regulations 32 and 33 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) prescribe 2 basic
conditions in addition to those set out in the primary legislation. These are (1) that the making of a Neighbourhood Plan
does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017;
and (2) having regard to all material considerations, it is appropriate that a Neighbourhood Development Order is made
where the development described in an Order is Environmental Impact Assessment development.

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 20194

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 448



Legislative background

5Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 449



2 Legislative background

2.1 ANeighbourhood Plan or Order must be compatible with European Union obligations,
as incorporated into UK law, in order to be legally compliant. A key directive of relevance
to neighbourhood planning is Directive 2001/42/EC on the assessment of the effects of
certain plans and programmes on the environment (often referred to as the Strategic
Environmental Assessment {or SEA} Directive).

2.2 The District Council has prepared this screening assessment to help determine whether
the policies and proposals set out in the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan will require a
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the European Directive
2001/42/EC and associated Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes
Regulations 2004.

2.3 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 explain
the process to be followed in undertaking a Strategic Environmental Assessment in respect
of plans and programmes. They implement the European Directive and require an SEA to
be undertaken on any land use plan or programme "which sets the framework for future
development consent of projects".

2.4 A strategic environmental assessment is unlikely to be required where a planning
document deals only with a small area at a local level (regulation 5(6) of the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004), unless it is considered that there
are likely to be significant environmental effects. Screening is used to determine whether
significant environmental effects are likely.

2.5 The National Planning Practice Guidance offers further guidance on when an SEA
may be required for a Neighbourhood Plan(2). SEA is more likely to be necessary if:

a neighbourhood plan allocates sites for development (for example for housing or
employment) that have not already been appraised through the Sustainability Appraisal
of the Local Plan;
the neighbourhood plan area contains sensitive environmental assets that may be
affected by the policies and proposals in the neighbourhood plan;
the neighbourhood plan is likely to have significant environmental effects not already
addressed through the sustainability appraisal of the Local Plan.

2.6 When determining whether a neighbourhood plan requires SEA, the SEA Regulations
require that the criteria set out in Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations be considered. These
are the criteria for determining the likely significance of effects on the environment. The
criteria are split into two categories: those relating to the characteristics of the plan and those
to the characteristics of the effects and area likely to be affected.

2.7 The results of the screening process must be detailed in a Screening Statement,
available to the public and the findings must be subject to consultation with Historic England,
the Environment Agency and Natural England.

2.8 Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 require submission
either of a statement of reasons as to why SEA was not required, or an environmental report
(a key output of the SEA process) to accompany a Neighbourhood Plan when it is submitted
to the local planning authority.

2 Paragraph: 046 Reference ID: 11-046-20150209

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 20196

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 450



2.9 Providing there are no significant changes to the proposals and the policies of the
current draft Neighbourhood Plan, this screening assessment undertaken by Staffordshire
Moorlands District Council helps fulfils this requirement to accompany submission of the
Neighbourhood Plan.

7Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 451



The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan

8Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 452



3 The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan

Planning Context

National

3.1 Paragraph 29 of the National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) clarifies
that neighbourhood planning gives communities the power to develop a shared vision for
their area. Neighbourhood plans can shape, direct and help to deliver sustainable
development, by influencing local planning decisions as part of the statutory development
plan. Neighbourhood plans should not promote less development than set out in the strategic
policies for the area, or undermine those strategic policies.

Local

3.2 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan was submitted for examination on 28th June
2018. The emerging Local Plan has been subject to Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats
Regulations Assessment. The Plan and its assessments can be seen at:

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/examination_library

Neighbourhood Plan

3.3 The parish of Biddulph was designated as a Neighbourhood Area on 16th February
2016.

3.4 Biddulph Town Council is preparing both a Neighbourhood Development Plan and a
Neighbourhood Development Order. The draft Neighbourhood Development Order has
been subjected to screening alongside the Neighbourhood Development Plan.

3.5 A range of consultation events have taken place to support preparation of the
Neighbourhood Plan. Members of the neighbourhood planning team have attendedmeetings
of Residents Associations, meetings with young people, health groups, and other local
organisations. A householder questionnaire was circulated in December 2017 and completed
forms were returned by over 1,200 households in the town.

3.6 Biddulph Town Council has received specialist support from AECOM to develop a
Housing Needs Assessment. AECOM has also completed a Masterplan for the town centre.
At the end of 2018, the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group consulted the community on
proposed Local Green Space designations.

Plan Vision and Aims

3.7 The draft Neighbourhood Plan sets out the following vision:

The Garden Town of Staffordshire is recognised as such by all who live in, work in or
visit our parish. It is seen to have a rich history and positive future where the wellbeing
and prosperity of all is nurtured and valued. Development is planned for the benefit of
the community; particularly in terms of design, infrastructure, sustainability and green
spaces.

9Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 453



3.8 The vision is supported by the following aims:

1. Protect the rural setting and character, promoting the ‘Garden Town of Staffordshire’.
2. Identifying all local heritage structures or monuments, understanding their history, our

culture and encouraging tourism responsibly.
3. Promoting the local economy, aiming for prosperity for all.
4. Holding the well-being of our community at our core.
5. Understanding our housing need and encouraging creative and thoughtful sustainable

design.
6. Improving our infrastructure where required.
7. Caring and enhancing the natural environment, countryside, Green Belt and open

spaces ensuring that habitats and wildlife thrive.

3.9 The draft Plan does not make any development site allocations. However it proposes
to designate a number of Local Green Spaces.

3.10 The draft Plan includes seventeen policies:

HCT1: Enterprise and Tourism Development
LE1: Biddulph Town Centre
LE2: Mills Triangle Policy Area
CF1: New Community Facilities
CF2: Existing Community Facilities
NE1: Natural Environment Features
NE2: Urban Edge
NE3: Local Green Space
NE4: Biddulph Valley Way
NE5: Protection of Views of Local Importance
HOU1: Affordable Housing Delivery
HOU2: Infill Housing
INF1: Critical Road Junctions
INF2: Sustainable Drainage
INF3: Community Infrastructure
DES1: Design
DES2: Public Realm, Car Parking and Movement

3.11 An enterprise and tourism policy is proposed to support the reuse of existing buildings
for enterprise and tourism in order to help diversify the rural economy.

3.12 Town centre policies seek to encourage a diverse range of uses to create a sustainable
town centre with re-use of the Mills Triangle area supported. New community facilities are
encouraged, in particular those that meet an identified need such as activities for teenagers
and facilities for elderly people. There is also support for the retention of existing facilities
in the Plan Area.

3.13 A number of Natural Environment policies together seek to maintain and support the
natural environment, with opportunities identified to enhance wildlife diversity and support
natural habitats and assets.

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 201910

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 454



3.14 Housing policies aim to inform future housing delivery to ensure that it is supported
in sustainable locations and benefits the existing and new communities of the parish.

3.15 Infrastructure policies are proposed to address key priorities identified through
community engagement:

issues surrounding flooding and water management;
pinch points in the highway network;
the current ability or lack of capacity for the current highway network to function before
any new development is proposed; and
communications, including access to super-fast broadband and telecommunications.

3.16 Design policies DES1 and DES2 interpret National Planning Policy Framework
guidance that neighbourhood plans should develop robust and comprehensive policies that
set out the quality of development that will be expected for the area.

11Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 455



Assessment

12Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 456



4 Assessment

Methodology

4.1 To decide whether a draft neighbourhood plan might have significant environmental
effects, its potential scope should be assessed at an early stage against the criteria set out
in Schedule 1 to the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations
2004. (These regulations implement the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive in
England.)

4.2 The criteria set out Schedule 1 of the Regulations are shown in the table below,
alongside an assessment finding in relation to the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan.

Assessment

Impact of the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood PlanSignificance Criteria set out in
SEA Directive (Annex ii) and
Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and
ProgrammesRegulations 2004

1. The characteristics of plans and programmes, having regard, in particular, to:

The Neighbourhood Plan would, if adopted, form part
of the Statutory Development Plan and as such does

(a) the degree to which the plan
or programme sets a framework

contribute to the framework for future developmentfor projects and other activities,
consent of projects. However, the Plan sits within theeither with regard to the location,
wider framework set by the National Planning Policynature, size and operating
Framework, the emerging Local Plan and adopted Coreconditions or by allocating

resources; Strategy policies. In addition, the projects for which
this Plan helps to set a framework are local in nature
and have limited resource implications. The Plan vision
and aims are set out in Section 3 of this report.

The Neighbourhood Plan is considered to be in general
conformity with the National Planning Policy

(b) the degree to which the plan
or programme influences other

Framework. The policies within the document conformplans and programmes including
those in a hierarchy; with the Core Strategy Policies and complement the

Council's emerging strategic policies. The
Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely to influence other Plans
or Programmes within the Statutory Development Plan.

The Neighbourhood Plan will work to protect and
enhance the natural environment of the Parish of

(c) the relevance of the plan or
programme for the integration of

Biddulph and ensure that natural resources are usedenvironmental considerations in
prudently. The draft Plan protects a number of areasparticular with a view to
through designation as Local Green Space. The draftpromoting sustainable

development; Plan does not make development site allocations.
However the Plan supports growth across the
Neighbourhood Area concentrated on the development
of strategic sites identified in the emerging SMDC Local
Plan and appropriate infill. The Plan promotes the

13Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 457



Impact of the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood PlanSignificance Criteria set out in
SEA Directive (Annex ii) and
Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and
ProgrammesRegulations 2004

re-use of existing buildings, particularly those in
Biddulph town centre. The Plan supports the delivery
of strategic policies in the emerging Local Plan and
aims to support the delivery of sustainable growth
through policies on tourism, the local economy,
infrastructure, community facilities, natural environment,
housing and design. It is therefore considered that the
Neighbourhood Plan will promote sustainable
development.

Biddulph is a former mining town that lies in the north
west of the Staffordshire Moorlands district. It is the

(d) environmental problems
relevant to the plan or
programme; and second largest settlement in the District with a

population of 19,892 (including Biddulph Moor). The
town has suffered from economic decline and includes
the Biddulph East area, a former coal board housing
estate that experiences a range of socio-economic and
environmental deprivation problems. The building of a
town centre by-pass has opened up opportunities for
new development and regeneration. There are
opportunities to strengthen and promote links between
the town and countryside, in particular linking to and
from the Biddulph Valley Way and Biddulph Grange
Garden and Country Park. The Biddulph Valley Way
is a key part of the Green Infrastructure network for the
town, comprising 4.5 miles of surfaced path along a
disused railway to the west of the town. It is suitable
for walkers, cyclists and horse riders. TheWay provides
access directly or visually to areas with historical and
natural history interest. The Whitemoor Local Nature
Reserve at the northern end of the Biddulph ValleyWay
is a Staffordshire Site of Biological Importance due to
its woodland wildlife. Biddulph is also home to the
celebrated BiddulphGrangeGardens, the best surviving
example of an ornamental Victorian garden.
Environmental concerns relevant to the Plan include
loss of countryside and biodiversity through
development and impacts on air quality and climate
change associated with growth. The Neighbourhood
Plan will help to address all these issues in a positive
manner.

The Neighbourhood Plan is not proposing development
specifically related to waste management or water
management.

(e) the relevance of the plan or
programme for the
implementation of Community

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 201914

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 458



Impact of the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood PlanSignificance Criteria set out in
SEA Directive (Annex ii) and
Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and
ProgrammesRegulations 2004

legislation on the environment
(for example, plans and
programmes linked to waste
management or water
protection).

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard,
in particular, to:

The Neighbourhood Plan is likely to have modest but
enduring positive environmental effects achieved in

(a) the probability, duration,
frequency and reversibility of the
effects; particular through policies for design criteria and the

protection of natural environment features, biodiversity,
local green spaces and the Biddulph Valley Way.
Policies on the reuse of existing buildings and critical
road junctions are designed to bring modest positive
effects in relation to natural resources and air quality.

It is intended that the environmental effects will have
positive, cumulative benefits for the area, for example

(b) the cumulative nature of the
effects;

through protection of natural environment features and
the designation of local green spaces.

There are no transboundary issues across member
states. Any effects on adjoining Staffordshire Moorlands

(c) the transboundary nature of
the effects;

parishes are likely to be positive. For example through
protection of natural environment features, biodiversity
and the Biddulph Valley Way and through support for
community infrastructure.

No significant risks to human health or the environment
have been identified. The Plan is likely to improve

(d) the risks to human health or
the environment (for example,
due to accidents); human health by improving access to green spaces

and the countryside.

The Neighbourhood Plan relates to the Parish of
Biddulph which includes the market town of Biddulph

(e) the magnitude and spatial
extent of the effects

and the village of Biddulph Moor with a combined(geographical area and size of
population of around 19,892 people. The magnitudethe population likely to be

affected); and spatial extent of the effects are therefore
comparatively small.

The Neighbourhood Plan includes sites of
environmental and heritage importance. There are 65

(f) the value and vulnerability of
the area likely to be affected due
to: heritage assets recorded for Biddulph on the National

Heritage List for England. The most significant include

15Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 459



Impact of the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood PlanSignificance Criteria set out in
SEA Directive (Annex ii) and
Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and
ProgrammesRegulations 2004

(i) special natural
characteristics or cultural
heritage;

Biddulph Grange and Gardens; Church of St Lawrence;
and Knypersley Hall. The West Midlands Heritage at
Risk Register 2018 records two buildings at risk in
Biddulph: Biddulph Old Hall (Scheduled Monument);

(ii) exceeded
environmental quality
standards or limit values;
or

and Prospect Tower and attached wing, Knypersley
(grade II* listed building). The Plan Area includes the
Biddulph Valley Way (Whitemoor) Local Nature
Reserve. The north of the Way provides access to
Whitemore Wood with its diverse springtime flora and

(iii) intensive land-use; and Bailey's Bank Wood which contains the remains of the
medieval Biddulph Castle. The ancient and semi-natural
woodlands contained within Greenway Bank Country
Park provide further important habitats. Biddulph
Grange Country Park is a 73 acre site originally part of
the larger Biddulph Grange Estate. The site includes
woodland, meadows, a large lake and ponds. Biddulph
Brook and its associated catchment drains the area
around Biddulph, ultimately draining to the River Dane
east of Congleton. Key elements of the District's Green
Infrastructure network within the Plan Area are the
Staffordshire Way (Gritstone Trail) and the Biddulph
Valley Way. The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands
Local Plan and adopted Core Strategy include policies
for the protection of landscape character, biodiversity
and the built and historic environment and the
Neighbourhood Plan will reinforce these policies with
no expected adverse effects.

There are no SSSIs within the Neighbourhood Plan
Area, however the Area includes the Biddulph Valley

(g) the effects on areas or
landscapes which have a

Way (Whitemoor) Local Nature Reserve. The Plan Arearecognised national, Community
or international protection status. is 10km beyond the 2km zone of influence around the

Peak District Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1)
Special Protection Area and similarly 10km beyond the
500m zone around the Peak District Dales and South
Pennine Moors Special Areas of Conservation. The
emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan and
adopted Core Strategy include policies for the protection
of landscape character, the natural environment and
sites of European importance and the Neighbourhood
Plan will reinforce these policies with no expected
adverse effects.

Table 4.1 Determination of the likely significance of environmental effects

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 201916

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 460



Conclusions

17Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 461



5 Conclusions

5.1 Having taken into account the:

Findings of the integrated SEA / SA of the emerging SMDC Local Plan.
Findings of the assessment set out in section 4.

5.2 It is considered that the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely to lead to any
significant environmental effects beyond those already assessed through the environmental
assessments (SEA/SA and HRA) of the emerging SMDC Local Plan. In line with regulation
9 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and ProgrammesRegulations 2004, it is therefore
considered that no further environmental assessment is required.

5.3 If the scope of the Neighbourhood Plan subsequently changes, the LPA reserves the
right to reassess this screening opinion.

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 201918

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 462



Consultation

19Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 463



6 Consultation

6.1 Prior to a determination being made, this screening report has been sent to the relevant
statutory consultation bodies to seek their opinion.

6.2 The SEA consultation bodies are the Environment Agency, Natural England and
Historic England.

6.3 The screening opinions of the three consultees have been added to this screening
report before a statement of reasons for the determination is prepared and published.

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 201920

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 464



21Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 465



Environment Agency 

9, Sentinel House Wellington Crescent, Fradley Park, Lichfield, WS13 8RR. 
Customer services line: 03708 506 506 
www.gov.uk/environment-agency 

Cont/d.. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Joanna Bagnall 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Moorlands House  
Stockwell Street 
Leek 
Staffordshire 
ST13 6HQ 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Our ref: UT/2006/000312/SE-
03/SC1-L01 
Your ref: Biddulph 
 
Date:  12 September 2019 
 
 

 
Dear Madam 
 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan SEA and HRA Screening 
 
Thank you for referring the above Neighbourhood Development Plan for comment. We 
apologise for the delay in our response and hope the following comments will still be 
taken into account. 
 
As requested we have reviewed the Screening Assessment prepared in support of the 
Bidduplh Neighbourhood Plan. Having reviewed the proposals we do not consider there 
to be significant environmental impacts as a result of this plan, therefore we concur with 
the conclusions of the report and do not require a SEA or HRA to be undertaken in 
support of the plan. We advise however the consultation is undertaken with Natural 
England amongst other statutory bodies prior to making any final decision. 
 
We note the presence of floodplain from the Bidduplh Brook and historical landfill sites 
within the Neighbourhood Plan boundary, however as this does not affect the settlement 
boundary we have no concerns. However, we recommend the following amendments in 
the Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan Draft Policies, dated April 2019: 
 
Natural Environment 
The NDP does not include any policies which refer to fluvial flood risk and we would 
strongly recommend including a policy for flood risk, which includes climate change and 
surface water drainage. 
 
All proposals for new development must demonstrate that existing flood risk will not be 
increased elsewhere (downstream), ideally by managing surface water on site and 
limiting runoff to the greenfield rate or better.  
 
We recommend Policy NE1 to include “watercourses and its floodplains” (bullet point 2). 
 

Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 201922

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 466

http://www.gov.uk/environment-agency


  

End 
 

2 

Please note, the maps shown on Page 25 are not the "Extent of flooding", but the 
"Areas at risk from"... (1. surface water flooding, 2. river flooding). 
 
Infrastructure 
New developments should seek to control and discharge all surface water runoff 
generated on site during the 1 in 100 year plus climate change rainfall event. For 
Greenfield development sites, the surface water runoff generated as a result of the 
development should not exceed the Greenfield runoff rate. For Brownfield development 
sites, developers are expected to deliver a substantial reduction in the existing runoff 
rate, and where possible, reduce the runoff to the equivalent Greenfield rate. 
 
We recommend Policy INF2 or INF3 is amended to include the following wording: 
surface water discharge should not exceed the Greenfield runoff rate (as described 
above). 
 
"In accordance with the Defra 2015 non technical standards and/or Staffordshire Lead 
Local Flood Authority (LLFA) SuDS handbook requirements, and/or Local Plan 
policy surface water 'Greenfield' run-off rate requirements whichever is in force 
and more onerous at the time of the development." 
 
See the following link for more information on the Staffordshire Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) SuDS handbook and other matters the LLFA has Authority 
over https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/Flood-Risk-
Management/Information-for-Planners-and-Developers.aspx 
 
Additional Comments 
In addition to the comments above, we note the Water Framework Directive (WFD) and 
objectives from the Humber and North West River Basin Management Plan have not 
been included. 
  
If you have any queries contact me on the details below. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ms Anne-Marie McLaughlin 
Senior Planning Advisor 
 
Direct dial 020 3025 4111 
Direct e-mail anne-marie.mclaughlin@environment-agency.gov.uk 
 
 
 

23Biddulph NP SEA Screening June 2019

Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 467

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/Flood-Risk-Management/Information-for-Planners-and-Developers.aspx


Screening Assessment Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 468



 
 

Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and  
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

 
Screening Determination Statement 

 
 
This determination statement is intended to demonstrate that the Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Development Plan is compatible with certain European Union 
obligations as required by the basic conditions, namely: 
 

 Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 
June 2001 on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes 
on the environment; and 

 
 Article 6(3) and (4) of the EU Habitats Directive and with the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
This statement sets out the reasons for the determination that the draft Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely to lead to significant environmental effects and 
therefore a Strategic Environmental Assessment is not required. 
 
In addition this statement determines that the making of the Biddulph Neighbourhood 
Plan is not likely to have an adverse effect on any European site, both alone and in 
combination with other plans and projects, and therefore further Habitats Regulations 
Assessment is not required. 
 
Biddulph Town Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council will publish this 
determination statement in accordance with the regulatory requirements. 
 
 
 
  

Page 469



Statement of Reasons 
 
This statement has been produced to ensure the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan will, 
when examined, comply with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012 (as amended) in particular Regulation 32 and Regulation 15(1)e(ii) of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015. 
 
A neighbourhood plan is required to meet a number of basic conditions (which are 
set out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990), one of which being it must not 
breach and must be otherwise compatible with EU and Human Rights obligations. 
This requires neighbourhood plans to fully consider the requirements of the SEA 
regulations which transpose the EU’s SEA Directive into law and which requires 
those making plans that could impact on the environment to consider whether they 
are likely to have a significant effect or not. 
 
Regulation 32 in the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) prescribe two basic conditions in addition to those set out in primary 
legislation, including that the making of a Neighbourhood Plan does not breach 
requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) Screening reports have been prepared by Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council (SMDC) for the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
An initial screening was carried out in June 2019 and the reports sent to the statutory 
consultees (Historic England; Natural England and Environment Agency) for their 
opinions.  Consultation responses have been received from the three bodies and 
their conclusions are summarised below.  The full responses are reproduced in the 
consultation section of the screening reports. 
 
SEA 
 
Based on the material provided, SMDC came to the conclusion that the Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Development Plan is not likely to have a significant effect on the 
environment under the terms of the SEA Directive and would therefore not require an 
SEA.  This view has been based on the following points: 
 

1. The draft Plan does not allocate sites for development. 
2. The draft Plan will work to protect and enhance the natural environment of the 

Parish. 
3. The absence of any forecast impact from development on sensitive 

environmental receptors based on the draft policies of the plan. 
 
Consultation responses from the SEA bodies are summarised as follows: 
 
Environment Agency 
 
Having reviewed the proposals we do not consider there to be significant 
environmental impacts as a result of this plan, therefore we concur with the 

Page 470



conclusions of the report and do not require a SEA or HRA to be undertaken in 
support of the plan. 
 
Historic England 
 
On the basis of the information supplied and in the context of the criteria set out in 
Schedule 1 of the Environmental Assessment Regulations [Annex II of the ‘SEA’ 
Directive], Historic England concurs with your view that the preparation of a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment is not required. 
 
Natural England 
 
Natural England notes and concurs with the screening outcome of both the 
Neighbourhood plan and the Neighbourhood Development Order that significant 
effects on the environment are considered to be unlikely to occur. Therefore no 
further environmental assessment is required. 
 
HRA 
 
Based on the material provided, SMDC came to the conclusion that that the making 
of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan is not likely to have an adverse effect on any 
European site, both alone and in combination with other plans and projects and 
therefore further Habitats Regulations Assessment is not required.  This view has 
been based on the following points: 
 

1. The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan has been subjected to 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) as part of plan preparation.  The 
Appropriate Assessment stage of HRA was undertaken and Natural England 
supported the conclusion that the submission Local Plan will not result in 
adverse effects, both alone and in combination with growth in neighbouring 
areas. 

2. The draft Neighbourhood Plan does not allocate sites for development. 
3. The HRA of the emerging Local Plan provides guidance as to when a 

development proposal may require project level HRA because of the risk of 
impact on a European site (2km zone of influence around South Pennine 
Moors Phase 1 SPA and 500m zone around Peak District Dales SAC).  The 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan Area is approximately 10km beyond the zones 
of influence. 

4. The draft Plan will work to protect and enhance the natural environment of the 
Parish. 

 
The consultation response from Natural England is summarised below: 
 
Natural England welcomes the consideration given to the Habitats Regulations. We 
are satisfied that the conclusion of the Local Planning Authority (as competent 
authority) that there are no likely significant effects on European sites is appropriate, 
and therefore advise that further Habitats Regulations Assessment is not required for 
both the Neighbourhood Plan and the Neighbourhood Development Order. 
 

September 2019 

Page 471



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

 

 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 
Neighbourhood Development Order 
Biddulph Town Centre 
 
 

February 2020 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 473



 

 

Introduction 
 
This Neighbourhood Development Order (the Order) has been prepared by Biddulph Town Council. 
The Neighbourhood Development Order relates to the replacement of shopfronts. The Order grants 
planning permission for these types of development in Part 1, providing it meets the conditions and 
parameters set out.  
 
The Order is a response to the analysis of outcomes from community engagement and gathering of 
local evidence and the intention is to support the regeneration and economic development of 
Biddulph Town Centre. This includes improving the environment of the town. The effect of the Order 
is to remove the need to apply for planning permission for reinstatement of shopfronts. 
 
The Order has been prepared against the context of meeting the Basic Conditions and other legal 
requirements.  
 
The Order will be monitored during its period of application. If necessary, the Order may be revised 
and/or remade in the future. 
 
  

Page 474



 

 

Application 
 

Period of Application 
 
The Neighbourhood Development Order (the Order) is in force for a period of four years from the 
date it is made. 
 
Development permitted by the Order, that has been started within the period of the Order being in 
force, will be allowed to be completed following the expiry of the Order or if the Order is revoked. 
 
 

Area of Application 
 
The Order applies to part of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Area, as shown on Plan 1. The Order does 
not apply to the parts of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Area outside of the area shown on Plan 1. 
 
 

Development Permitted 
 
Part 1 of this Order grant planning permission for the development specified, subject to compliance 
with the conditions and parameters set out. 
 
  

Page 475



 

 

Definitions 
 
The following words and terms, as used in this report, are defined as follows: 
 

Cornice: A continuous horizontal projecting moulding, above the fascia of the shopfront.  
 

Development: The legal definition is “the carrying out of a building, mining, engineering or 
other operations in, on, under or over land, and the making of any material change in the use 
of buildings or other land.” 
 
Fascia: The flat surface above the shop window, used to accommodate the main shop 
signage.   

 
Neighbourhood Development Order: An order introduced by a parish or town council, or a 
neighbourhood forum, as part of the neighbourhood planning process, which grants planning 
permission for a specific development or type of development.   
 
Paneling: Flat panels surrounded by mouldings or channels or other surfaces in different 
planes.  
 
Permitted development: Certain minor building works that don’t need planning permission 
e.g. development granted by The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015. 
 
Pilaster: A shallow rectangular column attached to the wall, with plinth (base) and topped by 
a capital.   
 
Stallriser: The area installed between the ground and the window-sill. These are often of 
masonry construction, sometimes with render finish 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 476



 

 

 
 
Plan 1 – The Area of Application of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) 
Not To Scale  
All buildings within the green line are included in the NDO Area. 
 

Page 477



 

 

 

Part 1: Replacement of Shopfronts 
 

Development permitted by Part 1 
 
The replacement of a shopfront in an existing opening on the ground floor frontage of commercial 
premises, providing the new shopfront meets the following design parameters. 
 
 

Design Parameters 
 

A. The shopfront design must include a shop window, doorway, stallriser, fascia, cornice and 
pilasters.  

 
B. The shopfront must comply to one of the ‘types’ (Type 1 to Type 4) set out in the ‘Shopfront 

Types and Details’ section of this Neighbourhood Development Order. 
 

C. Constructional detailing must be in accordance with the ‘Shopfront Types and Details’ 
section of this Neighbourhood Development Order. 
 

D. The design of the shopfront must meet the following design parameters: 
 

I. Stallriser 
 
A stallriser must be incorporated into the design for the full width of the shopfront, 
excluding the doorway, between the pilasters. The height of the stallriser must be 
between 350mm and 550mm. 
 

II. Pilasters 
 
The shopfront must include pilasters at either side and these should project 
forward slightly and include a plinth (base) and capital detail. 
 
 

III. Materials 
 
Window frames, doors, pilasters and fascias must be of timber construction with a 
painted finish and not a stained finish. Stallrisers must be of timber or masonry 
construction.  
 

IV. Paneling 
 
Any timber paneling used in doors, stallrisers, pilasters or other elements of the 
shopfront must comprise a constructional timber panel and must not comprise the 
application of timber beading to a flat timber surface. 
 

V. Fascia 
 

Page 478



 

 

The shopfront design must include a full-width projecting fascia, flanked by the 
pilasters, of height between 350mm and 550mm.  The fascia must include a 
surrounding frame and be topped by a cornice, creating an area for a shop-sign.  
 

VI. Lighting 
 
If lighting is incorporated into the design of the shopfront, then it must comprise 
projecting lighting to create external illumination of the shop sign area, and not 
comprise internal lighting for a transparent shop sign. 
 

VII. Shutters  
 
If shutters and shutter boxes are incorporated into the design, then they must be 
placed internally, behind the shop fascia and window. When in an open position, 
shutters must not block the shop window opening. Shutters must be perforated or 
of such construction so as to allow vision to the interior beyond. 
 

VIII. Canopies 
 
If a canopy is incorporated into the shopfront design, it must be of retractable 
fabric and metal design and must not include projecting external boxes. 

 
 

Conditions 
 

I. The shopfront design must include a shop window, doorway, stallriser, fascia topped by a 
cornice, and pilasters. 

 
II. For development to be permitted by Part 2, the premises must be in commercial use, for 

uses falling within Use Class A1, A2, A3, A4, or A5 of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987, as amended.  

 
III. The shopfront must meet the design parameters set out in Part 2. 

 
IV. The shopfront opening must not be modified, enlarged or made smaller. 

 
 

Limitations 
 
Part 1 does not grant planning permission if the works  include the modification, enlargement or 
making-smaller of the existing shopfront opening.  
 
Part 1 does not grant advertisement consent, listed building consent or any other consents under the 
planning acts. 
 
Part 1 does not grant any consent, permissions or licenses required under non-planning legislation, 
including those under highways, environmental heath, health and safety and building regulations.  
 
 

Page 479



 

 

Responsible Construction 
 
Responsible construction is encouraged, ensuring that installation works take place during normal 
daytime hours only.  

Page 480



 

 

Shopfront Types and Details: 
 

Type 1: Shopfront with Side Doorway Recessed  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Type 2: Shopfront with Side Doorway Flush  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 481



 

 

 

Type 3: Shopfront with Centre Doorway Recessed  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Type 4: Shopfront with Centre Doorway Flush  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 482



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order 

 

Consultation Statement February 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

Page 483



 

2 
 

Contents  

 

Introduction ...........................................................................................................................................3 

Summary of Community Engagement ..................................................................................................3 

Stage 1 - Open Consultation .............................................................................................................4 

Stage 2 - Targeted Consultation .......................................................................................................7 

Stage 3 - Six Weeks Formal Statutory Pre‐Submission Consultation (Regulation 14)......................9 

Conclusions ......................................................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix 1 - Regulation 14 Public Consultation ................................................................................ 12 

Appendix 2 - Statutory and Other Consultees .................................................................................... 14 

Appendix 3 - Comments from Statutory Consultees and Modifications Made ................................. 15 

Appendix 4 - Residents and Consultants Correspondence................................................................. 21 

 

 

   

Page 484



 

3 
 

Introduction 
 

This Consultation Statement summarises the community engagement programme and the 
Regulation 14 consultation that were undertaken for the Biddulph Neighbourhood Development 

Order. The document demonstrates how the requirements of Regulations 14 and 15 of the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 have been satisfied. 

 

Summary of Community Engagement  
 

In 2015, Biddulph Town Council agreed to produce a Neighbourhood Plan for the town of Biddulph.  

The Town Council set up a Working Group comprising Town Councillors and local residents to take 

the process forward. Neighbourhood Planning specialists, Urban Vision Enterprise CIC, were 

appointed to provide professional advice and guidance, and additional consultant support was 

provided through the Locality scheme. 

 

Following an extensive householder survey in 2017/18, the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group 

requested approval from Biddulph Town Council to develop a Neighbourhood Development Order. 

The aspiration was that this would address the issues raised by the community in relation to town 
centre growth.  

 

The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group endeavoured to ensure that the Neighbourhood Plan and 

Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) were viewed as two distinct pieces of work by 
stakeholders and the community. Whilst the two documents complement each other, separate 

events and consultations were completed to ensure that the information gathered was focussed 

and robust for each document.    

 

Through the development of the Neighbourhood Plan a wide range of factual evidence about the 

town had been collated. Following this, the Working Group sought further views and ideas through 

a process of community consultation and engagement, focussing on what people valued about the 
town centre and what they would like to change. 

 

The Working Group agreed to undertake community consultation in three stages: 

 

Stage 1 - Open consultation to find out what people think is good and bad about Biddulph 

town centre, and should be changed. 

 

Stage 2 - Targeted consultation with stakeholders, residents and interest groups to confirm 
the main issues identified, and to test the proposed aims and possible policies that would 

form the basis of the plan. 

 

Stage 3 - Six weeks formal statutory consultation on the draft Neighbourhood 
Development Order. 

 

Each of these stages is considered below. 

 

 

  

Page 485



 

4 
 

Stage 1 – Open Consultation  
  

The purpose of the Stage 1 consultation was to find out what local people think about the town 
centre, building on the information collated as part of the Neighbourhood Plan Householder 

Questionnaire. This document was delivered to 8,000 households in the town; additional copies 

were available at key venues. Responses had to be either posted, hand delivered or completed on 

Survey Monkey before Christmas 2017. There were 1217 responses, representing households not 

just individuals.   

 

The Questionnaire responses highlighted a number of interesting themes with regards to the town 

centre, and this phase of the consultation gave an opportunity to ‘test’ these ideas before any 

plans or proposals were produced. For example: 

 

Q9. Please tell us how important you think the following are:      

 

Answer Choices 
Very 
important Important Neutral 

Not 
important 

Not 
important 
at all Total 

Variety of shops (chains and 
independents) 834 323 36 6 3 1202 

Pubs, restaurants, cafes 384 566 193 43 12 1198 

Monthly market in the High 
Street 262 429 342 98 63 1194 

Weekly fresh food stalls in 
the High Street 299 421 330 102 43 1195 

Improving the look of High 
Street premises 686 378 107 23 4 1198 

Mixed business and 
residential developments 278 450 320 88 41 1177 

Promote home working with 
high speed broadband 379 332 316 84 44 1155 

Off-street parking 557 465 119 17 13 1171 

Maintain local centres (e.g. 
shops and pubs outside the 
main town centre) 450 493 182 41 20 1186 

Establishing a Biddulph 
Museum 165 320 438 176 93 1192 

Having an event space 
outside the Town Hall 187 420 404 121 53 1185 

 

One interesting theme, for example, is that over 1000 respondents felt that it was important or 

very important to improve the look of High Street premises. 

  

Page 486



 

5 
 

In addition, an issue that has repeatedly been considered within the town is: 

  

 
 

Implementation of a pedestrianised zone would necessitate physical changes to the High Street.  

 

The approach to consultation in Stage 1 is widely regarded as good practice, because it enables the 

community to play an integral role in the development of a document that will highlight their 

knowledge of, and aspirations for, their town.  

 

The community and local stakeholders had a number of opportunities to consider the role of the 
town centre and how the spaces within it are used. Below are examples of posters that advertised 

the ‘town tours’, coverage in the local press and a questionnaire that was developed to record 

feedback.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes No

40.00%

45.00%

50.00%

55.00%

60.00%

Do you think Biddulph 
Town Centre should be 

pedestrianised?

Responses

 

 

 

Page 487



 

6 
 

Throughout all stages of  consultation, the Working Group felt it was essential to engage with the 

community in a range of different ways. A Facebook page ‘My Biddulph’, contained relevant 
updates. Information was also added to the www.biddulph.co.uk website and updates were 

published in the printed press. Below is an exert that was placed in the Biddulph Times free 

newspaper, which is delivered to homes across the town.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Biddulph Times, November 2018: 

Dates for the diary 

We invite you to help create a Neighbourhood Development Order. This will guide the development 

of the town centre… 

On Friday 7 December, 10-3pm and Saturday 19 January 2019, 10-2pm we are holding 

consultations in the Town Hall to find out what you think about our proposals in relation to the 

Neighbourhood Development Order and the proposed Local Green Space Designations. Please add 

these dates to your diary tell us what you think! 

 

  

 

 

Page 488

http://www.biddulph.co.uk/


 

7 
 

 

Stage 2 – Targeted Consultation 
 

The purpose of Stage 2 was to consult with stakeholders, residents and interest groups on specific 

details contained in the draft Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) to confirm the main issues 

identified, and to test the proposals. The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group organised two 
periods of consultation, which coincided with consideration of draft Local Green Space 

Designations.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

FREE TEA AND CAKE AT BIDDULPH 

TOWN HALL! 

Friday 7th December 2018, 10 - 3pm 

 

We want to know two things, while you’re 

with us: 

1) What do you like and what would you 

change about the town centre? 

2) What local green spaces are important to 

you? 

This is a drop-in event. There will be a 

further event on Saturday 19th January 

2019, if you are not able to join us this time. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 489



 

8 
 

Following these events, below is a letter that was sent to all town centre traders, inviting them to a 

session where they could discuss their aspirations with regard to the development of the town 

centre. This was hand-delivered by volunteers to each premises, allowing the opportunity to 

discuss the content of the session in advance. 

 

 

  

Page 490



 

9 
 

Stage 3 – Six Weeks Formal Statutory Pre‐Submission 

Consultation (Regulation 14) 
 

A press release setting out the Regulation 14 consultation arrangements was circulated locally to 

online, printed and radio news outlets.  It contained the following information: 

 

Biddulph residents, supported by Biddulph Town Council, are undertaking the formal 

presubmission consultation of the draft Neighbourhood Development Order for Biddulph.   

 

Consultation will run from Monday 23 September, midday to Monday 4 November, midday. 

 

This is a six-week statutory consultation period and we welcome comments on the draft 

documents.  

 

To view the documents, hard copies together with consultation forms can be found at the 

following locations:  

• Biddulph Moor Post Office 

• Biddulph Town Hall  

• Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre  

• Biddulph Doctors  

• Biddulph Valley Doctors   

• Brown Lees Post Office  

• Flavours, Smithy Lane  

• Biddulph Library  

  

An electronic copy is also available to view online or download at 

http://biddulph.co.uk/neighbourhood-development-order/ together with a downloadable 

consultation form.    

  

Biddulph residents, supported by Biddulph Town Council, will also be at the following 

community events and markets where the plan can also be viewed:  

• Saturday 28 September, 10-2pm Biddulph Town Hall  

• Friday 4 October, 11-2pm  and Friday 1 November, 11-2pm Biddulph Artisan Market 

(town centre)  

• Saturday 5 October, 10-2pm Biddulph Town Hall (part of the ‘Ethical Fair’)  

• Sunday 6 October, 11-2pm Biddulph Youth and Community Zone (part of ‘Staged: Theatre 

for the Ages’ event)  

 

We want to hear from you, please give your views on any of the policies in the draft Plan 

and any other comments you would like to make.   

 

Posters and flyers were also produced for display and circulation around the town. 

 

A list of statutory consultees was requested from, and supplied by, Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council.  Each of these was individually approached either by letter or email according to the 

preference expressed in the list supplied by the District Council.  A full list of these statutory 

consultees in included at Appendix 2. 

Page 491

http://biddulph.co.uk/neighbourhood-development-order/


 

10 
 

 

Responses to the consultation were logged by Biddulph Town Council and analysed by Urban 
Vision.  The Neighbourhood Plan Working Group considered the responses and determined the 

changes required to the Order. 

 

A summary of responses from statutory consultees have been included in Appendix 3, together 
with the comments of the Working Group and the agreed modifications to the plan. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 492



 

11 
 

Conclusions 
  

The Town Council and the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group have been pleased with both the 
support received from residents for production of the Neighbourhood Development Order, and the 

overwhelming number of positive comments received during consultations.  Comments have been 

constructive and have enabled the Order to be refined to a point where the Working Group believe 

that it will meet the needs of the area and its residents for years to come.  

  

The production of a Neighbourhood Development Order alongside a Neighbourhood Plan has been 

well supported by Locality, and has received praise nationally as being ‘pioneering’. The Working 

Group remain dedicated to ensuring that the needs of the community are represented within this 

document and its implementation, and are hopeful that there will be a positive outcome in terms 

of sustainability of the town centre going forward.  

 

 

Page 493



 

12 
 

Appendix 1 - Regulation 14 Public Consultation  
 

Publicity/ Press Releases:  

 

• Biddulph Chronicle  

• Biddulph Times 

• Radio Stations: Signal 1; BBC Radio Stoke; Moorlands Radio 

• Sentinel 

 

Publicity/ Posters:  

 

• All Biddulph Town notice boards and those in the villages 

• All Schools 

• All venues where a hard copy is available to view/comment on 

• Biddulph Bowling Club 

• Biddulph Grange Country Park 

• Biddulph Moor Post Office 

• Biddulph Moor Village Hall 

• Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre 

• Biddulph Valley Surgery  

• Chemists 

• Churches 

• Dentists 

• Fire Station 

• Gillow Heath Recreation Ground  

• Greenway Bank Country Park  

• Home Bargains 

• Knypersley Sports Club 

• Library 

• Mailing list to Groups and Organisations (WI, U3A, Youth Centre) 

• Nursery 

• Petrol Stations  

• Pubs 

• Sainsburys  

• Vets 

 

 

Publicity/ Website:  

 

• Biddulph Town Council  

• Social Media 

• Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

 

 

  

Page 494



 

13 
 

Publicity/ Direct Engagement:  

 

• Saturday 28 September, 10-2pm Biddulph Town Hall  

• Friday 4 October, 11-2pm  and Friday 1 November, 11-2pm Biddulph Artisan Market (town 

centre)  

• Saturday 5 October, 10-2pm Biddulph Town Hall (part of the ‘Ethical Fair’)  

• Sunday 6 October, 11-2pm Biddulph Youth and Community Zone (part of ‘Staged: Theatre 

for the Ages’ event)  

 

 

Publicity/ Hard Copy Plan Locations:  

 

• Biddulph Moor Post Office 

• Biddulph Town Hall 

• Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre 

• Biddulph Doctors 

• Biddulph Valley Doctors  

• Brown Lees Post Office 

• Flavours, Smithy Lane 

• Biddulph Library 
 

 

 

  

Page 495



 

14 
 

Appendix 2  Statutory and Other Consultees    
 

As part of the pre-submission (Regulation 14) consultation, the following bodies were individually 
contacted and asked for their comments:  

 

The Coal Authority 

Sport England 

Natural England 

Highways England 

Network Rail 

Historic England 

National Grid 

Seven Trent 

United Utilities 

Environment Agency 

Homes England 

Marine Management 

Canal and River Trust 

Western Power 

Office of Rail and Road 

Amec FW 

Staffordshire County Council  

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

Town and Parish Councils  

East Staffs Borough Council 

Peak District 

Stoke-on-Trent City Council 

Newcastle Borough Council 

Stafford Borough Council 

Cheshire East Council 

Derbyshire Dales 

 

Stoke on Trent and Staffordshire LEP  

Local Nature Partnership 

North Staffs CCG 

Healthwatch 

Support Staffordshire 

 

Residents/ Community Associations and local voluntary sector organisations.  

Page 496



 

15 
 

Appendix 3 Comments from Statutory Consultees and Modifications Made  
 

National and Statutory Bodies 
 
Natural England Letter 14th October 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDO 

Natural England does not have any specific comments on the draft Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan, or the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order. 
However, we refer you to the attached annex which covers the issues and opportunities 
that should be considered when preparing a Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

General comments 
noted. 

No action required.  
 

 
Historic England Letter 31st October 2019 
 

Comments and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested Modification 
for the NDO 

Historic England has no adverse comments to make upon the draft plan which we feel 
takes a suitably proportionate approach to the main historic environment issues 
pertaining to Biddulph. We commend the commitment in the Plans Vision, objectives 
and policies to support well designed locally distinctive development that is sympathetic 
to the character of the area including its rural landscape character, views and green 
spaces. The Neighbourhood Development Order also promises to make a positive 
contribution to the future viability and vibrancy of the High Street. Beyond those 
observations we have no further substantive comments to make. I hope you find this 
advice helpful.  

General comments 
noted. 

No action required.  
 

P
age 497



 

16 
 

 
Local Authorities and Parish Councils 
 

Staffordshire County Council Letter 25th October 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested 
Modification 
for the NDO 

 
NB: This was an extensive representation which included general commentary 
and more detailed comments on the NDP policies.  Please refer to the 
consultation response for details.    
  

 

There were no specific comments 
related to the NDO.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

No action 
required.  
 

  

 
 
 
  

P
age 498



 

17 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Letter 4th November 2019 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested 
Modification 
for the NDP 

Part 1 – Use of Upper Floors for Business Purposes 
Condition II – ‘significant nuisance’ phrases like this need to be interpreted by 
the public and planning professionals .  More clarity is required to ensure that 
details are not misinterpreted. There is less scope for subjectivity in permitted 
development than in the application of policy.  
 
Condition III – This does not read as a conventional planning condition (e.g. 
setting out details such as materials to be used, working hours on site etc.).  The 
wording is difficult to understand. In this instance, the condition reads more like 
a statement of fact in respect of A2 use (i.e. A2 is not B1).  In relation to light 
industry,  this could end up immediately adjacent to residential on an upper floor 
along a terraced row.  Does condition II adequately cover this scenario?  What 
about deliveries? Notwithstanding the fact that B1c uses should not cause 
detriment to residential amenity,  is there an increased risk of such issues arising 
by including B1c in the NDO? 
 

Condition II - The need for there to 
be no significant nuisance could 
only be judged after the change of 
use had occurred, and would need 
a judgment to be made. In the 
interests of clarity, delete 
condition. 
 
Condition III – this is included as 
explanation only, so is not 
required.  
 
B1 refers to uses that can take 
place in a residential area. The area 
is commercial in nature.  

Conditions II 
and III have 
been deleted. 

Part 2: Replacement of Shop Fronts 
Understanding of the issue the Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO) is 
seeking to address is key.  Having reviewed the Design Codes Report undertaken 
for the Town Council by AECOM, it covers shopfronts and a number of other 
public realm type issues.  Is there a particular reason why shopfronts are being 
addressed through the NDO?  Is this an issue which is not satisfactorily being 
addressed through the current planning applications process?  It is suggested 
that some explanatory text is included in the introduction to the NDO to give an 
indication of the problem / issue the NDO will address. 

 
These comments appear to 
misunderstand the situation. The 
NDO is simplifying the process by 
removing the need for a planning 
application.  
 
There are few surviving historic 
shopfronts, and most shopfronts 

  
No action 

P
age 499



 

18 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested 
Modification 
for the NDP 

 
It is agreed that the Askey & Sutcliffe shopfront used in the AECOM work (p.52) 
is an example of a good period shop front.  However, a review of all existing 
shopfronts within the NDO application boundary is needed to assess which are 
good examples that should be retained and why (both historic and modern) and 
which would benefit from improvements.  Does the NDO as drafted increase the 
risk that existing high quality shop fronts could be lost? 
 

date from the later 20th century. So 
low risk of loss. The area is not a 
conservation area, though 
designation should be considered.  

 
The wording contained within the NDO is vague and open to interpretation and 
this will create problems when it is being used e.g.  

• Permitted development needs to be written in a way that the public and 

case officers can understand without the need for interpretation, for 

example:  “new shop fronts will be permitted unless: (insert criteria)”. 

• The enforcement of unauthorised shopfronts also requires consideration 

when writing the NDO as this cannot successfully be undertaken without 

precise wording. 

• Without clarity, unintended consequences could occur by leading to the 

replacement of good quality shopfronts with worse ones as occupiers 

change. 

Examples of unclear wording are: 

• Definition of lighting – it needs to be more precise as to the type of 

external lighting – for example a rash of swan neck lights may not be 

desirable. 

 
The structure and terminology are 
influenced by The Town and 
Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015. 
 
Minor changes can be made to the 
wording for clarity.  
 
The definitions can be updated for 
clarity.  
 
There is no need to include colours 
– shopfronts can be painted 
without consent.  
 

 
The definitions 
have been 
updated, for 
clarity.  
 
The 
requirements 
for shutters,  
canopies, 
pilasters and 
cornice have 
been clarified.  
 
Metal has been 
removed as a 
stallriser 
material.  
 

P
age 500



 

19 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested 
Modification 
for the NDP 

• Definition of shutters – precise wording is required to avoid the risk 

of external shutters being used.  “They must be placed internally 

behind the shop front” – inside of the glass? Recessed?  What level 

of perforation?  All of these details make a difference to the 

appearance of the shop front. 

• Definition of canopies – need to be more precise or this could result 

in bolt-on awning boxes. 

• Shopfront colours do not appear to be covered. 

• Definition of fascia – It is recommended that the Fascia board 

should be within the shopfront not above it and contained by the 

pilasters.  A 550mm fascia is very deep and could be 

disproportionately deep on a small shopfront.  It states that the 

fascia board should be timber but what about the signage to be 

placed on it? 

• Stallrisers could also be of self-coloured render.   Query whether 

metal stallrisers exist?  It is advised that the stallriser should be 

contained within the pilasters and the height of the plinth should 

line up with the stallriser. 

• It is advised that the pilasters should project slightly and have a 

plinth, upper section lining up with the fascia and cornice above. 

• It is advised that the shopfront should have a defined upper edge 

marked by a projecting, moulded cornice. 

 

Metal is used for some historic 
stallrisers, but can be removed 
from the NDO for clarity.   

P
age 501



 

20 
 

Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested 
Modification 
for the NDP 

 
The diagrams included in the document are more detailed than the wording and 
the user would be unsure as to which apply.  This needs to be made clear.  
Council officers could discuss technical details if required. 
 
An alternative way to cover shop front design would be to include a policy in 
the Neighbourhood Plan.  This would enable the Town Council and others to 
still have the opportunity to comment on a proposal whereas including it as 
permitted development would not. 
 

 
The wording grants planning 
permission. The diagrams are 
compatible with the diagrams. 
 
The purpose is to remove the 
requirement for a planning 
application for those wishing to 
reinstate more appropriate shop 
fronts.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Some updates 
to wording for 
clarity, as 
described 
previously.  
 

  
 

 
  

P
age 502



 

21 
 

Appendix 4 Residents and Consultants Correspondence 
 

 
Representations and Suggested Amendments Comments Suggested 

Modification 
for the NDO 

10 Survey Monkey responses were received. Comments were positive: 
 
‘By creating more use of the buildings you could create a more vibrant atmosphere’. 
‘We have some very interesting shop front designs when you actually look up.’ 
‘This is a reasonable length of time as it gives a chance to see which parts work and which parts don’t and then it can 
be reviewed’. 
‘Empty floors in buildings do not look good’. 
 
People took the opportunity to raise other issues as part of this consultation: 
‘Sainsbury’s has current vacant premises with high rents, which is a problem. Biddulph High Street ought to keep its 
specialist businesses for many years to come.’ 
And, 
‘The town centre is uninviting, uninspiring and difficult to get into if you are new to the area’. 
 

No action 
required.  
 

  

 
 

 

P
age 503



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Urban Vision Enterprise CIC 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order 
Basic Conditions Statement  
January 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 505



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

2 

Contents 
 
1.	 Introduction .................................................................................. 3	

2.	 Meeting the Basic Conditions ........................................................ 4	
2.1	 The Basic Conditions .......................................................................................... 4	
2.2	 Regard to National Policy .................................................................................. 4	
2.3	 Achieving Sustainable Development .................................................................. 5	
2.4	 General Conformity with Strategic Local Policy .................................................. 5	
2.5	 Listed Buildings ................................................................................................. 6	
2.6	 Conservation Areas ........................................................................................... 6	
2.7	 Compatible with EU Obligations ........................................................................ 6	
2.8	 Human Rights .................................................................................................... 7	

Appendices .......................................................................................... 8	
Appendix 1 - HRA Screening Outcome ............................................................................ 8	
Appendix 2 - Equalities Assessment ............................................................................... 9	

 
 
 
  

Page 506



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

3 

1. Introduction 
 

This is a ‘Basic Conditions Statement’, prepared to accompany the submission of the 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO).  
 
The NDO has been prepared by Biddulph Town Council, the qualifying body. 
 
The NDO includes a statement that it will be in effect for 4 years. 
 
The NDO relates to an area that forms part of, and is entirely within, the Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Area.  
 
This statement sets out how the NDO meets the basic conditions.  
 

 

  

Page 507



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

4 

2. Meeting the Basic Conditions  
 

2.1 The Basic Conditions 
 

The Basic Conditions that NDOs must meet are: 
 

• Have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State;  

• Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;  
• Be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 

development plan for the area of the authority;  
• Not breach and be compatible with EU obligations;  
• Have special regard to the desirability of preserving any listed building or its 

setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest that it 
possesses; and  

• Have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of any conservation area. 

 
In addition, Paragraph 33 and Schedule 3 (2) of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012, as amended, specifies an additional basic condition for 
NDOs.  
 

• Where the development described in an order proposal is EIA development, 
having regard to all material considerations, it is appropriate that the 
neighbourhood development order is made.  

 
2.2 Regard to National Policy 
 

The NDO has been prepared against the context of national policy and guidance, in 
particular the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) and National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).  

 
Paragraphs 125 and 126 of the NPPF state: 
 

125. Plans should, at the most appropriate level, set out a clear design vision 
and expectations, so that applicants have as much certainty as possible about 
what is likely to be acceptable. Design policies should be developed with local 
communities so they reflect local aspirations, and are grounded in an 
understanding and evaluation of each area’s defining characteristics. 
Neighbourhood plans can play an important role in identifying the special 
qualities of each area and explaining how this should be reflected in 
development. 
 
126. To provide maximum clarity about design expectations at an early stage, 
plans or supplementary planning documents should use visual tools such as 
design guides and codes. These provide a framework for creating distinctive 
places, with a consistent and high quality standard of design. However their 
level of detail and degree of prescription should be tailored to the 

Page 508



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

5 

circumstances in each place, and should allow a suitable degree of variety 
where this would be justified.  

 
This is an NDO rather than a plan, but it does include a clear design code for shop 
fronts and makes expectations clear (Development permitted by Part 1 of the NDO). 
The improvement of the appearance of the Town Centre forms part of a wider 
strategy to improve its appearance and make it more attractive to shoppers, 
businesses and investors.  
 
The NDO has regard to national policy and guidance.  
 

 

2.3 Achieving Sustainable Development   
 
The NDO enables the installation of better quality shopfronts. This will improve the 
environment of the town, helping to attract more people to use or invest in the 
town.  
 
The NDO therefore supports sustainable development by supporting the adaptation 
of the high street and improving the environment.  

 
 

2.4 General Conformity with Strategic Local Policy   
 

The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (adopted September 2020) includes the 
following spatial objective: 

 
SO8. To promote local distinctiveness by means of good design and the 
conservation, protection and enhancement of historic, environmental and 
cultural assets throughout the District.  
 

 
By enabling the installation of shop fronts in accordance with design parameters, the 
NDO helps in achieving Spatial Objective SO8.   
 
Policy TCR1 - Development in the Town Centres states to support the vitality and 
viability of town centres it is: 
  

Setting out design principles to improve and enhance the distinctive heritage 
of the town centres…    

 
The Biddulph Town Centre Area Action Plan (adopted February 2007) includes aims 
for: 

4. A high quality, well designed, safe and integrated centre  
 

The NDO addresses these, in the same way it addresses Spatial Objective SO8.  
 
The NDO is compatible with and does nothing to undermine the spatial strategy set 
out by the Local Plan.  
 

Page 509



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

6 

The NDO is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Staffordshire 
Moorlands Local Plan (adopted September 2020).  Strategic local policies relevant to 
the Biddulph NDO are as follows:  

• SS1 Development Principles 
• SS6 - Biddulph Area Strategy 

These policies are considered in detail below:  
 
SS1 Development Principles: 
The NDO responds to the development principles informing the design and 
sustainability of development.  The NDO supports an attractive, well-designed and 
well-maintained environment.   

 
SS6 - Biddulph Area Strategy: 
The Area Strategy sets out a positive area strategy in which the NDO is built on the 
principle of supporting improvement of the streetscape of the town centre.  The 
NDO also focuses on upgrading the general environment by supporting the 
retention or the reinstatement of historic shopfronts.  
 

 

2.5 Listed Buildings  
 

The installation of new shopfronts requires compliance with design parameters. This 
ensures that new shopfronts allowed would enhance the street frontage. The NDO 
has the potential to enhance the setting of listed buildings.  

 
 

2.6 Conservation Areas 
 

 No part of the NDO area or the wider Neighbourhood Area is designated as a 
conservation area. None of the land flanking the Neighbourhood Area is designated 
as a conservation area.  

 
 

2.7 Compatible with EU Obligations  
 

The NDO has no effect on any European Sites. Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council has screened the NDO for HRA and confirmed that it is not required.  
 
The NDO does not fall within any of the categories of development specified in 
Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (Environment Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017. 
 
Therefore, the NDO is compatible with EU obligations (or equivalent obligations if 
the UK leaves the European Union). 
 

Page 510



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

7 

Given that the NDO does not permit EIA development, it meets the requirements of 
the additional basic condition under Paragraph 33 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012. 

 
 

2.8 Human Rights 
 

The NDO process has included a programme of community engagement activities, 
including with local businesses.  Further details can be found in the Consultation 
Statement.  
 
An equalities assessment has been undertaken and has been included in Appendix 2.  
It has indicated that the impact of the plan on protected characteristics is either 
neutral or positive.   
 
 

 
 
   

Page 511



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

8 

Appendices   
 

Appendix 1 - HRA Screening Outcome 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 512



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

9 

Appendix 2 - Equalities Assessment  
 

Legal Requirements  
 
The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on all public authorities in the exercise of their functions 
to have regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, to advance equality of opportunity, 
and to foster good relations between persons who have a “protected characteristic” and 
those who do not. Protected characteristics are defined in the Equality Act as age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation. 
 
An Equalities Assessment is a systematic analysis to scrutinise the potential for an adverse 
impact on a particular group or community, in particularly those with a protected 
characteristic.   
 
An assessment has been made on whether the NDO has a positive, negative or neutral 
impact on each of the protected characteristics. If the impact is negative, this is given a high, 
medium or low assessment. The following table describes these: 
 
 

Impact Description 
High A significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no 

mitigating measures in place etc. 
 

Medium Some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, 
poor evidence. 
 

Low Almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much 
legislation-led. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 513



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

10 

General Population Characteristics 
 
Sourced from the 2011 Census key statistics the following table illustrates the age structure 
of the Parish residents.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(Source: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea?compare=E04009025, accessed 2nd 
January 2020) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 514



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

11 

Sourced from the 2011 Census key statistics the following table illustrates the Ethnic Groups 
who live in the Parish. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There are no statistics available on other protected characteristics. 
 
(Source: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea?compare=E04009025, accessed 2nd 
January 2020) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 515



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

12 

Impact on Protected Characteristics 
 
Age 
 
The NDO supports the reinstatement of shopfronts, which will create a better environment 
and more attractive town for all. 
 
The impact on all ages will be positive or neutral. 
 
 
Disability 
 
The needs of persons who are disabled or who have limited mobility are addressed with the 
shop front designs, which seek to create well-designed and accessible environments.  
 
The impact on people with disabilities will be positive or neutral. 
 
 
Maternity and Pregnancy 
 
Key issues for women who are pregnant or have young children are access to appropriate 
housing, flexible employment, and community facilities. New shopfronts can provide more 
level access. 
 
The impact on pregnant women will be positive or neutral. 
 
 
Race 
 
A very small proportion of the population of Biddulph are from non-white ethnic groups.  
 
For the most part, the NDO will have an equal impact on the local population regardless of 
race.  The NDO seeks to create an enhanced town centre environment.  
 
The impact will be positive on people of all races. 
 
 
Sex (Gender) 
 
The NDO contains no specific policies or proposals for any particular gender.  
 
No gender is disadvantaged by any of the policies and proposals in the NDO.  People will 
benefit equally from the implementation of the NDO. This includes people with prams or 
pushchairs, who may access the ground floor shops. 
 
The impact will be positive for all genders. 
 

Page 516



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

13 

 
Religion, Gender Re-assignment, Sexual orientation 
 
Key issues for religious groups are discrimination relating to employment, housing and the 
provision of services.   
 
Key issues for gender re-assigned people, gays and lesbians are personal relationships, 
transphobia and/or discrimination, and hate crime. 
 
The NDO does not and cannot directly address the social attitudes that underpin hate 
crimes. However, it does seek to provide a built environment with a safe public realm for all. 
 
The impact will be positive on all people, regardless of religion or LGBT+ status. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
The NDO provides a strategy for the sustainable development of the Biddulph Town Centre.   
The development proposed will result in positive benefits for many parts of the local 
community with protected characteristics.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 517



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

14 

Contact 
 
 

 
 
 
Urban Vision Enterprise CIC 
 
www.uvecic.co.uk  
info@uvecic.co.uk  
01538 386221  
 
 
North Staffordshire Office:  
 
Foxlowe Arts Centre (1st Floor) 
Stockwell Street 
Leek 
Staffordshire 
ST13 6AD 
 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
  

 
  

Page 518



Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Basic Conditions Statement 
 

15 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 519



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Plan 1 – The Area of Application of the Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order (NDO)  
Not To Scale  
All buildings within the green line are included in the NDO Area. 

Page 521



This page is intentionally left blank



Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats
Regulations Assessment

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Page 523



41 Introduction

62 Legislative background

83 Methodology

134 Assessment

165 Conclusions

186 Consultation

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 524



Introduction

3Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 525



1 Introduction

1.1 Biddulph Town Council has prepared a draft Neighbourhood Development Order for
Biddulph town centre. The Order is a response to the analysis of outcomes from community
engagement and gathering of local evidence. The intention is to support the regeneration
and economic development of Biddulph town centre.

1.2 The draft Order accompanies a draft Neighbourhood Plan that has been prepared
alongside it.

1.3 Following determination as to whether Habitats Regulations Assessment of the draft
Order is required, the Neighbourhood Development Order will be subject to a period of
"pre-submission" public consultation. Following this consultation, the Town Council will
prepare to submit the draft Order to the District Council in order that it might proceed to
independent examination and subsequent referendum.

1.4 Only a draft Neighbourhood Plan or Order that meets each of a set of basic conditions
can be put to a referendum and be "made" (adopted). The basic conditions are set out in
paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

1.5 The District Council will need to be satisfied that the basic conditions have been met.
A Neighbourhood Plan or Order must:

have regard to national policy and guidance;
have special regard to listed buildings (this applies only to Orders);
have special regard to conservation areas (this also applies only to Orders);
contribute to sustainable development;
be in general conformity with strategic policies in the development plan;
not breach EU obligations.
comply with other prescribed matters.(1)

1.6 Biddulph Town Council will be required to prepare a Basic Conditions Statement
alongside the submitted Order, in order to demonstrate how the Neighbourhood Development
Order meets the basic conditions set out above.

1 Regulations 32 and 33 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) prescribe 2 basic
conditions in addition to those set out in the primary legislation. These are (1) that the making of a Neighbourhood Plan
does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017;
and (2) having regard to all material considerations, it is appropriate that a Neighbourhood Development Order is made
where the development described in an Order is Environmental Impact Assessment development.

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 20194

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 526



Legislative background

5Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 527



2 Legislative background

2.1 Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and wild flora and fauna,
commonly known as the "Habitats Directive", provides for the protection of habitats and
species of European Community importance. Article 2 of the Directive requires the
maintenance (or restoration), at favourable conservation status, of habitats and species of
European Community interest. This is partly implemented through a network of protected
areas referred to as "Natura 2000 sites" (N2K), or "European sites", consisting of:

Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) - designated under the Habitats Directive(2); and
Special Protection Areas (SPAs) - designated under the Wild Birds Directive(3).

2.2 "Ramsar sites", designated under the Ramsar Convention 1971, are treated by UK
Government policy as if they were European sites in terms of the protection andmanagement
afforded to them. They should be included in assessment, where relevant.

2.3 Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive requires that:

“Any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the management of
the site but likely to have a significant effect thereon, either individually or in combination
with other plans or projects, shall be subject to appropriate assessment of its
implications for the site in view of the site's conservation objectives.”

2.4 This requirement is implemented in domestic English law through: The Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, with Regulation 102 setting out the obligations
of the Directive’s Article 6 placed upon local plan making authorities:

(1) Where a land use plan –

(a) is likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore
marine site (either alone or in combination) with other plans or projects), and

(b) is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site,

the plan-making authority must, before the plan is given effect, make an appropriate
assessment of the implications for the site in view of that site’s conservation objectives.

(4) In the light of the conclusions of the assessment, and subject to regulation 103
(considerations of imperative reasons of overriding public interest), the plan-making
authority… must give effect to the land use plan only after having ascertained that it
will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site or the offshore European
marine site (as the case may be).

2.5 Undertaking of these particular requirements is termed a "Habitats Regulations
Assessment" (HRA).

2.6 The purpose of an HRA is to assess the significance of potential impacts of a plan on
relevant European sites. The assessment should determine whether the plan would adversely
affect the integrity of the site in terms of its nature conservation objectives. Where negative
effects are identified, other options should be examined to avoid any potential for damaging
effects.

2 Council Directive 94/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (the Habitats Directive)
3 Council Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds. The "Wild Birds" Directive.

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 20196

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 528



Methodology

7Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 529



3 Methodology

3.1 An outline of the overall HRA process in accordance with current guidance(4) is set
out below.

Stage 1: Screening for likely significant effects

Identify European sites that should be considered in the assessment.
Gather information about the European sites.
Discretionary consultation with statutory nature conservation body (Natural England
for England) on the list of European sites, method and scope of screening.
Screen the plan for likely significant effects (LSEs) on a European site, including
the potential for effects in combination with other plans or programmes.
Consider potential for the application of mitigation measures, in order to avoid
potential effects.
Re-screen the plan after mitigation measures applied; and
Prepare a draft record of the HRA (Screening Report).

3.2 If, on the basis of objective information, it can be determined that there will be no
significant effects on any European sites, then the HRA process may stop here.

3.3 If significant effects cannot be ruled out (applying the precautionary principle), then
the effect must be reported as likely, and the HRA must progress to Stage 2: Appropriate
Assessment (AA).

Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment

Undertake an appropriate assessment in view of the conservation objectives of
the European site(s).
Apply mitigation measures until there is no adverse effect on site integrity.
Consult Natural England (and other stakeholders and the public if appropriate) on
the HRA.
Screen any amendments for likelihood of significant effects and carry out
appropriate assessment if required.
Re-consult Natural England if necessary on amendments; and
Complete and publish final HRA Report.

3.4 Should the situation arise where there were no alternative solutions and adverse
impacts remain, then the plan could only proceed if it meets the test of Imperative Reasons
of Overriding Public Interest (IROPI test), and all necessary compensatory measures are
secured. However, it should be noted that the guidance states that this should only be
undertaken in exceptional circumstances.

4 Habitats Regulations Appraisal of Plans: Guidance for plan-making bodies in Scotland v2.0 (David Tyldesley and
Associates; August 2012). Note although this guidance was originally prepared for Scottish Natural Heritage it is
recognised as an authoritative source of guidance throughout the UK; and European Commission: ‘Assessment of plans
and projects significantly affecting Natura 2000 sites: Methodological guidance on the provisions of Article 6(3) and (4)
of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC’ (European Communities, 2002)

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 20198

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 530



3.5 The HRA process is iterative and should be re-visited as policies develop, in response
to consultation, and as more information becomes available.

HRA of the emerging SMDC Local Plan

3.6 The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan has been subjected to Habitats
Regulations Assessment as part of the plan preparation process. A report of the HRA findings
can be found at:

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/2878/
Habitats-Regulations-Assessment---Submission-Version-Feb-2018/pdf/
HRA_Submission_Version_Local_Plan_February_2018.pdf

3.7 HRA screening of the Local Plan Preferred Options policies in December 2016 and
June 2017 identified a number of Likely Significant Effects in relation to the following:

Effects from increased water demand on the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 Special
Protection Area (SPA) and Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Peak District Dales
SAC;
Effects from increased traffic on air quality on the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA
and SAC and Peak District Dales SAC;
Increased recreational pressure on the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA and SAC
and Peak District Dales SAC; and
Urban effects on the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA and SAC and Peak District
Dales SAC.

3.8 The Appropriate Assessment stage of HRA was undertaken to evaluate the potential
for the "screened in" Local Plan policies to result in adverse effects on the European sites
as listed above. Various mitigation measures were subsequently proposed and these were
incorporated into the emerging Local Plan.

3.9 On the basis of the revised Local Plan with mitigation in place, it has been concluded
that the Submission Local Plan will not result in adverse effects on European sites, both
alone and in combination with growth in neighbouring areas. This conclusion is supported
by Natural England as confirmed in the Addendum to the HRA Report, dated June 2018:

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/3327/
Habitats-Regulations-Assessment-Local-Plan-Submission-version-
Addendum/pdf/7.3_HRA_Report_Submission_Version_
Local_Plan_Addendum_June_2018.pdf

Zones of influence

3.10 The HRA of the emerging SMDC Local Plan provides guidance as to when a
development proposal may require project level HRA because of the risk of impact on a
European site.

3.11 This guidance states that any proposed development within a 2km zone around the
South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA should be expected to undertake a project-level HRA
to ensure no potential adverse effects on the SPA or land that is functionally connected to
it. This zone of influence is mapped and illustrated at Map 1 below.

9Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 531



3.12 In addition, any development proposed within a 500m zone of the Peak District Dales
SAC, the South Pennine Moors SAC and the South Pennine Moors Phase 1 SPA should
be subject to a project-level HRA to ensure no potential adverse effects occur from cat
predation, fires or other urban effects. The 500m zone of influence is also mapped and
illustrated at Map 1.

3.13 The Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan Area, including the area of application of the
Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order, is approximately 10 km beyond the zones of
influence.

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 201910

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 532



South Pennine Moors SAC

Peak District Dales

Peak District Dales

Midland Meres and Mosses Phase 1

Peak District Dales

Peak District Dales

South Pennine Moors SAC

Peak District Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1)

Midland Meres and Mosses Phase 2

0 105 Kilometres

±
Reproduced from Ordnance Survey map data by permission of Ordnance Survey, © 

Crown copyright. EAD OS Licence 100046104 

Staffordshire Moorland District 
Council

Staffordshire Moorland HRA

European Sites Plan With Impact Zones

Date: 19/07/2017

500m zone around Peak District Dales www.eadecology.co.ukand South Pennine Moors SAC - any
development proposed in this zone
would require a HRA to ensure no
potential adverse effects from cat
predation, fires and other urban effects

Key

District Boundary
Local Plan Area
Ramsar sites
SPA sites

SAC sites

2km zone around Peak District Moors
(South Pennine Moors Phase 1) SPA -
any development proposed in this zone 
would require a HRA Screening to en-
sure no potential adverse effects on the 
SPA or land that is functionally con-
nected to it

Map 3.1 Zones of influence around European sites where proposals require HRA

11Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 533



Assessment

12Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 534



4 Assessment

4.1 The table below presents a Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening for the
provisions of the draft Neighbourhood Development Order - Biddulph Town Centre.

13Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 535



Li
ke
ly
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ef
fe
ct

on
Eu

ro
pe

an
si
te

In
ac
co

rd
an

ce
w
ith

em
er
gi
ng

St
af
fo
rd
sh

ire
M
oo

rla
nd

s
Lo

ca
l

Pl
an

?

C
om

m
en

t
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tp
er
m
itt
ed

Pa
rt
of

O
rd
er

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt
ef
fe
ct

Ye
s

Th
is
w
ill
su
pp

or
te

ffi
ci
en

tu
se

of
re
so
ur
ce
s
by

re
-u
si
ng

ex
is
tin
g

Su
bj
ec
tt
o
co
nd

iti
on

s
an

d
lim

ita
tio
ns

be
in
g

m
et
,c
ha

ng
e
of

us
e
of

th
e
up

pe
rf
lo
or
s
of

P
ar
t1

:U
se

of
U
pp

er
Fl
oo

rs
fo
rB

us
in
es
s

P
ur
po

se
s

un
its

an
d
bu

ild
in
gs

an
d
w
ill
he

lp
co
m
m
er
ci
al
pr
op

er
tie
s
to

an
y
pu

rp
os
e

fa
lli
ng

w
ith
in
U
se

C
la
ss

B
1
(B
us
in
es
s)
.

to
su
pp

or
ts
us
ta
in
ab

le
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to
ft
he

to
w
n
ce
nt
re
.

N
o
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt
ef
fe
ct

Ye
s

Th
is
w
ill
he

lp
to

su
pp

or
t

re
ge

ne
ra
tio
n
of

th
e
to
w
n
ce
nt
re
.

Th
e
re
pl
ac
em

en
to

fa
sh
op

fro
nt

in
an

ex
is
tin
g
op

en
in
g
on

th
e
gr
ou

nd
flo
or

fro
nt
ag

e
of

co
m
m
er
ci
al
pr
em

is
es
,

pr
ov
id
in
g
th
e
ne

w
sh
op

fro
nt

m
ee

ts
sp
ec
ifi
ed

de
si
gn

pa
ra
m
et
er
s.

P
ar
t2

:

R
ep

la
ce
m
en

to
f

sh
op

fro
nt
s

Ta
bl
e
4.
1
H
R
A
Sc

re
en

in
g
A
ss
es
sm

en
tf
or

th
e
dr
af
tN

ei
gh

bo
ur
ho

od
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tO
rd
er

-B
id
du

lp
h
To

w
n
C
en

tr
e

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 201914

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 536



Conclusions

15Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 537



5 Conclusions

5.1 Emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Policy NE 1 Biodiversity and Geological
Resources provides protection for European sites. The Policy includes the following provision:

The biodiversity and geological resources of the District and neighbouring areas will be
conserved and enhanced by positive management and strict control of development
(and having regard to relevant ecological evidence) by:

1. Resisting any proposed development that could have an adverse effect on the integrity
of a European site (or successor designation) alone or in combination with other plans
or projects unless it can be demonstrated that the legislative provisions to protect such
sites can be fully met. Any development with a potential to adversely affect a European
site/s through construction activities should ensure that Ciria construction guidelines
are followed including environmental good practice on control of dust and water pollution.

5.2 The HRA undertaken of the emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan concluded
that the Submission Local Plan will not result in adverse effects on European sites, both
alone and in combination with growth in neighbouring areas.

5.3 As a result of the assessment set out in section 4 of this report, it is considered unlikely
that any significant environmental effects will occur as a result of the implementation of
proposals set out in the draft Neighbourhood Development Order - Biddulph Town Centre.

HRA Stage 1 Screening Outcome

5.4 The draft Neighbourhood Development Order - Biddulph Town Centre does not require
further HRA work to be undertaken.

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 201916

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 538



Consultation

17Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 2019

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 539



6 Consultation

6.1 Prior to a determination being made, this screening report has been sent to Natural
England to seek their opinion.

6.2 Natural England's screening opinion has been added to this screening report, before
a statement of reasons for the determination is prepared and published.

 

Date: 22 July 2019 
Our ref: 289316 
Your ref: Biddulph SEA and HRA Screening 
 
 

 
Joanna Bagnall 
Regeneration Service 
 
BY EMAIL ONLY 
Joanna.bagnall@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk  

 

Hornbeam House 

Crewe Business Park 

Electra Way 

Crewe 

Cheshire 

CW1 6GJ 

 

T  0300 060 3900 

   

 
 
Dear Ms Bagnall, 
 
SEA and HRA Screening: 
Draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan 
Draft Neighbourhood Development Order – Biddulph Town Centre
 
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 4th July 2019 which was received by Natural 
England on the same day. 
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development.   
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening  
We welcome the production of the SEA Screening reports. Natural England notes and concurs with the 
screening outcome of both the Neighbourhood plan and the Neighbourhood Development Order that 
significant effects on the environment are considered to be unlikely to occur. Therefore no further 
environmental assessment is required. 
 
Further guidance on deciding whether the proposals are likely to have significant environmental effects 
and the requirements for consulting Natural England on SEA are set out in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance.  
 
Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening  
Natural England welcomes the consideration given to the Habitats Regulations. We are satisfied that 
the conclusion of the Local Planning Authority (as competent authority) that there are no likely 
significant effects on European sites is appropriate, and therefore advise that further Habitats 
Regulations Assessment is not required for both the Neighbourhood Plan and the Neighbourhood 
Development Order. 
 
We would be happy to comment further should the need arise but if in the meantime you have any 
queries please do not hesitate to contact us.  
 
For any new consultations, or to provide further information on this consultation please send your 
correspondences to consultations@naturalengland.org.uk.   
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Victoria Kirkham 
Consultations Team 

Biddulph NDO HRA Screening- June 201918

Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 540

mailto:Joanna.bagnall@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


Page 541



Screening Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Habitats Regulations Assessment

Page 542



Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic
Environmental Assessment

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Page 543



41 Introduction

62 Legislative background

93 The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order

124 Assessment

165 Conclusions

186 Consultation

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 544



Introduction

3Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 545



1 Introduction

1.1 Biddulph Town Council has prepared a draft Neighbourhood Development Order
alongside its draft Neighbourhood Plan. The Order is being made as a response to the
analysis of outcomes from community engagement and from the gathering of local evidence.
The intention of the Order is to support the regeneration and economic development of
Biddulph town centre.

1.2 Following determination as to whether Strategic Environmental Assessment of the
draft Order is required, the Neighbourhood Development Order will be subject to a period
of "pre-submission" public consultation alongside the Neighbourhood Plan. Following this
consultation, the Town Council will prepare to submit both the draft Neighbourhood Plan
and Development Order to the District Council in order that the documents might proceed
to independent Examination and subsequent Referendum.

1.3 Only a draft Neighbourhood Plan or Order that meets each of a set of basic conditions
can be put to a referendum and be "made" (adopted). The basic conditions are set out in
paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

1.4 The District Council will need to be satisfied that the basic conditions have been met.
A Neighbourhood Plan or Order must:

have regard to national policy and guidance;
have special regard to listed buildings (this applies only to Orders);
have special regard to conservation areas (this also applies only to Orders);
contribute to sustainable development;
be in general conformity with strategic policies in the development plan;
not breach EU obligations.
comply with other prescribed matters.(1)

1.5 Biddulph Town Council will be required to prepare a Basic Conditions Statement
alongside the submitted Order, in order to demonstrate how the Order meets the basic
conditions set out above.

1 Regulations 32 and 33 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) prescribe 2 basic
conditions in addition to those set out in the primary legislation. These are (1) that the making of a Neighbourhood Plan
does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017;
and (2) having regard to all material considerations, it is appropriate that a Neighbourhood Development Order is made
where the development described in an Order is Environmental Impact Assessment development.

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 20194

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 546



Legislative background

5Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 547



2 Legislative background

2.1 ANeighbourhood Plan or Order must be compatible with European Union obligations,
as incorporated into UK law, in order to be legally compliant. A key directive of relevance
to neighbourhood planning is Directive 2001/42/EC on the assessment of the effects of
certain plans and programmes on the environment (often referred to as the Strategic
Environmental Assessment {or SEA} Directive).

2.2 The District Council has prepared this screening assessment to help determine whether
the policies and proposals set out in the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order
will require a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the European
Directive 2001/42/EC and associated Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes
Regulations 2004.

2.3 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 explain
the process to be followed in undertaking a Strategic Environmental Assessment in respect
of plans and programmes. They implement the European Directive and require an SEA to
be undertaken on any land use plan or programme "which sets the framework for future
development consent of projects".

2.4 A strategic environmental assessment is unlikely to be required where a planning
document deals only with a small area at a local level (regulation 5(6) of the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004), unless it is considered that there
are likely to be significant environmental effects. Screening is used to determine whether
significant environmental effects are likely.

2.5 The National Planning Practice Guidance offers further guidance on when an SEA
may be required for a Neighbourhood Plan(2). SEA is more likely to be necessary if:

a neighbourhood plan allocates sites for development (for example for housing or
employment) that have not already been appraised through the Sustainability Appraisal
of the Local Plan;
the neighbourhood plan area contains sensitive environmental assets that may be
affected by the policies and proposals in the neighbourhood plan;
the neighbourhood plan is likely to have significant environmental effects not already
addressed through the sustainability appraisal of the Local Plan.

2.6 When determining whether a plan proposal requires SEA, the SEA Regulations require
that the criteria set out in Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations be considered. These are the
criteria for determining the likely significance of effects on the environment. The criteria are
split into two categories: those relating to the characteristics of the plan and those to the
characteristics of the effects and area likely to be affected.

2.7 The results of the screening process must be detailed in a Screening Statement,
available to the public and the findings must be subject to consultation with Historic England,
the Environment Agency and Natural England.

2.8 Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 require submission
either of a statement of reasons as to why SEA was not required, or an environmental report
(a key output of the SEA process) to accompany a plan proposal when it is submitted to the
local planning authority.

2 Paragraph: 046 Reference ID: 11-046-20150209

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 20196

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 548



2.9 Providing there are no significant changes to the proposals and the policies of the
current draft Neighbourhood Development Order, this screening assessment undertaken by
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council helps fulfils this requirement to accompany
submission of the Neighbourhood Order.

7Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 549



The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order

8Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 550



3 The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order

Planning Context

National

3.1 A Neighbourhood Development Order is an Order made by a local planning authority
(under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) through which parish councils and
neighbourhood forums can grant planning permission for a specific development proposal
or classes of development.

3.2 Paragraph 52 of the National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) clarifies
that communities can use Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community Right to
Build Orders to grant planning permission. These require the support of the local community
through a referendum. The paragraph states that local planning authorities should take a
proactive and positive approach to such proposals, working collaboratively with community
organisations to resolve any issues before draft orders are submitted for examination.

3.3 ANeighbourhood Development Order can grant planning permission for specific types
of development in a specific neighbourhood area. A Neighbourhood Development Order
can therefore (3) :

Apply to a specific site, sites, or wider geographical area.
Grant planning permission for a certain type or types of development.
Grant planning permission outright or subject to conditions.

3.4 A Neighbourhood Development Order can be used to permit (4):

Building operations (eg structural alterations, construction, demolition or other works
carried out by a builder).
Material changes of use of land and buildings; and/or
Engineering operations.

Local

3.5 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan was submitted for examination on 28th June
2018. The emerging Local Plan has been subject to Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats
Regulations Assessment. The Plan and its assessments can be seen at:

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/examination_library

Neighbourhood Development Order

3.6 The parish of Biddulph was designated as a Neighbourhood Area on 16th February
2016.

3.7 Biddulph Town Council is preparing a Neighbourhood Development Plan. The draft
Neighbourhood Plan has been subjected to screening alongside the Neighbourhood
Development Order.

3 National Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 41-010-20140306
4 National Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 41-011-20140306

9Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 551



3.8 The Neighbourhood Development Order relates to change of use of upper floors of
commercial properties to business and enterprise space (Use Class B1) and the replacement
of shopfronts within a specified town centre boundary. The Order grants planning permission
for these types of development in Parts 1 and 2, providing proposed development meets
the conditions and criteria set out.

3.9 The Order will be monitored during its period of application. If necessary, the Order
may be revised and/or remade in the future.

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 201910

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 552



Assessment

11Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 553



4 Assessment

Methodology

4.1 To decide whether a draft plan proposal might have significant environmental effects,
its potential scope should be assessed at an early stage against the criteria set out in
Schedule 1 to the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.
(These regulations implement the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive in England.)

4.2 The criteria set out Schedule 1 of the Regulations are shown in the table below,
alongside an assessment finding in relation to the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development
Order.

Assessment

Impact of the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood
Development Order

Significance Criteria set out in
SEA Directive (Annex ii) and
Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and
ProgrammesRegulations 2004

1. The characteristics of plans and programmes, having regard, in particular, to:

The Neighbourhood Development Order would, if
adopted, form part of the Statutory Development Plan

(a) the degree to which the plan
or programme sets a framework

and as such does contribute to the framework for futurefor projects and other activities,
development consent of projects. However, the Planeither with regard to the location,
sits within the wider framework set by the Nationalnature, size and operating
Planning Policy Framework, the emerging Local Planconditions or by allocating

resources; and adopted Core Strategy policies as well as the
emerging Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan. In addition,
the projects for which this Order helps to set a
framework are local in nature and have limited resource
implications. The scope of the Order is set out in
Section 3 of this report.

The Neighbourhood Development Order is considered
to be in general conformity with the National Planning

(b) the degree to which the plan
or programme influences other

Policy Framework. The development permitted by theplans and programmes including
those in a hierarchy; Order conforms with the Core Strategy Policies and

complements the Council's emerging strategic policies.
The Neighbourhood Development Order is unlikely to
influence other Plans or Programmes.

The Neighbourhood Development Order will work to
support the regeneration and economic development

(c) the relevance of the plan or
programme for the integration of

of Biddulph town centre. The draft Order relates to aenvironmental considerations in
defined area of the town centre only. The draft Orderparticular with a view to
will help to support an attractive and vibrant townpromoting sustainable

development; centre. It is therefore considered that the
Neighbourhood Development Order will promote
sustainable development.

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 201912

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 554



Impact of the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood
Development Order

Significance Criteria set out in
SEA Directive (Annex ii) and
Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and
ProgrammesRegulations 2004

Biddulph is a former mining town that lies in the north
west of the Staffordshire Moorlands district. It is the

(d) environmental problems
relevant to the plan or
programme; and second largest settlement in the District with a

population of 19,892 (including Biddulph Moor). The
town has suffered from economic decline and includes
the Biddulph East area, a former coal board housing
estate that experiences a range of socio-economic and
environmental deprivation problems. Appropriate
alternative uses for vacant town centre units and derelict
buildings are being supported. Environmental concerns
relevant to the Order include impacts on air quality and
climate change associated with economic growth.

The Neighbourhood Development Order is not
proposing development specifically related to waste
management or water management.

(e) the relevance of the plan or
programme for the
implementation of Community
legislation on the environment
(for example, plans and
programmes linked to waste
management or water
protection).

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard,
in particular, to:

TheNeighbourhood Development Order is likely to have
modest but enduring positive sustainability effects

(a) the probability, duration,
frequency and reversibility of the
effects; through enabling growth and enhancement of Biddulph

town centre. The introduction of a wider range of uses
and general improvements, including site specific
enhancements, is likely to provide additional jobs for
local people and attract an increased number of visitors
to help sustain and add to the vibrancy of the town
centre economy.

It is intended that the effects will lead to positive,
cumulative benefits for the area, for example through
permitting change of use within a defined area.

(b) the cumulative nature of the
effects;

There are no transboundary issues across member
states. Any effects on adjoining Staffordshire Moorlands

(c) the transboundary nature of
the effects;

parishes are likely to be positive, for example through
town centre improvements.

13Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 555



Impact of the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood
Development Order

Significance Criteria set out in
SEA Directive (Annex ii) and
Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and
ProgrammesRegulations 2004

No significant risks to human health or the environment
have been identified.

(d) the risks to human health or
the environment (for example,
due to accidents);

The Neighbourhood Development Order relates to a
defined area within Biddulph town centre. The

(e) the magnitude and spatial
extent of the effects

magnitude and spatial extent of the effects are therefore
comparatively small.

(geographical area and size of
the population likely to be
affected);

Biddulph town centre is focused along the central High
Street / Tunstall Road. Until 2003 this was the main

(f) the value and vulnerability of
the area likely to be affected due
to: route through Biddulph and for those travelling between

Congleton and Stoke-on-Trent. The bypass provides a
(i) special natural
characteristics or cultural
heritage;

bypass to the town centre, rather than a bypass to the
town, and has significantly reduced the amount of traffic
through the town centre. The town centre has a range
of small independent shops and service outlets. These

(ii) exceeded
environmental quality
standards or limit values;
or

principally front onto High Street, along with some on
the adjoining roads.

(iii) intensive land-use; and

There are no SSSIs within the Neighbourhood Plan
Area. The Plan Area is 10km beyond the 2km zone of

(g) the effects on areas or
landscapes which have a

influence around the Peak District Moors (Southrecognised national, Community
or international protection status. Pennine Moors Phase 1) Special Protection Area and

similarly 10km beyond the 500m zone around the Peak
District Dales and South Pennine Moors Special Areas
of Conservation. The Biddulph ValleyWay (Whitemoor)
Local Nature Reserve is around 3km north of the town
centre. The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local
Plan and adopted Core Strategy include policies for the
protection of landscape character, the natural
environment and sites of European importance.

Table 4.1 Determination of the likely significance of environmental effects

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 201914

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 556



Conclusions

15Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 557



5 Conclusions

5.1 Having taken into account the:

Findings of the integrated SEA / SA of the emerging SMDC Local Plan.
Findings of the assessment set out in section 4.

5.2 It is considered that the draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order is unlikely
to lead to any significant environmental effects beyond those already assessed through the
environmental assessments (SEA/SA and HRA) of the emerging SMDC Local Plan. In line
with regulation 9 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations
2004, it is therefore considered that no further environmental assessment is required.

5.3 If the scope of the Neighbourhood Development Order subsequently changes, the
LPA reserves the right to reassess this screening opinion.

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 201916

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 558



Consultation

17Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 559



6 Consultation

6.1 Prior to a determination being made, this screening report has been sent to the relevant
statutory consultation bodies to seek their opinion.

6.2 The SEA consultation bodies are the Environment Agency, Natural England and
Historic England.

6.3 The screening opinions of the three consultees have been added to this screening
report before a statement of reasons for the determination is prepared and published.

Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 201918

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 560



19Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 2019

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 561



Biddulph NDO SEA Screening June 201920

Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 562



Page 563



Screening of Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order - Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 564



 
 

 
Neighbourhood Development Order –  

Biddulph Town Centre 
 

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and  
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

 
Screening Determination Statement 

 
 
This determination statement is intended to demonstrate that the Neighbourhood 
Development Order – Biddulph Town Centre is compatible with certain European 
Union obligations as required by the basic conditions, namely: 
 

 Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 
June 2001 on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes 
on the environment; and 

 
 Article 6(3) and (4) of the EU Habitats Directive and with the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
This statement sets out the reasons for the determination that the draft 
Neighbourhood Development Order – Biddulph Town Centre is unlikely to lead to 
significant environmental effects and therefore a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment is not required. 
 
In addition this statement determines that the making of the Neighbourhood 
Development Order – Biddulph Town Centre is not likely to have an adverse effect 
on any European site, both alone and in combination with other plans and projects, 
and therefore further Habitats Regulations Assessment is not required. 
 
Biddulph Town Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council will publish this 
determination statement in accordance with the regulatory requirements. 
 
 
 
  

Page 565



Statement of Reasons 
 
This statement has been produced to ensure the Neighbourhood Development 
Order (NDO) - Biddulph Town Centre will, when examined, comply with the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) in particular 
Regulation 32 and Regulation 15(1)e(ii) of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015. 
 
A neighbourhood order is required to meet a number of basic conditions (which are 
set out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990), one of which being it must not 
breach and must be otherwise compatible with EU and Human Rights obligations. 
This requires neighbourhood development orders to fully consider the requirements 
of the SEA regulations which transpose the EU’s SEA Directive into law and which 
requires those making plans or orders that could impact on the environment to 
consider whether they are likely to have a significant effect or not. 
 
Regulation 32 in the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) prescribe two basic conditions in addition to those set out in primary 
legislation, including that the making of a Neighbourhood Plan or Order does not 
breach requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) Screening reports have been prepared by Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council (SMDC) for the draft NDO – Biddulph Town Centre. 
 
An initial screening was carried out in June 2019 and the reports sent to the statutory 
consultees (Historic England; Natural England and Environment Agency) for their 
opinions.  Consultation responses have been received from the three bodies and 
their conclusions are summarised below.  The full responses are reproduced in the 
consultation section of the screening reports. 
 
SEA 
 
Based on the material provided, SMDC came to the conclusion that the 
Neighbourhood Development Order – Biddulph Town Centre is not likely to have a 
significant effect on the environment under the terms of the SEA Directive and would 
therefore not require an SEA.  This view has been based on the following points: 
 

1. The draft Order does not allocate sites for development, it relates to change of 
use and replacement shopfronts. 

2. The draft Order applies within a specified town centre boundary. 
3. The absence of any forecast impact from development on sensitive 

environmental receptors based on the draft requirements of the order. 
 
Consultation responses from the SEA bodies are summarised as follows: 
 
Environment Agency 
 
I have had a look at the Neighbourhood Development Order and we have no 
comments or issues with the proposals. 

Page 566



Historic England 
 
On the basis of the information supplied and in the context of the criteria set out in 
Schedule 1 of the Environmental Assessment Regulations [Annex II of the ‘SEA’ 
Directive], Historic England concurs with your view that the preparation of a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment is not required. 
 
Natural England 
 
Natural England notes and concurs with the screening outcome of both the 
Neighbourhood plan and the Neighbourhood Development Order that significant 
effects on the environment are considered to be unlikely to occur. Therefore no 
further environmental assessment is required. 
 
HRA 
 
Based on the material provided, SMDC came to the conclusion that that the making 
of the Neighbourhood Development Order – Biddulph Town Centre is not likely to 
have an adverse effect on any European site, both alone and in combination with 
other plans and projects and therefore further Habitats Regulations Assessment is 
not required.  This view has been based on the following points: 
 

1. The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan has been subjected to 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) as part of plan preparation.  The 
Appropriate Assessment stage of HRA was undertaken and Natural England 
supported the conclusion that the submission Local Plan will not result in 
adverse effects, both alone and in combination with growth in neighbouring 
areas. 

2. The draft Neighbourhood Development Order does not allocate sites for 
development, it supports sustainable development of the town centre. 

3. The HRA of the emerging Local Plan provides guidance as to when a 
development proposal may require project level HRA because of the risk of 
impact on a European site (2km zone of influence around South Pennine 
Moors Phase 1 SPA and 500m zone around Peak District Dales SAC).  The 
Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan Area is approximately 10km beyond the zones 
of influence. 

 
The consultation response from Natural England is summarised below: 
 
Natural England welcomes the consideration given to the Habitats Regulations. We 
are satisfied that the conclusion of the Local Planning Authority (as competent 
authority) that there are no likely significant effects on European sites is appropriate, 
and therefore advise that further Habitats Regulations Assessment is not required for 
both the Neighbourhood Plan and the Neighbourhood Development Order. 
 
 

September 2019 

Page 567



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated)
	8.1 Forward Plan
	8.2 Leek Mills Masterplan Appraisal
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8.3 Leek Market Hall Update
	Appendix A
	Executive Summary
	Introduction
	The Value of Markets and Food Halls
	Street Food and Casual Dining
	Fresh Food Retail
	Retail Units
	Case Study- Tooting Market
	Case Study: Doncaster Wool Market
	Case Study: Queen’s Market
	Case Study: Markets as Arts Hubs
	Leek Population Dynamics
	Local Policy Context
	Market Assessment
	Engagement Responses
	Rationale for intervention
	Opportunities and options Considered
	Critical Success Factors
	SMART Objectives
	Short List Appraisal
	Commentary on options
	Option Summary Table


	8.4 Appointment to Outside Bodies
	8.5 Appointment of Member Development Champion
	9.1 Climate Change Plan (Part 1)
	Appendix 1
	Introduction
	Background
	The Paris Agreement
	UK commitment
	Staffordshire Moorlands - Declaring a climate emergency
	Staffordshire Moorlands - Current emissions profile
	Carbon budget
	Mapping the emissions of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
	Initial activity
	SMDC plan - 2021/22
	SMDC Emissions - council offices
	SMDC Emissions - other buildings
	SMDC Emissions - vehicles/travel
	SMDC Emissions - procurement
	SMDC Emissions - operations
	SMDC Emissions - enabling
	Budgets
	Tackling greenhouse gas emissions across the district - 
towards the climate change action plan part 2


	10.1 Community Safety Partnership Review and Refreshed Community Safety Strategy
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Our Vision
	Who are we?

	Our Plan
	What do we need to do?
	Our Priorities
	National drivers
	Countywide drivers
	Covid-19


	How will we do it?
	PREVENT 
	REDUCE
	SUPPORT


	How will we work 
together?
	How will you know that we’ve done what we set out to do?
	What do we need to deliver our plan?

	Our Promise
	Planning what we do
	Taking action
	Reporting
back to you



	Appendix C

	11.1 Cheadle to Cresswell Disused Railway – Potential Asset Transfer
	12.1 Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood Development Order
	Appendix 1a Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan
	Appendix 1b Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan Appendicies
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	1 Introduction
	2 Legislative background
	3 Methodology
	4 Assessment
	5 Conclusions
	6 Consultation

	Appendix 6
	1 Introduction
	2 Legislative background
	3 The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan
	4 Assessment
	5 Conclusions
	6 Consultation

	Appendix 7
	Appendix 8
	Appendix 9
	Appendix 10
	Appendix 11
	Appendix 12
	1 Introduction
	2 Legislative background
	3 Methodology
	4 Assessment
	5 Conclusions
	6 Consultation

	Appendix 13
	1 Introduction
	2 Legislative background
	3 The draft Biddulph Neighbourhood Development Order
	4 Assessment
	5 Conclusions
	6 Consultation

	Appendix 14


